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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
ImmunityBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
June 30,
2022

December 31,
2021

(Unaudited)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

61,900

$

181,101

Marketable securities

21,038

136,015

Due from related parties
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (including amounts with related parties)

1,451
30,601

1,333
15,898

114,990

334,347

Total current assets
Marketable securities, noncurrent
Property, plant and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Convertible note receivable
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net (including amounts with related parties)
Other assets (including amounts with related parties)

914

822

119,445
21,738

82,863
1,420

6,503
48,103

6,379
36,304

6,024

Total assets

6,775

$

317,717

$

468,910

$

18,053
52,351

$

11,418
51,387

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Related-party promissory notes, current portion
Due to related parties

300,084
4,158

Operating lease liabilities (including amounts with related parties)

299,236
3,943

1,404

3,011

376,050

368,995

312,541
50,648

306,349
37,068

Deferred income tax liability

162

162

Other liabilities

290

249

739,691

712,823

40
1,739,590
(2,159,335)
(110)

40
1,719,704
(1,961,921)
4

(419,815)
(2,159)

(242,173)
(1,740)

Total current liabilities
Related-party promissory notes, less current portion
Operating lease liabilities, less current portion (including amounts with related parties)

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)
Stockholders’ deficit:
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 900,000,000 shares authorized; 398,069,766 and
397,830,044 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2022 and
December 31, 2021, respectively; excluding treasury stock, 163,800 shares
outstanding as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income
Total ImmunityBio stockholders’ deficit
Noncontrolling interests
Total stockholders’ deficit

(421,974)
$

Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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317,717

(243,913)
$

468,910
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ImmunityBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2022

Revenue

$

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021

35

$

2022

339

$

2021

49

$

478

Operating expenses:
Research and development (including amounts
with related parties)
Selling, general and administrative (including amounts
with related parties)
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations

63,082

53,800

118,460

94,928

16,575

32,445

57,183

77,720

79,657

86,245

175,643

172,648

(79,622)

(85,906)

(175,594)

(172,170)

(1,800)
(9,698)
(3,900)

(177)
(3,577)
—

(134)
(18,189)
(4,097)

8,767
(6,745)
—

Other (expense) income, net:
Interest and investment (loss) income, net
Interest expense (including amounts with related parties)
Loss on equity method investment
Other income, net (including amounts
with related parties)
Total other (expense) income, net
Loss before income taxes and noncontrolling interests
Income tax expense
Net loss

185

277

181

290

(15,213)

(3,477)

(22,239)

2,312

(94,835)
—

(89,383)
(2)

(197,833)
—

(169,858)
(8)

(94,835)
(247)

(89,385)
(1,097)

(197,833)
(419)

(169,866)
(1,964)

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests, net of tax
Net loss attributable to ImmunityBio common stockholders

$

(94,588) $

(88,288) $

(197,414) $

(167,902)

Net loss per ImmunityBio common share – basic and diluted

$

(0.24) $

(0.23) $

(0.50) $

(0.44)

Weighted-average number of common shares used in computing
net loss per share – basic and diluted

397,991,630

384,820,486

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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397,937,333

383,939,031
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ImmunityBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands)
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2022

Net loss

$

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of income taxes:
Net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities
Reclassification of net realized gains (losses) on
available-for-sale securities included in net loss
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Total other comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive loss
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests
Comprehensive loss attributable to ImmunityBio
common stockholders

$

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021

(94,835) $

2022

(89,385) $

(169,866)

149

18

(161)

17

119
(11)

(3)
60

119
(72)

—
(102)

257

75

(114)

(85)

(94,578)
(247)

(89,310)
(1,097)

(197,947)
(419)

(169,951)
(1,964)

(94,331) $

(88,213) $

(197,528) $

(167,987)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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2021

(197,833) $

Table of Contents

ImmunityBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Deficit
(in thousands, except share amounts)
(Unaudited)

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Common Stock
Three Months Ended June 30, 2022

Balance as of March 31, 2022

Shares

Amount

397,956,762

$

40

$

1,729,430

Accumulated
Deficit

$

(2,064,747) $

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

Total
ImmunityBio
Stockholders’
Deficit

(367) $

Noncontrolling
Interests

(335,644) $

(1,912) $

Total
Stockholders’
Deficit

(337,556)

Stock-based compensation expense

—

—

10,175

—

—

10,175

—

10,175

Exercise of stock options

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

116,608

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(3,604)

—

(15)

—

—

(15)

—

(15)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
(94,588)

257
—

257
(94,588)

—
(247)

257
(94,835)

(2,159) $

(421,974)

Vesting of restricted stock units (RSUs)
Net share settlement for RSUs vesting
Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Net loss
Balance as of June 30, 2022

398,069,766

$

40

$

Balance as of December 31, 2021

Shares

397,830,044

Amount

$

40

$

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Common Stock
Six Months Ended June 30, 2022

1,739,590

$

1,719,704

(2,159,335) $

Accumulated
Deficit

$

(1,961,921) $

Stock-based compensation expense
Exercise of stock options
Vesting of RSUs

—
14,767
294,391

—
—
—

20,199
74
—

—
—
—

Net share settlement for RSUs vesting

(69,436)

—

(387)

—

—
—
398,069,766

—
—
40

—
—
1,739,590

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Net loss
Balance as of June 30, 2022

$

$

$

—
(197,414)
(2,159,335) $

(110) $

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

4

Total
ImmunityBio
Stockholders’
Deficit

$

(242,173) $

Noncontrolling
Interests

(1,740) $

Total
Stockholders’
Deficit

(243,913)

—
—
—

20,199
74
—

—
—
—

20,199
74
—

—

(387)

—

(387)

(114)
(197,414)
(419,815) $

—
(419)
(2,159) $

(114)
—
(110) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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(419,815) $

(114)
(197,833)
(421,974)
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ImmunityBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Deficit
(in thousands, except share amounts)
(Unaudited)

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Common Stock
Three Months Ended June 30, 2021

Balance as of March 31, 2021
Issuance of common stock under “at-the-market”
offering, net of commissions and
offering costs of $3,077
Stock-based compensation expense
Exercise of stock options
Vesting of RSUs

Shares

$

38

$

Issuance of common stock under “at-the-market”
offering, net of commissions and
offering costs of $3,077
Stock-based compensation expense
Exercise of stock options
Vesting of RSUs
Net share settlement for RSUs vesting
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Net loss
Balance as of June 30, 2021

(1,694,745) $

(38) $

(185,787) $

451

$

(185,336)

1

94,886

—

—

94,887

—

94,887

—
—

17,863
3,311

—
—

—
—

17,863
3,311

—
—

17,863
3,311

100,359

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(20)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
(88,288)

75
—

75
(88,288)

—
(1,097)

(1,783,033) $

37

390,347,740

$

39

$

Shares

Amount

382,243,142 $

6,420,441
—
1,450,104
336,084
(102,031)
—
—
390,347,740 $

38

1,625,018

$

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Common Stock

Balance as of December 31, 2020

$

—
759,639

Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Net loss

Six Months Ended June 30, 2021

1,508,958

Total
Stockholders’
Deficit

Noncontrolling
Interests

6,420,441

Net share settlement for RSUs vesting

Balance as of June 30, 2021

Amount

383,067,321

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
ImmunityBio
Stockholders’
Deficit

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
(Loss) Income

$

1,495,163

Accumulated
Deficit

$

(1,615,131) $

$

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

122

(157,939) $

Total
ImmunityBio
Stockholders’
Deficit

$

(119,808) $

75

(646) $

Total
Stockholders’
Deficit

Noncontrolling
Interests

1,318

(89,385)
(158,585)

$

(118,490)

1

94,886

—

—

94,887

—

94,887

—
—
—

33,161
4,432
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

33,161
4,432
—

—
—
—

33,161
4,432
—

—

(2,624)

—

—

(2,624)

—

(2,624)

—
—
39

—
—
1,625,018

(85)
(167,902)
(157,939) $

—
(1,964)
(646) $

$

$

—
(167,902)
(1,783,033) $

(85)
—
37 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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(85)
(169,866)
(158,585)
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ImmunityBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)
(Unaudited)
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2022

Operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Stock-based compensation expense
Depreciation and amortization
Non-cash interest items, net (including amounts with related parties)
Loss on equity method investment
Non-cash lease expense related to operating lease right-of-use assets
Amortization of net premiums and discounts on marketable debt securities
Unrealized losses (gains) on equity securities
Other
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Related parties
Operating lease liabilities

$

Net cash used in operating activities
Investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Purchases of marketable debt securities, available-for-sale
Maturities of marketable debt securities, available for sale
Proceeds from sales of marketable debt and equity securities
Investment in joint venture – an equity method investment
Net cash provided by investing activities
Financing activities:
Proceeds from equity offering, net of issuance costs paid
Proceeds from issuance of related-party promissory notes,
net of issuance costs paid
Proceeds from exercises of stock options
Net share settlement for RSUs vesting
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Net change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of period
$

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of period

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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2021

(197,833) $

(169,866)

20,199
8,534
6,922
4,097
2,805
1,308
452
25

33,161
6,956
6,248
—
2,269
248
(8,391)
(291)

(14,474)
699
6,535
602
(3,859)
(2,194)

5,420
(4,199)
2,600
(3,821)
2,579
(2,977)

(166,182)

(130,064)

(43,296)
(21,229)
(34,207)
113,434
33,657
(1,000)

(15,128)
—
(266)
44,159
13,569
—

47,359

42,334

—

95,026

—
74
(387)

40,000
4,432
(2,624)

(313)

136,834

80
(119,056)
181,280

(61)
49,043
35,094

62,224

$

84,137
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ImmunityBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Continued)
(in thousands)
(Unaudited)
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2022

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of period:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of period
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest
Income taxes
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities:
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities

2021

$

61,900
324

$

83,958
179

$

62,224

$

84,137

$

11,149
—

$

842
10

$

13,986

$

12,361

Property and equipment purchases included in accounts payable,
accrued expenses and due to related parties

13,454
(42)
—

Unrealized (losses) gains on marketable debt securities, net
Unpaid offering costs included in accounts payable and accrued expenses
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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8,347
17
140
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ImmunityBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Description of Business
In these notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements, the terms “ImmunityBio,” “the company,” “the combined company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to ImmunityBio
and subsidiaries.
Our Business
ImmunityBio, Inc. is a clinical-stage biotechnology company developing next-generation therapies and vaccines that complement, harness, and amplify the immune system to defeat cancers
and infectious diseases. We strive to be a vertically-integrated immunotherapy company designing and manufacturing our products so they are more effective, accessible, more conveniently stored,
and more easily administered to patients.
Our broad immunotherapy and cell therapy platforms are designed to attack cancer and infectious pathogens by activating both the innate immune system—natural killer (NK) cells,
dendritic cells, and macrophages—and the adaptive immune system—B cells and T cells—in an orchestrated manner. The goal of this potentially best-in-class approach is to generate immunogenic
cell death thereby eliminating rogue cells from the body whether they are cancerous or virally infected. Our ultimate goal is to employ this approach to establish an “immunological memory” that
confers long-term benefit for the patient.
Although such designations may not lead to a faster development process or regulatory review and may not increase the likelihood that a product candidate will receive approval, N-803, our
novel antibody cytokine fusion protein, has received Breakthrough Therapy and Fast Track designations in combination with bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG) from the United States (U.S.) Food and
Drug Administration (FDA) for BCG-unresponsive non-muscle invasive bladder cancer (NMIBC) with carcinoma in situ (CIS). In May 2022, we announced the submission of a Biologics License
Application (BLA) to the FDA for our product candidate, N-803 in combination with BCG for the treatment of patients with BCG-unresponsive NMIBC with CIS with or without Ta or T1 disease.
In July 2022, we announced the FDA has accepted our BLA for review and set a Prescription Drug User Fee Act (PDUFA) target action date of May 23, 2023. It is unclear when the FDA will
approve our BLA, if at all.
Our platforms include 9 first-in-human therapeutic agents that are currently being studied in 27 clinical trials—18 of which are in Phase 2 or 3 development—across 13 indications in liquid
and solid tumors, including bladder, pancreatic and lung cancers. These are among the most frequent and lethal cancer types for which there are high failure rates for existing standards of care or, in
some cases, no available effective treatment. In infectious disease, our pipeline currently targets such pathogens as the novel strain of the coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2) and human immunodeficiency
virus (HIV).
We have established Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) manufacturing capacity at scale with cutting-edge cell manufacturing expertise and ready-to-scale facilities, as well as extensive
and seasoned research and development (R&D), clinical trial, and regulatory operations, and development teams.
The Merger
On December 21, 2020, NantKwest, Inc. (NantKwest) and NantCell, Inc. (formerly known as ImmunityBio, Inc., a private company) (NantCell) entered into an Agreement and Plan of
Merger (the Merger Agreement), pursuant to which NantKwest and NantCell agreed to combine their businesses. The Merger Agreement provided that a wholly-owned subsidiary of the company
would merge with and into NantCell (the Merger), with NantCell surviving the Merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the company.

8
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On March 9, 2021, we completed the Merger pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement. Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, at the effective time of the Merger (the Effective
Time), each share of NantCell common stock, par value $0.001 per share, issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, subject to certain exceptions as set forth in the Merger
Agreement, was converted automatically into a right to receive 0.8190 (the Exchange Ratio) newly issued shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of the company (Company Common
Stock), with cash paid in lieu of any fractional shares. At the Effective Time, each share of the company’s common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, remained an
issued and outstanding share of the combined company. At the Effective Time, each outstanding option, RSU or warrant to purchase NantCell common stock was converted using the Exchange Ratio
into an option, RSU or warrant, respectively, on the same terms and conditions immediately prior to the Effective Time, to purchase shares of Company Common Stock.
Immediately following the Effective Time, the former stockholders of NantCell held approximately 71.5% of the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock and the stockholders of
NantKwest as of immediately prior to the Merger held approximately 28.5% of the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock. As a result of the Merger and immediately following the Effective
Time, Dr. Patrick Soon-Shiong, our Executive Chairman and Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer, and his affiliates beneficially owned, in the aggregate, approximately 81.8% of the
outstanding shares of Company Common Stock. Following the consummation of the Merger, the symbol for shares of the company’s common stock was changed to “IBRX.”
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(U.S. GAAP) and pursuant to the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments
which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation of our financial position and results of operations. The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements do not
include all information and notes required by U.S. GAAP for annual reports and therefore should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto contained in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 filed with the SEC on March 1, 2022. These interim financials are not necessarily indicative of results expected for the full
fiscal year.
Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the company, our wholly owned subsidiaries, and a variable interest entity (VIE) for which
we are the primary beneficiary. Any material intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated upon consolidation. For consolidated entities where we have less than 100% of ownership,
we record net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest on the unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations equal to the percentage of the ownership interest retained in such entities
by the respective noncontrolling parties.
We assess whether we are the primary beneficiary of a VIE at the inception of the arrangement and at each reporting date. This assessment is based on our power to direct the activities of the
VIE that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance and our obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE.

9
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Liquidity
As of June 30, 2022, the company had an accumulated deficit of $2.2 billion. We also had negative cash flows from operations of $166.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The
company will likely need additional capital to further fund the development of, and to seek regulatory approvals for, our product candidates, and to begin to commercialize any approved products.
The condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the company will continue as a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the
satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business, and do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability and classification of assets or amounts and
classification of liabilities that may result from the outcome of the uncertainty of our ability to continue as a going concern. As a result of continuing anticipated operating cash outflows, we believe
that substantial doubt exists regarding our ability to continue as a going concern without additional funding or financial support. However, we believe our existing cash, cash equivalents, and
investments in marketable securities, together with capital to be raised through equity offerings (including but not limited to the offering, issuance and sale by us of our common stock that may be
issued and sold under an “at-the-market” sales agreement with Jefferies LLC (the ATM), of which we had $330.8 million available for future issuance as of June 30, 2022), and our potential ability to
borrow from affiliated entities, will be sufficient to fund our operations through at least the next 12 months following the issuance date of the condensed consolidated financial statements based
primarily upon our Executive Chairman and Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer’s intent and ability to support our operations with additional funds, including loans from affiliated entities, as
required, which we believe alleviates such doubt. We may also seek to sell additional equity, through one or more follow-on public offerings, or in separate financings, or obtain a credit facility.
However, we may not be able to secure such external financing in a timely manner or on favorable terms. Without additional funds, we may choose to delay or reduce our operating or investment
expenditures. Further, because of the risk and uncertainties associated with the potential commercialization of our product candidates in development, we may need additional funds to meet our needs
sooner than planned.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to the valuation of equity-based awards, deferred income taxes and related valuation allowances,
preclinical and clinical trial accruals, impairment assessments, contingent value right measurement and assessments, the measurement of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, useful lives of longlived assets, loss contingencies, fair value measurements, asset acquisition, and the assessment of our ability to fund our operations for at least the next 12 months from the date of issuance of these
condensed consolidated financial statements. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other market-specific and relevant assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Estimates are assessed each period and updated to reflect current information, such as the economic considerations related to the impact that the ongoing coronavirus pandemic could
have on our significant accounting estimates. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Significant Accounting Policies
There have been no material changes to our significant accounting policies from those described in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of the “Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements” that appears in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 1, 2022.

10

Table of Contents

Acquisitions
We make certain judgments to determine whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions of assets or as business combinations. If it is determined that substantially all of the
fair value of gross assets acquired in a transaction is concentrated in a single asset (or a group of similar assets), the transaction is treated as an acquisition of assets. We evaluate the inputs, processes,
and outputs associated with the acquired set of activities and assets. If the assets in a transaction include an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs, the transaction is treated as an acquisition of a business.
We account for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting, which requires that assets acquired and liabilities assumed generally be recorded at their fair values as of
the acquisition date. Excess of consideration over the fair value of net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Estimating fair value requires us to make significant judgments and assumptions. We
perform impairment testing of goodwill annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it is more likely than not that the asset is impaired.
In transactions accounted for as asset acquisitions, the cost of an asset acquisition, including transaction costs, are allocated to identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on a
relative fair value basis. Goodwill is not recognized in an asset acquisition. Any difference between the cost of an asset acquisition and the fair value of the net assets acquired is allocated to the nonmonetary identifiable assets based on their relative fair values. In an asset acquisition, upfront payments allocated to in-process research and development projects at the acquisition date are expensed
unless there is an alternative future use. In addition, product development milestones are expensed upon achievement. Any contingent consideration, such as payments upon achievement of various
developmental, regulatory and commercial milestones, generally is not recognized at the acquisition date.
Basic and Diluted Net Loss per Share of Common Stock
Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to ImmunityBio common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the
period. Diluted loss per share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to ImmunityBio common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares, including the number of
additional shares that would have been outstanding if the potential common shares had been issued and if the additional common shares were dilutive.
For all periods presented, potentially dilutive securities are excluded from the computation of fully diluted loss per share as their effect is anti-dilutive. The following table details those
securities that have been excluded from the computation of potentially dilutive securities:
As of June 30,
2022

2021
(Unaudited)

Outstanding stock options
Outstanding RSUs
Outstanding related-party warrants
Total

9,447,190
6,867,512
1,638,000

4,330,318
7,443,504
1,638,000

17,952,702

13,411,822

Amounts in the table above reflect the common stock equivalents of the noted instruments, including awards issued under the NantKwest 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2015 Plan) and the
NantKwest 2014 Equity Incentive Plan. At the Effective Time, each outstanding option or RSU issued under the 2015 NantCell Stock Incentive Plan and warrants issued by NantCell to purchase or
acquire NantCell common stock were converted using the Exchange Ratio into an option, RSU or warrant, respectively, on the same terms and conditions immediately prior to the Effective Time.
See Note 11, Stock-Based Compensation, for further information.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Application of New or Revised Accounting Standards – Adopted
In May 2021, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2021-04, Earnings Per Share (Topic 260), Debt—Modifications and Extinguishments (Subtopic 470-50), Compensation
—Stock Compensation (Topic 718), and Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40). This update provides guidance to clarify and reduce diversity in an
accounting for modifications or exchanges of freestanding equity-classified written call options (for example, warrants) that is not within the scope of another Topic. An entity should treat a
modification of the terms or conditions or an exchange of a freestanding equity-classified written call option that remains equity classified after modification or exchange as an exchange of the
original instrument for a new instrument. This update additionally provides further guidance on measuring the effect of a modification or an exchange of a freestanding equity-classified written call
option that remains equity classified after modification or exchange on the basis of the substance of the transaction, in the same manner as if cash had been paid as consideration. This guidance is
effective for the fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The company adopted this guidance on January 1, 2022 on a prospective basis.
The adoption did not have a material impact on the company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.
In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity, which simplifies and clarifies certain calculation and
presentation matters related to convertible equity and debt instruments. Specifically, ASU 2020-06 removes requirements to separately account for conversion features as a derivative under ASC
Topic 815 and removing the requirement to account for beneficial conversion features on such instruments. In addition, ASU 2020-06 eliminates the treasury stock method when calculating diluted
earnings per share for convertible instruments that can be settled in whole or in part with equity and requires the use of the if-converted method. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2021, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The company adopted this guidance on January 1, 2022 on a modified prospective basis. The adoption did not have a
material impact on the company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.
Other recent authoritative guidance issued by the FASB (including technical corrections to the ASC), the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and the SEC during the six
months ended June 30, 2022 did not, or are not expected to, have a material effect on our condensed consolidated financial statements.
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3. Financial Statement Details
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following (in thousands):
June 30,
2022
(Unaudited)

Prepaid services
Insurance claims receivable
Prepaid supplies
Prepaid software license fees
Prepaid insurance
Other

$

16,958
5,005
2,160
1,849
1,630
2,999
30,601

$

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

December 31,
2021

$

$

6,966
—
—
1,111
2,266
5,555
15,898

Property, Plant and Equipment, Net
Property, plant and equipment, net, consist of the following (in thousands):
June 30,
2022
(Unaudited)

Leasehold improvements
Equipment
Construction in progress
Software
Furniture & fixtures

$

Gross property, plant and equipment
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization

December 31,
2021

68,406
62,059
46,454
1,658
1,533

$

180,110
60,665
$

Property, plant and equipment, net

119,445

62,482
54,284
16,575
1,544
1,052
135,937
53,074

$

82,863

Depreciation expense related to property, plant and equipment totaled $3.9 million and $4.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $7.7 million and
$7.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):
June 30,
2022
(Unaudited)

Accrued litigation payable (Note 7)
Accrued construction costs
Accrued preclinical and clinical trial costs
Accrued bonus
Accrued professional and service fees
Accrued compensation
Accrued research and development costs
Accrued laboratory equipment, supplies and related services
Other

$

15,656
8,931
5,888
5,754
5,744
5,635
2,521
577
1,645
52,351

$

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

December 31,
2021

$

7,118
8,145
5,842
8,316
6,909
5,613
2,107
2,144
5,193
51,387

$

Interest and Investment (Loss) Income, Net
Interest and investment (loss) income, net consists of the following (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2022

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021

2022

(Unaudited)

2021
(Unaudited)

Unrealized (losses) gains from equity securities
Interest income
Investment amortization expense, net
Net realized (losses) gains on investments

$

(1,871) $
644
(454)
(119)

(442) $
112
(23)
176

(452) $
1,940
(1,503)
(119)

8,391
451
(248)
173

Interest and investment (loss) income , net

$

(1,800) $

(177) $

(134) $

8,767

Interest income includes interest from marketable securities, convertible notes receivable, other assets, and interest from bank deposits.
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4. Financial Instruments
Investments in Marketable Debt Securities
As of June 30, 2022, the weighted-average remaining contractual life, amortized cost, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses and fair value of marketable debt securities, which were
considered as available-for-sale, by type of security were as follows (in thousands):
June 30, 2022
(Unaudited)
WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual Life
(in years)

Current:
Corporate debt securities
Mutual funds
Current portion
Noncurrent:
Foreign bonds
Noncurrent portion

0.1

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Amortized
Cost

$

14,764
34

$

$

—
9

$

Fair
Value

(9) $
(6)

14,755
37

14,798

9

(15)

14,792

969

1

(56)

914

969

1

(56)

4.8

Total

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

15,767

$

10

$

914

(71) $

15,706

As of December 31, 2021, the amortized cost, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses and fair value of marketable debt securities, which were considered as available-for-sale, by
type of security were as follows (in thousands):
December 31, 2021
WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual Life
(in years)

Current:
Corporate debt securities
Foreign bonds
Mutual funds
Current portion
Noncurrent:
Foreign bonds
Noncurrent portion
Total

0.5
0.4

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Amortized
Cost

$

129,190
116
35

5.0
$

10
—
3

$

Fair
Value

(36) $
(1)
—

129,164
115
38

129,341

13

(37)

129,317

719

103

—

822

719

103

—

130,060

15

$

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

$

116

$

(37) $

822
130,139
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Accumulated unrealized losses on marketable debt securities that have been in a continuous loss position for less than 12 months and more than 12 months were as follows (in thousands):
June 30, 2022
(Unaudited)
Less than 12 months
Estimated
Fair
Value

Corporate debt securities
Mutual funds
Foreign bonds

$

7,074
—
720
7,794

$

Total

More than 12 months

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

$

Estimated
Fair
Value

(9) $
—
(41)
(50) $

$

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

—
31
89
120

$

—
(6)
(15)
(21)

$

December 31, 2021
Less than 12 months
Estimated
Fair
Value

Corporate debt securities
Mutual funds
Foreign bonds

$

86,158
—
115
86,273

$

Total

More than 12 months

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

$

$

Estimated
Fair
Value

(36) $
—
(1)
(37) $

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

—
34
113
147

$

$

Realized gains and losses on sales of available-for-sale marketable debt securities were not material for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021.
Marketable Equity Securities
We held investments in marketable equity securities with readily determinable fair values of $6.2 million and $6.7 million as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively.
Unrealized losses recorded on these securities totaled $1.9 million and $0.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and unrealized losses and gains totaled a
$0.5 million loss and an $8.4 million gain for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, in interest and investment income loss (income), net, on the condensed consolidated
statements of operations.
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5. Fair Value Measurements
Fair value is defined as an exit price that would be received from the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. We use a three-tier fair value hierarchy to classify and disclose all assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring
basis, as well as assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis, in periods subsequent to their initial measurement. The hierarchy requires us to use observable inputs when
available, and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs, when determining fair value.
The three tiers are defined as follows:
•

Level 1—Observable inputs that reflect quoted market prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets at the measurement date. Since valuations are based on
quoted prices that are readily and regularly available in an active market, the valuation of these products does not entail a significant degree of judgment. Our Level 1 assets consist
of bank deposits, money market funds, and marketable equity securities.

•

Level 2—Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable either directly or indirectly in the marketplace for identical or similar assets and liabilities.
Our Level 2 assets consist of corporate debt securities including commercial paper, government-sponsored securities and corporate bonds, as well as foreign municipal securities.

•

Level 3—Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement.

We utilize a third-party pricing service to assist in obtaining fair value pricing for our investments in marketable debt securities. Inputs are documented in accordance with the fair value
disclosure hierarchy. The fair values of financial instruments other than marketable securities and cash and cash equivalents are determined through a combination of management estimates and thirdparty valuations.
Recurring Valuations
Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below (in thousands):
Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2022
(Unaudited)
Total

Assets:
Current:
Cash and cash equivalents
Equity securities
Corporate debt securities
Mutual funds
Noncurrent:
Foreign bonds
Total assets measured at fair value
Liabilities:
Accrued litigation payable

$

Level 1

61,900
6,246
14,755
37

$

Level 2

61,900
6,246
—
37

$

Level 3

—
—
14,755
—

$

—
—
—
—

$

914
83,852

$

—
68,183

$

914
15,669

$

—
—

$

10,656 (1)

$

10,656

$

—

$

—
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Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2021
Total

Assets:
Current:
Cash and cash equivalents
Equity securities
Corporate debt securities
Foreign bonds
Mutual funds
Noncurrent:
Foreign bonds
Total assets measured at fair value

Level 1

181,101 (2)
6,698
129,164
115
38

$

822
317,938

$

$

$

Level 2

51,421
6,698
—
115
38
822
59,094

$

$

Level 3

129,680
—
129,164
—
—
—
258,844

$

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

_______________
(1)

The accrued litigation payable as of June 30, 2022 was measured at the fair value of the company’s common stock to be issued pursuant to the terms of the court-approved settlement agreement related to the
Altor BioScience, LLC litigation. On July 9, 2022, the company issued 2,229,296 shares of its common stock with an aggregate market value of $10.7 million, based on the closing price of its common stock as
of July 8, 2022. See Note 7, Commitments and Contingencies—Litigation, for further information.

(2)

Amounts shown as a Level 2 measurement as of December 31, 2021 include government-sponsored securities of $75.0 million, corporate debt securities of $54.2 million, and commercial paper of $0.5 million
with original maturities of less than 90 days.

6. Collaboration and License Agreements and Acquisition
Collaboration Agreement
Amyris Joint Venture
In December 2021, ImmunityBio and Amyris, Inc. (Amyris) entered into a 50:50 joint venture arrangement and formed a new limited liability company to conduct the business of the joint
venture. The purpose of the joint venture is to accelerate commercialization of a next-generation COVID-19 vaccine utilizing an RNA vaccine platform. As part of the limited liability agreement, we
agreed to contribute $1.0 million in cash and priority access to our manufacturing capacity for the joint venture product. Amyris agreed to contribute $1.0 million in cash and rights to its license
agreement with the Access to Advanced Health Institute (AAHI) (formerly known as the Infectious Disease Research Institute, or IDRI) for an RNA platform for the field of COVID-19. Both parties
agreed to enter into a separate manufacturing and supply agreement and a sublicense agreement following the execution of the joint venture agreement.
The joint venture agreement stipulates the initial terms for equal representation in the management of the newly-formed joint venture. The joint venture is managed by a board of directors
consisting of four directors: two appointed by the company and two appointed by Amyris. Both parties agreed to make additional capital contributions in cash, in proportion to their respective
interests, as determined by the board of directors of the joint venture.
We considered the joint venture entity as a VIE and determined that we are not the primary beneficiary of the VIE. In February 2022, we made a cash investment totaling $1.0 million in the
joint venture’s common stock. We account for our investment in the joint venture using the equity method of accounting, and recorded our 50% share of the net loss from the joint venture totaling
$3.9 million and $4.1 million, respectively, in other expense, net, on the condensed consolidated statement of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022. Such losses include
$3.9 million of expenses incurred by us on behalf of the joint venture during the six months ended June 30, 2022. We are not obligated to fund the joint venture’s potential future losses, and therefore
will not record additional equity method losses that would result in our equity investment in the joint venture to fall below zero. As of June 30, 2022, the carrying amount of our equity investment in
the joint venture was zero.
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License Agreements
3M Innovative Properties Company (3M IPC) and the Access to Advanced Health Institute (AAHI) License Agreement
We have licensed rights to 3M-052, a synthetic TLR7/8 agonist, 3M-052 formulations and related technology from 3M IPC and its affiliates and AAHI. In November 2021 we obtained
nonexclusive rights in the field of SARS-CoV-2 and in June 2022 we modified those rights and expanded the scope of the license to include (1) SARS-CoV-2 and other infectious diseases including
malaria, HIV, tuberculosis, hookworm and varicella zoster on an exclusive basis in countries other than low- and middle-income countries (LMIC), and (2) oncology applications, when used in
combination with our proprietary technology and/or IL-15 agonists. In consideration for the license, we agreed to make certain periodic license payments, including $2.25 million each year through
June 2025, with the June 2022 payment being partially offset by the $0.5 million previously paid under the initial November 2021 license agreement. We have also agreed to make payments upon the
achievement of certain regulatory milestone events and tiered royalties ranging from the low to high single-digits as a percentage of net sales. Beginning in April 2026, the annual minimum licensing
payment is $1.0 million, which can be credited against any royalty payments due under this agreement.
We made a payment of $1.75 million for the annual license maintenance fee and recorded $0.2 million in research and development expense, on the condensed consolidated statements of
operations during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022.
AAHI License Agreements
In May 2021, we entered into two license agreements with AAHI pursuant to which we received a license to certain patents and know-how relating to AAHI’s (i) adjuvant formulations for
the treatment, prevention and/or diagnosis of SARS-CoV-2 (the AAHI Adjuvant Formulation License Agreement) and (ii) RNA vaccine platform as further described below (the AAHI RNA License
Agreement). Under both agreements, we were obligated to pay one-time, non-creditable, non-refundable upfront cash payments totaling $2.0 million. In addition, under the AAHI Adjuvant
Formulation License Agreement we owe milestone payments to a total of up to $2.5 million based on the achievement of certain development and regulatory milestones for the first licensed product
and royalties on annual net sales of licensed products on a country-by-country and product-by-product basis of a low-single digit percentage, subject to certain royalty-reduction provisions.
No milestone fees were incurred for the six months ended June 30, 2022.
In September 2021, we amended and restated the AAHI RNA License Agreement, pursuant to which AAHI granted us an exclusive, worldwide, sublicensable license to AAHI’s rights to an
RNA vaccine platform for the development and commercialization of certain therapeutic, diagnostic or prophylactic products for the prevention, treatment or diagnosis of any indication, other than
those subject to pre-existing third-party license grants, including, without limitation, SARS-CoV-2. Pursuant to the terms of the amended and restated AAHI RNA License Agreement, we made an
additional one-time, non-creditable, non-refundable, upfront payment to AAHI of $1.5 million. The company is also required to pay license maintenance fees to AAHI as follows: $3.0 million in
2022 and $5.5 million annually from 2023 through 2030. The company may terminate the restated agreement without cause by paying AAHI a $10.0 million one-time early termination fee. In
addition, the milestone payments to AAHI based on the achievement of certain development and regulatory milestones for the first licensed product were amended to a total of up to $4.0 million. We
are required to pay royalties on annual net sales of licensed products on a country-by-country and product-by-product basis of a low to mid-single digit percentage. We made a payment of
$3.0 million for the annual license maintenance fee and recorded $0.3 million in research and development expense, on the condensed consolidated statements of operations during the three and six
months ended June 30, 2022.
In connection with the license agreements, in May 2021 we also entered into a sponsored research agreement with the AAHI pursuant to which we will fund continued research of at least
$2.0 million per year, payable in four equal quarterly installments each year until May 2024, or such year of earlier termination.
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EnGeneIC License Agreement
During the fourth quarter of 2021, we signed a binding term sheet with EnGeneIC for an exclusive, worldwide license to develop, manufacture and commercialize their patented endosomal
delivery vector (EDV™) nanocell technology as a single agent in certain cancer fields and with respect to the treatment and prevention of COVID-19 and in combination with our COVID-19 vaccine
and anti-cancer drugs in a more broadly defined field of use. The companies have agreed to a 50:50 split of the net profit from worldwide sales of EDV-based products, and we have agreed to pay
certain periodic license fees. The parties continue to work on definitive agreements for this transaction.
Acquisition
Dunkirk Facility Leasehold Interest
On February 14, 2022, we completed the acquisition of a leasehold interest in approximately 409,000 rentable square feet of current Good Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) ISO Class 5
pharmaceutical manufacturing space in western New York (the Dunkirk Facility) from Athenex, Inc. (the Seller), which we believe provides us with a state-of-the-art biotech production center that
substantially expands and diversifies our manufacturing capacity in the U.S. and ability to scale production associated with certain of our product candidates. The company accounted for the
transaction as an asset acquisition because the Dunkirk Facility’s integrated set of assets and activities does not meet the definition of a business.
The total consideration for the acquisition was approximately $40.5 million, including a cash payment of $40.0 million, and transaction costs of approximately $0.5 million. The following
table summarizes the fair value of assets acquired as of the acquisition date (in thousands):
Construction in progress
Leasehold improvements
Definite-lived intangible assets (1)
Other depreciable assets and prepaid expenses

$

$

Total consideration

10,043
6,253
21,229
2,983
40,508

_______________
(1) Definite-lived intangible assets consist of favorable leasehold rights totaling $20.4 million and organized workforce totaling $0.8 million as of the acquisition date. We recorded amortization expense of $0.6 million
and $0.9 million, respectively, in research and development expense, on the condensed consolidated statement of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022. As of June 30, 2022, the remaining
weighted-average amortization period for our definite-lived intangible assets was approximately 9.4 years. Future amortization expense for the favorable leasehold rights is as follows: $1.0 million for the remainder
of 2022; $2.0 million for each of the years from 2023 to 2026; and $10.5 million thereafter. Future amortization expense for the organized workforce is as follows: $0.1 million for the remainder of 2022 and
$0.3 million for 2023 and 2024.

Upon the closing of the Dunkirk transaction, the company became the tenant of the Dunkirk Facility under the Fort Schuyler Management Corporation Lease, dated October 1, 2021 and as
amended as of the February 14, 2022 closing date (as amended, the Dunkirk Lease), with Fort Schuyler Management Corporation, a not-for-profit corporation affiliated with the State of New York
(FSMC) as landlord. The Dunkirk Facility, as well as certain equipment, is owned by FSMC and is leased to us under the Dunkirk Lease. Our annual lease payment will be $2.00 per year for an
initial 10-year term, with an option to renew the lease under substantially the same terms and conditions for an additional 10-year term. As part of the transaction, we assumed certain of the Seller’s
obligations under various third-party agreements (the Facility Agreements), subject to the terms and conditions of the purchase agreement by and between the company and Seller dated as of
January 7, 2022, and committed to spend an aggregate of $1.52 billion on operational expenses during the initial term, and an additional $1.50 billion on operational expenses if we elect to renew the
lease for the additional 10-year term. We also committed to hiring 450 employees at the Dunkirk Facility within the first 5 years of operations, with 300 such employees to be hired within the first 2.5
years of operation. We are eligible for certain sales-tax exemption savings during the development of the Dunkirk Facility, and certain property tax savings over the next 20 years, subject to certain
terms and conditions, including performance of certain of the obligations described above. Failure to satisfy the obligations over the lease term may give rise to certain rights and remedies of
governmental authorities including, for example, termination of the lease agreement and other Facility Agreements and potential recoupment of a percentage of the grant funding received by the
Seller for construction of the facility and other benefits received, subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable agreements.
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7. Commitments and Contingencies
Contingent Consideration Related to Business Combinations
VivaBioCell, S.p.A.
In April 2015, NantWorks, LLC (NantWorks), a related party, acquired a 100% interest in VivaBioCell, S.p.A. (VivaBioCell) through its wholly-owned subsidiary, VBC Holdings, LLC,
(VBC Holdings) for $0.7 million, less working capital adjustments. In June 2015, NantWorks contributed its equity interest in VBC Holdings to the company, in exchange for cash consideration
equal to its cost basis in the investment. VivaBioCell develops bioreactors and products based on cell culture and tissue engineering in Italy.
In connection with our acquisition of VBC, we are obligated to pay the former owners contingent consideration upon the achievement of certain milestones related to the GMP-in-a-Box
technology. A clinical milestone totaling $0.8 million was earned by the former owners of VivaBioCell, of which $0.4 million was paid during 2021. The remaining $0.4 million was accrued as of
June 30, 2022 and is expected to be paid in 2022. If the regulatory milestone is achieved, we are obligated to pay approximately $2.1 million.
Altor BioScience Corporation
In connection with the 2017 acquisition of Altor BioScience Corporation (Altor), we issued contingent value rights (CVRs) under which we agreed to pay the prior stockholders of Altor
approximately $304.0 million contingent upon successful approval of the BLA, or foreign equivalent, for N-803 by December 31, 2022 and approximately $304.0 million contingent upon calendaryear worldwide net sales of N-803 exceeding $1.0 billion prior to December 31, 2026 (with amounts payable in cash or shares of our common stock or a combination thereof). We have submitted the
BLA, and in July 2022, we announced the FDA has accepted our BLA for review and set a PDUFA target action date of May 23, 2023. It is unclear when the FDA will approve our BLA, if at all.
Dr. Soon-Shiong and his related party hold approximately $279.5 million in the aggregate of CVRs and they have both irrevocably agreed to receive shares of the company’s common stock in
satisfaction of their CVRs. We may be required to pay the other prior Altor stockholders up to $164.2 million in settlement of the CVRs relating to the regulatory milestone and up to $164.2 million
of the CVRs relating to the sales milestone should they choose to have the CVRs paid in cash instead of common stock. As the transaction was recorded as an asset acquisition, future CVR payments
will be recorded when the corresponding events are probable of achievement or the consideration becomes payable.
Litigation
From time to time, we may be involved in various claims and legal proceedings relating to claims arising out of our operations. We are not currently a party to any legal proceedings that, in
the opinion of our management, are likely to have a material adverse effect on our business. We are aware of complaints that have been filed regarding the Merger, but we have not been served with
any of such complaints. If we are served with any such complaints, we will assess at that time any contingencies for which we may need to reserve. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an
adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.
Altor BioScience, LLC Litigation
In 2017, NantCell announced it had entered into a definitive merger agreement to acquire Altor BioScience Corporation. An action captioned Gray v. Soon-Shiong, et al. was filed in
Delaware Chancery Court by plaintiffs Clayland Boyden Gray (Gray) and Adam R. Waldman. The plaintiffs, two minority stockholders, asserted claims against the company and other defendants for
(1) breach of fiduciary duty and (2) aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty and filed a motion to enjoin the merger. The court denied the motion and permitted the merger to close.
Subsequent to the close of the merger, in 2017 the plaintiffs (joined by two additional minority stockholders, Barbara Sturm Waldman and Douglas E. Henderson (Henderson)) filed a
second amended complaint, asserting claims for (1) appraisal; (2) quasi-appraisal; (3) breach of fiduciary duty; and (4) aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty. The defendants moved to dismiss
the second amended complaint, raising grounds that included a “standstill” agreement under which defendants maintained that Gray and Adam R. Waldman and Barbara Strum Waldman (the
Waldmans) agreed not to bring the lawsuit.
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In a second action, Dyad Pharmaceutical Corporation (Dyad) filed a petition in Delaware Chancery Court for appraisal in connection with the merger. Respondent moved to dismiss the
appraisal petition in 2018, arguing in part that the petition was barred by the same “standstill” agreement. In 2018, the court heard oral arguments on the motions to dismiss in both consolidated cases
and converted the motions to dismiss into motions for summary judgment with regard to the “standstill” agreement argument (the Converted Motions).
The court issued an oral ruling in 2019 that dismissed certain claims and dismissed Altor BioScience from the action. The following claims remained: (a) the appraisal claims by all plaintiffs
and Dyad (against Altor BioScience, LLC), and (b) Henderson’s claims for breach of fiduciary duty and aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty.
In 2019, the court issued a written order implementing its ruling on the Converted Motions (the Implementing Order). In the Implementing Order, the court confirmed that all fiduciary duty
claims brought by Gray, both individually and as trustee of the Gordon Gray Trust f/b/o C. Boyden Gray, were dismissed. Gray and the Waldmans filed answers denying the counterclaims and
asserting defenses. The plaintiffs then moved for leave to file a third amended complaint to add two former Altor stockholders as plaintiffs and a fiduciary duty claim on behalf of a purported class of
former Altor stockholders, which the defendants opposed.
In 2020, the court granted the plaintiffs’ motion, and the plaintiffs filed the third amended complaint. In 2020, the defendants answered the third amended complaint and asserted counter
claims against the plaintiffs. The defendants are seeking damages for attorneys’ fees and costs incurred as a result of the breaches of the “standstill” agreements discussed above and of stockholder
releases. The plaintiffs filed an answer denying the counterclaims and asserting defenses. Trial was set to commence on August 8, 2022, but the parties received notice that the Vice Chancellor
assigned to the case was retiring, and there may be a new trial date.
The shares of the former Altor stockholders seeking appraisal met the definition of dissenting shares under the merger agreement and were not entitled to receive any portion of the merger
consideration at the closing date, given that those shares were the subject of the above-described appraisal claims.
In late March 2022, the company agreed to the terms of a settlement with the appraisal petitioners, without any admission of liability or fault. The settlement provides that in exchange for
complete releases, the appraisal petitioners, who as a group held 3,167,565 dissenting Altor shares, collectively will receive an aggregate of 2,229,296 shares of the company’s common stock issued
in a private placement, plus an aggregate of $21.13 in cash in lieu of fractional shares. The company’s Board of Directors approved the settlement and stock issuance in April 2022, and the court
approved the settlement and dismissed the appraisal petitioners’ claims on July 9, 2022. On July 9, 2022, the company issued 2,229,296 shares of its common stock with an aggregate market value of
$10.7 million, based on the closing price of its common stock as of July 8, 2022. As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, we had accrued $10.7 million and $7.1 million, respectively, related to
the dissenting share obligation.
In late April 2022, the company also agreed to the terms of a settlement with the putative class plaintiffs without any admission of liability or fault. In exchange for class-wide releases, and
assuming the settlement receives court approval, the company will make a settlement payment of $5.0 million in cash by December 31, 2022. The parties are in the process of documenting and
obtaining court approval of the settlement. Prior to finalization and court approval, there can be no assurance as to when the settlement will be finalized and approved. As of June 30, 2022, we have
included $5.0 million of accrued litigation expense related to this settlement on the condensed consolidated balance sheet.
Should the settlement with the class plaintiffs not be approved by the court, we cannot reasonably estimate a range of loss or likelihood of loss beyond the amounts recorded. The company
intends to defend the case vigorously should that prove necessary.
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Sorrento Therapeutics, Inc. Litigation
Sorrento Therapeutics, Inc. (Sorrento), derivatively on behalf of NANTibody, LLC (NANTibody) filed an action in the Superior Court of California, Los Angeles County (the Superior
Court) against the company, Dr. Soon-Shiong and Charles Kim. The action alleged that the defendants improperly caused NANTibody to acquire IgDraSol, Inc. from our affiliate NantPharma, LLC
(NantPharma) and sought to have the transaction undone and the purchase amount returned to NANTibody. In 2019, we filed a demurrer to several causes of action alleged in the Superior Court
action, and Sorrento filed an amended complaint, eliminating Mr. Kim as a defendant and dropping the causes of action we had challenged in our demurrer.
Sorrento filed a related arbitration proceeding (the Cynviloq arbitration) against Dr. Soon-Shiong and NantPharma; the company is not named in the Cynviloq arbitration. In 2020, the
Superior Court granted Dr. Soon-Shiong’s request for a preliminary injunction barring Sorrento from pursuing claims against him in the Cynviloq arbitration. Sorrento then filed the claims it had
previously asserted in arbitration against Dr. Soon-Shiong in the Superior Court, and at Sorrento’s request, the arbitrator entered an order dismissing Sorrento’s claims against Dr. Soon-Shiong in the
Cynviloq arbitration. The hearing in the Cynviloq arbitration commenced in June 2021, and continued with breaks until early October 2021. The parties completed post-hearing briefing in early
May 2022, and summations will likely be scheduled for September 2022.
Also in 2019, the company and Dr. Soon-Shiong filed cross-claims in the Superior Court action against Sorrento and its Chief Executive Officer Henry Ji, asserting claims for fraud, breach
of contract, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, tortious interference with contract, unjust enrichment, and declaratory relief. Our claims allege that Dr. Ji and Sorrento breached the
terms of an exclusive license agreement between the company and Sorrento related to Sorrento’s antibody library and that Sorrento did not perform its obligations under the exclusive license
agreement. The Superior Court ruled that the company’s claims should be pursued in arbitration and that Dr. Soon-Shiong’s claims could be pursued in Superior Court.
In 2019, the company, along with NANTibody, filed an arbitration against Sorrento and Dr. Ji asserting our claims relating to the exclusive license agreement. In 2020, Sorrento sent letters
purporting to terminate the exclusive license agreement with the company, and an exclusive license agreement with NANTibody and demanding the return of its confidential information and transfer
of all regulatory filings and related materials. As required pursuant to the exclusive license agreements, both parties must engage in good-faith negotiations before attempting to invoke any
termination provision contained in the agreement. Notwithstanding such negotiations, Sorrento sent a letter purporting to terminate the exclusive license agreements, maintaining the negotiations did
not reach a successful resolution. We believe we have cured any perceived breaches during the 90-day contractual cure period provided under the agreements. Sorrento filed counterclaims against the
company and NANTibody in the arbitration and requested leave to file a dispositive motion. The hearings in the NANTibody arbitration commenced in April 2021 and concluded in early
August 2021. After post-hearing briefing was concluded, the parties were notified on November 30, 2021 that the arbitrator in the NANTibody arbitration had passed away. A substitute arbitrator was
appointed on February 25, 2022, and the parties have been working with the substitute arbitrator to conclude the proceedings. Additional hearing sessions were held in May and July 2022, and
summations are scheduled for August 2022. We intend to prosecute our claims, and to defend the claims asserted against us, vigorously. An estimate of the possible loss or range of loss cannot be
made at this time.
Shenzhen Beike Biotechnology Co. Ltd. Arbitration
In 2020, we received a Request for Arbitration before the International Chamber of Commerce, International Court of Arbitration. The arbitration relates to a license, development, and
commercialization agreement that Altor entered into with Beike in 2014, which agreement was amended and restated in 2017, pursuant to which Altor granted to Beike an exclusive license to use,
research, develop and commercialize products based on N-803 in China for human therapeutic uses. In the arbitration, Beike is asserting a claim for breach of contract under the license agreement.
Among other things, Beike alleges that we failed to use commercially reasonable efforts to deliver to Beike materials and data related to N-803. Beike is seeking specific performance, or in the
alternative, damages for the alleged breaches. On September 25, 2020, the parties entered into a standstill and tolling agreement under which, among other things, the parties affirmed they will
perform certain of their obligations under the license agreement by specified dates and agreed that all deadlines in the arbitration are indefinitely extended. The standstill agreement may be
terminated by any party on ten calendar days’ notice, and upon termination, the parties will have the right to pursue claims arising from the license agreement in any appropriate tribunal. The parties
have been providing periodic updates to the International Chamber of Commerce confirming a stay of all proceedings during the standstill. Given that this action remains at the pleading stage and no
discovery has occurred, it remains too early to evaluate the likely outcome of the case or to estimate any range of potential loss. We believe the claims lack merit and intend to defend the case
vigorously and further believe that we may have counterclaims.
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Litigation Related to the Merger with ImmunityBio, Inc.
In connection with the Merger with NantCell, Inc. (formerly known as ImmunityBio, Inc., a private company), a Delaware corporation, via a wholly-owned subsidiary of NantKwest, several
complaints were filed as individual actions in the United States District Courts, and subsequently were voluntarily dismissed. Two complaints were filed in the United States District Court for the
Southern District of California and are captioned Weiss v. NantKwest, Inc., et al., 3:21‑cv‑00280 (filed February 16, 2021) (the Weiss Complaint) and Carlisle v. NantKwest, Inc., et al.,
3:21‑cv‑00304 (filed February 19, 2021) (the Carlisle Complaint), (together, the Merger Actions). The Merger Actions generally allege that the Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on
February 2, 2021 misrepresented and/or omitted certain purportedly material information relating to financial projections, analysis performed by the financial advisor to NantKwest’s Special
Committee, alleged past engagements of the Special Committee’s financial advisor and industry consultant, and the terms of the engagement of such consultant. The Merger Actions asserted
violations of Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), and Rule 14a-9 promulgated thereunder against all defendants and violations of Section 20(a) of
the Exchange Act against NantKwest’s directors. The Merger Actions sought, among other things, an injunction enjoining the stockholder vote on the Merger and the consummation of the Merger
unless and until certain additional information was disclosed to NantKwest’s stockholders, costs of the action, including plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees and experts’ fees, and other relief the Court may
deem just and proper. Neither the stockholder vote on the Merger nor the Merger were enjoined and both occurred on March 8 and March 9, 2021, respectively. The Merger Actions were voluntarily
dismissed on March 25, 2022.
Commitments
We did not enter into any significant contracts during the six months ended June 30, 2022, other than those disclosed in these condensed consolidated financial statements.
In addition, we are also a party to various contracts with contract research organizations and contract manufacturers that generally provide for termination on notice, with the exact amounts
in the event of termination to be based on the timing of the termination and the terms of the agreement. There have been no material changes in unconditional purchase commitments from those
disclosed in Note 7, Commitments and Contingencies, of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” that appears in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of our
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 1, 2022.
8. Lease Arrangements
We lease property in multiple facilities across the U.S. (including the Dunkirk Facility in upstate New York) and Italy, including facilities located in El Segundo, CA, that are leased from
related parties. Substantially all of our operating lease right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities relate to facilities leases. See Note 9, Related-Party Agreements, for additional information
about our related-party leases.
Our leases generally have initial terms ranging from two to ten years and often include one or more options to renew. These renewal terms can extend the lease term from one to ten years,
and are included in the lease term when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise the option.
Information regarding our operating leases is as follows:
June 30,
2022

December 31,
2021

(Unaudited)

7.0 years

Weighted average remaining lease term

10.5 %

Weighted average discount rate
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The components of lease expense consist of the following (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2022

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021

2022

(Unaudited)

Operating lease costs
Variable lease costs

$

2,942

Total lease costs

$

934
3,876

2021
(Unaudited)

$

1,717

$

517
2,234

$

5,250

$

3,864

$

2,116
7,366

$

1,183
5,047

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities is as follows (in thousands):
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2022

2021
(Unaudited)

Cash paid for operating leases (excluding variable lease costs)

$

5,091

$

4,004

Future minimum lease payments as of June 30, 2022, including $14.8 million related to options to extend lease terms that are reasonably certain of being exercised, are presented in the
following table (in thousands). Common area maintenance costs and taxes are not included in these payments.
Operating
Leases

Years ending December 31:

2022 (excluding the six months ended June 30, 2022)
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter

$

5,000
9,625
12,182
12,154
10,289
31,457
80,707
24,768
3,887

Total future minimum lease payments
Less: Interest
Less: Tenant improvement allowance receivable
$

Present value of operating lease liabilities

52,052

3530 John Hopkins Court
In April 2022, we extended our existing lease for 44,681 rentable square feet at 3530 John Hopkins Court in San Diego, California from July 31, 2023 to July 31, 2030 (the Extended Lease
Term). This facility is used primarily as a research laboratory and our corporate offices. The Extended Lease Term will commence on August 1, 2023, and includes an option to extend the lease for
one five-year term through July 31, 2035. The base rent effective during the Extended Lease Term will be approximately $323,937 per month with an annual increase of 3% beginning on August 1,
2024. At the beginning of the option term, the initial monthly base rent will be adjusted to market rent (as defined in the lease agreement). We will receive a rent abatement for the first seven months
of the Extended Lease Term beginning on August 1, 2023, and a tenant improvement allowance of $0.7 million from the landlord for costs and expenses associated with the construction of tenant
improvements that can be used during the 12-month period ending on August 1, 2024.
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Other than the lease described above, the acquisition of a leasehold interest at the Dunkirk Facility discussed in Note 6, Collaboration and License Agreements and Acquisition, the entry into
new related-party leases, and the termination of an existing related-party lease discussed in Note 9, Related-Party Agreements, there have been no other material changes related to our existing lease
agreements from those disclosed in Note 8 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 1, 2022.
9. Related-Party Agreements
Our related-party promissory notes consist of the following (in thousands):
Total Notes and Interest Payable

Related-Party Promissory Notes

Maturity
Year

Nant Capital, LLC (1)

2022

Nant Capital, LLC (2)
Nant Capital, LLC (2)
Nant Capital, LLC (5)
NantMobile, LLC (2)
NantWorks, LLC (2)
NantCancerStemCell, LLC (2)
Total related-party promissory notes

2025
2025
2025
2025
2025
2025

Outstanding
Advances

$

300,000

$

June 30,
2022

Interest
Rate

December 31,
2021

(Unaudited)

300,084

(1)

55,226
50,000
40,000
55,000
43,418
33,000

Term SOFR + $
5.4%
5.0%
6.0%
6.0%
3.0%
5.0%
5.0%

62,864
55,387
40,000
59,227
55,374
39,689

(3)

576,644

$

612,625

$

(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)

$

299,236

(1)

61,367
53,810
40,000
58,359
54,067
38,746

(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)

605,585

_______________
(1)

The outstanding advance is due and payable on December 17, 2022. This loan bears interest at Term SOFR + 5.4%, which is compounded annually and payable quarterly commencing on March 17, 2022. As of
June 30, 2022, the interest rate on this loan was 7.29%. We paid $9.9 million in interest on this loan during the six months ended June 30, 2022. Accrued and unpaid interest on this note totaled $0.8 million as
of June 30, 2022. In the event of a default on the loan (as defined in the promissory note), including if we do not repay the loan at maturity, the company has the right, at its sole option, to convert the
outstanding principal amount and accrued and unpaid interest due under this note into fully paid and non-assessable shares of the company’s common stock at a price per share equal to $5.67. Total amortization
on the debt issuance cost of $1.5 million paid to the lender was $0.8 million as of June 30, 2022 and was recorded as a reduction of the principal amount of the note.

(2)

All outstanding advances and accrued and unpaid interest is due and payable on September 30, 2025. Interest on related-party promissory notes is compounded annually. We may prepay the outstanding
principal at any time without premium, penalty or the prior consent of the issuer. All outstanding amounts under the notes become due and payable upon certain bankruptcy and insolvency-related events. There
are no equity or equity-linked convertible rights related to these promissory notes.

(3)

Accrued and unpaid interest on this note totaled $7.6 million and $6.1 million as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively.

(4)

Accrued and unpaid interest on this note totaled $5.4 million and $3.8 million as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively.

(5)

The outstanding principal is due and payable on September 30, 2025. Interest on this related-party promissory note is compounded annually and payable quarterly commencing on June 30, 2021. We paid $1.2
million in interest on this loan during the six months ended June 30, 2022. All outstanding amounts under the note become due and payable upon certain bankruptcy and insolvency-related events. There are no
equity or equity-linked convertible rights related to this promissory note.

(6)

Accrued and unpaid interest on this note totaled $4.2 million and $3.4 million as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively.

(7)

Accrued and unpaid interest on this note totaled $12.0 million and $10.6 million as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively.

(8)

Accrued and unpaid interest on this note totaled $6.7 million and $5.7 million as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively.
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The following table summarizes our estimated future contractual obligations for related-party promissory notes as of June 30, 2022 (unaudited; in thousands):
Principal
Payments

2022 (excluding the six months ended June 30, 2022)
2023
2024
2025
Total principal and estimated interest due on related-party
promissory notes

Interest
Payments (1)

Total

$

300,000
—
—
276,644

$

12,169
2,400
2,407
85,823

$

312,169
2,400
2,407
362,467

$

576,644

$

102,799

$

679,443

_______________
(1)

Interest payments on our fixed-rate promissory notes are calculated based on contractual interest rates and scheduled maturity dates. Interest payments on our variable-rate promissory note are calculated based
on schedule maturity dates and the Term SOFR rate plus the contractual spread per the loan agreement. The rate on our variable-rate promissory note as of June 30, 2022 was 7.29%.

We conduct business with several affiliates under written agreements and informal arrangements. Below is a summary of outstanding balances and a description of significant relationships
(in thousands):
June 30,
2022

December 31,
2021

(Unaudited)

Due from related party–NantBio, Inc.
Due from related parties–Various
Total due from related parties

$

1,294
157

$

1,294
39

$

1,451

$

1,333

Due to related party–Duley Road, LLC
Due to related party–NantWorks, LLC
Due to related party–NantBio, Inc.
Due to related party–Immuno-Oncology Clinic, Inc.
Due to related party–Various
Total due to related parties

$

1,807
1,179
943
—

$

1,380
1,113
943
507

$

229
4,158

$

—
3,943

Our Executive Chairman, Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer, and principal stockholder founded and has a controlling interest in NantWorks, which is a collection of companies in
the healthcare and technology space. As described below, we have entered into arrangements with NantWorks, and certain affiliates of NantWorks, to facilitate the development of new
immunotherapies for our product pipeline. Affiliates of NantWorks are also affiliates of the company due to the common control by and/or common ownership interest of our Executive Chairman
and Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer.
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NantWorks, LLC
Shared Services Agreement
Under the NantWorks shared services agreement executed in November 2015, but effective August 2015, NantWorks, a related party, provides corporate, general and administrative, certain
research and development, and other support services. We are charged for the services at cost plus reasonable allocations of employee benefits, facilities and other direct or fairly allocated indirect
costs that relate to the employees providing the services. For the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, we recorded $2.3 million and $3.0 million, respectively, in selling, general and
administrative expense, and $0.3 million and $0.4 million, respectively, of expense reimbursements under this arrangement in research and development expense, on the condensed consolidated
statements of operations. These amounts exclude certain general and administrative expenses provided by third-party vendors directly for our benefit, which were reimbursed to NantWorks based on
those vendors’ invoiced amounts without markup by NantWorks.
As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, we owed NantWorks a net amount of $1.2 million and $1.1 million, respectively, for all agreements between the two affiliates, which is
included in due to related parties, on the condensed consolidated balance sheets. We also recorded $2.8 million and $2.2 million of prepaid expenses for services that have been passed through to the
company from NantWorks as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively, which are included in prepaid expenses and other current assets, on the condensed consolidated balance sheets.
Facility License Agreement
In 2015, we entered into a facility license agreement with NantWorks for approximately 9,500 square feet of office space in Culver City, California, which was converted to a research and
development laboratory and a cGMP manufacturing facility. In 2020, we amended this agreement to extend the term of this license agreement through December 31, 2021. Commencing on
January 1, 2022, the license fee increased by 3% to approximately $56,120 per month.
On May 6, 2022, we amended our facility license agreement with NantWorks to expand the licensed premises by 36,830 rentable square feet to an aggregate total of 46,330 rentable square
feet. Effective May 1, 2022, the license fee is approximately $273,700 per month, which is subject to a 3% increase commencing on January 1 of each year. The space continues to be rented on a
month-to-month basis, which can be terminated by either party with at least 30 days’ prior written notice to the other party. We recorded license fee expense for this facility totaling $0.8 million and
$0.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, in research and development expense, on the condensed consolidated statements of operations.
Immuno-Oncology Clinic, Inc.
We entered into multiple agreements with Immuno-Oncology Clinic, Inc. (the Clinic) to conduct clinical trials related to certain of our product candidates. The Clinic is a related party as it is
owned by an officer of the company and NantWorks manages the administrative operations of the Clinic. Pursuant to the terms of the Clinic agreement (as amended), we made payments totaling
$5.6 million in consideration of future services to be performed by the Clinic.
In 2021, we completed a review of alternative structures that could support our more complex clinical trial requirements and made a decision to explore a potential transition of clinical trials
at the Clinic to a new structure (including contracting with a new, non-affiliated professional corporation) to be determined and agreed upon by all parties. Based on this decision to explore a
potential transition, we determined that it was more likely than not that the previously recorded prepaid asset would not result in the collection of fees for services performed by the Clinic as
contemplated in the original agreements. As a result, we wrote down the remaining value of our prepaid asset and recorded approximately $4.4 million in research and development expense, on the
condensed consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021.
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We recorded $1.3 million and $0.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, in research and development expense, on the condensed consolidated statements of
operations related to clinical trial and transition services provided by the Clinic. As of June 30, 2022, we have no balances due from or to the Clinic.
NantBio, Inc.
In August 2018, we entered into a supply agreement with NantCancerStemCell, LLC (NCSC), a 60% owned subsidiary of NantBio (with the other 40% owned by Sorrento). Under this
agreement, we agreed to supply VivaBioCell’s proprietary GMP-in-a-Box bioreactors and related consumables, made according to specifications mutually agreed to with both companies. The
agreement has an initial term of five years and renews automatically for successive one-year terms unless terminated by either party in the event of material default upon prior written notice of such
default and the failure of the defaulting party to remedy the default within 30 days of the delivery of such notice, or upon 90 days’ prior written notice by NCSC. We recognized no revenue for the six
months ended June 30, 2022 and $0.3 million of revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2021. We recorded $0.1 million of deferred revenue for bioreactors that were delivered but not installed in
accrued expenses and other liabilities, on the condensed consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021. As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, we recorded
$0.9 million in due to related parties, on the condensed consolidated balance sheets related to this agreement.
In 2018, we entered into a shared service agreement pursuant to which we are charged for services at cost, without mark-up or profit by NantBio, but including reasonable allocations of
employee benefits that relate to the employees providing the services. In April 2019, we agreed with NantBio to transfer certain NantBio employees and associated research and development
projects, comprising the majority of NantBio’s business, to the company. As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, we recorded a net receivable from NantBio of $1.3 million for amounts we
paid on behalf of NantBio during the year ended December 31, 2019.
605 Doug St, LLC
In September 2016, we entered into a lease agreement with 605 Doug St, LLC, an entity owned by our Executive Chairman and Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer, for
approximately 24,250 rentable square feet in El Segundo, California, which has been converted to a research and development laboratory and a cGMP manufacturing facility. The lease runs from
July 2016 through July 2023. We have the option to extend the lease for one additional three-year term through July 2026. The base rent is approximately $72,385 per month, with annual increases of
3% that began in July 2017. We recorded lease expense for this facility of $0.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, in research and development expense, on the
condensed consolidated statements of operations.
Duley Road, LLC
In February 2017, Altor BioScience Corporation (succeeded by our wholly-owned subsidiary Altor BioScience, LLC), through its wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a lease agreement
with Duley Road, a related party that is indirectly controlled by our Executive Chairman and Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer, for approximately 12,000 rentable square feet of office and
cGMP manufacturing facility space in El Segundo, California. The lease term is from February 2017 through October 2024. We have the option to extend the initial term for two consecutive fiveyear periods through October 2034. The base rent is approximately $40,700 per month, with annual increases of 3% that began in November 2018. As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, we
recorded rent payable to Duley Road of $0.3 million and $0.2 million, respectively. We recorded rent expense for this lease of $0.2 million and $0.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022
and 2021, respectively, in research and development expense, on the condensed consolidated statements of operations.
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Effective in January 2019, we entered into two lease agreements with Duley Road for a second building located in El Segundo, California. The first lease is for the first floor of the building
with approximately 5,650 rentable square feet. The lease has a seven-year term commencing in September 2019. The second lease is for the second floor of the building with approximately 6,488
rentable square feet. The lease has a seven-year term commencing in July 2019. Both floors of the building are used for research and development and office space. We have options to extend the
initial terms of both leases for two consecutive five-year periods through 2036. The base rent for the two leases is approximately $35,800 per month that increases at a rate of 3% per year.
As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, we recorded $0.9 million and $0.9 million of leasehold improvement payables, respectively, and $0.6 million and $0.3 million of lease-related
payables to Duley Road, which were included in due to related parties, on the condensed consolidated balance sheets. We recorded rent expense for this lease of $0.2 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, in research and development expense, on the condensed consolidated statements of operations.
605 Nash, LLC
In February 2021, but effective on January 1, 2021, we entered into a lease agreement with 605 Nash, a related party, whereby we leased approximately 6,883 square feet (the Initial
Premises) in a two story mixed use building containing approximately 64,643 rentable square feet on 605-607 Nash Street in El Segundo, California. This facility is used primarily for pharmaceutical
development and manufacturing purposes. The lease term commenced in January 2021 and expires in December 2027, and includes an option to extend the lease for one three-year term through
December 2030. The base rent is approximately $20,300 per month with an annual increase of 3% on January 1 of each year during the initial term and, if applicable, during the option term. In
addition, under the agreement, we are required to pay our share of estimated property taxes and operating expenses. We received a rent abatement for the first seven months, and a tenant
improvement incentive of $0.3 million from the landlord for costs and expenses associated with the construction of tenant improvements for the Initial Premises. We recorded rent expense for this
lease of $0.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, in research and development expense, on the condensed consolidated statements of operations.
In May 2021, but effective on April 1, 2021, we entered into an amendment to our Initial Premises lease with 605 Nash. The amendment expanded the leased square feet by approximately
57,760 rentable square feet (the Expansion Premises). The lease term of the Expansion Premises commenced in April 2021 and expires in March 2028, whereby the company has the option to extend
the initial term for three years. Per the terms of the amendment, the term of the Initial Premises lease was extended for an additional three months and now expires on March 31, 2028. Base rent for
the Expansion Premises is approximately $170,400 per month with annual increases of 3% on April 1 of each year. We are responsible for the build out of the facility space and associated costs. The
amended lease provides for a rent abatement for the first seven months, and for a tenant improvement allowance of approximately $2.6 million for costs and expenses related to improvements made
by us to the Expansion Premises. We recorded rent expense related to the Expansion Premises lease agreement of $1.0 million and $0.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021,
respectively, in research and development expense, on the condensed consolidated statements of operations
557 Doug St, LLC
Effective September 27, 2021, we entered into a lease agreement with Nant Capital under which we leased 557 South Douglas Street in El Segundo, California. Effective May 31, 2022, we
executed a lease termination agreement with Nant Capital under which we will receive a full refund of the first month’s rent and security deposit totaling $0.2 million that we paid upon execution of
the lease. We recorded rent expense related to this lease of $0.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 in research and development expense, on the condensed consolidated statement of
operations. We recognized a gain of $0.6 million on the disposal of this lease for the three months ended June 30, 2022 in other income, net, on the condensed consolidated statement of operations.
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420 Nash, LLC
On September 27, 2021, we entered into a lease agreement with 420 Nash, LLC, a related party, whereby we leased an approximately 19,125 rentable square foot property located at
420 Nash Street, El Segundo, California, to be used primarily for the warehousing and storage of drug manufacturing supplies, products and equipment and ancillary office space.
Under the terms of the lease agreement, the lease term began on October 1, 2021 and expires on September 30, 2026. The base rent is approximately $38,250 per month with an annual
increase of 3% on October 1 of each year beginning in 2022 during the initial term. The company is responsible for the payment of real property taxes, repairs and maintenance, improvements,
insurance and operating expenses during the term of the lease. We received a rent abatement for the first month of the lease, and a one-time improvement allowance of $15,000 from the landlord that
was credited against base rent obligations for the second month of the lease.
The company has options to extend the lease term for two additional consecutive periods of five years each. At the beginning of each option term, the initial monthly base rent will be
adjusted to market rent (as defined in the lease agreement) with an annual increase of 3% during the option term. We have included the first option to extend the lease term for five years as part of the
initial term of the lease as it is reasonably certain that we will exercise the option, which implies lease expiration in September 2031. We recorded $0.3 million of rent expense related to this lease for
the six months ended June 30, 2022 in research and development expense, on the condensed consolidated statement of operations.
23 Alaska, LLC
On May 6, 2022, we entered into a lease agreement with 23 Alaska, LLC, a related party, for a 47,265 rentable square foot facility located at 2335 Alaska Ave., El Segundo, California, to be
used primarily for pharmaceutical development and manufacturing, research and development, and office space.
Under the terms of the agreement, the lease term begins on May 1, 2022 and expires on April 30, 2027. The base rent is approximately $139,400 per month with an annual increase of 3% on
May 1 of each year beginning in 2023 during the initial term. We will receive a rent abatement for the second through sixth month of the lease. We are also required to pay $7,600 per month for
parking during the initial term and extension term, if exercised. The company is responsible for the payment of real property taxes, repairs and maintenance, improvements, insurance, and operating
expenses during the term of the lease.
The company is responsible for the costs associated with the build-out of the premises and will received a one-time tenant improvement allowance of $945,300 from the landlord.
The company has an option to extend the lease term for one additional consecutive five-year period. At the beginning of the option term, the initial monthly base rent will be adjusted to
market rent (as defined in the lease agreement) with an annual increase of 3% during the option term. We recorded $0.3 million of rent expense for this lease for the six months ended June 30, 2022
in research and development expense, on the condensed consolidated statement of operations.
10. Stockholders’ Deficit
Stock Authorized for Issuance
Effective February 1, 2022, ImmunityBio amended and restated its Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of shares of common stock that the company is
authorized to issue from 500,000,000 shares, $0.0001 par value per share, to 900,000,000 shares, $0.0001 par value per share. The number of shares of preferred stock that the company is authorized
to issue remains unchanged at 20,000,000 shares.
Stock Repurchases
No shares of our common stock were repurchased during the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 under the company’s 2015 Share Repurchase Program. As of June 30, 2022,
$18.3 million remained authorized for repurchase under the program.
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Open Market Sale Agreement
On April 30, 2021, we entered into an open market sale agreement (the Sale Agreement) with respect to an ATM offering program under which we may offer and sell, from time to time at
our sole discretion, shares of our common stock, having an aggregate offering price of up to $500.0 million through our sales agent. We pay our sales agent a commission of up to 3.0% of the gross
sales proceeds of any shares of our common stock sold through them under the Sale Agreement, and also have provided them with customary indemnification and contribution rights. We issued
no shares under the ATM during the six months ended June 30, 2022. As of June 30, 2022, we had $330.8 million available for future stock issuances under the ATM.
We are not obligated to sell any shares and may at any time suspend solicitation and offers under the Sale Agreement. The Sale Agreement may be terminated by us at any time given written
notice to the sales agent for any reason or by the sales agent at any time by giving written notice to us for any reason or immediately under certain circumstances, and shall automatically terminate
upon the issuance and sale of all of the shares.
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11. Stock-Based Compensation
2015 Equity Incentive Plan
At the company’s 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on June 14, 2022, stockholders approved an amendment to increase the number of shares of common stock authorized for
issuance under the 2015 Plan by 19,900,000 shares. As of June 30, 2022, approximately 18.5 million shares were available for future grants under the 2015 Plan.
Stock-Based Compensation
The following table presents stock-based compensation included on the condensed consolidated statements of operations (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2022

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021

2022

2021

(Unaudited)

Stock-based compensation expense:
Stock options
RSUs
Stock-based compensation expense in operating expenses:
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative

(Unaudited)

$

3,742

$

1,610

$

5,764

$

7,965

$

6,433
10,175

$

16,253
17,863

$

14,435
20,199

$

25,196
33,161

$

3,216

$

8,545

$

6,201

$

11,433

$

6,959
10,175

$

9,318
17,863

$

13,998
20,199

$

21,728
33,161

Stock Options
The following table summarizes stock option activity and related information for the six months ended June 30, 2022:

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

Number of
Options

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
(in thousands)

Outstanding at December 31, 2021
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited/expired
Outstanding at June 30, 2022

4,124,930 $
5,736,256 $
(14,767) $

15.62
5.33
5.07

(399,229) $
9,447,190 $

6.02

Vested and exercisable at June 30, 2022

3,464,277
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WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Life
(in years)

$

4,178

5.3

9.79

$

2,239

7.7

14.70

$

1,483

4.3
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On March 23, 2022, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors granted option awards to purchase a total of 4,728,634 shares of our common stock pursuant to the 2015 Plan at
an exercise price of $5.83 per share, the closing price reported on the Nasdaq on the date of grant.
Of the option awards granted, 3,903,634 shares subject to such option awards were awarded to employees of the company (of which 825,000 options were awarded to the company’s named
executive officers (NEOs)). The shares subject to the option shall vest in equal annual installments of 1/3rd on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of March 23, 2022 (the “vesting
commencement date”), such that all shares shall be fully vested on the third anniversary of the vesting commencement date, subject to the recipient continuing to be a “service provider” as defined in
the 2015 Plan through each applicable vesting date.
The remaining 825,000 shares subject to such option awards were awarded to the company’s NEOs. Subject to the company’s attainment of a financial goal for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2022, 1/3rd of the shares subject to the option shall vest in equal annual installments on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the vesting commencement date, such that all
shares shall be fully vested on the third anniversary of the vesting commencement date, subject to the recipient continuing to be a “service provider” through each applicable vesting date.
As of June 30, 2022, the unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding stock options was $28.6 million, which is expected to be recognized over a remaining weighted-average
period of 2.2 years.
The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the six months ended June 30, 2022 was immaterial. Cash proceeds received from stock option exercises during the six months
ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 totaled $0.1 million and $4.4 million, respectively.
As of December 31, 2021, a total of 3,038,322 vested and exercisable shares were outstanding.
The fair value of stock options issued was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2022
(Unaudited)

Expected term
Risk-free interest rate
Expected volatility
Dividend yield
Weighted-average grant date fair value

$

5.7 years
2.6 %
101.8 %
0.0 %
4.20

The expected term was estimated using the average of the contractual term and the weighted-average vesting term of the options. The risk-free interest rate was based on the U.S. Treasury’s
rates for U.S. Treasury zero-coupon bonds with maturities similar to those of the expected term of the award being valued. The expected volatility was estimated based on the historical volatility of
our common stock. The assumed dividend yield was based on our expectation of not paying dividends in the foreseeable future.
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Restricted Stock Units
The following table summarizes RSU activity during the six months ended June 30, 2022:

Number of
Units

Nonvested balance at December 31, 2021
Granted
Vested
Forfeited/canceled

6,515,889 $
1,185,177 $
(294,391) $
(539,163) $
6,867,512 $

Nonvested balance at June 30, 2022

WeightedAverage
Grant Date
Fair Value

21.88
3.21
11.70
20.90
19.17

As of June 30, 2022, there was $89.9 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to RSUs that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.1
years. The total intrinsic value of RSUs vested during the six months ended June 30, 2022 was $1.1 million.
RSUs awarded to employees and consultants of affiliated companies are accounted for as stock-based compensation in accordance with ASU 2018-07, Compensation—Stock Compensation
(Topic 718), as the compensation was in exchange for continued support or services expected to be provided to the company over the vesting periods under the NantWorks shared services agreement
discussed in Note 9, Related-Party Agreements. We have evaluated the associated benefit of these awards to the affiliated companies under common control and determined that the benefit is limited
to the retention of their employees. We estimated such benefit at the grant date fair value of $4.0 million and recorded $0.3 million and $0.5 million of deemed dividends for the six months ended
June 30, 2022 and 2021 in additional paid-in capital, on the condensed consolidated balance sheets, with a corresponding credit to stock-based compensation expense.
Warrants
In connection with the Merger, warrants issued to NantWorks, a related party, in connection with NantCell’s acquisition of Altor were assumed by the company. After applying the Exchange
Ratio at the Effective Time of the Merger, a total of 1,638,000 warrants with an exercise price of $3.24 per share were outstanding as of June 30, 2022. The fair value of $18.0 million assigned to the
warrants will be recognized in equity upon achievement of a performance-based vesting condition pertaining to building manufacturing capacity to support supply requirements for one of our product
candidates.
12. Income Taxes
We are subject to U.S. federal income tax, as well as income tax in Italy, South Korea, California and other states. From inception through June 30, 2022, we have not been required to pay
U.S. federal and state income taxes because of current and accumulated net operating losses (NOLs). The company computes its quarterly income tax provision by using a forecasted annual effective
tax rate and adjusts for any discrete items arising during the quarter. No tax benefit was provided for losses incurred in the U.S., Italy, and South Korea because those losses are offset by a full
valuation allowance.
The company is no longer subject to income tax examination by the U.S. federal, state or local tax authorities for years ended on or before December 31, 2016. Carryforward attributes that
were generated in years where the statute of limitations is closed may still be adjusted upon examination by the Internal Revenue Service or other respective tax authorities. No income tax returns are
currently under examination by taxing authorities.
On March 9, 2021, the company completed the Merger with NantCell. The Merger is accounted for as a transaction between entities under common control, and is considered a nontaxable
transaction for U.S. income tax purposes, as it is intended to qualify as a “reorganization” within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code).
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ITEM 2.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

Forward-Looking Statements
The following discussion and analysis should be read together with our condensed consolidated financial statements and the notes to those statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q. This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (Securities Act) and
Section 21E of the Exchange Act that are based on our management’s beliefs and assumptions and on information currently available to our management. The forward-looking statements are
contained in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to:
•

our ability to develop next-generation therapies and vaccines that complement, harness, and amplify the immune system to defeat cancers and infectious diseases;

•

our ability to implement and support our SARS-CoV-2 vaccine and therapeutic programs;

•

any impact of the coronavirus pandemic, or responses to the pandemic, on our business, clinical trials or personnel;

•

our expectations regarding the potential benefits of our strategy and technology;

•

our expectations regarding the operation of our product candidates and related benefits;

•

our ability to utilize multiple modes to induce cell death;

•

our beliefs regarding the benefits and perceived limitations of competing approaches, and the future of competing technologies and our industry;

•

details regarding our strategic vision and planned product candidate pipeline, including that we eventually plan to advance vaccines and therapies for virally-induced infectious diseases;

•

our beliefs regarding the success, cost and timing of our product candidate development activities and current and future clinical trials and studies, including study design and the
enrollment of patients;

•

our expectations regarding our ability to utilize the Phase 1/2 aNK and haNK® clinical trials data to support the development of our product candidates, including our haNK, taNK,
t‑haNK™, MSC, and M-ceNK™ product candidates;

•

our expectations regarding the development, application, commercialization, marketing, prospects and use generally of our product candidates, including N-803, self-amplifying RNA
(saRNA), hAd5 and yeast constructs, recombinant sub-unit proteins, EDV constructs, toll-like receptor-activating adjuvants, and aldoxorubicin;

•

the timing or likelihood of regulatory submissions or other actions and related regulatory authority responses and approvals, including any planned investigational new drug (IND), BLA
or New Drug Application (NDA) submissions to the FDA, including, without limitation, the progress of our BLA submission for N-803 in combination with BCG for the treatment of
patients with BCG-unresponsive NMIBC with CIS with or without Ta or T1 disease submitted to the FDA in May 2022 or the pursuit of accelerated regulatory approval pathways or
orphan drug status and Breakthrough Therapy designations for applicable product candidates;

•

our ability to implement an integrated discovery ecosystem and the operation of that planned ecosystem, including being able to regularly add neoepitopes and subsequently formulate
new product candidates;

•

the ability and willingness of strategic collaborators to share our vision and effectively work with us to achieve our goals;

•

the ability and willingness of various third parties to engage in research and development activities involving our product candidates, and our ability to leverage those activities;

•

our ability to attract additional third-party collaborators;

•

our expectations regarding the ease of administration associated with our product candidates;
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•

the ability to transition our clinical trials at the Clinic to a new structure on the anticipated timeline, if at all;

•

our ability to finalize and execute definitive agreements with third parties with whom we have entered into term sheets or reached agreements in principle on various potential
transactions;

•

our expectations regarding patient compatibility associated with our product candidates;

•

our beliefs regarding the potential markets for our product candidates and our ability to serve those markets;

•

our expectations regarding the timing of enrollment and submission of our clinical trials, and protocols related to such trials;

•

our ability to produce an antibody cytokine fusion protein, a DNA, RNA, or recombinant protein vaccine, a toll-like receptor-activating adjuvant, an NK-cell therapy, or a damageassociated molecular patterns (DAMP) inducer therapy;

•

our beliefs regarding the potential manufacturing and distribution benefits associated with our product candidates, and our ability to scale up the production of our product candidates;

•

our plans regarding our manufacturing facilities and our belief that our manufacturing is capable of being conducted in‑house;

•

our belief in the potential of our antibody cytokine fusion proteins, DNA, RNA or recombinant protein vaccines, toll-like receptor-activating adjuvants, NK-cell therapy, or DAMP
inducer platforms, and the fact that our business is based upon the success individually and collectively of these platforms;

•

our belief regarding the magnitude or duration for additional clinical testing of our antibody cytokine fusion proteins, DNA, RNA or recombinant protein vaccines, toll-like receptoractivating adjuvants, NK-cell therapy, or DAMP inducers along with other product candidate families;

•

even if we successfully develop and commercialize specific product candidates like our N-803 or PD-L1 t‑haNK, our ability to develop and commercialize our other product candidates
either alone or in combination with other therapeutic agents;

•

the ability to obtain and maintain regulatory approval of any of our product candidates, and any related restrictions, limitations and/or warnings in the label of any approved product
candidate;

•

our ability to commercialize any approved products;

•

the rate and degree of market acceptance of any approved products;

•

our ability to attract and retain key personnel;

•

the accuracy of our estimates regarding our future revenue, as well as our future operating expenses, capital requirements and needs for additional financing;

•

our ability to obtain funding for our operations, including funding necessary to complete further development and any commercialization of our product candidates;

•

our ability to obtain, maintain, protect and enforce intellectual property protection for our product candidates and technology and not infringe upon, misappropriate or otherwise violate
the intellectual property of others;

•

the terms and conditions of licenses granted to us and our ability to license additional intellectual property relating to our product candidates and technology;

•

the impact on us, if any, if the CVRs held by former Altor stockholders become due and payable in accordance with their terms;

•

regulatory developments in the U.S. and foreign countries; and

•

the timing of the development and commercialization of our product candidates.
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Forward-looking statements include statements that are not historical facts and can be identified by terms such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “could,” “seeks,” “estimates,” “expects,”
“intends,” “may,” “plans,” “potential,” “predicts,” “projects,” “should,” “will,” “would,” or similar expressions and the negatives of those terms. In addition, statements that “we believe” and
similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements are based upon information available to us as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and
although we believe such information forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, and our statements should not be read to indicate that we have
conducted a thorough inquiry into, or review of, all potentially available relevant information. These statements are inherently uncertain, and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely upon these
statements.
Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance, or achievements to be materially different
from any future results, performance, or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. We discuss these risks in greater detail in Part II, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” of this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements as a representation or warranty by us or any other person that
we will achieve our objectives and plans in any specified time frame. Also, forward-looking statements represent our management’s beliefs and assumptions only as of the date of this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q.
Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update these forward-looking statements, or to update the reasons actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these
forward-looking statements, even if new information becomes available in the future. You should read this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q completely and with the understanding that our actual
future results may be materially different from what we expect.
Anktiva, ceNK, Conkwest, GlobeImmune, GlobeImmune (logo), haNK, haNK (Chinese characters), ImmunityBio, NantKwest, NK-92, Outsmart your disease, taNK, Tarmogen, Vesanktiva,
and VivaBioCell are trademarks or registered trademarks of ImmunityBio, Inc., its subsidiaries, or its affiliates.
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains references to our trademarks and trademarks belonging to other entities. Solely for convenience, trademarks and trade names referred to in
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including logos, artwork and other visual displays, may appear without the ® or TM symbols, but such references are not intended to indicate, in any way, that we
will not assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, our rights or the rights of the applicable licensor to these trademarks and trade names. We do not intend our use or display of other
companies’ trade names or trademarks to imply a relationship with, or endorsement or sponsorship of us, by any other companies.
In this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, “ImmunityBio,” “the company,” “the combined company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to ImmunityBio, Inc. and its subsidiaries.
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Our Business
ImmunityBio, Inc. is a clinical-stage biotechnology company developing next-generation therapies and vaccines that complement, harness, and amplify the immune system to defeat cancers
and infectious diseases. We strive to be a vertically-integrated immunotherapy company designing and manufacturing our products so they are more effective, accessible, more conveniently stored,
and more easily administered to patients.
Our broad immunotherapy and cell therapy platforms are designed to attack cancer and infectious pathogens by activating both the innate immune system—NK cells, dendritic cells, and
macrophages—and the adaptive immune system—B cells and T cells—in an orchestrated manner. The goal of this potentially best-in-class approach is to generate immunogenic cell death thereby
eliminating rogue cells from the body whether they are cancerous or virally infected. Our ultimate goal is to employ this approach to establish an “immunological memory” that confers long-term
benefit for the patient.
Our business is based on the foundation of multiple platforms that collectively act on the entire immune response with the goal of targeted, durable, coordinated, and safe immunity against
disease. These platforms and their associated product candidates are designed to overcome the limitations of the current standards of care in oncology and infectious diseases, such as checkpoint
inhibitors and antiretroviral therapies. We believe that we have established one of the most comprehensive portfolios of immunotherapy and vaccine platforms, which includes:

Our platforms include 9 first-in-human therapeutic agents that are currently being studied in 27 clinical trials—18 of which are in Phase 2 or 3 development—across 13 indications in liquid
and solid tumors, including bladder, pancreatic and lung cancers. These are among the most frequent and lethal cancer types for which there are high failure rates for existing standards of care or, in
some cases, no available effective treatment. In infectious disease, our pipeline currently targets such pathogens as SARS-CoV-2 and HIV. We believe SARS-CoV-2 currently lacks a vaccine that
provides long-term protection against the virus, particularly its variants, while HIV affects tens of millions of people globally and currently has no known cure.
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We believe that our innovative approach to orchestrate and combine therapies for optimal immune system response will become a therapeutic foundation across multiple clinical indications.
Additionally, we believe that data from multiple clinical trials indicates N-803 has broad potential to enhance the activity of therapeutic monoclonal antibodies (mAbs), including checkpoint
inhibitors (e.g., Keytruda), across a wide range of tumor types. N-803 is currently being studied in 21 clinical trials (both ImmunityBio and investigator-sponsored) across 13 indications. Although
such designations may not lead to a faster development process or regulatory review and may not increase the likelihood that a product candidate will receive approval, N-803, ImmunityBio’s novel
antibody cytokine fusion protein, has received Breakthrough Therapy and Fast Track designations from the FDA in combination with BCG for the treatment of patients with BCG-unresponsive
NMIBC with CIS with or without Ta or T1 disease. In May 2022, we announced the submission of a BLA to the FDA for our product candidate, N-803 in combination with BCG for the treatment of
patients with BCG-unresponsive NMIBC with CIS with or without Ta or T1 disease. In July 2022, we announced the FDA has accepted our BLA for review and set a PDUFA target action date of
May 23, 2023. It is unclear when the FDA will approve our BLA, if at all.
We have established GMP manufacturing capacity at scale with cutting-edge cell manufacturing expertise and ready-to-scale facilities, as well as extensive and seasoned R&D, clinical trial,
and regulatory operations, and development teams.
The Merger
On December 21, 2020, NantKwest and NantCell entered into the Merger Agreement pursuant to which NantKwest and NantCell agreed to combine their businesses. The Merger
Agreement provided that a wholly-owned subsidiary of the company would merge with and into NantCell, with NantCell surviving the Merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the company.
On March 9, 2021, we completed the Merger pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement. Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, at the Effective Time, each share of NantCell
common stock, par value $0.001 per share, issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, subject to certain exceptions as set forth in the Merger Agreement, was converted
automatically into a right to receive 0.8190 newly issued shares of Company Common Stock, with cash paid in lieu of any fractional shares. At the Effective Time, each share of the company’s
common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, remained an issued and outstanding share of the combined company. At the Effective Time, each outstanding option,
RSU or warrant to purchase NantCell common stock was converted using the Exchange Ratio into an option, RSU or warrant, respectively, on the same terms and conditions immediately prior to the
Effective Time, to purchase shares of Company Common Stock.
Immediately following the Effective Time, the former stockholders of NantCell held approximately 71.5% of the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock and the stockholders of
NantKwest as of immediately prior to the Merger held approximately 28.5% of the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock. As a result of the Merger and immediately following the Effective
Time, Dr. Patrick Soon-Shiong, our Executive Chairman and Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer, and his affiliates beneficially owned, in the aggregate, approximately 81.8% of the
outstanding shares of Company Common Stock. Following the consummation of the Merger, the symbol for shares of the company’s common stock was changed to “IBRX.”
Accounting Treatment of the Merger
The Merger represents a business combination pursuant to FASB ASC Topic 805-50, which is accounted for as a transaction between entities under common control as Dr. Soon‑Shiong and
his affiliates were the controlling stockholders of both the company and NantCell for all of the periods presented in this report. As a result, all of the assets and liabilities of NantCell were combined
with ours at their historical carrying amounts on the closing date of the Merger. We have recast our prior period financial statements to reflect the conveyance of NantCell’s common shares as if the
Merger had occurred as of the earliest date of the condensed consolidated financial statements presented in Item 1. “Financial Statements” of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. All material
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
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COVID-19 Pandemic
The COVID-19 pandemic continues to present a substantial public health and economic challenge around the world. Through the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we have not
seen a material adverse impact to our business from the pandemic. However, given the unprecedented and continuously evolving nature of the pandemic, we cannot at this time predict the specific
extent, duration, or full impact that this pandemic may have on our financial condition and results of operations, including ongoing and planned clinical trials. More specifically, the pandemic may
result in prolonged impacts that we cannot predict at this time and we expect that such uncertainties will continue to exist for the foreseeable future. The impact of the pandemic on our financial
performance will depend on future developments, including the duration and spread of the outbreak, impact of potential variants and the related governmental advisories and restrictions. These
developments and the impact of the ongoing pandemic on the financial markets and the overall economy are highly uncertain. If the financial markets and/or the overall economy are impacted for an
extended period, our results may be adversely affected. In addition, we anticipate that enrollment of patients in certain studies will likely take longer than previously forecasted and that our clinical
trials may require additional time to complete which would in turn impact the timeline of BLA submissions of our product candidates and subsequent revenue generation.
These factors have been accounted for in the company’s anticipated upcoming milestones. During any such delays in our clinical trials, we will continue to incur fixed costs such as selling,
general and administrative expenses and operating expenses related to our laboratory, GMP manufacturing, and office facilities.
Many of our office-based employees have been working from home since mid-March 2020. Essential staffing levels for our research and development operations remain in place, including
maintaining key personnel in our laboratory and GMP manufacturing facilities. It is likely that the pandemic and resulting mitigation efforts could have an impact in the future on our third-party
suppliers who manufacture laboratory supplies required for our in-house manufacturing process, which in turn could have an impact on having sufficient clinical product supply available for our
clinical trials. We have addressed this in part by ensuring that we have sufficient supplies on hand to weather interruptions in our supply chain.
We continue to monitor the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, including our clinical trials, manufacturing facilities and capabilities, and ability to access necessary
resources. For a discussion of the risks presented by the COVID-19 pandemic to our results of operations and financial condition, see Part II, Item 1A. “Risk Factors.”
Operating Results
From inception through the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we have generated minimal revenue from non-exclusive license agreements related to our cell lines, the sale of our
bioreactors and related consumables, and grant programs. We have no clinical products approved for commercial sale and have not generated any revenue from therapeutic and vaccine product
candidates that are under development. We have incurred net losses in each year since our inception and, as of June 30, 2022, we had an accumulated deficit of $2.2 billion. Our net losses attributable
to ImmunityBio common stockholders were $197.4 million and $167.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Substantially all of our net losses resulted principally
from costs incurred in connection with our ongoing clinical trials and operations, our research and development programs, and from selling, general and administrative costs associated with our
operations, including stock-based compensation expense.
As of June 30, 2022, we had 740 employees. Personnel of related companies who provide corporate, general and administrative, manufacturing strategy, research and development,
regulatory and clinical trial strategy and other support services under our shared services agreement with NantWorks are not included in this number. For additional information, see Note 9, RelatedParty Agreements, of the “Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements” that appears in Item 1. “Financial Statements” of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. In anticipation of
the commercialization of select drug candidates, we expect to continue to incur significant expenses and increasing operating losses for the foreseeable future, which may fluctuate significantly from
quarter-to-quarter and year-to-year. See “—Future Funding Requirements” below for a discussion of our anticipated expenditures and sources of capital we expect to access to fund these
expenditures.
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Collaboration Agreements
We anticipate that strategic collaborations will continue to be an integral part of our operations, providing opportunities to leverage our partners’ expertise and capabilities to gain access to
new technologies and further expand the potential of our technologies and product candidates across relevant platforms. We believe we are well positioned to become a leader in immunotherapy due
to our broad and vertically-integrated platforms and through complementary strategic partnerships.
We believe that our innovative approach to orchestrate and combine therapies for optimal immune system response will become a therapeutic foundation across multiple clinical indications.
Additionally, we believe that data from multiple clinical trials indicates N-803 has broad potential to enhance the activity of therapeutic mAbs, including checkpoint inhibitors (e.g., Keytruda), across
a wide range of tumor types. N-803 is currently being studied in 21 clinical trials (both ImmunityBio and investigator-sponsored) across 13 indications. We may also enter into supply arrangements
for various investigational agents to be used in our clinical trials. See Part I, Item 1. “Business—Collaboration and License Agreements”, of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
March 1, 2022 for a more detailed discussion regarding our collaboration and license agreements.
Agreements with Related Parties
Our Executive Chairman, Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer and our principal stockholder, founded and has a controlling interest in NantWorks, which is a collection of companies
in the healthcare and technology space. We have entered into arrangements with NantWorks, and certain affiliates of NantWorks, to facilitate the development of new immunotherapies for our
product pipeline. Affiliates of NantWorks are also affiliates of the company due to the common control by and/or common ownership interest of our Executive Chairman and Global Chief Scientific
and Medical Officer.
Related-Party Promissory Notes
As of June 30, 2022, we have outstanding fixed-rate promissory notes with entities affiliated with Dr. Soon-Shiong in an aggregate amount of $312.5 million, including accrued interest.
These notes bear interest at a per annum rate ranging from 3.0% to 6.0%, provide that the outstanding principal is due and payable on September 30, 2025, and accrued and unpaid interest is payable
on either upon maturity or, with respect to one of the notes, on a quarterly basis. We may prepay the outstanding amount of any advance under such notes, together with accrued and unpaid interest,
at any time, in whole or in part, without premium or penalty.
In addition, as of June 30, 2022 we have a $300.0 million variable-rate promissory note with an entity affiliated with Dr. Soon-Shiong that is due and payable on December 17, 2022. This
loan bears interest at Term SOFR + 5.4%, which is compounded annually and payable quarterly commencing on March 17, 2022. As of June 30, 2022, the interest rate on this loan was 7.29%. In the
event of a default on the loan (as defined in the promissory note), including if we do not repay the loan at maturity, the company has the right, at its sole option, to convert the outstanding principal
amount and accrued and unpaid interest due under this note into shares of the company’s common stock at price of $5.67 per share. There can be no assurance that we can refinance this promissory
note or what terms will be available in the market at the time of refinancing. Furthermore, if prevailing interest rates or other factors at the time of refinancing result in higher interest rates upon
refinancing, then the interest expense relating to the refinanced indebtedness would increase. These risks could materially adversely affect our financial condition, cash flows and results of
operations.
Immuno-Oncology Clinic, Inc.
We entered into multiple agreements with the Clinic to conduct clinical trials related to certain of our product candidates. The Clinic is a related party as it is owned by an officer of the
company and NantWorks manages the administrative operations of the Clinic.
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In 2021, we completed a review of alternative structures that could support our more complex clinical trial requirements and made a decision to explore a potential transition of clinical trials
at the Clinic to a new structure (including contracting with a new, non-affiliated professional corporation) to be determined and agreed upon by all parties. Based on this decision to explore a
potential transition, we determined that it was more likely than not that the previously recorded prepaid asset would not result in the collection of fees for services performed by the Clinic as
contemplated in the original agreements. As a result, we wrote down the remaining value of our prepaid asset and recorded approximately $4.4 million in research and development expense, on the
condensed consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021.
For the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, we incurred $1.3 million and $0.8 million in research and development expense, on the condensed consolidated statements of operations
related to clinical trial and transition services provided by the Clinic.
NantWorks, LLC
On May 6, 2022, we amended our facility license agreement with NantWorks, a related party, to expand the licensed premises to an aggregate total of 46,330 rentable square feet.
23 Alaska, LLC
On May 6, 2022, we entered into a lease agreement with 23 Alaska, LLC, a related party, for a 47,265 rentable square foot facility located at 2335 Alaska Ave., El Segundo, California, to be
used primarily for quality control and process science activities.
557 Doug St, LLC
Effective September 27, 2021, we entered into a lease agreement with Nant Capital under which we leased 557 South Douglas Street in El Segundo, California. Effective May 31, 2022, we
executed a lease termination agreement with Nant Capital under which we will receive a full refund of the first month’s rent and security deposit totaling $0.2 million that we paid upon execution of
the lease.
See Note 9, Related-Party Agreements, of the “Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements” that appears in Item 1. “Financial Statements” of this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for a more detailed discussion regarding our related-party agreements.
Components of our Results of Operations
Revenue
From inception through the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we have generated minimal revenue from non-exclusive license agreements related to our cell lines, the sale of our
bioreactors and related consumables, and grant programs. We have no clinical products approved for commercial sale and have not generated any revenue from therapeutic and vaccine product
candidates that are under development. If we fail to complete the development of our product candidates in a timely manner or fail to obtain regulatory approval for them, we may never be able to
generate substantial future revenue.
Operating Expenses
We generally classify our operating expenses into research and development, and selling, general and administrative expenses. Personnel costs, including salaries, benefits, bonuses, and
stock-based compensation expense comprise a significant component of our research and development, and selling, general and administrative expense categories. We allocate expenses associated
with our facilities and information technology costs between these two categories, primarily based on the nature of each cost.
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Research and Development
Research and development expense consists of expenses incurred while performing research and development activities to discover and develop our technology and product candidates. This
includes conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials, manufacturing development efforts and activities related to regulatory filings for product candidates. We recognize research and
development expenses as they are incurred.
Our research and development expenses primarily consist of:
•

clinical trial and regulatory-related costs;

•

expenses incurred under agreements with investigative sites and consultants that conduct our clinical trials;

•

expenses incurred under collaborative agreements;

•

manufacturing and testing costs and related supplies and materials;

•

employee-related expenses, including salaries, benefits, travel and stock-based compensation; and

•

facility expenses dedicated to research and development.

We typically use our employee, consultant and infrastructure resources across our development programs. We track outsourced development costs by product candidate or development
program, but we do not allocate personnel costs, other internal costs or external consultant costs to specific product candidates or development programs.
We expect our research and development expenses to continue to increase significantly for the foreseeable future as we advance our product candidates through clinical development,
including the conduct of our ongoing and any future clinical trials.
The process of conducting clinical trials necessary to obtain regulatory approval is costly and time consuming. The successful development of product candidates is highly uncertain. At this
time, we cannot reasonably estimate the nature, timing or costs required to complete the remaining development of any product candidates. This is due to the numerous risks and uncertainties
associated with the development of product candidates.
The costs of clinical trials may vary significantly over the life of a project owing to, but not limited to, the following:
•

per patient trial costs;

•

the number of sites included in the clinical trials;

•

the countries in which the clinical trials are conducted;

•

the length of time required to enroll eligible patients;

•

the number of patients that participate in the clinical trials;

•

the number of doses that patients receive;

•

the cost of comparative agents used in clinical trials;

•

the drop-out or discontinuation rates of patients;

•

potential additional safety monitoring or other studies requested by regulatory agencies;

•

the duration of patient follow-up; and

•

the efficacy and safety profile of the product candidate.
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We have only one product candidate, N-803 in combination with BCG for the treatment of patients with BCG-unresponsive NMIBC with CIS with or without Ta or T1 disease, for which we
submitted a BLA to the FDA in May 2022. In July 2022, we announced the FDA has accepted our BLA for review and set a PDUFA target action date of May 23, 2023. However, there can be no
assurance that our product candidate will be approved for commercial sale by the PDUFA target action date, if ever. We do not expect any of our other product candidates to be commercially
available for the foreseeable future, if ever.
Selling, General and Administrative
Selling, general and administrative expense consists primarily of salaries and personnel-related costs, including employee benefits and any stock-based compensation, for employees
performing functions other than research and development. This includes personnel in executive, finance, human resources, information technology, legal, and administrative support functions. Other
selling, general and administrative expenses include facility-related costs not otherwise allocated to research and development expense, professional fees for auditing, tax and legal services,
advertising costs, expenses associated with strategic business transactions and business development efforts, obtaining and maintaining patents, consulting costs, royalties and licensing costs, and
costs of our information systems.
We expect that our selling, general and administrative expenses will increase for the foreseeable future as we expand operations, build out information systems and increase our headcount to
support continued research activities and the development of our clinical programs. We have incurred and expect that we will continue to incur in the future, additional costs associated with operating
as a public company, including costs to comply with stock exchange listing and SEC requirements, future funding efforts, corporate governance, internal controls, investor relations, disclosure and
similar requirements applicable to public companies. Additionally, if and when we believe that a regulatory approval of a product candidate appears likely, we expect to incur significant increases in
our selling, general and administrative expenses relating to the sales and marketing of the approved product candidate.
Other Income and Expense
Other income and expense consists primarily of interest income, interest expense, unrealized gains and losses on investments in equity securities and equity method investments, realized
gains and losses on both debt and equity securities, and gains and losses on foreign currency transactions.
Income Taxes
We are subject to U.S. federal income tax, as well as income tax in Italy, South Korea, California and other states. From inception through June 30, 2022, we have not been required to pay
U.S. federal and state income taxes because of current and accumulated NOLs.
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Discussion of Condensed Consolidated Results of Operations
Comparison of the Three Months Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2022

2021

$ Change

% Change

(Unaudited, $ in thousands)

Revenue
Operating expenses:
Research and development (including amounts
with related parties)
Selling, general and administrative (including amounts
with related parties)
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other expense, net:
Interest and investment loss, net
Interest expense (including amounts with related parties)
Loss on equity method investment
Other income, net (including amounts
with related parties)
Total other expense, net
Loss before income taxes and noncontrolling interests
Income tax expense

$

Net loss

$

35

$

339

$

(304)

(90 %)
17 %

63,082

53,800

9,282

16,575
79,657
(79,622)

32,445
86,245
(85,906)

(15,870)
(6,588)
6,284

(49 %)
(8 %)
(7 %)

(1,800)
(9,698)
(3,900)

(177)
(3,577)
—

(1,623)
(6,121)
(3,900)

917 %
171 %
n/a

(92)
(11,736)
(5,452)
2
(5,450)

(33 %)
338 %
6%
(100 %)

185
(15,213)
(94,835)
—
(94,835) $

277
(3,477)
(89,383)
(2)
(89,385) $

6%

Revenue
Revenue decreased $0.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022, as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021. The decrease was primarily driven by less warranty
revenue received from a related party in 2022.
Research and Development Expense
Research and development expense increased $9.3 million during the three months ended June 30, 2022, as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021. The increase in research and
development expense was primarily driven by a $5.0 million increase in facilities and equipment expense, primarily related to the expansion of our manufacturing facility in El Segundo, California
and the Dunkirk Facility leasehold acquisition, a $4.9 million increase in regulatory and consulting costs related to the BLA submission for our N-803 program, a $4.8 million increase in personnel
costs due to higher headcount in support of our continued research and development efforts and the acquisition of the Dunkirk facility, and a $0.9 million increase in conference costs. These increases
were partially offset by a $5.3 million decrease in stock-based compensation expense due to reduced grant activity during 2022 and a $1.0 million decrease in clinical trial costs.
We expect our research and development expense to increase significantly for the foreseeable future as we advance our product candidates through clinical development and conduct our
ongoing and planned clinical trials.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expense
Selling, general and administrative expense decreased $15.9 million during the three months ended June 30, 2022, as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021. The decrease in
selling, general and administrative expense was primarily attributable to an $18.7 million decrease in legal expense related to the Merger completed in the first quarter of 2021 and an insurance
reimbursement, a $2.4 million decrease in stock compensation expense, mainly driven by reduced grant activity during 2022, and a $1.2 million reduction in shared services costs. These decreases
were partially offset by a $5.4 million increase in personnel-related costs due to higher headcount and increased international travel, and an increase of $1.0 million of other costs.
Other Expense, Net
Other expense, net increased $11.7 million during the three months ended June 30, 2022, as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021. The increase in other expense, net was
mainly due to a $6.1 million increase in interest expense driven by higher related-party borrowings, a $3.9 million loss on our equity method investment in the Amyris joint venture, a $1.6 million
increase in net unrealized losses related to our marketable equity securities, and a $0.1 million decrease in other income, net.
Comparison of the Six Months Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2022

2021

$ Change

% Change

(Unaudited, $ in thousands)

Revenue
Operating expenses:
Research and development (including amounts
with related parties)
Selling, general and administrative (including amounts
with related parties)

$

49

118,460

Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other (expense) income, net:
Interest and investment (loss) income, net
Interest expense (including amounts with related parties)
Loss on equity method investment
Other income, net (including amounts
with related parties)
Total other (expense) income, net
Loss before income taxes and noncontrolling interests
Income tax expense
Net loss

$

$

478

$

(429)

(90 %)

94,928

23,532

25 %
(26 %)

57,183

77,720

(20,537)

175,643

172,648

2,995

2%

(175,594)

(172,170)

(3,424)

2%

(134)
(18,189)
(4,097)

8,767
(6,745)
—

(8,901)
(11,444)
(4,097)

(102 %)
170 %
n/a

181

290

(109)

(38 %)

(22,239)

2,312

(24,551)

(1062 %)

(197,833)
—

(169,858)
(8)

(27,975)
8

16 %
(100 %)

(197,833) $

(169,866) $

(27,967)

16 %

Revenue
Revenue decreased $0.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022, as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2021. The decrease was primarily driven by less warranty revenue
received from a related party in 2022.
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Research and Development Expense
Research and development expense increased $23.5 million during the six months ended June 30, 2022, as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2021. The increase in research and
development expense was primarily driven by a $10.7 million increase in personnel costs due to higher headcount in support of our continued research and development efforts, an increase of
$9.1 million in regulatory costs related to the BLA submission for our N-803 program, research agreements, and consulting fees, a $9.0 million increase in facilities and equipment expense, primarily
related to the expansion of our manufacturing facility in El Segundo, California and the Dunkirk Facility during 2022, and a $1.0 million increase in conference costs. These increases were partially
offset by a $5.2 million decrease in stock-based compensation expense due to reduced grant activity during 2022 and a $1.1 million decrease in clinical trial and other expense.
We expect our research and development expense to increase significantly for the foreseeable future as we advance our product candidates through clinical development and conduct our
ongoing and planned clinical trials.
Selling, General and Administrative Expense
Selling, general and administrative expense decreased $20.5 million during the six months ended June 30, 2022, as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2021. The decrease in selling,
general and administrative expense was primarily attributable to a $21.5 million decrease in legal, consulting and insurance costs related to the Merger completed in the first quarter of 2021 and an
insurance reimbursement, a $7.7 million decrease in stock-based compensation expense due to reduced grant activity during 2022, and a $2.8 million reduction in shared services costs. These
decreases were partially offset by a $10.2 million increase in personnel-related costs due to higher headcount and increased international travel, and an increase of $1.3 million of license fee and other
expense.
Other Expense, Net
Other expense, net increased $24.6 million during the six months ended June 30, 2022, as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2021. The increase was due to a $11.4 million increase
in interest expense driven primarily by higher related-party borrowings, an increase of $8.9 million in net unrealized losses related to our marketable equity securities, a $4.1 million loss on our
equity method investment in the Amyris joint venture, and a $0.1 million decrease in other income, net.
Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources of Liquidity
Our principal sources of liquidity are our existing cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities. We have historically invested our cash primarily in investment grade short- to
intermediate-term corporate debt securities, commercial paper, government-sponsored securities, U.S. treasury securities, and foreign government bonds and classify these investments as availablefor-sale. Certain of these investments are subject to general credit, liquidity and other market risks. The general condition of the financial markets and the economy may increase those risks and may
affect the value and liquidity of investments and restrict our ability to access the capital markets.
As of June 30, 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents, and marketable securities of $83.9 million compared to $317.9 million as of December 31, 2021. On April 30, 2021, we entered into
a Sale Agreement with respect to an ATM offering program under which we may offer and sell, from time to time at our sole discretion, shares of our common stock, having an aggregate offering
price of up to $500.0 million through our sales agent. We issued no shares under the ATM during the six months ended June 30, 2022. Although we made a decision to pause our ATM offering in the
fourth quarter of 2021 after our $300.0 million promissory note financing with Nant Capital and do not have an active issuance notice with our sales agent, we may re-initiate activity at any time
based on market dynamics and/or capital requirements. As of June 30, 2022, we had $330.8 million available for future stock issuances under the ATM.
In order to complete the development of our current product candidates, and implement our business plan, we will require substantial additional funding. Furthermore, changing
circumstances may cause us to increase our spending significantly faster than we currently anticipate, and we may need to raise even greater amounts of funds sooner if we choose to expand more
rapidly than we presently anticipate. Moreover, our fixed expenses such as rent and other contractual commitments are substantial and are expected to increase in the future.
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Uses of Liquidity
In addition to the cash used to fund our operating activities discussed in “—Future Funding Requirements” below, we will require cash to settle the following obligations:
•

As of June 30, 2022, our indebtedness totals $612.6 million (consisting of related-party promissory notes and accrued and unpaid interest, less unamortized debt issuance costs), held by
entities affiliated with Dr. Soon-Shiong. Of this amount, $300.0 million is due and payable on December 17, 2022. In the event of a default on the loan (as defined in the promissory
note), including if we do not repay the loan at maturity, the company has the right, at its sole option, to convert the outstanding principal amount and accrued and unpaid interest due
under this note into shares of the company’s common stock at price of $5.67 per share. There can be no assurance that we can refinance this promissory note or what terms will be
available in the market at the time of refinancing. Furthermore, if prevailing interest rates or other factors at the time of refinancing result in higher interest rates upon refinancing, then
the interest expense relating to the refinanced indebtedness would increase. These risks could materially adversely affect our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
The remaining $312.5 million is due and payable on September 30, 2025, including any accrued and unpaid interest. We may prepay the outstanding amount of any advance under such
notes, together with accrued and unpaid interest, at any time, in whole or in part, without premium or penalty.

•

In connection with our acquisition of Altor, we issued CVRs under which we have agreed to pay the prior stockholders of Altor approximately $304.0 million contingent upon
successful approval of a BLA, or foreign equivalent, for N-803 by December 31, 2022 and approximately $304.0 million contingent upon calendar-year worldwide net sales of N-803
exceeding $1.0 billion prior to December 31, 2026 (with amounts payable in cash or shares of our common stock or a combination thereof). We have submitted the BLA, and in
July 2022, we announced the FDA has accepted our BLA for review and set a PDUFA target action date of May 23, 2023. It is unclear when the FDA will approve our BLA, if at all.
Dr. Soon-Shiong and his related party hold approximately $279.5 million in the aggregate of CVRs, and they have both irrevocably agreed to receive shares of common stock in
satisfaction of their CVRs. We may be required to pay the other prior Altor stockholders up to $164.2 million in settlement of the CVRs relating to the regulatory milestone and up to
$164.2 million of the CVRs relating to the sales milestone should they choose to have the CVRs paid in cash instead of common stock. We may need to seek additional sources of
capital to satisfy the CVR obligations if they are achieved.

•

In connection with our acquisition of VivaBioCell, we are obligated to pay the former owners approximately $2.1 million of contingent consideration upon the achievement of a
regulatory milestone relating to the GMP-in-a-Box technology.
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Discussion of Condensed Consolidated Cash Flows
The following discussion of ImmunityBio’s cash flows is based on the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows in Item 1. “Financial Statements” and is not meant to be an
all‑inclusive discussion of the changes in its cash flows for the periods presented below.
The following table sets forth our primary sources and uses of cash for periods indicated (in thousands):
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2022

2021
(Unaudited)

Cash (used in) provided by:
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents,
and restricted cash

$

(166,182) $
47,359
(313)

$

(119,056) $

80

Net change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash

(130,064)
42,334
136,834
(61)
49,043

Operating Activities
For the six months ended June 30, 2022, net cash used in operating activities of $166.2 million consisted of a net loss of $197.8 million, partially offset by $44.3 million in adjustments for
non-cash items and $12.7 million of cash used in net working capital. Adjustments for non-cash items primarily consisted of $20.2 million in stock-based compensation expense, $8.5 million in
depreciation and amortization expense, $6.9 million in non-cash interest related primarily to related-party promissory notes, a $4.1 million loss on equity method investment, $2.8 million in non-cash
lease expense related to operating lease right-of-use assets, $1.3 million in other non-cash items, and $0.5 million in unrealized losses on equity securities driven by a decrease in the value of our
investments. The changes in net working capital consisted primarily of an increase of $14.5 million in prepaid and other current assets and decreases of $3.9 million with related parties and
$2.2 million in operating lease liabilities, partially offset by increases of $6.5 million in accounts payable and $0.6 million in accrued expenses and other liabilities and a decrease of $0.7 million in
other assets.
For the six months ended June 30, 2021, net cash used in operating activities of $130.1 million consisted of a net loss of $169.9 million, partially offset by $40.2 million in adjustments for
non-cash items and $0.4 million of cash used in net working capital. Adjustments for non-cash items primarily consisted of $33.2 million in stock-based compensation expense, $7.0 million in
depreciation and amortization, $6.2 million in non-cash interest primarily related to related-party loans, and $2.3 million in non-cash lease expense related to operating lease right-of-use assets,
reduced by $8.4 million in unrealized gains on marketable equity securities driven by an increase in the value of our investments. The change in net working capital consisted primarily of increases in
other assets of $4.2 million and decreases in accrued expenses and other liabilities of $3.8 million and operating lease liabilities of $3.0 million, partially offset by decreases of $5.4 million in other
current assets including changes related to insurance claim receivables and prepaid manufacturing services and increases in accounts payable of $2.6 million, and amounts with related parties of
$2.6 million.
We have historically experienced negative cash flows from operating activities, with such negative cash flows likely to continue for the foreseeable future.
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Investing Activities
For the six months ended June 30, 2022, net cash provided by investing activities was $47.4 million, which included cash inflows of $147.1 million from maturities and sales of marketable
debt and equity securities, partially offset by $43.3 million of purchases of property, plant and equipment (including construction in process and depreciable property acquired in the Dunkirk
acquisition), $34.2 million of purchases of marketable debt securities, $21.2 million for purchase of intangible assets (related to the Dunkirk acquisition), and a $1.0 million investment in the joint
venture. Our investments in property, plant and equipment are primarily related to acquisitions of equipment that will be used for the manufacturing of our product candidates and expenditures
related to the build out of our manufacturing facilities.
For the six months ended June 30, 2021, net cash provided by investing activities was $42.3 million, which included cash inflows of $57.7 million from maturities and sales of marketable
debt securities, partially offset by $15.1 million of purchases of property, plant and equipment and $0.3 million in purchases of marketable debt securities. Our investments in property, plant and
equipment were related primarily to acquisitions of equipment that will be used for the manufacturing of our product candidates and expenditures related to the build out of our manufacturing
facilities.
We expect to accelerate our capital spending as we scale our GMP manufacturing capabilities, which will require significant capital for the foreseeable future.
Financing Activities
For the six months ended June 30, 2022, net cash used in financing activities was $0.3 million, which consisted of $0.4 million related to net share settlement of vested RSUs for payment of
payroll tax withholding, partially offset by $0.1 million in proceeds from exercises of stock options.
For the six months ended June 30, 2021, net cash provided by financing activities was $136.8 million, which consisted of $95.0 million in net proceeds from the ATM offering, $40.0 million
in net proceeds from issuances of related-party promissory notes and $4.4 million in proceeds from exercises of stock options, partially offset by $2.6 million related to net share settlement of vested
RSUs for payment of payroll tax withholding.
Future Funding Requirements
From inception through the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we have generated minimal revenue, and we have no clinical products approved for commercial sale and have not
generated any revenue from therapeutic and vaccine product candidates that are under development. We do not expect to generate significant revenue unless and until we obtain regulatory approval
of and commercialize any of our product candidates, and we do not know when, or if, this will occur. In addition, we expect our operating expenses to significantly increase in connection with our
ongoing development activities, particularly as we continue the research, development and clinical trials of, and seek regulatory approval for, our product candidates. We have also incurred and
expect that we will continue to incur in the future additional costs associated with operating as a public company as well as costs related to future fundraising efforts. In addition, subject to obtaining
regulatory approval of our product candidates, we expect to incur significant commercialization expenses for product sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution. We anticipate that we will need
substantial additional funding in connection with our continuing operations. We expect that our operating expenses will increase substantially if and as we:
•

continue research and development, including preclinical and clinical development of our existing product candidates;

•

potentially seek regulatory approval for our product candidates;

•

seek to discover and develop additional product candidates;

•

establish a commercialization infrastructure and scale up our manufacturing and distribution capabilities to commercialize any of our product candidates for which we may obtain
regulatory approval;

•

seek to comply with regulatory standards and laws;

•

maintain, leverage and expand our intellectual property portfolio;
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•

hire clinical, manufacturing, scientific and other personnel to support our product candidates’ development and future commercialization efforts;

•

add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel; and

•

incur additional legal, accounting and other expenses in operating as a public company.

As a result of continuing anticipated operating cash outflows, we believe that substantial doubt exists regarding our ability to continue as a going concern without additional funding or
financial support. However, we believe our existing cash, cash equivalents, and investments in marketable securities, together with capital to be raised through equity offerings (including the ATM)
and our potential ability to borrow from affiliated entities, will be sufficient to fund our operations through at least the next 12 months following the issuance date of the condensed consolidated
financial statements based primarily upon our Executive Chairman and Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer’s intent and ability to support our operations with additional funds, including
loans from affiliated entities, as required, which we believe alleviates such doubt. We may also seek to sell additional equity, through one or more follow-on public offerings, or in separate
financings, or obtain a credit facility. However, we may not be able to secure such external financing in a timely manner or on favorable terms. Without additional funds, we may choose to delay or
reduce our operating or investment expenditures. Further, because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with the development and commercialization of our product candidates, we may
need additional funds to meet our needs sooner than planned.
We will need to obtain additional financing to fund our future operations, including completing the development and commercialization of our product candidates. Changing circumstances
may cause us to increase our spending significantly faster than we currently anticipate and we may need to raise additional funds sooner than we presently anticipate. Moreover, research and
development and our operating costs and fixed expenses such as rent and other contractual commitments, including those for our research collaborations, are substantial and are expected to increase
in the future.
Our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to:
•

progress, timing, number, scope and costs of researching and developing our product candidates and our ongoing, planned and potential clinical trials;

•

time and cost of regulatory approvals;

•

our ability to successfully commercialize any product candidates, if approved and the costs of such commercialization activities;

•

revenue from product candidates that we may commercialize, if any, including the selling prices for such potential products and the availability of adequate third-party coverage and
reimbursement for patients;

•

cost of building, staffing and validating our own manufacturing facilities in the U.S., including having a product candidate successfully manufactured consistent with FDA and European
Medicines Agency (EMA) regulations;

•

terms, timing and costs of our current and any potential future collaborations, business or product acquisitions, CVRs, milestones, royalties, licensing or other arrangements that we have
established or may establish;

•

time and cost necessary to respond to technological, regulatory, political and market developments; and

•

costs of filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights.

52

Table of Contents

Unless and until we can generate a sufficient amount of revenues, we may finance future cash needs through public or private equity offerings, license agreements, debt financings,
collaborations, strategic alliances and marketing or distribution arrangements. However, we may be unable to raise additional funds or enter into such other arrangements when needed on favorable
terms, or at all, including but not limited to the offering, issuance and sale by us of up to a maximum aggregate amount of $500.0 million of our common stock that may be issued and sold under
the ATM. Although we made a decision to pause our ATM offering in the fourth quarter of 2021 after our $300.0 million promissory note financing with Nant Capital and do not have an active
issuance notice with our sales agent, we may re-initiate activity at any time based on market dynamics and/or capital requirements. As of June 30, 2022, we had $330.8 million available for future
stock issuances under the ATM. See Note 10, Stockholders’ Deficit, of the “Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements” that appears in Item 1. “Financial Statements” of this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or equity-linked securities, including convertible debt or through the ATM or other offerings, your ownership interest
will be diluted, and the terms may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect your rights as a stockholder. The incurrence of additional indebtedness would result in increased fixed
payment obligations and could involve certain restrictive covenants, such as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt, limitations on our ability to acquire or license intellectual property
rights and other operating restrictions that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. If we raise additional funds through strategic partnerships and alliances and licensing
arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies or product candidates, or grant licenses on terms unfavorable to us. We have no committed source of
additional capital and if we are unable to raise additional capital in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us, we may be required to delay or reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more of our
research or development programs or our commercialization efforts. Our current license and collaboration agreements may also be terminated if we are unable to meet the payment obligations under
those agreements. As a result, we may seek to access the public or private capital markets whenever conditions are favorable, even if we do not have an immediate need for additional capital at that
time.
Contractual Obligations
We have material cash requirements to pay related-party affiliates and third parties under various contractual obligations discussed below:
•

We are obligated to make payments to several related-party affiliates under written agreements and other informal arrangements. We are also obligated to pay interest and to repay
principal under our related-party promissory notes. For information regarding our financing obligations, see Note 9, Related-Party Agreements—Related-Party Promissory Notes, of the
“Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements” that appears in Item 1. “Financial Statements” of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

•

We are obligated to make payments under our operating leases, which primarily consist of facility leases. For information regarding our lease obligations, see Note 8, Lease
Arrangements, and Note 9, Related-Party Agreements, of the “Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements” that appear in Item 1. “Financial Statements” of this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

•

In connection with the acquisitions of Altor and VivaBioCell, we are obligated to pay contingent consideration upon the achievement of certain milestones. For information regarding
our contingent consideration obligations, see Note 7, Commitments and Contingencies—Contingent Consideration Related to Business Combinations, of the “Notes to Unaudited
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements” that appears in Item 1. “Financial Statements” of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

•

We have contractual obligations to make payments to related-party affiliates and third parties under unconditional purchase arrangements. For information on these unconditional
purchase obligations, see Note 7, Commitments and Contingencies—Unconditional Purchase Obligations, of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” that appears in Part II,
Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 1, 2022.
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•

We have certain contractual commitments that are expected to be paid within one year, depending on the progress of build outs, completion of services, and the realization of milestones
associated with third-party agreements. This amount totals $100.6 million and is primarily related to capital expenditures, open purchase orders as of June 30, 2022 for the acquisition of
goods and services in the ordinary course of business, and near term up-front milestone payments to third parties.

•

In addition, we have contractual commitments that are expected to be paid in fiscal year 2023 and beyond based on the achievement of various development, regulatory and commercial
milestones for agreements with third parties. These payments may not be realized or may be modified and are contingent upon the occurrence of various future events, substantially all
of which have a high degree of uncertainty of occurring. As of June 30, 2022, the maximum amount that may be payable related to these commitments is $578.2 million.

•

In connection with our leasehold interest in the Dunkirk Facility, we committed to spend an aggregate of $1.52 billion on operational expenses during the initial 10-year term, and an
additional $1.50 billion on operational expenses if we elect to renew the lease for the additional 10-year term. These amounts are not included in the discussion above. See Note 6,
Collaboration and License Agreements and Acquisition, of the “Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements” that appears in Item 1. “Financial Statements” of this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for additional information.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
In Part II, Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 1, 2022, we
disclose those accounting policies that we consider to be significant in determining our results of operations and financial condition. There have been no material changes to those policies that we
consider to be significant as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our condensed consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with
U.S. GAAP. The preparation of our condensed consolidated financial statements requires us to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses for the reporting period. On an
ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to the valuation of equity-based awards, deferred income taxes and related valuation allowances, preclinical and clinical trial
accruals, impairment assessments, contingent value right measurement and assessments, the measurement of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, useful lives of long-lived assets, loss
contingencies, fair value measurements, and the assessment of our ability to fund our operations for at least the next 12 months from the date of issuance of these financial statements. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Refer to Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of the “Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements” that appears in Item 1. “Financial Statements” of
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements or changes in accounting pronouncements that are of significance, or potential significance, to us.
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ITEM 3.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Financial market risks related to interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and inflation are described in Item 7A. “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” of our
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 1, 2022. There have been no material changes to such financial market risks as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. We do
not currently anticipate any other near-term changes in the nature of our financial market risk exposures or in management’s objectives and strategies with respect to managing such exposures.
ITEM 4.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives of ensuring that information we are required to disclose in the reports we
file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer (CEO) and chief financial officer (CFO), as appropriate, to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosures, and is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. There is no assurance that our
disclosure controls and procedures will operate effectively under all circumstances.
Management, with the participation of our CEO and CFO, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2022. The term “disclosure controls and
procedures,” as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be
disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.
Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our CEO and CFO, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no
matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their desired control objectives, and management necessarily is required to apply its judgment in
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2022, our CEO and CFO have concluded
that, as of June 30, 2022, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) during the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2022,
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls
Management recognizes that a control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are
met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent
limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud or error, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations
include the realities that judgments in decision making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual
acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the
likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to
error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

From time to time, we may be involved in various claims and legal proceedings relating to claims arising out of our operations. We are not currently a party to any legal proceedings that, in
the opinion of our management, are likely to have a material adverse effect on our business. We are aware of complaints that have been filed regarding the Merger, but we have not been served with
any of such complaints. If we are served with any such complaints, we will assess at that time any contingencies for which we may need to reserve. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an
adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors. For additional information regarding our legal proceedings, see Note 7,
Commitments and Contingencies—Litigation, of the “Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements” that appears in Part I, Item 1. “Financial Statements” of this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q.
ITEM 1A.

RISK FACTORS.

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described below, any of which may be relevant to decisions regarding an investment in
or ownership of our stock. The occurrence of any of these risks could have a significant adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial condition, results of operations, growth and ability to
accomplish our strategic objectives. We have organized the description of these risks into groupings in an effort to enhance readability, but many of the risks interrelate or could be grouped or
ordered in other ways, so no special significance should be attributed to the groupings or order below.
On March 9, 2021, NantKwest, Inc. completed the Merger with NantCell, Inc. (formerly known as ImmunityBio, Inc., a private company) (NantCell). After the completion of the Merger, we
(formerly known as NantKwest, Inc.) changed our name to ImmunityBio, Inc., and references below to “the company,” “the combined company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to ImmunityBio, Inc.
and its subsidiaries.
Risk Factor Summary
Risks Related to Our Limited Operating History, Financial Condition and Capital Requirements
•

We will need additional financing to fund our operations and complete the development and commercialization of our various product candidates, and if we are unable to obtain such
financing when needed, or on acceptable terms, we may be unable to complete the development and commercialization of our product candidates.

•

Our debt could adversely affect our cash flows and limit our flexibility to raise additional capital.

•

Our businesses may not be integrated successfully, or such integration may be more difficult, time consuming or costly than expected.

•

We are a clinical-stage biotechnology company with a limited operating history and no products approved for commercial sale. We have a history of operating losses, and we expect to
continue to incur losses and may never be profitable, which together with our limited operating history, makes it difficult to assess our future viability.

Risks Related to the Discovery, Development and Commercialization of our Product Candidates
•

We will be substantially dependent on the success of our product candidates and cannot guarantee that these product candidates will successfully complete development, receive
regulatory approval or be successfully commercialized.

•

We are developing product candidates in combination with other therapies, which exposes us to additional risks.

•

We may choose to expend our limited resources on programs that do not yield successful product candidates as opposed to indications that may be more profitable or for which there is a
greater likelihood of success.

•

Our projections regarding the market opportunities for our product candidates may not be accurate, and the actual market for our products, if approved, may be smaller than we estimate.
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•

Our clinical trials may fail to adequately demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our product candidates, which would prevent or delay regulatory approval and commercialization. If our
trials are not successful, we will be unable to commercialize our product candidates.

Risks Related to Reliance on Third Parties
•

We have limited experience conducting clinical trials and have relied and will rely on third parties and related parties to conduct many of our preclinical studies and clinical trials, to
manufacture products and to perform many essential services for any products that we commercialize, including services related to distribution, government price reporting, customer
service, accounts receivable management, cash collection and adverse event reporting. Any failure by a third party, related party, or by us to perform as expected, to comply with legal
and regulatory requirements or to conduct the clinical trials according to Good Clinical Practice (GCP) regulations, and in a timely manner, may delay or prevent our ability to seek or
obtain regulatory approval for or commercialization of our product candidates and our ability to commercialize our current or future product candidates will be significantly impacted
and we may be subject to regulatory sanctions.

•

If third-party manufacturers, wholesalers and distributors fail to perform as expected, or fail to devote sufficient time and resources to our product candidates, our clinical development
may be delayed, our costs may be higher than expected or our product candidates may fail to be approved, or we may fail to commercialize any product candidates if approved.

•

We use the Clinic, a related party, in some of our clinical trials which may expose us to significant regulatory risks. If our data for this site is not sufficiently robust or if there are any
data integrity issues, we may be required to repeat such studies or required to contract with other clinical trial sites, and our clinical development plans will be significantly delayed, and
we will incur additional costs.

•

We have formed, and may in the future form or seek, strategic alliances or enter into collaborations with third parties or additional licensing arrangements in the future, and we may not
realize the benefits of such alliances or licensing arrangements. If we fail to enter into such strategic alliances, collaborations or licensing arrangements, or such strategic alliances,
collaborations or licensing arrangements are not successful, we may not be able to capitalize on the market potential of our product candidates.

•

If conflicts arise between us and our collaborators or strategic partners, these parties may act in a manner adverse to us and could limit our ability to implement our strategies.

Risks Related to Healthcare and Other Government Regulations
•

We may be unable to obtain U.S. or foreign regulatory approval and, as a result, be unable to commercialize our product candidates. We are, and if we receive regulatory approval of our
product candidates, will continue to be subject to ongoing extensive regulation, regulatory obligations and continued regulatory review, which may result in significant additional
expense.

•

Obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval of our product candidates in one jurisdiction does not mean that we will be successful in obtaining regulatory approval of our product
candidates in other jurisdictions.

•

Even if we receive regulatory approval for our product candidate, N-803 in combination with BCG for the treatment of patients with BCG-unresponsive NMIBC with CIS with or
without Ta or T1 disease, or any other product candidates, they will be subject to ongoing regulatory requirements, which may result in significant additional expenses. Additionally, our
product candidates, if approved, could be subject to labeling and other restrictions, and we may be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or experience
unanticipated problems with our product candidates.

•

If we are unable to establish sales, marketing and distribution capabilities, we may not be successful commercializing our product candidates if and when they are approved.

•

Problems related to large scale commercial manufacturing could cause delays in product launches, an increase in costs or shortages of product candidates.
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Risks Related to Intellectual Property
•

If we are unable to obtain, maintain, protect and enforce patent protection and other proprietary rights for our product candidates and technologies, we may not be able to compete
effectively or operate profitably and our ability to prevent our competitors from commercializing similar or identical technology and product candidates would be adversely affected.

•

If any of our owned or in-licensed patent applications do not issue as patents in any jurisdiction, we may not be able to compete effectively.

•

We or our licensors, collaborators, or any future strategic partners may become subject to third-party claims or litigation alleging infringement of patents or other proprietary rights or
seeking to invalidate patents or other proprietary rights, and we may need to resort to litigation to protect or enforce our patents or other intellectual property or the patents or other
intellectual property of our licensors, all of which could be expensive, time-consuming and unsuccessful, may delay or prevent the development and commercialization of our product
candidates, or may put our patents and other proprietary rights at risk.

•

The use of our technology and product candidates could potentially conflict with the rights of others, and third-party claims of intellectual property infringement, misappropriation or
other violation against us, our licensors or our collaborators may prevent or delay the development and commercialization of our product candidates and technologies.

•

Changes in U.S. patent law could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our product candidates.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock and CVRs
•

Dr. Patrick Soon-Shiong, our Executive Chairman, Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer and our principal stockholder, has significant interests in other companies which may
conflict with our interests.

•

Dr. Soon-Shiong, through his voting control of the company, has the ability to control actions that require stockholder approval.

•

The market price of our common stock has been and may continue to be volatile, and investors may have difficulty selling their shares.

Risks Related to Our Limited Operating History, Financial Condition and Capital Requirements
We will need additional financing to fund our operations and complete the development and commercialization of our various product candidates, and if we are unable to obtain such financing
when needed, or on acceptable terms, we may be unable to complete the development and commercialization of our product candidates.
The development of biopharmaceutical products, including conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials, is a very time-consuming, expensive and uncertain process that takes years to
complete. Our operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since inception. A significant portion of our funding had been in the form of promissory notes totaling $612.6 million in
indebtedness (consisting of related-party promissory notes and accrued and unpaid interest, less unamortized debt issuance costs) as of June 30, 2022 held by entities affiliated with Dr. Soon-Shiong.
As of June 30, 2022, we held cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities totaling $83.9 million. We will need to obtain additional financing to fund our future operations, including
completing the development and commercialization of our product candidates. Changing circumstances may cause us to increase our spending significantly faster than we currently anticipate and we
may need to raise additional funds sooner than we presently anticipate. Moreover, research and development and our operating costs and fixed expenses such as rent and other contractual
commitments, including those for our research collaborations, are substantial and are expected to increase in the future.
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Unless and until we can generate a sufficient amount of revenues, we may finance future cash needs through public or private equity offerings, license agreements, debt financings,
collaborations, strategic alliances and marketing or distribution arrangements. However, we may be unable to raise additional funds or enter into such other arrangements when needed on favorable
terms, or at all.
To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or equity-linked securities, including convertible debt, or through the ATM or other offerings, or if any of our current
debt is converted into equity, your ownership interest will be diluted, and the terms may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect your rights as a stockholder. The incurrence of
additional indebtedness would result in increased fixed payment obligations and could involve certain restrictive covenants, such as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt, limitations on
our ability to acquire or license intellectual property rights and other operating restrictions that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. If we raise additional funds through
strategic partnerships and alliances and licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies or product candidates, or grant licenses on terms
unfavorable to us. We have no committed source of additional capital and if we are unable to raise additional capital in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us, we may be required to delay or
reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more of our research or development programs or our commercialization efforts. Our current license and collaboration agreements may also be terminated if
we are unable to meet the payment obligations under those agreements. As a result, we may seek to access the public or private capital markets whenever conditions are favorable, even if we do not
have an immediate need for additional capital at that time.
Our debt could adversely affect our cash flows and limit our flexibility to raise additional capital.
We have a significant amount of debt and may need to incur additional debt to support our growth. As of June 30, 2022, our indebtedness totals $612.6 million, (consisting of related-party
promissory notes and accrued and unpaid interest, less unamortized debt issuance costs), held by entities affiliated with Dr. Soon-Shiong.
Our substantial amount of debt could have important consequences and could:
•

require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash and cash equivalents to make interest and principal payments on our debt, reducing the availability of our cash and cash
equivalents and cash flow from operations to fund future capital expenditures, working capital, execution of our strategy and other general corporate requirements;

•

increase our cost of borrowing and even limit our ability to access additional debt to fund future growth;

•

increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions and adverse changes in governmental regulations;

•

limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry, which may place us at a disadvantage compared with our competitors; and

•

limit our ability to borrow additional funds, even when necessary to maintain adequate liquidity, which would also limit our ability to further expand our business.

The occurrence of any of the foregoing factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
We may need to refinance a portion of our outstanding debt as it matures. In particular, we have a $300.0 million promissory note with an entity affiliated with Dr. Soon-Shiong that becomes
due and payable on December 17, 2022. In the event of a default on the loan (as defined in the promissory note), including if we do not repay the loan at maturity, the company has the right, at its
sole option, to convert the outstanding principal amount and accrued and unpaid interest due under this note into shares of the company’s common stock at a price equal to $5.67 per share. If we
decide to convert this note into shares of common stock, it may be dilutive to our current stockholders. There can be no assurance that we can refinance this promissory note or what terms will be
available in the market at the time of refinancing. Furthermore, if prevailing interest rates or other factors at the time of refinancing result in higher interest rates upon refinancing, then the interest
expense relating to the refinanced indebtedness would increase. These risks could materially adversely affect our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
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Our businesses may not be integrated successfully, or such integration may be more difficult, time consuming or costly than expected.
The combination of two businesses is complex, costly and time-consuming and may divert significant management attention and resources to combining our prior businesses. This process
may disrupt our businesses. The failure to meet the challenges involved in combining the two businesses and to realize the anticipated benefits of the Merger could cause an interruption of, or a loss
of momentum in, the activities of the combined company and could adversely affect the results of operations of the combined company. Our ability to realize the anticipated benefits of the Merger
will depend, to a large extent, on our ability to integrate our businesses in a manner that facilitates growth opportunities and achieves the projected synergies identified by each company without
adversely affecting current revenues and investments in future growth. The overall combination of our businesses may also result in material unanticipated problems, expenses, liabilities, competitive
responses, and loss of customer and other business relationships.
Many of these factors are outside of our control, and any one of them could result in lower revenues, higher costs and diversion of management time and energy, which could materially
impact the business, financial condition and results of operations of the combined company. In addition, a decline in the market price of the combined company’s common stock could adversely
affect the company’s ability to issue additional securities and to obtain additional financing in the future.
We are a clinical-stage biotechnology company with a limited operating history and no products approved for commercial sale. We have a history of operating losses, and we expect to continue
to incur losses and may never be profitable, which together with our limited operating history, makes it difficult to assess our future viability.
We are a clinical-stage biotechnology company with a limited operating history upon which you can evaluate our business and prospects, and we have a broad portfolio of product candidates
at various stages of development. None of our products have been approved for commercial sale, and we have not generated any revenue from product sales, although we have generated revenues
from non-exclusive license agreements related to our cell lines, the sale of our bioreactors and related consumables and grant programs. In addition, we have limited experience and have not yet
demonstrated an ability to successfully overcome many of the risks and uncertainties frequently encountered by companies in new and rapidly evolving fields, particularly in the biotechnology
industry, including in connection with obtaining marketing approvals, manufacturing a commercial-scale product or arranging for a third party to do so on our behalf or conducting sales and
marketing activities necessary for successful product commercialization. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with our product development efforts, we are unable to predict
when we may become profitable, if at all.
Since the commencement of our operations, we have incurred significant losses each year, and, as of June 30, 2022 we had an accumulated deficit of $2.2 billion. We expect to continue to
incur significant expenses as we seek to expand our business, including in connection with conducting research and development across multiple therapeutic areas, participating in clinical trial
activities, continuing to acquire or in-license technologies, maintaining, protecting and expanding our intellectual property, seeking regulatory approvals, increasing our manufacturing capabilities
and, upon successful receipt of FDA approval, commercializing our products. Moreover, we do not expect to have significant product sales or revenue in the near term, if ever.
If we are required by the FDA or any equivalent foreign regulatory authority to perform clinical trials or studies in addition to those we currently expect to conduct, or if there are any delays
in completing the clinical trials of our product candidates, our expenses could increase substantially. Although we have submitted a BLA for our product candidate, N-803 in combination with BCG
for the treatment of patients with BCG-unresponsive NMIBC with CIS with or without Ta or T1 disease, which was accepted by the FDA for review, setting a PDUFA target action date of May 23,
2023, we may not receive approval by the PDUFA target action date, if at all, for commercialization and even if approved, the resulting revenue may not enable us to achieve profitability. Even if we
obtain regulatory approval to market a product candidate, our future revenues will depend upon the size of any markets in which our product candidates have received approval, and our ability to
achieve sufficient market acceptance, reimbursement from third-party payors and adequate market share for our product candidates in those markets.
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We expect our expenses and net losses to increase significantly as we prepare to potentially commercialize our product candidate, N-803 in combination with BCG for the treatment of
patients with BCG-unresponsive NMIBC with CIS with or without Ta or T1 disease, if approved by the FDA, continue our development of, and seek regulatory approvals for, our other product
candidates, and begin to commercialize other approved products, if any, as well as hire additional personnel, protect our intellectual property and incur additional costs associated with operating as a
public company. Our net losses may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year, depending on the timing of our clinical studies and trials, associated manufacturing needs,
commercialization activities if our product candidates are approved and our expenditures on other research and development activities.
If our research and development efforts are successful, we may also face the risks associated with the shift from development to commercialization of new products based on innovative
technologies. Our ability to achieve profitability, if ever, is dependent upon, among other things, obtaining regulatory approvals for our product candidates and successfully commercializing our
product candidates alone or with third parties. However, our operations may not be profitable even if one or more of our product candidates under development are successfully developed and
produced and thereafter commercialized. Even if we do become profitable, we may not be able to sustain or increase our profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. As a result, it may be more
difficult for you to assess our future viability than it could be if we had a longer operating history.
We invest our cash on hand in various financial instruments which are subject to risks that could adversely affect our business, results of operations, liquidity and financial condition.
We invest our cash in a variety of financial instruments, principally commercial paper, corporate debt securities and foreign government bonds. All of these investments are subject to credit,
liquidity, market and interest rate risk. Such risks, including the failure or severe financial distress of the financial institutions that hold our cash, cash equivalents and investments, may result in a loss
of liquidity, impairment to our investments, realization of substantial future losses, or a complete loss of the investments in the long-term, which may have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, liquidity and financial condition. In order to manage the risk to our investments, we maintain an investment policy that, among other things, limits the amount that we may
invest in any one issue or any single issuer and requires us to only invest in high credit quality securities to preserve liquidity.
Our ability to use NOLs and research and development credits to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.
In general, under Sections 382 and 383 of the Code, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change NOLs or credits, to
offset future taxable income or taxes. For these purposes, an ownership change generally occurs where the aggregate stock ownership of one or more stockholders or groups of stockholders who
owns at least 5% of a corporation’s stock increases its ownership by more than 50 percentage points over its lowest ownership percentage within a specified testing period. We have not conducted a
complete study to assess whether a change of control has occurred or whether there have been multiple changes of control since inception due to the significant complexity and cost associated with
such a study. If we have experienced a change of control, as defined by Section 382, at any time since inception (including as a result of the Merger), utilization of the NOL carryforwards or research
and development tax credit carryforwards would be subject to an annual limitation under Section 382. Any limitation may result in expiration of a portion of the NOL carryforwards or research and
development tax credit carryforwards before utilization. In addition, our NOLs or credits may also be impaired under state law. Accordingly, we may not be able to utilize a material portion of our
NOLs or credits.
Since we will need to raise substantial additional funding to finance our operations, we may experience further ownership changes in the future, some of which may be outside of our control.
Limits on our ability to use our pre-change NOLs or credits to offset U.S. federal taxable income could potentially result in increased future tax liability to us if we earn net taxable income in the
future. In addition, under the legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (TCJA), as modified by the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act),
the amount of NOLs generated in taxable periods beginning after December 31, 2017, that we are permitted to deduct in any taxable year beginning after December 31, 2020 is limited to 80% of our
taxable income in such year, where taxable income is determined without regard to the NOL deduction itself. The TCJA allows post-2017 unused NOLs to be carried forward indefinitely. Similar
rules may apply under state tax laws.
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Our transfer pricing policies may be subject to challenge by the Internal Revenue Service or other taxing authorities.
Our intercompany relationships are subject to complex transfer pricing regulations administered by taxing authorities in various jurisdictions. The relevant taxing authorities may disagree
with our determinations as to the value of assets sold or acquired or income and expenses attributable to specific jurisdictions. If such a disagreement were to occur, and our position were not
sustained, we could be required to pay additional taxes, interest and penalties, which could result in one-time tax charges, higher effective tax rates, reduced cash flows, and lower overall profitability
of our operations. We believe that our financial statements reflect adequate reserves to cover such a contingency, but there can be no assurances in that regard.
Risks Related to the Discovery, Development and Commercialization of our Product Candidates
We will be substantially dependent on the success of our product candidates and cannot guarantee that these product candidates will successfully complete development, receive regulatory
approval or be successfully commercialized.
From inception through the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we have generated minimal revenue from non-exclusive license agreements related to our cell lines, and the sale of
our bioreactors and related consumables. We have no clinical products approved for commercial sale and have not generated any revenue from therapeutic and vaccine product candidates that are
under development. In May 2022, we announced the submission of a BLA to the FDA for our product candidate, N-803 in combination with BCG for the treatment of patients with BCGunresponsive NMIBC with CIS with or without Ta or T1 disease. In July 2022, we announced the FDA has accepted our BLA for review and set a PDUFA target action date of May 23, 2023. It is
unclear when the FDA will approve our BLA, if at all. We have invested a significant portion of our efforts and financial resources in the development of our main product candidates, our novel
antibody cytokine fusion protein (N-803), saRNA and second-generation hAd5 vaccine candidates, and aldoxorubicin, some of which are used in combination with our NK cell therapy candidates.
Our product candidates will require additional clinical and non-clinical development, regulatory approval, commercial manufacturing arrangements, establishment of a commercial organization,
significant marketing efforts, and further investment before we can generate any revenues from product sales. We expect to invest heavily in these product candidates as well as in our other existing
product candidates and in any future product candidates that we may develop. Our product candidates are susceptible to the risks of failure inherent at any stage of product development, including the
appearance of unexpected adverse events or failure to achieve primary endpoints in clinical trials. Furthermore, we cannot assure you that we will meet our timelines for current or future clinical
trials, which may be delayed or not completed for a number of reasons. Additionally, our ability to generate revenues from our combination therapy products will also depend on the availability of
the other therapies with which our products are intended to be used. We currently generate no meaningful revenues from the sale of any product candidates, and we may never be able to develop or
commercialize a product.
We are developing product candidates in combination with other therapies, which exposes us to additional risks.
We are developing product candidates in combination with one or more other therapies. We are studying N-803 therapy along with other products and product candidates, such as BCG, PDL1 t-haNK, hAd5 and yeast tumor-associated antigens (TAAs), and aldoxorubicin. If we choose to develop a product candidate for use in combination with an approved therapy, we are subject to the
risk that the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions could revoke approval of, or that safety, efficacy, manufacturing or supply issues could arise with the
therapy used in combination with our product candidate. The FDA may require us to use more complex clinical trial designs in order to evaluate the contribution of each product and product
candidate to any observed effects. To the extent that we do not have rights to already approved products, this may require us to work with another company to satisfy such a requirement or increase
our cost of development. It is possible that the results of these trials could show that any positive results are attributable to the already approved product. Following product approval, the FDA may
require that products used in conjunction with each other be cross labeled for combined use. If the therapies we use in combination with our product candidates are replaced as the standard of care for
the indications we choose for any of our product candidates, the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require us to conduct additional clinical trials. The occurrence of any of these
risks could result in our own products, if approved, being removed from the market or being less successful commercially.
In addition, unapproved therapies face the same risks described with respect to our product candidates currently in development and clinical trials, including the potential for serious adverse
effects, delays in clinical trials and lack of FDA approval. If the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities do not approve or revoke their approval of these other therapies, or if safety,
efficacy, quality, manufacturing or supply issues arise with, the therapies we choose to evaluate in combination with any of our product candidates, we may be unable to obtain approval of or market
such combination therapy.
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We may choose to expend our limited resources on programs that do not yield successful product candidates as opposed to indications that may be more profitable or for which there is a greater
likelihood of success.
We do not have sufficient resources to pursue development of all or even a substantial portion of the potential opportunities that we believe will be afforded to us by our product candidates.
Because we have limited resources and access to capital to fund our operations, our management must make strategic decisions as to which product candidates and indications to pursue and how
much of our resources to allocate to each. Our management must also evaluate the benefits of developing in-licensed or jointly owned technologies, which in some circumstances we may be
contractually obligated to pursue, relative to developing other product candidates, indications or programs. Our management has broad discretion to suspend, scale down, or discontinue any or all of
these development efforts, or to initiate new programs to treat other diseases. If we select and commit resources to opportunities that we are unable to successfully develop, or we forego more
promising opportunities, our business, financial condition and results of operations will be adversely affected.
Our projections regarding the market opportunities for our product candidates may not be accurate, and the actual market for our products, if approved, may be smaller than we estimate.
Since our current product candidates and any future product candidates will represent novel approaches to treating various conditions, it may be difficult, in any event, to accurately estimate
the potential revenues from these product candidates. Accordingly, we may spend significant capital trying to obtain approval for product candidates that have an uncertain commercial market. Our
projections of addressable patient populations that may benefit from treatment with our product candidates are based on our beliefs and estimates. These estimates, which have been derived from a
variety of sources, including scientific literature, surveys of clinics, patient foundations, or market research by third parties, may prove to be incorrect. Further, new studies or approvals of new
therapeutics may change the estimated incidence or prevalence of these diseases. The number of patients may turn out to be lower than expected. Additionally, the potentially addressable patient
population for our product candidates may be limited or may not be amenable to treatment with our product candidates and may also be limited by the cost of our treatments and the reimbursement of
those treatment costs by third-party payors. Even if we obtain significant market share for our product candidates, because the potential target populations may be small, we may never achieve
profitability without obtaining regulatory approval for additional indications.
Our clinical trials may fail to adequately demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our product candidates, which would prevent or delay regulatory approval and commercialization. If our trials
are not successful, we will be unable to commercialize our product candidates.
Our research and development programs are at various stages of development. The clinical trials of our product candidates as well as the manufacturing and marketing of our product
candidates will be subject to extensive and rigorous review and regulation by numerous government authorities in the U.S. and in other countries where we intend to test and market our product
candidates. Before obtaining regulatory approvals for the commercial sale of any of our product candidates, we must demonstrate through lengthy, complex and expensive preclinical testing and
clinical trials that our product candidates are safe, pure, and potent for use in their target indications. Each product candidate must demonstrate an adequate risk versus benefit profile in its intended
patient population and for its intended use. The risk/benefit profile required for product licensure will vary depending on these factors and may include not only the ability to show tumor shrinkage,
but also adequate duration of response, a delay in the progression of the disease, and/or an improvement in survival. For example, response rates from the use of our product candidates may not be
sufficient to obtain regulatory approval unless we can also show an adequate duration of response. The clinical trials for our product candidates under development may not be completed on schedule
and regulatory authorities may ultimately disagree with our chosen endpoints or may find that our studies or study results do not support product approval and we cannot guarantee that the FDA or
foreign regulatory authorities will interpret the results as we do or accept the therapeutic effects as valid endpoints in clinical trials necessary for market approval or they may find that our clinical
trial design or conduct does not meet the applicable approval requirement and more trials could be required before we submit our product candidates for approval. Success in early clinical trials does
not ensure that large-scale clinical trials will be successful, nor does it predict final results. Product candidates in later stages of clinical trials may fail to show the desired safety, tolerability and
efficacy traits despite having progressed through preclinical studies and initial clinical trials and after reviewing test results, we or our collaborators may abandon projects that we might previously
have believed to be promising.
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In addition, we do not have data on possible harmful long-term effects of our product candidates and do not expect to have this data in the near future. As a result, our ability to generate
clinical safety and effectiveness data sufficient to support submission of a marketing application or commercialization of our product candidates is uncertain and is subject to significant risk.
Interim, initial, “top-line” and preliminary data from our clinical trials that we announce or publish from time to time may change as more patient data become available and are subject to
audit and verification procedures that could result in material changes in the final data.
From time to time, we may publicly disclose preliminary, interim or top-line data from our preclinical studies and clinical trials, which are based on preliminary analyses of then-available
data, and the results and related findings and conclusions are subject to change following a more comprehensive review of the data related to the particular study or trial. Interim data from clinical
trials that we may complete are subject to the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may materially change as patient enrollment continues and more patient data become available or as
patients from our clinical trials continue other treatments for their disease. We also may make assumptions, estimations, calculations and conclusions as part of our analyses of data, and we may not
have received or had the opportunity to fully and carefully evaluate all data. As a result, the interim, top-line or preliminary results that we report may differ from future results of the same studies, or
different conclusions or considerations may qualify such results, once additional data have been received and fully evaluated. Top-line data also remain subject to audit and verification procedures
that may result in the final data being materially different from the preliminary data we previously published. As a result, top-line data should be viewed with caution until the final data are available.
Adverse differences between preliminary or interim data and final data could significantly harm our business prospects. Further, disclosure of interim data by us or by our competitors could result in
volatility in the price of our common stock.
In addition, the information we choose to publicly disclose regarding a particular study or clinical trial is typically selected from a more extensive amount of available information, and you
or others may not agree with what we determine is material or otherwise appropriate information to include in our disclosure. If the interim, top-line or preliminary data that we report differ from
actual results, or if others, including regulatory authorities, disagree with the conclusions reached, our ability to obtain approval for, and commercialize, our product candidates may be harmed, which
could harm our business, operating results, prospects or financial condition.
Our clinical trials may not be initiated or completed when we expect, or at all, they may take longer and cost more to complete than we project, our clinical trial costs may be higher than for
more conventional therapeutic technologies or drug products, and we may be required to conduct additional clinical trials or modify current or future clinical trials based on feedback we receive
from the FDA.
We cannot guarantee that any current or future clinical trials will be conducted as planned or completed on schedule, if at all, or that any of our product candidates will receive regulatory
approval. A failure of one or more clinical trials can occur at any stage of the clinical trial process, other events may cause us to temporarily or permanently stop a clinical trial, and our future clinical
trials may not be successful.
Because our product candidates include, and we expect our future product candidates to include, candidates based on advanced therapy technologies, we expect that they will require
extensive research and development and have substantial manufacturing costs. In addition, costs to treat patients and to treat potential side effects that may result from our product candidates can be
significant. Some clinical trial sites may not bill, or obtain coverage from Medicare, Medicaid, or other third-party payors for some or all of these costs for patients enrolled in our clinical trials, and
clinical trial sites outside of the U.S. may not reimburse for costs typically covered by third-party payors in the U.S., and as a result we may be required by those trial sites to pay such costs.
Accordingly, our clinical trial costs are likely to be significantly higher per patient than those of more conventional therapeutic technologies or drug products.
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Collaborations with other entities may be subject to additional delays because of the management of the trials, contract negotiations, the need to obtain agreement from multiple parties and
the necessity of obtaining additional approvals for therapeutics used in the combination trials. These combination therapies will require additional testing and clinical trials will require additional
FDA regulatory approval and will increase our future costs.
Any inability to successfully complete preclinical and clinical development could result in additional costs to us, slow down our product development and approval process or impair our
ability to commence product sales and generate revenues. In addition, if we make manufacturing changes to our product candidates, we may be required to, or we may elect to, conduct additional
trials to bridge our modified product candidates to earlier versions. These changes may require FDA approval or notification and may not have their desired effect. The FDA may also not accept data
from prior versions of the product to support an application, delaying our clinical trials or programs or necessitating additional clinical trials or preclinical studies. We may find that this change has
unintended consequences that necessitates additional development and manufacturing work, additional clinical and preclinical studies, or that results in refusal to file or non-approval of a BLA and/or
NDA.
Clinical trial delays could shorten any periods during which our product candidates have patent protection and may allow our competitors to bring products to market before we do, which
could impair our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates and may harm our business and results of operations. In addition, we have in the past experienced clinical holds
imposed upon certain of our or investigator-initiated clinical trials for various reasons, and we may experience further clinical trial holds in the future. If we fail to commence or complete, or
experience delays in, any of our planned clinical trials, our stock price and our ability to conduct our business as currently planned could be harmed.
Even if one of our product candidates is approved and commercialized, we may not become profitable.
If approved for marketing by applicable regulatory authorities, our ability to generate revenues from our product candidates will depend on our ability to:
•

price our product candidates competitively such that third-party and government reimbursement leads to broad product adoption;

•

prepare a broad network of clinical sites for administration of our product;

•

create market demand for our product candidates through our own marketing and sales activities, and any other arrangements to promote these product candidates that we may otherwise
establish;

•

receive regulatory approval for the targeted patient population(s) and claims that are necessary or desirable for successful marketing;

•

manufacture product candidates through contract manufacturing organizations (CMOs) or in our own, or our affiliates’, manufacturing facilities in sufficient quantities and at acceptable
quality and manufacturing cost to meet commercial demand at launch and thereafter;

•

establish and maintain agreements with wholesalers, distributors, pharmacies, and group purchasing organizations on commercially reasonable terms;

•

obtain, maintain, protect and enforce patent and other intellectual property protection and regulatory exclusivity for our product candidates;

•

successfully commercialize any of our product candidates that receive regulatory approval;

•

maintain compliance with applicable laws, regulations, and guidance specific to commercialization including interactions with health care professionals, patient advocacy groups, and
communication of health care economic information to payors and formularies;

•

achieve market acceptance of our product candidates by patients, the medical community, and third-party payors;
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•

achieve appropriate reimbursement for our product candidates;

•

maintain a distribution and logistics network capable of product storage within our specifications and regulatory guidelines, and further capable of timely product delivery to commercial
clinical sites;

•

effectively compete with other therapies or competitors; and

•

following launch, assure that our product will be used as directed and that additional unexpected safety risks will not arise.

In May 2022, we announced the submission of a BLA to the FDA for our product candidate, N-803 in combination with BCG for the treatment of patients with BCG-unresponsive NMIBC
with CIS with or without Ta or T1 disease. In July 2022, we announced the FDA has accepted our BLA for review and set a PDUFA target action date of May 23, 2023. It is unclear when the FDA
will approve our BLA, if at all. Even if the FDA approves N-803 for certain indications or in combination with other therapeutic products, and even if we obtain significant market share for it,
because the potential target population may be small, we may never achieve profitability without obtaining regulatory approval for additional indications. The FDA often approves new therapies
initially only for use in patients with r/r metastatic disease, which may limit our patient population. Additionally, we may not be able to obtain the labeling claims necessary or desirable for the
promotion of our product candidates.
Additionally, in connection with the Merger with NantCell, we assumed the obligation to issue CVRs to the former stockholders of Altor in connection with the acquisition of Altor. These
CVRs become payable contingent upon the attainment of certain regulatory and sales milestones related to N-803. The former Altor stockholders have the ability to choose to receive these payments
either in cash, in an equivalent value of our common stock or in a combination of both cash and stock at the time such payments are due, except that Dr. Soon-Shiong and his related party, as prior
stockholders of Altor, have irrevocably elected to receive all payments in respect of their CVRs in the form of our common stock. Such CVR payments to Dr. Soon-Shiong and his related party are
approximately $279.5 million in aggregate.
We may, however, still be required to pay the other prior Altor stockholders up to $164.2 million for the CVRs relating to the regulatory milestone and up to $164.2 million for the CVRs
relating to the sales milestone should they choose to have these CVRs paid in cash instead of common stock. If this were to occur, we may need to seek additional sources of capital, and we may not
be able to achieve profitability or positive cash flow. We plan to collaborate with governmental, academic and corporate partners, including affiliates, to improve and develop N-803, hAd5 and other
therapies for new indications for use in combination with other therapies and to improve and develop other product candidates, which may expose us to additional risks, or we may not realize the
benefits of such collaborations.
If we encounter delays or difficulties enrolling and/or maintaining patients in our clinical trials, our clinical development activities and receipt of necessary marketing approvals could be
delayed or otherwise adversely affected.
The timely completion of clinical trials in accordance with their protocols depends, among other things, on our ability to enroll a sufficient number of patients who remain in the trial until its
conclusion. We may experience difficulties or delays in patient enrollment and retention in our clinical trials for a variety of reasons.
Because the number of qualified clinical investigators is limited, we may need to conduct some of our clinical trials at the same clinical trial sites that some of our competitors use, which
will reduce the number of patients who are available for our clinical trials at such clinical trial sites. Moreover, because our product candidates represent a departure from more commonly used
methods for cancer and/or viral disease treatment, potential patients and their doctors may be inclined to use conventional therapies, such as chemotherapy and approved immunotherapies that have
established safety and efficacy profiles, rather than enroll patients in any future clinical trial.
Delays or failures in planned patient enrollment or retention may result in increased costs or may affect the timing or outcome of the planned clinical trials, which could prevent completion
of these trials and adversely affect our ability to advance the development of our product candidates, or could render further development impossible.
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Our product candidates may cause undesirable side effects or have other properties that could halt their clinical development, delay or prevent their regulatory approval, limit their commercial
potential or result in significant negative consequences.
Results of our trials could reveal a high and unacceptable severity and prevalence of side effects, adverse events or unexpected characteristics. Combination immunotherapy that includes our
current product candidates may be associated with more frequent adverse events or additional adverse events. Undesirable side effects or unacceptable toxicities caused by our product candidates
could cause us or regulatory authorities to interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials or order our clinical trials to be placed on clinical hold, and could result in a more restrictive label or the delay or denial
of regulatory approval by the FDA or other regulatory authorities for any or all targeted indications. The FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may also require additional data, clinical
trials, or preclinical studies should unacceptable toxicities arise. We may need to abandon development or limit development of that product candidate to certain uses or subpopulations in which the
undesirable side effects or other characteristics are less prevalent, less severe or more acceptable from a risk/benefit perspective. Toxicities associated with our clinical trials and product candidates
may also negatively impact our ability to conduct clinical trials using tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte therapy in larger patient populations, such as in patients that have not yet been treated with other
therapies or have not yet progressed on other therapies. Even if we were to receive product approval, such approval could be contingent on inclusion of unfavorable information in our product
labeling, such as limitations on the indicated uses for which the products may be marketed or distributed, a label with significant safety warnings, including boxed warnings, contraindications, and
precautions, a label without statements necessary or desirable for successful commercialization, or requirements for costly post marketing testing and surveillance, or other requirements, including a
Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy (REMS) to monitor the safety or efficacy of the products, and in turn prevent us from commercializing and generating revenues from the sale of our current
or future product candidates. In addition, these serious adverse effects may not be appropriately recognized or managed by the treating medical staff, as toxicities resulting from our product
candidates are not normally encountered in the general patient population and by medical personnel. They may have difficulty observing patients and treating toxicities, which may be more
challenging due to personnel changes, shift changes, house staff coverage or related issues. This could lead to more severe or prolonged toxicities or even patient deaths, which could result in us or
the FDA delaying, suspending or terminating one or more of our clinical trials and which could jeopardize regulatory approval. Any of these occurrences may materially harm our business, financial
condition and prospects.
The manufacture of our product candidates is complex, and we may encounter difficulties in production, particularly with respect to process development, quality control, or scaling-up of our
manufacturing capabilities. If we or our related parties, or any of our third-party manufacturers encounter such difficulties, our ability to provide adequate supply of our product candidates for
clinical trials or our products for patients, if approved, could be delayed or stopped, or we may be unable to maintain a commercially viable cost structure.
The manufacture of our product candidates involves complex processes, especially for our biologics, vectors and cell therapy product candidates, which are complex, highly regulated and
subject to multiple risks. As a result of the complexities, the cost to manufacture biologics, vectors and cell therapies is generally higher than traditional small molecule chemical compounds, and the
manufacturing process is less reliable and is more difficult to reproduce. The manufacture of cell therapy products requires significant expertise and capital investment, including the development of
advanced manufacturing techniques and process controls. Manufacturers of cell therapy products often encounter difficulties in production, particularly in scaling up initial production. These
problems include difficulties with production costs and yields, quality control, including stability of the product candidate and quality assurance testing, shortages of qualified personnel and
compliance with strictly enforced federal, state, local and foreign regulations. We may also find that the manufacture of our product candidates is more difficult than anticipated, resulting in an
inability to produce a sufficient amount of our product candidates for our clinical trials or, if approved, commercial supply. Even minor deviations from normal manufacturing processes could result
in reduced production yields, product defects, and other supply disruptions. Currently, our product candidates are manufactured using processes developed or modified by us, our affiliates or by our
third-party research institution collaborators that we may not utilize for more advanced clinical trials or commercialization.
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Currently we manufacture our product candidates or we may use third-party CMOs or some of our related parties to manufacture our product candidates. Our clinical trials will need to be
conducted with product candidates and materials that were produced under cGMP and/or Good Tissue Practice regulations, which are enforced by regulatory authorities. Our product candidates may
compete with other products and product candidates for access to manufacturing facilities. Moreover, because of the complexity and novelty of our manufacturing process, there are only a limited
number of manufacturers that operate under cGMP regulations and that are both capable of manufacturing our product candidates for us and willing to do so. If our CMOs should cease
manufacturing for us, we would experience delays in obtaining sufficient quantities of our product candidates for clinical trials and, if approved, commercial supply. Further, our CMOs may breach,
terminate, or not renew our agreements with them. If we were to need to find alternative manufacturing facilities it may take us significant time to find a replacement, if we are able to find a
replacement at all and it would significantly impact our ability to develop, obtain regulatory approval for or market our product candidates, if approved. The commercial terms of any new
arrangement could be less favorable than our existing arrangements and the expenses relating to the transfer of necessary technology and processes could be significant.
Our failure to comply or our CMOs’ failure to comply with these regulations may require us to repeat clinical trials, which would delay the regulatory approval process. We may not be able
to demonstrate sufficient comparability between products manufactured at different facilities to allow for inclusion of the clinical results from patients treated with products from these different
facilities, in our product registrations. We also are required to register certain clinical trials and post the results of certain completed clinical trials on a government-sponsored database,
ClinicalTrials.gov, within specified timeframes. Failure to do so could result in enforcement actions and adverse publicity.
Reliance on third-party manufacturers entails exposure to risks to which we would not be subject if we manufactured the product candidate ourselves, including:
•

inability to negotiate manufacturing and quality agreements with third parties under commercially reasonable terms;

•

reduced day-to-day control over the manufacturing process for our product candidates as a result of using third-party manufacturers for all aspects of manufacturing activities;

•

reduced control over the protection of our trade secrets, know-how and other proprietary information from misappropriation or inadvertent disclosure or from being used in such a way
as to expose us to potential litigation;

•

termination or nonrenewal of manufacturing agreements with third parties in a manner or at a time that may be costly or damaging to us or result in delays in the development or
commercialization of our product candidates; and

•

disruptions to the operations of our third-party manufacturers or suppliers caused by conditions unrelated to our business or operations, including the bankruptcy of the manufacturer or
supplier.

Moreover, any problems or delays we or our CMOs experience in preparing for commercial scale manufacturing of a product candidate may result in a delay in the FDA approval of the
product candidate or may impair our ability to manufacture commercial quantities or such quantities at an acceptable cost, which could result in the delay, prevention, or impairment of clinical
development and commercialization of our product candidates and could adversely affect our business. Furthermore, if we or our CMOs fail to deliver the required commercial quantities of our
product candidates on a timely basis and at reasonable costs, we would likely be unable to meet demand for our products and we would lose potential revenues. We may ultimately be unable to
reduce the cost of goods for our product candidates to levels that will allow for an attractive return on investment if and when those product candidates are commercialized.
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In addition, the manufacturing process and facilities for any products that we may develop are subject to FDA and foreign regulatory authority approval processes, and we or our CMOs will
need to meet all applicable FDA and foreign regulatory authority requirements, including cGMP, on an ongoing basis. The cGMP requirements include quality control, quality assurance and the
maintenance of records and documentation. The FDA and other regulatory authorities enforce these requirements through facility inspections. Manufacturing facilities must submit to pre-approval
inspections by the FDA that will be conducted after we submit our marketing applications, including BLAs and NDAs, to the FDA. Manufacturers are also subject to continuing FDA and other
regulatory authority inspections following marketing approval. Further, we and our third-party CMOs must supply all necessary Chemistry, Manufacturing and Controls (CMC) documentation in
support of a BLA or NDA on a timely basis. Our or our CMOs’ manufacturing facilities may be unable to comply with our specifications, cGMP, and with other FDA, state, and foreign regulatory
requirements, and there is no guarantee that we or our CMOs will be able to successfully pass all aspects of a pre-approval inspection by the FDA or other foreign regulatory authorities.
Poor control of production processes can lead to the introduction of adventitious agents or other contaminants, or to inadvertent changes in the properties or stability of product candidates
that may not be detectable in final product testing. If microbial, viral, environmental or other contaminants are discovered in our product candidates or in the manufacturing facilities in which our
product candidates are made, such manufacturing facilities may need to be closed for an extended period of time to investigate and remedy the contamination which could delay clinical trials and
adversely harm our business. If we or our CMOs are unable to reliably produce products to specifications acceptable to the FDA or other regulatory authorities, or in accordance with the strict
regulatory requirements, we may not obtain or maintain the approvals we need to commercialize such products. Even if we obtain regulatory approval for any of our product candidates, there is no
assurance that either we or our CMOs will be able to manufacture the approved product to specifications acceptable to the FDA or other regulatory authorities, to produce it in sufficient quantities to
meet the requirements for the potential launch of the product, or to meet potential future demand. Deviations from manufacturing requirements may further require remedial measures that may be
costly and/or time-consuming for us or a third party to implement and may include the temporary or permanent suspension of a clinical trial or commercial sales or the temporary or permanent
closure of a facility. Any such remedial measures imposed upon us or third parties with whom we contract could materially harm our business.
As product candidates progress through preclinical and clinical trials to marketing approval and commercialization, it is common that various aspects of the development program, such as
manufacturing methods and formulation, are altered along the way in an effort to optimize yield and manufacturing batch size, minimize costs and achieve consistent quality and results. Such
changes carry the risk that they will not achieve these intended objectives. Any of these changes could cause our product candidates to perform differently and affect the results of planned clinical
trials or other future clinical trials conducted with the altered materials. This could delay completion of clinical trials, require the conduct of bridging clinical trials or the repetition of one or more
clinical trials, increase clinical trial costs, delay approval of our product candidates and jeopardize our ability to commercialize our product candidates, if approved, and generate revenues.
To the extent we use CMOs, we are ultimately responsible for the manufacture of our products, if approved, and product candidates. A failure to comply with these requirements may result
in regulatory enforcement actions against our manufacturers or us, including fines and civil and criminal penalties, which could result in imprisonment, suspension or restrictions of production,
injunctions, delay or denial of product approval or supplements to approved products, clinical holds or termination of clinical trials, warning or untitled letters, regulatory authority communications
warning the public about safety issues with the biologic, refusal to permit the import or export of the products, product seizure, detention, or recall, operating restrictions, suits under the federal civil
False Claims Act (FCA), corporate integrity agreements, consent decrees, or withdrawal of product approval.
Any of these challenges could delay completion of clinical trials, require bridging clinical trials or the repetition of one or more clinical trials, increase clinical trial costs, delay approval of
our product candidate, impair commercialization efforts, increase our cost of goods, and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.
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We may not be successful in managing the build-out of our manufacturing facilities and associated costs or satisfying manufacturing related regulatory requirements.
We have entered into facility leases for our planned manufacturing operations and related activities under which we are responsible for the build-out of the facility space and associated costs.
The build-out of these facilities and related equipment purchases are complex and specialized and will involve substantial capital expenditure, and it could take longer, and cost more, than currently
expected. Significant delays and/or cost overruns would result in higher expenditures and could be disruptive of operations, any of which could have a negative impact on our financial condition or
results of operations. For example, during the first quarter of 2022 we acquired a leasehold interest in the 409,000 square foot Dunkirk Facility as described below. While we believe that
governmental funding will assist in funding a small portion of the further build-out of the Dunkirk Facility, we will need to plan and fund most of the additional build-out of, and purchase additional
equipment for, the Dunkirk Facility in connection with our planned full operations. In addition, it is possible that, once built, the leased facilities may prove to be less conducive to our operations than
is currently anticipated, resulting in operational inefficiencies or similar difficulties that could prove difficult or impossible to remediate and result in an adverse impact on our financial condition or
results of operations. We also may not successfully realize the anticipated benefits from the capital expenditure at such facilities based on factors such as delays and uncertainties regarding
development, regulatory approval and commercialization of our product candidates, as well as the potential to lose access to the leased facilities.
Further, in the future if we transition from our current CMOs to our own manufacturing facilities for one or more of our product candidates, including our product candidate, N-803 in
combination with BCG for the treatment of patients with BCG-unresponsive NMIBC with CIS with or without Ta or T1 disease for which we submitted a BLA in May 2022, we may need to conduct
additional preclinical, analytical or clinical trials and obtain FDA approval before such manufacturing changes are implemented. If we are unsuccessful in demonstrating the comparability of supplies
before and after a manufacturing change, such manufacturing change can result in a delay or disruption in our clinical development plan or our ability to commercialize any approved product. Any
production shortfall that impairs the supply of our product candidates could negatively impact our ability to complete clinical trials, obtain regulatory approval and commercialize our product
candidates. If our product candidates receive approval, a product shortfall could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations and adversely affect our
ability to satisfy demand for our product candidates, which could materially and adversely affect our revenue and results of operations.
In addition, our planned operations, including our development, testing and future manufacturing activities, are subject to numerous environmental, health and safety laws and regulations.
These laws and regulations govern, among other things, the controlled use, handling, release and disposal of and the maintenance of a registry for, hazardous materials and biological materials, such
as chemical solvents, human cells, carcinogenic compounds, mutagenic compounds and compounds that may have a toxic effect on reproduction, laboratory procedures and exposure to blood-borne
pathogens. If we fail to comply with such laws and regulations, we could be subject to fines or other sanctions. Failure to successfully complete our build-outs and successfully operate our planned
manufacturing facilities and satisfy manufacturing-related regulatory requirements could adversely affect the commercial viability of our product candidates and our business.
Cell-based therapies and biologics rely on the availability of reagents, specialized equipment and other specialty materials, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. For
some of these reagents, equipment and materials, we rely or may rely on sole source vendors or a limited number of vendors, which could impair our ability to manufacture and supply our
products, if approved.
We currently depend on a small number of suppliers for some of the materials used in, and processes required to develop, our product candidates. For some of these reagents, equipment and
materials used in the manufacture of our product candidates, we rely, and we may in the future rely, on sole source vendors or a limited number of vendors. Some of these suppliers may not have the
capacity to support clinical trials and commercial products manufactured under cGMP by biopharmaceutical firms or may otherwise be ill-equipped to support our needs. We also do not have supply
contracts with many of these suppliers and may not be able to obtain supply contracts with them on acceptable terms or at all. Accordingly, we may experience delays in receiving key materials and
equipment to support clinical or commercial manufacturing. An inability to continue to source product from any of these suppliers could adversely affect our ability to satisfy demand for our product
candidates, which could adversely and materially affect our product sales and operating results or our ability to conduct clinical trials, either of which could significantly harm our business.
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As we seek to develop and scale our manufacturing process, we expect that we will need to obtain rights to and supplies of certain materials and equipment to be used as part of that process.
We may not be able to obtain rights to such materials on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, and if we are unable to alter our process in a commercially viable manner to avoid the use of such
materials or find a suitable substitute, it would have a material adverse effect on our business. Even if we are able to alter our process so as to use other materials or equipment, such a change may
lead to a delay in our clinical development and/or commercialization plans. If such a change occurs for a product candidate that is already in clinical testing, the change may require us to perform
both ex vivo comparability studies and to collect additional data from patients prior to undertaking more advanced clinical trials.
Because our current product candidates represent, and our other potential product candidates will represent, novel approaches to the treatment of disease, there are many uncertainties
regarding the development, market acceptance, public opinion, third-party reimbursement coverage and the commercial potential of our product candidates, which may impact public perception
of us and our product candidates and which may adversely affect our ability to conduct our business and implement our business plans.
Human immunotherapy products are a new category of therapeutics. We use relatively novel technologies involving N-803, saRNA, hAd5 and yeast technologies, aldoxorubicin, and cellbased therapies, and our NK cell platform utilizes a relatively novel technology involving the genetic modification of human cells and utilization of those modified cells in other individuals. Because
this is a relatively new and expanding area of novel therapeutic interventions, there are many uncertainties related to development, marketing, reimbursement and the commercial potential for our
product candidates. There can be no assurance as to the length of the trial period, the number of patients the FDA will require to be enrolled in the trials in order to establish the safety, efficacy, purity
and potency of immunotherapy products, or that the data generated in these trials will be acceptable to the FDA to support marketing approval. Adverse public attitudes may adversely impact our
ability to enroll patients in clinical trials. The FDA may take longer than usual to come to a decision on any BLA and/or NDA that we submit and may ultimately determine that there is not enough
data, information, or experience with our product candidates to support an approval decision. The FDA may also require that we conduct additional post-marketing studies or implement risk
management programs, such as REMS, until more experience with our product candidates is obtained. Finally, after increased usage, we may find that our product candidates do not have the intended
effect, do not work with other combination therapies or have unanticipated side effects, potentially jeopardizing initial or continuing regulatory approval and commercial prospects. More restrictive
government regulations or negative public opinion could have an adverse effect on our business or financial condition and may delay or impair the development and commercialization of our product
candidates or demand for any products we may develop. Adverse events in our clinical trials, even if not ultimately attributable to our product candidates, and the resulting publicity could result in
increased governmental regulation, unfavorable public perception, potential regulatory delays in the testing or approval of our potential product candidates, stricter labeling requirements for those
product candidates that are approved and a decrease in demand for any such product candidates.
There is no assurance that the approaches offered by our product candidates will gain broad acceptance among doctors or patients or that governmental agencies or third-party medical
insurers will be willing to provide reimbursement coverage for our proposed product candidates. Public perception may be influenced by claims, such as claims that our technologies are unsafe,
unethical or immoral and, consequently, our approach may not gain the acceptance of the public or the medical community. Negative public reaction to cell-based immunotherapy in general could
result in greater government regulation and stricter labeling requirements of immunotherapy products, including our product candidates, and could cause a decrease in the demand for any products
we may develop. Moreover, our success will depend upon physicians specializing in the treatment of those diseases that our product candidates target prescribing, and their patients being willing to
receive treatments that involve the use of our product candidates in lieu of, or in addition to, existing treatments they are already familiar with and for which greater clinical data may be available.
The market for any products that we successfully develop will also depend on the cost of the product. We do not yet have sufficient information to reliably estimate what it will cost to commercially
manufacture our current product candidates, and the actual cost to manufacture these products could materially and adversely affect the commercial viability of these products. Our goal is to reduce
the cost of manufacturing and providing our therapies. However, unless we can reduce those costs to an acceptable amount, we may never be able to develop a commercially viable product. If we do
not successfully develop and commercialize products based upon our approach or find suitable and economical sources for materials

71

Table of Contents

used in the production of our potential products, we will not become profitable, which would materially and adversely affect the value of our common stock. Our N-803 therapies and our other
therapies may be provided to patients in combination with other agents provided by third parties or our affiliates. The cost of such combination therapy may increase the overall cost of therapy and
may result in issues regarding the allocation of reimbursements between our therapy and the other agents, all of which may affect our ability to obtain reimbursement coverage for the combination
therapy from governmental or private third-party medical insurers.
If product liability lawsuits are brought against us, we may incur substantial liabilities and may be required to limit commercialization of our product candidates.
We face an inherent risk of product liability as a result of the clinical development, testing and manufacturing of our product candidates and will face an even greater risk if we
commercialize any products. For example, we may be sued if our product candidates cause or are perceived to cause injury or are found to be otherwise unsuitable during clinical testing,
manufacturing, marketing or sale. Any such product liability claims may include allegations of defects in manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to warn of dangers inherent in the product,
negligence, strict liability or a breach of warranties. Claims could also be asserted under state consumer protection acts. Large judgements have been awarded in class action lawsuits based on
therapeutics that had unanticipated side effects. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against product liability claims, we may incur substantial liabilities or be required to limit
commercialization of our product candidates. Even successful defense would require significant financial and management resources. Regardless of the merits or eventual outcome, liability claims
may result in a regulatory investigation of the safety and effectiveness of our products, our third-party manufacturer’s manufacturing processes and facilities or our marketing programs and
potentially a recall of our products or more serious enforcement action, including limitations on the approved indications for which our product candidates may be used or suspension or withdrawal
of approvals, decreased demand for our products, injury to our reputation, costs to defend the related litigation, a diversion of management’s time and our resources, substantial monetary awards to
trial participants or patients and a decline in our stock price.
Our inability to obtain sufficient product liability insurance at an acceptable cost to protect against potential product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of
products we may develop, alone or with corporate collaborators. Our insurance policies may also have various exclusions, and we may be subject to product liability claims for which we have no
coverage. While we have obtained clinical trial insurance for our clinical trials, we may have to pay amounts awarded by a court or negotiated in a settlement that exceed our coverage limitations or
that are not covered by our insurance, and we may not have, or be able to obtain, sufficient capital to pay such amounts. Even if our agreements with any future corporate collaborators entitle us to
indemnification against losses, such indemnification may not be available or adequate should any claim arise.
We will face significant competition from other biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies and from non-profit institutions.
Competition in the field of cancer and viral infectious disease therapy is intense and is accentuated by the rapid pace of technological development. We compete with a variety of multinational biopharmaceutical companies and specialized biotechnology companies, as well as technology being developed at universities and other research institutions. These competitors have
developed, may develop and are developing product candidates and processes competitive with our product candidates. Research and discoveries by others may result in breakthroughs which may
render our product candidates obsolete even before they generate any revenues. We believe that a significant number of products are currently under development, and may become commercially
available in the future, for the treatment of conditions for which we are developing product candidates. Many of our competitors have several therapeutic products that have already been developed,
approved and successfully commercialized, or are in the process of obtaining regulatory approval for their therapeutic products in the U.S. and internationally. Many of our competitors, either alone
or with their strategic partners, have substantially greater financial, technical, and human resources than we do, as well as significantly greater experience in the discovery and development of product
candidates, obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals of treatments and commercializing those treatments. Accordingly, our competitors may be more successful in obtaining approval of
treatments and achieving widespread market acceptance, rendering our treatments obsolete or
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non-competitive, possibly even before we are able to enter the market. Accelerated merger and acquisition activity in the biotechnology and biopharmaceutical industries may result in even more
resources being concentrated among a smaller number of our competitors. Smaller or early-stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative
arrangements with large and established companies. These third parties compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management personnel and establishing clinical trial sites
and patient registration for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies complementary to, or necessary for, our programs.
Even if we obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates, the availability and price of our competitors’ products could limit the demand and the price we are able to charge for our
therapies. The level of generic competition and the availability of reimbursement from government and other third-party payors will also significantly affect the pricing and competitiveness of our
products.
A large number of companies, government agencies and academic centers around the world are developing COVID‑19 vaccines, and many of these entities are in more advanced stages of
development than we are, including some that have started Phase 2 and/or 3 clinical trials or have already obtained emergency regulatory approval in the U.S. and internationally. Even if one of our
COVID‑19 vaccine candidates is ultimately approved for marketing, the value of our opportunity will be adversely impacted by other COVID‑19 vaccines that have obtained emergency regulatory
approval, obtain full regulatory approval, or demonstrate better efficacy or safety than our COVID‑19 vaccine candidate.
We may not be able to implement our business plan if the acceptance of our product candidates is inhibited by price competition or the reluctance of physicians to switch from other methods
of treatment to our product, or if physicians switch to other new therapies, drugs or biologic products or choose to reserve our product candidates for use in limited circumstances. We may be
adversely impacted if any of these competitors gain market share as a result of new technologies, commercialization strategies or otherwise.
We may seek orphan drug status or Fast Track or Breakthrough Therapy designations or other designation for one or more of our product candidates, but even if any such designation or status
is granted, it may not lead to a faster development process or regulatory review and may not increase the likelihood that our product candidates will receive marketing approval, and we may be
unable to maintain any benefits associated with such designations or status, including market exclusivity.
In 2012, the FDA established a Breakthrough Therapy designation, which is intended to expedite, although there is no guarantee, the development and review of products that treat serious or
life-threatening conditions. We have been awarded, and may seek in the future, Fast Track or Breakthrough Therapy designation for current or future product candidates. Receipt of a designation to
facilitate product candidate development is within the discretion of the FDA. Accordingly, even if we believe one of our product candidates meets the criteria for a designation, the FDA may
disagree. In any event, the receipt of such a designation for a product candidate may not result in a faster development process, review or approval compared to product candidates considered for
approval under conventional FDA procedures and does not assure ultimate marketing approval by the FDA. In addition, the FDA may later decide that the product candidates no longer meet the
designation conditions.
Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orphan designation to a drug or biologic intended to treat a rare disease or condition or for which there is no reasonable expectation that the
cost of developing and making available the drug or biologic will be recovered from sales in the U.S. If a product that has orphan drug designation subsequently receives the first FDA approval for
the disease for which it has such designation, the product is entitled to orphan product exclusivity, which means that the FDA may not approve any other applications, including a full BLA to market
the same drug or biologic for the same indication for seven years, except in limited circumstances. We may seek orphan drug status for one or more of our product candidates, but exclusive marketing
rights in the U.S. may be lost if we seek approval for an indication broader than the orphan designated indication and may be lost if the FDA later determines that the request for designation was
materially defective or if we are unable to assure sufficient quantities of the product to meet the needs of patients with the rare disease or condition.
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As a condition of approval, the FDA may require that we implement various post-marketing requirements and conduct post-marketing studies, any of which would require a substantial
investment of time, effort, and money, and which may limit our commercial prospects.
As a condition of biologic licensing, the FDA is authorized to require that sponsors of approved BLAs implement various post-market requirements, including REMS and Phase 4 trials. For
example, in connection with FDA approval of another company’s drug, the FDA required significant post-marketing commitments, including a Phase 4 trial, revalidation of a test method, and a
substantial REMS program that included, among other requirements, the certification of hospitals and their associated clinics that dispensed the drug, including the implementation of a training
program and limited distribution only to certified hospitals and their associated clinics. If we receive approval of our product candidates, the FDA may determine that similar or additional or more
burdensome post-approval requirements are necessary to ensure that our product candidates are safe, pure and potent. To the extent that we are required to establish and implement any post-approval
requirements, we will likely need to invest a significant amount of time, effort and money. Such post-approval requirements may also limit the commercial prospects of our product candidates.
We have never commercialized a product candidate before, and we may lack the necessary expertise, personnel and resources to successfully commercialize any products on our own or together
with suitable collaborators. We may be unable to establish effective marketing and sales capabilities or enter into agreements with third parties or related parties to market and sell our product
candidates, if they are approved, and as a result, we may be unable to generate product revenues.
We have little to no prior experience in, and currently do not have a commercial infrastructure for, the marketing, sale and distribution of biopharmaceutical products. To achieve commercial
success for the product candidates, which we may license to others, we will rely on the assistance and guidance of those collaborators. For product candidates for which we retain commercialization
rights and marketing approval, if approved, in order to commercialize our product candidates, we must continue to build out our marketing, sales and distribution capabilities, including a
comprehensive healthcare compliance program, or arrange with third parties to perform these services, which will take time and require significant financial expenditures and could delay any product
launch and we may not be successful in doing so. There are significant risks involved with building and managing a commercial infrastructure. We, or our collaborators, will have to compete with
other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to recruit, hire, train, manage and retain medical affairs, marketing, sales and commercial support personnel. Recruiting, training and retaining a
sales force is expensive and time-consuming and could delay any product launch. If the commercial launch of a product candidate for which we recruit a sales force and establish marketing
capabilities is delayed or does not occur for any reason, we would have incurred these commercialization expenses prematurely or unnecessarily. These efforts may be costly, and our investment
would be lost if we cannot retain or reposition our sales and marketing personnel. In the event we are unable to develop a commercial infrastructure, we may not be able to commercialize our current
or future product candidates, which would limit our ability to generate product revenues. Even if we are able to effectively establish a sales force and develop a marketing and sales infrastructure, our
sales force and marketing teams may not be successful in commercializing our current or future product candidates. To the extent we rely on third parties to commercialize any products for which we
obtain regulatory approval, we would have less control over their sales efforts and could be held liable if they failed to comply with applicable legal or regulatory requirements.
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If our product candidates do not achieve broad market acceptance, the revenues that we generate from their sales will be limited.
We have not commercialized a product candidate for any indication. Even if our product candidates are approved by the appropriate regulatory authorities for marketing and sale, they may
not gain acceptance among physicians, patients, third-party payors and others in the medical community. If any product candidate for which we obtain regulatory approval does not gain an adequate
level of market acceptance, we may not generate significant product revenues or become profitable. Market acceptance of our product candidates by the medical community, patients and third-party
payors will depend on a number of factors, some of which are beyond our control. For example, physicians are often reluctant to switch their patients, and patients may be reluctant to switch from,
existing therapies even when new and potentially more effective or safer treatments enter the market. Efforts to educate the medical community and third-party payors on the benefits of our product
candidates may require significant resources and may not be successful. Even if the medical community accepts that our product candidates are safe and effective for their approved indications,
physicians and patients may not immediately be receptive to such product candidates and may be slow to adopt them as an accepted treatment of the approved indications. If any of our product
candidates is approved but does not achieve an adequate level of market acceptance, we may not generate significant revenues and we may not become profitable. The degree of market acceptance of
any of our product candidates will depend on a number of factors, including:
•

the continued safety and efficacy of our product candidates;

•

the prevalence and severity of adverse events associated with such product candidates;

•

the clinical indications for which the products are approved and the approved claims that we may make for the products;

•

limitations or warnings contained in the product’s FDA-approved labeling, including potential limitations or warnings for such products that may be more restrictive than other
competitive products or distribution and use restrictions imposed by the FDA with respect to such product candidates or to which we agree as part of a mandatory REMS or voluntary
risk management plan;

•

changes in the standard of care for the targeted indications for such product candidates;

•

the relative difficulty of administration of such product candidates;

•

our ability to offer such product candidates for sale at competitive prices, including the cost of treatment versus economic and clinical benefit in relation to alternative treatments or
therapies;

•

the availability of adequate coverage or reimbursement by third parties, such as insurance companies and other healthcare payors, and by government healthcare programs, including
Medicare and Medicaid;

•

the extent and strength of our marketing and distribution of such product candidates;

•

the safety, efficacy and other potential advantages over, and availability of, alternative treatments already used or that may later be approved for any of our intended indications;

•

the timing of market introduction of such product candidates, as well as competitive products;

•

the willingness of the target patient population to try new therapies and of physicians to prescribe these therapies;

•

the extent and strength of our third-party manufacturer and supplier support;

•

adverse publicity about the product or favorable publicity about competitive products; and

•

potential product liability claims.

If any product candidate we commercialize fails to achieve market acceptance, it could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects.
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Our product candidates may face competition sooner than anticipated.
The enactment of the Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act of 2009 (BPCIA) created an abbreviated approval pathway for biological products that are biosimilar to or
interchangeable with an FDA-licensed reference biological product. Under the BPCIA, the FDA cannot make an approval of an application for a biosimilar product effective until 12 years after the
original branded product was approved under a BLA. Certain changes, however, and supplements to an approved BLA, and subsequent applications filed by the same sponsor, manufacturer, licensor,
predecessor in interest or other related entity do not qualify for the 12-year exclusivity period.
Our product candidates may qualify for the BPCIA’s 12-year period of exclusivity. There is a risk that any product candidates we may develop that are approved as a biological product
under a BLA would not qualify for the 12-year period of exclusivity or that this exclusivity could be shortened due to congressional action or otherwise, or that the FDA will not consider any product
candidates we may develop to be reference products for competing products, potentially creating the opportunity for generic competition sooner than anticipated. Additionally, this period of
regulatory exclusivity does not block companies pursuing regulatory approval via their own traditional BLA, rather than via the abbreviated pathway. Even if we receive a period of BPCIA
exclusivity for our first licensed product, if subsequent products do not include a modification to the structure of the product that impacts safety, purity, or potency, we may not receive additional
periods of exclusivity for those products. Moreover, the extent to which a biosimilar, once approved, will be substituted for any one of our reference product candidates in a way that is similar to
traditional generic substitution for non-biological products is not yet clear, and will depend on a number of marketplace and regulatory factors that are still developing. Medicare Part B encourages
use of biosimilars by paying the provider the same percentage of the reference product average sale price as a mark-up, regardless of which product is reimbursed. It is also possible that payors will
give reimbursement preference to biosimilars even over reference biologics absent a determination of interchangeability.
For our small molecular product candidates, if qualified, the regulatory exclusivity period is less than for our biologic product candidates. The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act
(FDCA) provides a five-year period of non-patent marketing exclusivity within the U.S. to the first applicant to gain approval of an NDA for a drug where the FDA has not previously approved any
other new drug containing the same active molecule or ion responsible for the action of the drug substance. During the exclusivity period, the FDA may not accept for review an abbreviated NDA or
a 505(b)(2) NDA submitted by another company for a generic version of such drug where the applicant does not own or have a legal right of reference to all the data required for approval. However,
an application may be submitted after four years if it contains a certification of patent invalidity or non-infringement. The FDCA also provides three years of marketing exclusivity for an NDA,
505(b)(2) NDA or supplement to an existing NDA if new clinical investigations, other than bioavailability studies, that were conducted or sponsored by the applicant are deemed by the FDA to be
essential to the approval of the application, for example, new indications, dosages or strengths of an existing drug. As such, we may face competition from generic versions of our small molecule
product candidates, which will negatively impact our long-term business prospects and marketing opportunities.
We will need to obtain FDA approval of any proposed branded product names, and any failure or delay associated with such approval may adversely affect our business.
Any name we intend to use for our product candidates in the U.S. will require approval from the FDA regardless of whether we have secured a formal trademark registration from the U.S.
Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO). The FDA typically conducts a review of proposed product names, including an evaluation of the potential for confusion with other product names. The FDA
may also object to a product name if it believes the name inappropriately implies medical claims or contributes to an overstatement of efficacy. If the FDA objects to any of our proposed product
names, we may be required to adopt alternative names for our product candidates. If we adopt alternative names, we would lose the benefit of any existing trademark applications for such product
candidate and may be required to expend significant additional resources in an effort to identify a suitable product name that would qualify under applicable trademark laws, not infringe or otherwise
violate the existing rights of third parties, and be acceptable to the FDA. We may be unable to build a successful brand identity for a new product name in a timely manner or at all, which would limit
our ability to commercialize our product candidates.
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Our internal computer systems, or those used by our CROs, CMOs, clinical sites or other contractors or consultants, may fail or suffer security breaches. A breakdown, cyberattack or
information security breach could compromise the confidentiality, integrity and availability of our information technology systems, network-connected control systems and/or our data, interrupt
the operation of our business and/or affect our reputation.
We are and will be dependent upon information technology systems, infrastructure and data. In the ordinary course of our business, we will directly or indirectly collect, store and transmit
sensitive data, including intellectual property, confidential information, preclinical and clinical trial data, proprietary business information, personal data and personally identifiable health information
of our clinical trial subjects and employees, in our data centers and on our networks, or on those of third parties. The secure processing, maintenance and transmission of this information is critical to
our operations. The multitude and complexity of our computer systems and those of our contract research organizations (CROs), CMOs, clinical sites or other contractors or consultants make them
inherently vulnerable to service interruption or destruction, malicious intrusion and random attack. Data privacy or security breaches by third parties, employees, contractors or others may pose a risk
that sensitive data, including our intellectual property, trade secrets or personal information of our employees, patients, or other business partners may be exposed to unauthorized persons or to the
public. Further, as many of our employees are working remotely, our reliance on our and third-party information technology systems has increased substantially and is expected to continue to
increase.
Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems and those of our CROs, CMOs, clinical sites and other contractors and consultants are vulnerable to failure
or damage from computer viruses and other malware, employee error, unauthorized and authorized access or other cybersecurity attacks, natural disasters, terrorism, war, fire and telecommunication
and electrical failures. As the cyber-threat landscape evolves, these cyberattacks are increasing in their frequency, sophistication and intensity and are becoming increasingly difficult to detect. The
techniques used by cyber criminals change frequently, may not be recognized until launched and can originate from a wide variety of sources, including outside groups such as external service
providers, organized crime affiliates, terrorist organizations or hostile foreign governments or agencies. Cyberattacks could include the deployment of harmful malware, denial-of-service, social
engineering and other means to affect service reliability and threaten data confidentiality, integrity and availability. While we and our shared services partner, NantWorks, have invested, and continue
to invest, in the protection of our data and information technology infrastructure, there can be no assurance that our efforts, or the efforts of our partners, vendors, CROs, CMOs, clinical sites and
other contractors and consultants will prevent service interruptions, or identify breaches in our or their systems, that could adversely affect our business and operations and/or result in the loss of
critical or sensitive information, which could result in financial, legal, business or reputational harm to us. In addition, our liability insurance may not be sufficient in type or amount to cover us
against claims related to security breaches, cyberattacks and other related breaches.
If any such event were to occur and cause interruptions in our operations, it could result in a disruption of our product development programs. For example, the loss of clinical trial data from
completed or ongoing clinical trials for a product candidate could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data, or may limit
our ability to effectively execute a product recall, if required. To the extent that any disruption or security breach were to result in a loss of or damage to our data or applications, or inappropriate
disclosure of personal, confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liability and the further development and commercialization of any product candidates could be delayed. Any such
event could also result in legal claims or proceedings, liability under laws that protect the privacy of personal information and significant regulatory penalties, and damage to our reputation and a loss
of confidence in us and our ability to conduct clinical trials.
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Our business could be adversely affected by the effects of health epidemics, pandemics or contagious diseases, including the recent COVID‑19 pandemic and the public and governmental effort
to mitigate against the spread of the disease, in regions where we or third parties on which we rely have significant manufacturing facilities, concentrations of clinical trial sites or other
business operations, and may have a material adverse effect, on our clinical trials, operations, supply chains, distribution systems, product development, business and results of operations.
Outbreaks of epidemic, pandemic or contagious diseases, such as the ongoing COVID‑19 pandemic, and measures taken in response by governments and businesses worldwide to contain its
spread have adversely impacted and may continue to significantly disrupt our operations and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Many countries including the
U.S. implemented measures such as quarantine, shelter-in-place, curfew, travel and activity restrictions and similar isolation measures, including government orders and other restrictions on the
conduct of business operations. The continued spread of this pandemic has caused significant volatility and uncertainty in the U.S. and international markets and has resulted in increased risks to our
operations. The COVID‑19 pandemic and any actions we have taken in response, are affecting and could materially affect our operations, including at our headquarters and at our manufacturing
facilities, which have been and may in the future be subject to state executive orders and shelter-in-place orders, and at our clinical trial sites, as well as the business or operations of our CROs,
CMOs, clinical sites or other third parties with whom we conduct business. Any such epidemic or pandemic may heighten the risk that a significant portion of our workforce could suffer illness or
otherwise not be permitted or be unable to work, and may require that certain of our employees work remotely, which heightens certain risks, including but not limited to, those associated with an
increased demand for information technology resources, increased risk of cybersecurity attacks (including social engineering attacks), risks related to internal controls and increased risk of
unauthorized dissemination of sensitive personal information or our proprietary or confidential information.
The rapid development and fluidity of the pandemic preclude any prediction as to the ultimate effect of COVID-19 on us. While the U.S. and other countries have begun or will begin to
reopen their economies, the extent to which COVID-19 will impact our future operations will depend on many factors which cannot be predicted with confidence, including the duration of the
outbreak. Any resurgence in COVID-19 infections could result in the imposition of new mandates and prolonged restrictive measures implemented in order to control the spread of the disease.
U.S. President Biden has issued an Executive Order requiring federal employees and covered contractors to be vaccinated against COVID-19. Additionally, on November 4, 2021, the U.S.
Department of Labor’s Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) issued a COVID-19 Vaccination and Testing Emergency Temporary Standard requiring all employers with 100 or
more employees to ensure that their employees are fully vaccinated or tested for COVID-19 on at least a weekly basis. On January 20, 2022, The U.S. Supreme Court invalidated this requirement.
However additional vaccine and testing mandates may be announced in other jurisdictions in which we operate our business. While it is not currently possible to predict with any certainty the exact
impact the new regulations would have on us and our suppliers, the implementation of such government mandated vaccination or testing mandates may impact our ability to retain current employees
and attract new employees and result in labor disruptions.
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We are monitoring a number of risks related to this pandemic, including the following:
•

Financial: We expect to continue spending on research and development during the year ending December 31, 2022 and beyond, and we could also have unexpected expenses related to
the pandemic. The short-term continued expenses, as well as the overall uncertainty and disruption caused by the pandemic, will likely cause a delay in our ability to commercialize a
product and adversely impact our financial results.

•

Manufacturing: The pandemic has impacted, and may continue to impact, our manufacturing locations, including through the effects of facility closures, reductions in operating hours
and other social distancing efforts.

•

Supply Chain: As the pandemic continues to progress, it has resulted and could continue to result in significant disruptions in our respective supply chains and distribution channels in
the future. In addition, there may be unfavorable changes in the availability or cost of raw materials, intermediates and other materials necessary for production, which may result in
disruptions in our supply chain and adversely affect our ability to have manufactured certain product candidates for clinical supply.

•

Clinical Trials: This pandemic may adversely affect certain of our clinical trials, including our ability to initiate and complete our clinical trials within the anticipated timelines. Due to
site and participant availability during the pandemic, new subject enrollment has slowed and is expected to continue to slow, at least in the short-term, for most of our clinical trials. For
ongoing trials, we have seen, and expect to continue to see an increasing number of clinical trial sites imposing restrictions on patient visits to limit risks of possible COVID‑19
exposure, and we may experience issues with participant compliance with clinical trial protocols as a result of quarantines, travel restrictions and interruptions to healthcare services.
The current pressures on medical systems and the prioritization of healthcare resources toward the COVID‑19 pandemic have also resulted, and may continue to result, in interruptions
in data collection and submissions for certain clinical trials and delayed starts for certain planned studies. As a result, our anticipated filing and marketing timelines may be adversely
impacted.

•

Overall Economic and Capital Markets Environment: The continued spread of COVID‑19 has led to and could continue to lead to severe disruption and volatility in the U.S. and global
capital markets, which could result in a decline in stock price, high inflation, increase our cost of capital and adversely affect our ability to access the capital markets in the future even
after local conditions improve. In addition, trading prices on the public stock market have been highly volatile as a result of the COVID‑19 pandemic.

•

Regulatory Reviews: The operations of the FDA or other regulatory agencies may be adversely affected. The legislative and regulatory environment governing our businesses is
dynamic and changing frequently in response to COVID‑19. In response to COVID‑19, federal, state and local governments are issuing new rules, regulations, orders and advisories on
a regular basis. These government actions can impact us, our members and our suppliers. There is also the possibility that we may experience delays with obtaining approvals for our
IND applications, BLAs, and/or NDAs. The pandemic may also result in greater regulatory uncertainty.
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Risks Related to Reliance on Third Parties
We have limited experience conducting clinical trials and have relied and will rely on third parties and related parties to conduct many of our preclinical studies and clinical trials, to
manufacture products and to perform many essential services for any products that we commercialize, including services related to distribution, government price reporting, customer service,
accounts receivable management, cash collection and adverse event reporting. Any failure by a third party, related party, or by us to perform as expected, to comply with legal and regulatory
requirements or to conduct the clinical trials according to GCP regulations, and in a timely manner, may delay or prevent our ability to seek or obtain regulatory approval for or
commercialization of our product candidates and our ability to commercialize our current or future product candidates will be significantly impacted and we may be subject to regulatory
sanctions.
Large-scale clinical trials require significant financial and management resources. We expect to be heavily reliant on third and related parties, including medical institutions, academic
institutions, clinical investigators or CROs to conduct, supervise or monitor some or all aspects of our clinical trials, and in some cases, CMOs to manufacture products, which may force us to
encounter delays and challenges that are outside of our control. Nevertheless, we are responsible for ensuring that each of our trials is conducted in accordance with the applicable trial protocol and
legal, regulatory and scientific standards, and our reliance on CROs, clinical trial sites, and other third parties does not relieve us of these responsibilities. Our CROs and other third parties must
communicate and coordinate with one another in order for our trials to be successful. We have a limited history of conducting clinical trials and have no experience as a company in filing and
supporting the applications necessary to gain marketing approvals. Our relative lack of experience conducting clinical trials may contribute to our planned clinical trials not beginning or completing
on time, if at all. Securing marketing approval also requires the submission of information about the product manufacturing process to, and inspection of manufacturing facilities and clinical trial
sites by, applicable regulatory authorities.
For example, we will remain responsible for ensuring that each of our clinical trials is conducted in accordance with the general investigational plan and protocols for the trial and for
ensuring that our preclinical studies are conducted in accordance with Good Laboratory Practice (GLP) regulations, as appropriate. Moreover, the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities
require us and the third parties upon which we intend to rely for conducting our clinical trials to comply with GCP for conducting, recording, and reporting the results of clinical trials to assure that
data and reported results are credible and accurate and that the rights, integrity, and confidentiality of trial participants are protected. Regulatory authorities enforce these requirements through
periodic inspections (including pre-approval inspections once a BLA or NDA is filed with the FDA) of trial sponsors, clinical investigators, trial sites and certain third parties including CMOs. If we,
our CROs, clinical trial sites, or other third parties fail to comply with applicable GCP or other regulatory requirements, we or they may be subject to enforcement or other legal actions, the clinical
data generated in our clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and have to be repeated, and our submission of marketing applications may be delayed or the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory
authorities may require us to perform additional clinical trials before approving our marketing applications. We cannot assure you that upon inspection by a given regulatory authority, such regulatory
authority will determine that any of our clinical trials comply with GCP regulations.
We rely on third parties to manufacture, package, label and ship some of our product candidates for the clinical trials that we conduct. Any performance failure on the part of these third
parties could delay clinical development or marketing approval of our product candidates or commercialization of our product candidates, if approved, producing additional losses and depriving us of
potential product revenues.
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Our CROs, clinical trial sites and other third parties may also have relationships with other entities, some of which may be our competitors, for whom they may also be conducting clinical
trials or other therapeutic development activities that could harm our competitive position. In addition, these third parties are not our employees, and except for remedies available to us under our
agreements with them, we cannot control whether or not they devote sufficient time and resources to our ongoing clinical and preclinical programs. If these third parties conducting our clinical trials
(i) do not successfully carry out their contractual duties, (ii) do not meet expected deadlines, (iii) experience work stoppages, (iv) do not conduct our clinical trials in accordance with regulatory
requirements or our stated protocols, (v) need to be replaced, (vi) experience financial hardships or (vii) terminate their agreements with us or if the quality or accuracy of the data they obtain is
compromised due to the failure to adhere to our clinical trial protocols, GCP or other regulatory requirements or for other reasons, our trials may need to be repeated, extended, delayed or terminated,
we may not be able to obtain, or may be delayed in obtaining, marketing approvals for our product candidates, we will not be able to, or may be delayed in our efforts to, successfully commercialize
our product candidates or we or they may be subject to regulatory enforcement actions. Additionally, we may need to conduct additional clinical trials or enter into new arrangements with alternative
CROs, clinical investigators or other third parties, which we may not be able to do on commercially reasonable terms, or at all and which may involve additional cost and time and require
management time and focus. As a result, delays could occur, which could compromise our ability to meet our desired development timelines. Furthermore, if any of the third parties conducting our
clinical trials experience any financial hardships due to difficulties relating to the operation of their business, it could damage our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. In
addition, if an agreement with any of our collaborators terminates, our access to technology and intellectual property licensed to us by that collaborator may be restricted or terminate entirely, which
may delay the continued development of our product candidates using the collaborator’s technology or intellectual property or require us to stop development of those product candidates completely.
As a result, our results of operations and the commercial prospects for our product candidates would be harmed, our costs could increase and our ability to generate revenues could be delayed. To the
extent we are unable to successfully identify and manage the performance of third-party service providers in the future, our business may be materially and adversely affected.
We expect to retain third-party service providers to perform a variety of functions related to the sale of our current or future product candidates, key aspects of which will be out of our direct
control. These service providers may provide key services related to distribution, customer service, accounts receivable management, and cash collection. If we retain a service provider, we would
substantially rely on it as well as other third-party providers that perform services for us, including entrusting our inventories of products to their care and handling. If these third-party service
providers fail to comply with applicable laws and regulations, fail to meet expected deadlines or otherwise do not carry out their contractual duties to us, or encounter physical or natural damage at
their facilities, our ability to deliver product to meet commercial demand would be significantly impaired and we may be subject to regulatory enforcement action.
In addition, we may engage in the future with third parties to perform various other services for us relating to adverse event reporting, safety database management, fulfillment of requests
for medical information regarding our product candidates and related services. If the quality or accuracy of the data maintained by these service providers is insufficient, or these third parties
otherwise fail to comply with regulatory requirements related to adverse event reporting, we could be subject to regulatory sanctions.
Additionally, we may contract in the future with a third party to calculate and report pricing information mandated by various government programs. If a third party fails to timely report or
adjust prices as required or errs in calculating government pricing information from transactional data in our financial records, it could impact our discount and rebate liability, and potentially subject
us to regulatory sanctions or FCA lawsuits.
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Our reliance on third and related parties can also present intellectual property-related risks. For example, collaborators may not properly obtain, maintain, enforce or defend intellectual
property or proprietary rights relating to our product candidates or technology or may use our proprietary information in such a way as to expose us to potential litigation or other intellectual
property-related proceedings, including proceedings challenging the scope, ownership, validity and enforceability of our intellectual property. Collaborators may also own or co-own intellectual
property covering our product candidates or technology that results from our collaboration with them, and in such cases, we may not have the exclusive right to commercialize such intellectual
property or such product candidates or technology. Collaborators may also gain access to our trade secrets or formulations and impact our ability to commercialize proprietary technology. We may
also need the cooperation of our collaborators to enforce or defend any intellectual property we contribute to or that arises out of our collaborations, which may not be provided to us.
We also anticipate that part of our strategy for pursuing the wide range of indications potentially addressed by N-803 will involve further investigator-initiated clinical trials. While these
trials generally provide us with valuable clinical data that can inform our future development strategy, we generally have less control over not only the conduct but also the design of these clinical
trials. Third-party investigators may design clinical trials involving our product candidates with clinical endpoints that are more difficult to achieve or in other ways that increase the risk of negative
clinical trial results compared to clinical trials we may design on our own. Negative results from investigator-initiated clinical trials, regardless of how the clinical trial was designed or conducted,
could have a material adverse effect on our business and the perception of our product candidates.
Moreover, principal investigators for our clinical trials may serve as scientific advisors or consultants to us from time to time and receive compensation in connection with such services.
If third-party manufacturers, wholesalers and distributors fail to perform as expected, or fail to devote sufficient time and resources to our product candidates, our clinical development may be
delayed, our costs may be higher than expected or our product candidates may fail to be approved, or we may fail to commercialize any product candidates if approved.
Our reliance on third-party manufacturers, wholesalers and distributors exposes us to the following risks, any of which could delay FDA approval of our product candidates and
commercialization of our product candidates if approved, result in higher costs, or deprive us of potential product revenues:
•

our CMOs, or other third parties we rely on, may encounter difficulties in achieving the volume of production needed to satisfy commercial demand, may experience technical issues
that impact quality or compliance with applicable and strictly enforced regulations governing the manufacture of pharmaceutical products, and may experience shortages of qualified
personnel to adequately staff production operations;

•

our wholesalers and distributors could become unable to sell and deliver our product candidates for regulatory, compliance and other reasons;

•

our CMOs, wholesalers and distributors could breach or default on their agreements with us to meet our requirements for commercialization of our product candidates;

•

our CMOs, wholesalers and distributors may not perform as agreed or may not remain in business for the time required to successfully produce, store, sell and distribute our product
candidates and we may incur additional cost;

•

our CMOs, wholesalers and distributors may misappropriate our proprietary information; and

•

if our CMOs, wholesalers and distributors were to terminate our arrangements or fail to meet their contractual obligations, we may be forced to delay our commercial programs.
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Our reliance on third parties reduces our control over our product candidate development activities but does not relieve us of our responsibility to ensure compliance with all required legal,
regulatory and industry standards. For example, the FDA and other regulatory authorities require that our product candidates and any products that we may eventually commercialize be manufactured
according to cGMP requirements. Any failure by our third-party manufacturers to comply with cGMP or maintain a compliance status acceptable to the FDA or other regulatory authorities or failure
to scale up manufacturing processes, including any failure to deliver sufficient quantities of product candidates in a timely manner, could lead to a delay in, or failure to obtain, regulatory approval of
any of our product candidates. In addition, our third-party manufacturers will be subject to periodic inspections by the FDA and other regulatory authorities, and failure to comply with cGMP could
be the basis for the FDA to issue a warning or untitled letter, withdraw approvals for product candidates previously granted to us, or take other regulatory or legal action, including a request to recall
or seize product candidates, total or partial suspension of production, suspension of clinical trials, refusal to approve pending applications or supplemental applications, detention of product, refusal
to permit the import or export of product candidates, injunction, imposing civil penalties or pursuing criminal prosecution.
Additionally, as we scale up manufacturing of our product candidates and conduct required stability testing, we may encounter additional challenges or cGMP issues. These issues may
require refinement or resolution in order to proceed with commercial marketing of our product candidates if approved. In addition, quality issues may arise during scale-up and validation of
commercial manufacturing processes. Any issues in our manufacturing process could result in increased scrutiny by regulatory authorities, delays in our regulatory approval process, increases in our
operating expenses, or failure to obtain or maintain approval for our product candidates. If such issues relate to an approved product, we may not be able to commercialize the approved product as we
planned or fail to meet commercial demand, any of which can materially and adversely affect our position in the market.
We use the Clinic, a related party, in some of our clinical trials which may expose us to significant regulatory risks. If our data for this site is not sufficiently robust or if there are any data
integrity issues, we may be required to repeat such studies or required to contract with other clinical trial sites, and our clinical development plans will be significantly delayed, and we will incur
additional costs.
The Clinic has conducted, is currently conducting, and in the future may conduct, clinical trials involving our product candidates. The Clinic is a related party as it is owned by an officer of
the company and additionally, NantWorks manages the administrative operations of the Clinic. Prior to June 30, 2019, one of the company’s officers was an investigator or sub-investigator for certain
of the company’s trials conducted at the Clinic. NantWorks, which is wholly owned by our Executive Chairman and Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer, Dr. Soon‑Shiong, provides certain
administrative services (and has loaned money) to the Clinic. Under certain circumstances, we may be required to report some of these relationships to the FDA. Relying on a related party clinical
site to develop data that is used as the basis to support regulatory approval can expose us to significant regulatory risks. The FDA may conclude that a financial relationship between us, the Clinic
and/or a principal investigator has created a conflict of interest or otherwise affected interpretation of the study. The FDA or comparable regulatory authorities may therefore question the integrity of
the data generated at the applicable clinical trial site and the utility of the clinical trial itself may be jeopardized. If any data integrity, or regulatory non-compliance issues occur during the study, we
may not be able to use the data for our regulatory approval. This could result in a delay in approval, or rejection, of our marketing applications by the FDA and may ultimately lead to the denial of
regulatory approval of one or more of our product candidates.
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We have formed, and may in the future form or seek, strategic alliances or enter into collaborations with third parties or additional licensing arrangements in the future, and we may not realize
the benefits of such alliances or licensing arrangements. If we fail to enter into such strategic alliances, collaborations or licensing arrangements, or such strategic alliances, collaborations or
licensing arrangements are not successful, we may not be able to capitalize on the market potential of our product candidates.
We have formed, and may in the future form or seek, strategic alliances, create joint ventures or collaborations or enter into additional licensing arrangements with third and related parties
that we believe will complement or augment our development and commercialization efforts with respect to our product candidates and any future product candidates that we may develop. We plan
to collaborate with governmental, academic and corporate partners, including affiliates, to improve and develop N-803, saRNA, hAd5 and yeast technologies, and other therapies for new indications
for use in combination with other therapies and to improve and develop other product candidates, which may expose us to additional risks, or we may not realize the benefits of such collaborations.
Because some of our collaborations are conducted at outside laboratories, and we do not have complete control over how the studies are conducted or reported or over the manufacturing
methods used to manufacture our N-803 product candidate, the results of such studies, which we may use as the basis for our conclusions, projections or decisions with respect to our current or future
product candidates, may be incorrect or unreliable, or may have a negative impact on us if the results of such studies are imputed to our product candidates or proposed indications, even if such
imputation is improper. Additionally, we may use third-party data to analyze, reach conclusions or make predictions or decisions with respect to our product candidates that may be incomplete,
inaccurate or otherwise unreliable.
Further, collaborations involving our product candidates will be subject to numerous risks, which may include the following:
•

collaborators, including their related or affiliated companies, may be entitled to receive exclusive rights for or involving our products;

•

collaborators have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to a collaboration;

•

collaborators may not pursue development and commercialization of our product candidates or may elect not to continue or renew development or commercialization of our product
candidates based on clinical trial results, changes in their strategic focus due to the acquisition of competitive products, availability of funding or other external factors, such as a
business combination that diverts resources or creates competing priorities;

•

collaborators may delay clinical trials, provide insufficient funding for a clinical trial, stop a clinical trial, abandon a product candidate, repeat or conduct new clinical trials or require a
new formulation of a product candidate for clinical testing;

•

collaborators could independently develop, or develop with third parties, products that compete directly or indirectly with our product candidates;

•

a collaborator with marketing and distribution rights to one or more products may not commit sufficient resources to their marketing and distribution;

•

collaborators may not properly maintain, defend or enforce our intellectual property rights or may use our intellectual property or proprietary information in a way that gives rise to
actual or threatened litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate our intellectual property or proprietary information or expose us to potential liability;

•

disputes may arise between us and a collaborator that cause the delay or termination of the research, development or commercialization of our product candidates, or that result in costly
litigation or arbitration that diverts management attention and resources;
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•

collaborations may be terminated and, if terminated, may result in a need for additional capital to pursue further development or commercialization of the applicable product candidates;

•

if an agreement with any collaborator terminates, our access to technology and intellectual property licensed to us by that collaborator may be restricted or terminate entirely, which may
delay our continued development of our product candidates using the collaborator’s technology or intellectual property or require us to stop development of those product candidates
completely; and

•

collaborators may own or co-own intellectual property covering our product candidates or technology that results from our collaborating with them, and in such cases, we may not have
the exclusive right to commercialize such intellectual property.

As a result, if we enter into collaboration agreements and strategic partnerships or license our product candidates, we may not be able to realize the benefit of such transactions if we are
unable to successfully integrate them with our existing operations and company culture, which could delay our timelines or otherwise adversely affect our business. Additionally, exclusive rights that
we may grant in connection with collaboration agreements may limit our ability to enter into new or additional collaboration agreements or strategic partnerships if we experience issues with existing
collaborations. We also cannot be certain that, following a strategic transaction or license, we will achieve the revenues or specific net income that justifies such transaction. Any delays in entering
into new collaborations or strategic partnership agreements related to our product candidates could delay the development and commercialization of our product candidates in certain geographies for
certain indications, which would harm our business prospects, financial condition and results of operations.
Any of these relationships may require us to incur non-recurring and other charges, increase our near and long-term expenditures, issue securities that dilute our existing stockholders or
disrupt our management and business. In addition, we face significant competition in seeking appropriate strategic partners and the negotiation process is time-consuming and complex. Moreover, we
may not be successful in our efforts to establish a strategic partnership or other alternative arrangements for our product candidates because they may be deemed to be at too early of a stage of
development for collaborative effort and third parties may not view our product candidates as having the requisite potential to demonstrate safety and efficacy.
If conflicts arise between us and our collaborators or strategic partners, these parties may act in a manner adverse to us and could limit our ability to implement our strategies.
If conflicts arise between our corporate or academic collaborators or strategic partners and us, the other party may act in a manner adverse to us and could limit our ability to implement our
strategies. Some of our existing academic collaborators and strategic partners are conducting multiple product development efforts. Such current or future collaborators or strategic partners could
become our competitors in the future and could develop competing products, preclude us from entering into collaborations with their competitors, fail to obtain timely regulatory approvals, terminate
their agreements with us prematurely or fail to devote sufficient resources to the development and commercialization of our product candidates. Competing product candidates, either developed by
the collaborators or strategic partners or to which the collaborators or strategic partners have rights, may result in the withdrawal of our collaborator’s or partner’s support for our product candidates.
For example, in 2019, Sorrento Therapeutics, Inc. with which we jointly established a new entity called Immunotherapy NANTibody, LLC as a stand-alone biotechnology company,
commenced litigation against us and certain of our officers and directors, alleging that we improperly caused NANTibody to acquire IgDraSol, Inc. and in 2020, Sorrento sent letters purporting to
terminate an exclusive license agreement with us and an exclusive license agreement with NANTibody. Additionally, in 2020, we received a Request for Arbitration before the International Chamber
of Commerce, International Court of Arbitration, served by Shenzhen Beike Biotechnology Co. Ltd. asserting breach of contract under our subsidiary Altor’s license agreement with them. For more
information regarding these disputes, see Note 7, Commitments and Contingencies—Litigation, of the “Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements” that appears in Part I, Item 1.
“Financial Statements” of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Any of these developments could harm our product development efforts.
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Our use of joint ventures, strategic partnerships and alliances may expose us to risks associated with jointly owned investments.
We may operate parts of our business through joint ventures, strategic partnerships and/or alliances with other companies. While such arrangements may, in some cases, give us access to
technologies that we may not otherwise have or may give us access to capital, they involve risks not otherwise present in our own investments, including: (i) we may not control the venture, and it
may divert management time and resources; (ii) the partner(s) may not agree to distributions that we believe are appropriate; (iii) we may experience impasses or disputes with such partner(s) on
certain decisions, which could require us to expend additional resources to resolve such impasses or disputes, including litigation or arbitration; (iv) our partner(s) may become insolvent or bankrupt,
fail to fund their share of required capital contributions or fail to fulfil their obligations as a venture partner; (v) the arrangements governing these relationships may contain certain conditions or
milestone events that may never be satisfied or achieved; (vi) our partner(s) may have business or economic interests that are inconsistent with our interests and may take actions contrary to our
interests; (vii) we may suffer losses as a result of actions taken by the partner(s); and (viii) it may be difficult for us to exit if an impasse arises or if we desire to sell our interest for any reason. In
addition, we may, in certain circumstances, be liable for the actions of our partners. Any of the foregoing risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
For example, we are in the initial stages of establishing a joint venture relationship with Amyris, and there can be no guarantee that it will be successful.
We will be heavily dependent on our senior management, particularly Dr. Soon-Shiong, our Executive Chairman and Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer, and a loss of a member of our
senior management team in the future, even if only temporary, could harm our business.
Our operations will be dependent upon the services of our executives and our employees who are engaged in research and development. If we lose the services of members of our senior
management, particularly Dr. Soon-Shiong, for a short or an extended time, for any reason, we may not be able to find appropriate replacements on a timely basis, and our business, financial
condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected. Our existing operations and our future development depend to a significant extent upon the performance and active
participation of certain key individuals, particularly Dr. Soon-Shiong, our Executive Chairman and Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer. Although Dr. Soon-Shiong focuses heavily on our
matters and is highly active in our management, he does devote a significant amount of his time to a number of different endeavors and companies, including NantHealth, Inc., NantMedia
Holdings, LLC (which operates the Los Angeles Times and the San Diego Union-Tribune) and NantWorks, which is a collection of multiple companies in the healthcare and technology space. The
risks related to our dependence upon Dr. Soon-Shiong are particularly acute given his ownership percentage, the commercial and other relationships that we have with entities affiliated with him, his
role in our company and his public reputation. We may also be dependent on additional funding from Dr. Soon-Shiong and his affiliates, which may not be available when needed and which he is
under no obligation to provide.
To induce valuable employees to remain at our company, in addition to salary and cash incentives, we have provided, and plan to continue providing, equity incentive awards that vest over
time. The value to employees of equity incentive awards that vest over time may be significantly affected by movements in our stock price that are beyond our control and may at any time be
insufficient to counteract more lucrative offers from other companies. Despite our efforts to retain valuable employees, members of our management, scientific and development teams may terminate
their employment with us on short notice. We do not have employment agreements with our NEOs and do not maintain “key man” insurance policies on the lives of these individuals or the lives of
any of our other employees.
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We will need to grow the size and capabilities of our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing this growth.
Our future financial performance and our ability to commercialize our product candidates will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively manage any future growth, and our management
may also have to divert a disproportionate amount of their attention away from day-to-day activities in order to devote a substantial amount of time to managing these growth activities. In order to
develop our business in accordance with our business plan, we will have to hire additional qualified personnel, including in the areas of research, manufacturing, clinical trials management,
regulatory affairs, and sales and marketing. We are continuing our efforts to recruit and hire the necessary employees to support our planned operations in the near term. However, competition for
qualified personnel in the biotechnology and pharmaceuticals industry is intense due to the limited number of individuals who possess the skills and experience required, and no assurance can be
given that we will be able attract, hire, retain and motivate the highly skilled employees that we need, on acceptable terms or at all. Future growth will impose significant added responsibilities on
members of management, including:
•

identifying, recruiting, integrating, maintaining, and motivating additional employees;

•

managing our internal development efforts effectively, including the clinical and FDA review process for our product candidates, while complying with our contractual obligations to
contractors and other third parties; and

•

improving our operational, financial and management controls, reporting systems, and procedures.

We currently rely, and for the foreseeable future we expect to rely, in substantial part on certain independent organizations, advisors and consultants to provide certain services. There can be
no assurance that the services of these independent organizations, advisors and consultants will continue to be available to us on a timely basis when needed, or that we can find qualified
replacements on economically reasonable terms, or at all. In addition, if we are unable to effectively manage our outsourced activities or if the quality, compliance or accuracy of the services
provided by consultants is compromised for any reason, our clinical trials may be extended, delayed, or terminated, and we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval of our product candidates or
otherwise advance our business.
If we are not able to effectively expand our organization by hiring new employees and expanding our groups of consultants and contractors, we may not be able to successfully implement
the tasks necessary to further develop and commercialize our product candidates and, accordingly, may not achieve our research, development, and commercialization goals on a timely basis, or at
all.
If we engage in future acquisitions or strategic partnerships, this may increase our capital requirements, dilute our stockholders, cause us to incur debt or assume contingent liabilities, and
subject us to other risks.
We may evaluate various acquisitions and strategic partnerships, including licensing or acquiring complementary products, intellectual property rights, technologies, or businesses. Any
potential acquisition or strategic partnership may entail numerous risks, including:
•

assimilation of operations, intellectual property, and products of an acquired company or product, including difficulties associated with integrating new personnel;

•

the diversion of our managements’ attention from our existing product programs and initiatives in pursuing such a strategic merger or acquisition;

•

retention of key employees, the loss of key personnel, and uncertainties in our ability to maintain key business relationships;

•

significant upfront milestone and/or royalty payments from which we may not realize the anticipated benefits;

•

risks and uncertainties associated with the other party to such a transaction, including the prospects of that party and their existing products or product candidates and regulatory
approvals; and

•

our inability to generate revenues from acquired technology and/or products sufficient to meet our objectives in undertaking the acquisition or even to offset the associated acquisition
and maintenance costs.
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Depending on the size and nature of future strategic acquisitions, we may acquire assets or businesses that require us to raise additional capital or to operate or manage businesses in which
we have limited experience. Making larger acquisitions that require us to raise additional capital to fund the acquisition will expose us to the risks associated with capital raising activities. Acquiring
and thereafter operating larger new businesses will also increase our management, operating and reporting costs and burdens (including increased cash requirements). In addition, if we undertake
acquisitions, we may issue dilutive equity securities, assume or incur additional debt obligations or contingent liabilities, incur large one-time expenses and acquire intangible assets that could result
in significant future amortization expense. Moreover, we may not be able to locate suitable acquisition opportunities and this inability could impair our ability to grow or obtain access to technology
or products that may be important to the development of our business.
We may become involved in securities litigation or stockholder derivative litigation in connection with our recent Merger, and this could divert the attention of our management and harm our
business, and insurance coverage may not be sufficient to cover all related costs and damages.
Securities litigation or stockholder derivative litigation frequently follows the announcement of certain significant business transactions, such as the sale of a business division or
announcement of a business combination transaction. We were involved in this type of litigation in connection with our recent Merger, and we may become involved in this type of litigation in the
future. Litigation often is expensive and diverts management’s attention and resources, which could adversely affect our business and the company.
A variety of risks associated with marketing our product candidates internationally could materially adversely affect our business.
We plan to seek regulatory approval of our product candidates outside of the U.S. and, accordingly, we expect that we will be subject to additional risks related to operating in foreign
countries if we obtain the necessary approvals, including:
•

differing regulatory requirements in foreign countries;

•

unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers, price and exchange controls and other regulatory requirements;

•

economic weakness, including inflation, or political instability in particular foreign economies and markets;

•

compliance with tax, employment, immigration and labor laws for employees living or traveling abroad;

•

foreign taxes, including withholding of payroll taxes;

•

foreign currency fluctuations, which could result in increased operating expenses and reduced revenues, and other obligations incident to doing business in another country;

•

difficulties staffing and managing foreign operations;

•

workforce uncertainty in countries where labor unrest is more common than in the U.S.;

•

differing payor reimbursement regimes, governmental payors or patient self-pay systems, and price controls;

•

potential liability under the FCPA or comparable foreign regulations;

•

challenges enforcing our contractual and intellectual property rights, especially in those foreign countries that do not respect and protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as
the U.S.;

•

production shortages resulting from any events affecting raw material supply or manufacturing capabilities abroad;
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•

the impact of public health epidemics on the global economy, such as the coronavirus pandemic currently having an impact throughout the world; and

•

business interruptions resulting from geopolitical actions, including war and terrorism.

These and other risks associated with international operations may materially adversely affect our ability to attain or maintain profitable operations.
We are party to a public-private partnership regarding our manufacturing facility in Dunkirk, New York, and if we or our counterparties fail to meet the obligations of those agreements, it could
materially impact our development, operations and prospects.
On February 14, 2022, we acquired a leasehold interest in the Dunkirk Facility from Athenex. The facility provides us with a state-of-the-art biotech production center that we believe
substantially expands and diversifies our existing manufacturing capacity in the U.S.
We paid approximately $40.0 million to Athenex, and the leasehold interest in the Dunkirk Facility was transferred to us. Our annual lease payment will be $2.00 per year for an initial 10year term, with an option to renew the lease under substantially the same terms and conditions for an additional 10-year term. As part of the transaction, we assumed obligations under various thirdparty agreements, and committed to spend $1.52 billion on operational expenses during the initial term, and an additional $1.50 billion on operational expenses if we elect to renew the lease for the
additional 10-year term. We also committed to hiring 450 employees at the Dunkirk Facility within the first 5 years of operations, with 300 such employees to be hired within the first 2.5 years of
operation. We are eligible for certain sales-tax exemption savings during the development of the Dunkirk Facility, and certain property tax savings over the next 20 years, subject to certain terms and
conditions, including performance of certain of the obligations described above.
Failure to satisfy the obligations over the lease term, including the milestones we have committed to achieve, may give rise to certain rights and remedies of the lessor and other
governmental authorities including, for example, termination of the lease agreement and other related agreements and potential recoupment of a percentage of the grant funding received by the Seller
for construction of the facility and other benefits received, subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable agreements. If we lose access to the Dunkirk Facility and related leased equipment, it
could disrupt our operations and manufacturing activities, cause us to divert resources to finding alternative facilities, which would not have any subsidies, and could have a significant impact on our
operations and financial performance. We may also be subject to lawsuits or claims for damages against us if we are unable to comply with our obligations under these arrangements, which could
materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. Furthermore, there is no guarantee that the counterparties to our public-private partnerships will comply
with the terms of the agreements, including that their ability to fund their capital commitments under the agreements may be subject to their ability to raise additional capital and that further
construction or operational timetables may not be met. Public-private partnerships are also subject to risks associated with government and government agency counterparties, including risks related
to government relations compliance, sovereign immunity, shifts in the political environment, changing economic and legal conditions and social dynamics.

89

Table of Contents

Risks Related to Healthcare and Other Government Regulations
We may be unable to obtain U.S. or foreign regulatory approval and, as a result, unable to commercialize our product candidates. We are, and if we receive regulatory approval of our product
candidates, will continue to be subject to ongoing extensive regulation, regulatory obligations and continued regulatory review, which may result in significant additional expense.
Our product candidates are subject to extensive governmental regulations relating to, among other things, the research, development, testing, manufacture, quality control, import, export,
safety, effectiveness, labeling, packaging, storage, distribution, record keeping, approval, advertising, promotion, marketing, post-approval monitoring and post-approval reporting of drugs and
therapeutic biologics. Rigorous preclinical testing and clinical trials and an extensive regulatory approval process are required to be successfully completed in the U.S. and in many foreign
jurisdictions before a new drug or therapeutic biologic can be marketed. Satisfaction of these and other regulatory requirements is costly, lengthy, time-consuming, uncertain and subject to
unanticipated delays and can vary substantially based upon the type, complexity and novelty of the products involved. In May 2022, we announced the submission of a BLA to the FDA for our
product candidate, N-803 in combination with BCG for the treatment of patients with BCG-unresponsive NMIBC with CIS with or without Ta or T1 disease. In July 2022, we announced the FDA
has accepted our BLA for review and set a PDUFA target action date of May 23, 2023. It is unclear when the FDA will approve our BLA, if at all. If the FDA requires additional data, finds that the
CMC information in the BLA is deficient, disagrees with our interpretation or analysis of clinical data, identifies any deficiency in our clinical data, or finds deficiencies in our pre-approval
inspection, we may fail to obtain approval of the BLA for our product candidate, N-803 in combination with BCG for the treatment of patients with BCG-unresponsive NMIBC with CIS with or
without Ta or T1 disease, or approval may be delayed. We have not submitted any other marketing or drug approval applications to the FDA or comparable foreign authorities, for any other product
candidate, and we may never receive such regulatory approval for any of our product candidates or regulatory approval that will allow us to successfully commercialize our product candidates. In
addition, regulatory agencies may lack experience with our technologies and products, which may lengthen the regulatory review process, increase our development costs and delay or prevent their
commercialization.
Regulatory authorities have substantial discretion in the approval process and may refuse to accept any application or may decide that our data are insufficient for approval and require
additional preclinical studies, clinical trials or other research. The number and types of preclinical studies and clinical trials that will be required for regulatory approval also vary depending on the
product candidate, the disease or condition that the product candidate is designed to address and the regulations applicable to any particular product candidate. Approval policies, regulations or the
type and amount of clinical data necessary to gain approval may change during the course of a product candidate’s clinical development and may vary among jurisdictions and additional government
regulations may be enacted that could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of our product candidates.
Any delay in completing development or obtaining, or failing to obtain, required approvals would have a material and adverse effect on our ability to generate revenue from the particular
product candidate for which we are developing and seeking approval. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we
are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that we may have obtained, be subject to other regulatory enforcement action, and we may not achieve or sustain
profitability.
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Obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval of our product candidates in one jurisdiction does not mean that we will be successful in obtaining regulatory approval of our product
candidates in other jurisdictions.
Obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval of our product candidates in one jurisdiction does not guarantee that we will be able to obtain or maintain regulatory approval in any other
jurisdiction, however a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one jurisdiction may have a negative effect on the regulatory approval process in others. Approval policies, procedures and
requirements may vary among jurisdictions and can involve requirements and administrative review periods different from, and greater than, those in the U.S., including additional preclinical studies
or clinical trials as clinical trials conducted in one jurisdiction may not be accepted by regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions. For example, even if the FDA grants marketing approval of a
product candidate, comparable regulatory authorities in foreign jurisdictions must also approve the manufacturing, marketing and promotion of the product candidate in those countries. In many
jurisdictions outside the U.S., a product candidate must be approved for reimbursement before it can be approved for sale in that jurisdiction. In some cases, the price that we intend to charge for our
product candidates is also subject to approval.
Obtaining foreign regulatory approvals and establishing and maintaining compliance with foreign regulatory requirements could result in significant delays, difficulties and costs for us and
could delay or prevent the introduction of our product candidates in certain countries. If we fail to comply with the regulatory requirements in international markets and/or fail to receive applicable
marketing approvals, our target market will be reduced and our ability to realize the full market potential of our product candidates will be harmed.
Even if we receive regulatory approval for our product candidate, N-803 in combination with BCG for the treatment of patients with NMIBC with CIS with or without Ta or T1 disease, or any
other product candidates, they will be subject to ongoing regulatory requirements, which may result in significant additional expenses. Additionally, our product candidates, if approved, could
be subject to labeling and other restrictions, and we may be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or experience unanticipated problems with our product
candidates.
Any regulatory approvals that we receive for our product candidates may also be subject to limitations on the approved indicated uses for which the product may be marketed, or to
conditions of approval, or contain requirements for potentially costly post-marketing testing, including Phase 4 clinical trials, and surveillance to monitor safety and efficacy. In addition, the
manufacturing processes, labeling, packaging, distribution, adverse event reporting, storage, advertising, promotion and recordkeeping for any approved product will be subject to extensive and
ongoing regulatory requirements. These requirements include submissions of safety and other post-marketing information and reports, including reporting of certain adverse events as well as
continued compliance with cGMP for the drug products, and GCP for any clinical trials that we conduct post-approval.
Later discovery of previously unknown problems with an approved product, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with manufacturing operations or processes,
or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result in, among other things:
•

holds on clinical trials;

•

restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the product, withdrawal of the product from the market, or voluntary or mandatory product recalls;

•

imposition of a REMS, which may include distribution or use restrictions;

•

requirements to conduct additional post-market clinical trials to assess the safety of the product;

•

revisions to the labeling, including limitation on approved uses or the addition of additional warnings, contraindications or other safety information, including boxed warnings;

•

manufacturing delays and supply disruptions where regulatory inspections identify observations of noncompliance requiring remediation;
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•

fines, warning or untitled letters;

•

refusal by the FDA to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications submitted by us, or withdrawal of product approvals;

•

product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of product candidates; and

•

injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

The FDA’s policies may change, and additional government regulations may be enacted that could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of our product candidates. We cannot predict
the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action, either in the U.S. or abroad. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in
existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that may have been obtained and we
may not achieve or sustain profitability, which would adversely affect our business.
If we are unable to establish sales, marketing and distribution capabilities, we may not be successful commercializing our product candidates if and when they are approved.
We are in the process of implementing our sales and marketing personnel hiring plan and building out key commercialization infrastructure. To achieve commercial success for any product
for which we have obtained marketing approval, we will need to establish a sales and marketing team.
We expect to build a focused sales and marketing infrastructure to market our product candidate, N-803 in combination with BCG for the treatment of patients with BCG-unresponsive
NMIBC with CIS with or without Ta or T1 disease, and potentially other product candidates in the U.S., if and when they are approved. There are risks involved with establishing our own sales,
marketing and distribution capabilities and entering into arrangements with third parties to perform these services. For example, recruiting and training a sales force is expensive and time consuming
and could delay any product launch. If the commercial launch of a product candidate for which we recruit a sales force and establish marketing capabilities is delayed or does not occur for any
reason, including failure to receive marketing approval from the FDA, we would have prematurely or unnecessarily incurred these commercialization expenses. We may also inaccurately estimate the
number of representatives needed to build our sales force, which may result in unnecessary expense or the inability to scale as quickly as needed. This may be costly, and our investment would be
lost if we cannot retain or reposition our sales and marketing personnel.
Factors that may inhibit our efforts to commercialize our product candidates, if approved, on our own include:
•

our inability to recruit, train and retain adequate numbers of effective sales, marketing, reimbursement, customer service, medical affairs, and other support personnel;

•

the inability of sales personnel to obtain access to physicians or increase market acceptable of our approved product;

•

the inability of reimbursement professionals to negotiate arrangements for coverage or adequate reimbursement by payors for our approved products;

•

the inability to price our product candidates at a sufficient price point to ensure an adequate and attractive level of profitability;

•

restricted or closed distribution channels that make it difficult to distribute our product candidates to segments of the patient population; and

•

unforeseen costs and expenses associated with creating an independent commercialization organization.

If we do not establish sales, marketing and distribution capabilities successfully, either on our own or in collaboration with third parties, we will not be successful in commercializing our product
candidates.
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Problems related to large-scale commercial manufacturing could cause delays in product launches, an increase in costs or shortages of product candidates.
Manufacturing finished drug products, especially in large quantities, is complex. If our product candidates receive regulatory approval, they will require several manufacturing steps and may
involve complex techniques to assure quality and sufficient quantity, especially as the manufacturing scale increases. Our product candidates will need to be made consistently and in compliance with
a clearly defined manufacturing process pursuant to FDA regulations. Accordingly, it will be essential to be able to validate and control the manufacturing process to assure that it is reproducible.
Slight deviations anywhere in the manufacturing process, including obtaining materials, filling, labeling, packaging, storage, shipping, quality control and testing, may result in lot failures, delay in
the release of lots, product recalls or spoilage. Success rates can vary dramatically at different stages of the manufacturing process, which can lower yields and increase costs. We may experience
deviations in the manufacturing process that may take significant time and resources to resolve and, if unresolved, may affect manufacturing output and cause us to fail to satisfy contractual
commitments, lead to delays in our clinical trials or result in litigation or regulatory action. Such actions would hinder our ability to meet contractual obligations and could cause material adverse
consequences for our business.
If we fail to comply with U.S. and foreign regulatory requirements, regulatory authorities could limit or withdraw any marketing or commercialization approvals we may receive and subject us
to other penalties that could materially harm our business. For example, our GMP-in-a-Box will be regulated by the FDA as a medical device, and regulatory compliance for medical devices is
expensive, complex and uncertain, and a failure to comply could lead to enforcement actions against us and other negative consequences for our business.
The FDA and similar agencies regulate medical devices. All of our potential medical device products and material modifications will be subject to extensive regulation and clearance or
approval from the FDA and non-U.S. regulatory agencies prior to commercial sale and distribution as well as after clearance or approval. Complying with these regulations is costly, time-consuming,
complex and uncertain. For instance, before a new medical device, or a new intended use for an existing device, can be marketed in the U.S., a company must first submit and receive either 510(k)
clearance or pre-marketing approval from the FDA, unless an exemption applies.
Any regulatory approvals that we receive for our product candidates will require surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the product candidate. The FDA and similar agencies have
significant pre- and post-market authority, including requirements related to product design, development, testing, laboratory and clinical trials and preclinical studies approval, manufacturing
processes and quality (including suppliers), labeling, packaging, distribution, adverse event and deviation reporting, storage, shipping, pre-market clearance or approval, advertising, marketing,
promotion, sale, import, export, product change, recalls, submissions of safety and effectiveness, post-market surveillance and reporting of deaths or serious injuries and certain malfunctions, and
other post-marketing information and reports such as deviation reports, registration, product listing, annual user fees, and recordkeeping for our product candidates. The FDA may also require a
REMS to approve our product candidates, which may impose further requirements or restrictions on the distribution or use of an approved drug or therapeutic biologic. The FDA may also require
post-approval Phase 4 trials. Moreover, the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities will continue to closely monitor the safety profile of any product even after approval.
Medical devices regulated by the FDA are subject to general controls which include: registration with the FDA; listing commercially distributed products with the FDA; complying with
cGMP under Quality Systems Regulations; filing reports with the FDA of and keeping records relative to certain types of adverse events associated with devices under the medical device reporting
regulation; assuring that device labeling complies with device labeling requirements; reporting certain device field removals and corrections to the FDA; and obtaining pre-market notification
510(k) clearance for devices prior to marketing. Some devices known as 510(k)-exempt devices can be marketed without prior marketing-clearance or approval from the FDA. In addition to the
general controls, some Class 2 medical devices are also subject to special controls, including adherence to a particular guidance document and compliance with the performance standard. Instead of
obtaining 510(k) clearance, most Class 3 devices are subject to premarket approval (PMA).
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The FDA can also refuse to clear or approve pre-market applications for any medical device we develop. We may not be able to obtain the necessary clearances or approvals or may be
unduly delayed in doing so, for any medical device products we develop, which could harm our business. Furthermore, even if we are granted regulatory clearances or approvals for any medical
device products, they may include significant limitations on the indicated uses for the product, which may limit the market for the product.
In addition, we, our contractors, and our collaborators are and will remain responsible for FDA compliance. We and any of our collaborators, including our contract manufacturers, could be
subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA to monitor and ensure compliance with regulatory requirements. Application holders must further notify the FDA, and depending on the
nature of the change, obtain FDA pre-approval for product and manufacturing changes. The cost of compliance with post-approval regulations may have a negative effect on our operating results and
financial condition.
If the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities become aware of new safety information or previously unknown problems after approval of any of our product candidates,
including: (i) adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, (ii) that the product is less effective than previously thought, (iii) problems with our third-party manufacturers or manufacturing
processes, or (iv) failure to comply with regulatory requirements, or if we violate regulatory requirements at any stage, whether before or after marketing approval is obtained, we may face a number
of regulatory consequences, including fines, warnings or untitled letters, holds on clinical trials, delay of approval or refusal by the FDA to approve pending applications or supplements to approved
applications, suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approval, product recalls and seizures, administrative detention of products, refusal to permit the import or export of products, operating
restrictions or partial suspension or total shutdown of production, injunctions, consent decrees, civil penalties and criminal prosecution, among other consequences. Additionally, we may face
unanticipated expenditures to address or defend such actions and customer notifications for repair, replacement or refunds. Any such restrictions could limit sales of the product. Any of these events
could further have other material and adverse effects on our operations and business and could adversely impact our stock price and could significantly harm our business, financial condition, results
of operations, and prospects.
The FDA also regulates the advertising and promotion of medical devices to ensure that the claims are consistent with their regulatory clearances or approvals, that there are adequate and
reasonable data to substantiate the claims and that the promotional labeling and advertising is neither false nor misleading in any respect. If the FDA determines that any of our advertising or
promotional claims are misleading, not substantiated or not permissible, we may be subject to enforcement actions, including warning letters, and we may be required to revise our promotional
claims and make other corrections or restitutions. Failure to comply with applicable U.S. requirements regarding, for example, promoting, manufacturing, or labeling our medical device products,
may subject us to a variety of administrative or judicial actions and sanctions, such as Form 483 observations, warning letters, untitled letters, product recalls, product seizures, total or partial
suspension of production or distribution, injunctions, fines, civil penalties and criminal prosecution. If any of our medical device products cause or contribute to a death or a serious injury or
malfunction in certain ways, we will be required to report under applicable medical device reporting regulations, which can result in voluntary corrective actions or agency enforcement actions.
If any of these events were to occur, it would have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Results for any patient who receives compassionate use access to our product candidates should not be viewed as representative of how the product candidate will perform in a well-controlled
clinical trial, and cannot be used to establish safety or efficacy for regulatory approval.
We often receive requests for compassionate use access to our investigational drugs by patients that do not meet the entry criteria for enrollment into our clinical trials. Generally, patients
requesting compassionate use have no other treatment alternatives for life threatening conditions. We evaluate each compassionate use request on an individual basis, and in some cases grant access
to our investigational product candidates outside of our sponsored clinical trials if a physician certifies that the patient receiving treatment is critically ill and does not meet the entry criteria for one of
our open clinical trials. Individual patient results from compassionate use access may not be used to support submission of a regulatory application, may not support approval of a product candidate
and should not be considered to be indicative of results from any on-going or future well-controlled clinical trial. Before we can seek regulatory approval for any of our product candidates, we must
demonstrate in well-controlled clinical trials statistically significant evidence that the product candidate is both safe and effective for the indication we are seeking approval. The results of our
compassionate use program may not be used to establish safety or efficacy or regulatory approval.
We are and will be subject to U.S. and certain foreign export and import controls, sanctions, embargoes, anti-corruption laws and anti-money laundering laws and regulations. Compliance with
these legal standards could impair our ability to compete in domestic and international markets. We can face criminal and/or civil liability and other serious consequences for violations, which
can harm our business.
Our product candidates will be subject to export control and import laws and regulations, including the U.S. Export Administration Regulations, U.S. Customs regulations and various
economic and trade sanctions regulations administered by the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Controls, the FCPA, the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in
18 U.S.C. §201, the U.S. Travel Act, the USA PATRIOT Act and possibly other state and national anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws in countries in which we conduct activities. Anticorruption laws are interpreted broadly and prohibit companies and their employees, agents, third-party intermediaries, joint venture partners and collaborators from authorizing, promising, offering
or providing, directly or indirectly, improper payments or benefits to recipients in the public or private sector. We use CROs abroad for clinical trials. In addition, we may engage third-party
intermediaries to sell our product candidates and solutions abroad once we enter a commercialization phase for our product candidates and/or to obtain necessary permits, licenses, and other
regulatory approvals. We or our third-party intermediaries may have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or state-owned or affiliated entities. We can be
held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of these third-party intermediaries, our employees, representatives, contractors, partners and agents, even if we do not explicitly authorize or have
actual knowledge of such activities. if we fail to comply with these laws and regulations, we and certain of our employees could be subject to substantial civil or criminal fines and penalties,
imprisonment, the loss of export or import privileges, debarment, tax reassessments, breach of contract and fraud litigation, reputational harm and other consequences.
We have adopted an anti-corruption policy, which mandates compliance with the FCPA and other anti-corruption laws applicable to our business throughout the world. However, there can
be no assurance that our employees and third-party intermediaries will comply with this policy or such anti-corruption laws. Non-compliance with anti-corruption and anti-money laundering laws
could subject us to whistleblower complaints, investigations, sanctions, settlements, prosecution, other investigations, or other enforcement actions. If such actions are launched, or governmental or
other sanctions are imposed, or if we do not prevail in any possible civil or criminal litigation, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially harmed. In addition,
responding to any action will likely result in a materially significant diversion of management’s attention and resources and significant defense and compliance costs and other professional fees. In
certain cases, enforcement authorities may even cause us to appoint an independent compliance monitor, which can result in added costs and administrative burdens.
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Our failure to comply with state, national and/or international data protection laws and regulations could lead to government enforcement actions and significant penalties against us, and
adversely impact our operating results.
There are numerous laws and legislative and regulatory initiatives at the federal and state levels addressing privacy and security concerns, and some state privacy laws apply more broadly
than the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) and associated regulations. For example, California recently enacted legislation—the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018
(CCPA)—which went into effect on January 1, 2020. The CCPA, among other things, creates new data privacy and security obligations for covered companies and provides new privacy rights to
California consumers, including the right to opt out of certain disclosures of their information. The CCPA also provides for civil penalties as well as a private right of action with statutory damages
for certain data breaches, thereby potentially increasing risks associated with a data breach. Although the law includes limited exceptions, including for certain information collected as part of clinical
trials as specified in the law, it may regulate or impact our processing of personal information depending on the context. Additionally, a new privacy law, the California Privacy Rights Act (CPRA),
was approved by California voters in November 2020 and goes into effect in most material respects on January 1, 2023. The CPRA significantly modified the CCPA, which may require us to modify
our practices and policies and may further increase our compliance costs and potential liability. Certain other state laws impose similar privacy obligations, and all 50 states have laws including
obligations to provide notification of security breaches of computer databases that contain personal information to affected individuals, state officers and others. For example, the CCPA has prompted
the enactment of several new state laws or amendments of existing state laws, such as in New York, Nevada, Virginia, and Colorado. These laws could mark the beginning of a trend toward more
stringent privacy legislation in other U.S. states and have prompted a number of proposals for new federal and state-level privacy legislation. To the extent these state laws as well as other federal and
state privacy laws, including new laws and changes in existing laws, apply to our business and operations, our compliance costs and potential liability with respect to personal information we collect
could expose us to great liability and increase compliance costs.
There are also various laws and regulations in other jurisdictions relating to privacy and security. For example, European Union (EU) member states and other foreign jurisdictions, including
Switzerland, have adopted data protection laws and regulations which impose significant compliance obligations on us. The collection and use of health data in the EU is governed by the EU General
Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). The GDPR, which is wide-ranging in scope and applies extraterritorially, imposes several requirements relating to the consent of the individuals to whom the
personal data relates, the information provided to such individuals, the security and confidentiality of the personal data, data breach notification, the adoption of appropriate privacy governance,
including policies, procedures, training and audits, and the use of third-party processors in connection with the processing of personal data. The GDPR also imposes strict rules on the transfer of
personal data out of the EU, including to the U.S., provides an enforcement authority and imposes large penalties for noncompliance, including the potential for fines of up to €20 million or up to
4% of the total worldwide annual global revenues of the noncompliant entity, whichever is greater. The GDPR requirements apply not only to third-party transactions, but also to transfers of
information between us and our subsidiaries, including employee information. In addition, in January 2021, following its exit from the EU, the UK transposed the GDPR into its domestic law with its
own version of the GDPR (combining the GDPR and the UK Data Protection Act of 2018) (UK GDPR), which currently imposes the same obligations as the GDPR in most material respects and
provides for fines of up £17.5 million or up to 4% of the total worldwide annual global revenues of the noncompliant entity, whichever is greater.
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Complying with these numerous, complex and often changing regulations is expensive and difficult, and failure to comply with any privacy laws or data security laws or any security
incident or breach involving the misappropriation, loss or other unauthorized processing, use or disclosure of sensitive or confidential patient, consumer or other personal information, whether by us,
one of our CROs or business associates or another third party, could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations, including but not limited to: investigation costs;
material fines and penalties; compensatory, special, punitive and statutory damages; litigation; consent orders regarding our privacy and security practices; requirements that we provide notices,
credit monitoring services and/or credit restoration services or other relevant services to impacted individuals; adverse actions against our licenses to do business; reputational damage; and injunctive
relief. The recent implementation of the CCPA, GDPR and UK GDPR has increased our responsibility and liability in relation to personal data that we process, including in clinical trials, and we may
in the future be required to put in place additional mechanisms to ensure compliance with the CCPA, GDPR, UK GDPR and other applicable laws and regulations, which could divert management’s
attention and increase our cost of doing business. In addition, new regulation or legislative actions regarding data privacy and security (together with applicable industry standards) may increase our
costs of doing business. In this regard, we expect that there will continue to be new proposed laws, regulations and industry standards relating to privacy and data protection in the U.S., the United
Kingdom, the EU and other jurisdictions, and we cannot determine the impact such future laws, regulations and standards may have on our business.
We cannot assure you that our CROs or other third-party service providers with access to our or our customers’, suppliers’, trial patients’ and employees’ personally identifiable and other
sensitive or confidential information in relation to which we are responsible will not breach contractual obligations imposed by us, or that they will not experience data security breaches, which could
have a corresponding effect on our business, including putting us in breach of our obligations under privacy laws and regulations and/or which could in turn adversely affect our business, results of
operations and financial condition. We cannot assure you that our contractual measures and our own privacy and security-related safeguards will protect us from the risks associated with the thirdparty processing, use, storage and transmission of such information. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
We and our third-party contractors must comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations. A failure to comply with these laws and regulations could expose us to significant
costs or liabilities.
We and any of our third-party contract manufacturers or suppliers are subject to numerous environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory
procedures and the handling, use, generation, manufacture, storage, treatment and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes. Hazardous chemicals, including flammable and biological materials, are
involved in certain aspects of our business, and we cannot eliminate the risk of injury or contamination from the use, generation, manufacture, distribution, storage, handling, treatment or disposal of
hazardous materials and wastes. In the event of contamination or injury, or failure to comply with such environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we could be held liable for any resulting
damages, fines and penalties associated with such liability, which could exceed our assets and resources.
Although we will maintain workers’ compensation insurance to cover us for costs and expenses we may incur due to injuries to our employees resulting from the use of biological or
hazardous materials, or wastes arising out of and in the course of employment, this insurance may not provide adequate coverage against potential liabilities. We do not maintain comprehensive
insurance coverage for liabilities arising from medical or hazardous materials, environmental liability or toxic tort claims that may be asserted against us in connection with our storage or disposal of
biological or hazardous materials.
Environmental, health and safety laws and regulations are becoming increasingly more stringent. We may incur substantial costs in order to comply with current or future environmental,
health, and safety laws and regulations. These current or future laws and regulations may impair our research, development, or production efforts, which could harm our business, prospects, financial
condition or results of operations. Our failure to comply with these laws and regulations also may result in substantial fines, penalties or other sanctions.
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Coverage and reimbursement may be limited or unavailable in certain market segments for our product candidates, which could make it difficult for us to sell our product candidates profitably.
In both domestic and foreign markets, sales of our product candidates, if approved, depend on the availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors. Third-party
payors, whether domestic or foreign, or governmental or commercial, are developing increasingly sophisticated methods of controlling healthcare costs. Regulatory authorities and third-party payors
have attempted to control costs by limiting coverage and the amount of reimbursement for particular medications, which could affect our ability or that of our collaborators to sell our product
candidates profitably. In addition, third-party payors are requiring higher levels of evidence of the benefits and clinical outcomes of new technologies and are challenging the prices charged. Patients
who are provided medical treatment for their conditions generally rely on third-party payors to reimburse all or part of the costs associated with their treatment. Patients are unlikely to use our
product candidates unless coverage is provided, and reimbursement is adequate to cover a significant portion of the cost of our product candidates. Such third-party payors include government health
programs such as Medicare and Medicaid, managed care providers, private health insurers and other organizations. Obtaining coverage and adequate reimbursement from governmental healthcare
programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and commercial payors is critical to new product acceptance. In addition, because our product candidates represent new approaches to the treatment of
cancer, we cannot accurately estimate the potential revenues from our product candidates.
Government authorities and third-party payors decide which drugs and treatments they will cover and the amount of reimbursement. Coverage decisions may depend upon clinical and
economic standards that disfavor new drug products when more established or lower cost therapeutic alternatives are already available or subsequently become available. These payors may not view
our products, if any, as cost-effective, and coverage and reimbursement may not be available to our customers, or those of our collaborators, or may not be sufficient to allow our products, if any, to
be marketed on a competitive basis. If reimbursement is not available, or is available only to limited levels, our product candidates may be competitively disadvantaged, and we, or our collaborators,
may not be able to successfully commercialize our product candidates. Alternatively, securing favorable reimbursement terms may require us to compromise pricing and prevent us from realizing an
adequate margin over cost. Reimbursement by a third-party payor may depend upon a number of factors, including, but not limited to, the third-party payor’s determination that use of a product is:
•

a covered benefit under its health plan;

•

safe, effective and medically necessary;

•

appropriate for the specific patient;

•

cost-effective; and

•

neither experimental nor investigational.

In the U.S., no uniform policy of coverage and reimbursement for products exists among third-party payors. Therefore, coverage and reimbursement for products can differ significantly
from payor to payor. As a result, the coverage determination process is often a time-consuming and costly process that will require us to provide scientific and clinical support for the use of our
product candidates to each payor separately, with no assurance that coverage and adequate reimbursement will be obtained. Moreover, the factors noted above have continued to be the focus of policy
and regulatory debate that has, thus far, shown the potential for movement towards permanent policy changes; this trend is likely to continue, and may result in more or less favorable impacts on
pricing. The recent and ongoing series of congressional hearings relating to drug pricing has presented heightened attention to the biopharmaceutical industry, creating the potential for political and
public pressure, while the potential for resulting legislative or policy changes presents uncertainty. Congress is considering legislation that, if passed, could have significant impact on prices of
prescription drugs covered by Medicare, including limitations on drug price increases. The impact of these regulations and any future healthcare measures and agency rules implemented by the Biden
administration on us and the pharmaceutical industry as a whole is currently unknown. The implementation of cost containment measures or other healthcare reforms may prevent us from being able
to generate revenue, attain profitability, or commercialize our product candidates if approved. Complying with any new legislation and regulatory changes could be time-intensive and expensive,
resulting in a material adverse effect on our business.
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Prices paid for a drug also vary depending on the class of trade. Prices charged to government customers are subject to price controls, including ceilings, and private institutions obtain
discounts through group purchasing organizations. Net prices for drugs may be further reduced by mandatory discounts or rebates required by government healthcare programs and demanded by
private payors. It is also not uncommon for market conditions to warrant multiple discounts to different customers on the same unit, such as purchase discounts to institutional care providers and
rebates to the health plans that pay them, which reduces the net realization on the original sale.
In addition, federal programs impose penalties on manufacturers of drugs marketed under a BLA or NDA, in the form of mandatory additional rebates and/or discounts if commercial prices
increase at a rate greater than the Consumer Price Index-Urban, and these rebates and/or discounts, which can be substantial, may impact our ability to raise commercial prices. For example, under
the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, effective January 1, 2024, the statutory cap on Medicaid Drug Rebate Program rebates that manufacturers pay to state Medicaid programs will be eliminated.
Elimination of this cap may require pharmaceutical manufacturers to pay more in rebates than it receives on the sale of products, which could have a material impact on our business. Cost control
initiatives could cause us, or our collaborators, to decrease, discount, or rebate a portion of the price we, or they, might establish for products, which could result in lower than anticipated product
revenues. If the realized prices for our product candidates, if any, decrease or if governmental and other third-party payors do not provide adequate coverage or reimbursement, our prospects for
revenues and profitability will suffer.
Even if we obtain coverage for a given product, the resulting approved reimbursement payment rates might not be high enough to allow us to establish or maintain a market share sufficient
to realize a sufficient return on our or their investments or achieve or sustain profitability or may require co-payments that patients find unacceptably high. If payors subject our product candidates to
maximum payment amounts or impose limitations that make it difficult to obtain reimbursement, providers may choose to use therapies which are less expensive when compared to our product
candidates. Additionally, if payors require high co-payments, beneficiaries may decline prescriptions and seek alternative therapies. We may need to conduct post-marketing studies in order to
demonstrate the cost-effectiveness of any future products to the satisfaction of hospitals and other target customers and their third-party payors. Such studies might require us to commit a significant
amount of management time and financial and other resources. Our future products might not ultimately be considered cost-effective. Adequate third-party coverage and reimbursement might not be
available to enable us to maintain price levels sufficient to realize an appropriate return on investment in product development.
We, and our collaborators, cannot be sure that coverage will be available for any product candidate that we, or they, commercialize and, if available, that the reimbursement rates will be
adequate. Further, the net reimbursement for drug products may be subject to additional reductions if there are changes to laws that presently restrict imports of drugs from countries where they may
be sold at lower prices than in the U.S. An inability to promptly obtain coverage and adequate payment rates from both government-funded and private payors for any of our product candidates for
which we obtain marketing approval could have a material adverse effect on our operating results, our ability to raise capital needed to commercialize products, and our overall financial condition.
There have been, and likely will continue to be, legislative and regulatory proposals at the federal and state levels directed at broadening the availability of healthcare and containing or
lowering the cost of healthcare. We cannot predict the initiatives that may be adopted in the future. The continuing efforts of the government, insurance companies, managed care organizations and
other payors of healthcare services to contain or reduce costs of healthcare and/or impose price controls may adversely affect:
•

the demand for our product candidates, if we obtain regulatory approval;

•

our ability to set a price that we believe is fair for our product candidates;

•

our ability to generate revenues and achieve or maintain profitability;

•

the level of taxes that we are required to pay; and

•

the availability of capital.
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Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government programs may result in a similar reduction in payments from private payors, which may adversely affect our future
profitability. A particular challenge for our product candidates arises from the fact that they will primarily be used in an inpatient setting. Inpatient reimbursement generally relies on stringent
packaging rules that may mean that there is no separate payment for our product candidates. Additionally, data used to set the payment rates for inpatient admissions is usually several years old and
would not take into account all of the additional therapy costs associated with the administration of our product candidates. If special rules are not created for reimbursement for immunotherapy
treatments such as our product candidates, hospitals might not receive enough reimbursement to cover their costs of treatment, which will have a negative effect on their adoption of our product
candidates.
We may face difficulties from changes to current regulations and future legislation.
In the U.S. and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory changes and proposed changes regarding the healthcare system that could prevent or delay
marketing approval of our product candidates, restrict or regulate post-approval activities, and affect our ability, or the ability of our collaborators, to profitably sell any products for which we obtain
marketing approval. We expect that current laws, as well as other federal and state healthcare reform measures that may be adopted in the future, may result in more rigorous coverage criteria,
increased regulatory burdens and operating costs, decreased revenues from our biopharmaceutical product candidates, decreased potential returns from our development efforts, and additional
downward pressure on the price that we, or our collaborators, may receive for any approved products.
Since enactment of the Affordable Care Act (ACA) in 2010, in both the U.S. and certain foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory changes to the health
care system that could impact our ability to sell our product candidates profitably. These changes included aggregate reductions of Medicare payments to providers of up to 2% per fiscal year,
effective April 1, 2013, which, due to subsequent legislative amendments, will stay in effect through 2030, with the exception of a temporary suspension implemented under various COVID‑19 relief
legislation from May 1, 2020 through March 31, 2022, unless additional Congressional action is taken. Under current legislation, the actual reduction in Medicare payments will vary from 1% in
2022 to up to 4% in the final fiscal year of this sequester. In January 2013, the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 (ATRA) was approved which, among other things, reduced Medicare payments
to several providers, and increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five years. These laws may result in additional reductions in
Medicare and other healthcare funding, which could have a material adverse effect on customers for our product candidates, if approved, and accordingly, our financial operations.
Since its enactment, various portions of the ACA have been subject to judicial and constitutional challenges. In June 2021, the U.S. Supreme Court held that Texas and other challengers had
no legal standing to challenge the ACA, dismissing the case without specifically ruling on the constitutionality of the ACA. Accordingly, the ACA remains in effect in its current form. It is unclear
how this Supreme Court decision, future litigation, or healthcare measures promulgated by the Biden administration will impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. Complying
with any new legislation or reversing changes implemented under the ACA could be time-intensive and expensive, resulting in a material adverse effect on our business.
Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government healthcare programs may result in a similar reduction in payments from private payors. The implementation of cost
containment measures or other healthcare reforms may prevent us from being able to generate revenues, attain profitability or commercialize our product candidates.
Legislative and regulatory proposals may also be made to expand post-approval requirements and restrict sales and promotional activities for drugs. We cannot be sure whether additional
legislative changes will be enacted, or whether the FDA regulations, guidance, or interpretations will be changed, or what the impact of such changes on the marketing approvals of our product
candidates, if any, may be. In addition, increased scrutiny by Congress of the FDA’s approval process may significantly delay or prevent marketing approval, as well as subject us to more stringent
product labeling and post-marketing testing and other requirements.
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In addition, there have been increasing legislative efforts and enforcement interest in the U.S. with respect to drug pricing practices, including Congressional inquiries and proposed federal
and state legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to drug pricing, reduce the cost of prescription drugs under Medicare, review the relationship between pricing and
manufacturer patient programs, and reform government program reimbursement methodologies for drugs. At the federal level, in 2020, the Trump administration used several means to propose or
implement drug pricing reform, including through federal budget proposals, executive orders and policy initiatives, some of which resulted in lawsuits against the U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services challenging various aspects of the rules. The impact of these lawsuits as well as legislative, executive, and administrative actions of the Biden administration on us and the
pharmaceutical industry as a whole remains unclear. At the state level, legislatures have increasingly passed legislation and implemented regulations designed to control pharmaceutical and
biological product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and, in
some cases, designed to encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing.
We are unable to predict the future course of federal or state healthcare legislation in the U.S. directed at broadening the availability of healthcare and containing or lowering the cost of
healthcare. The ACA and any further changes in the law or regulatory framework that reduce our revenues or increase our costs could also have a material and adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. We expect that additional state and federal healthcare reform measures will be adopted in the future, any of which could limit the amounts that federal
and state governments will pay for healthcare products and services, which could result in reduced demand for our current product candidates and any future product candidates or additional pricing
pressures. It is possible that additional governmental action is taken to address the COVID-19 pandemic.
Governments outside the U.S. tend to impose strict price controls, which may adversely affect our revenues, if any.
In international markets, reimbursement and health care payment systems vary significantly by country, and many countries have instituted price ceilings on specific products and therapies.
In some countries, particularly the countries of the EU, the pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental control. In these countries, pricing negotiations with governmental
authorities can take considerable time after the receipt of marketing approval for a product. To obtain coverage and reimbursement or pricing approval in some countries, we may be required to
conduct a clinical trial that compares the cost-effectiveness of our product candidate to other available therapies. There can be no assurance that our product candidates will be considered costeffective by third-party payors, that an adequate level of reimbursement will be available, or that the third-party payors’ reimbursement policies will not adversely affect our ability to sell our product
candidates profitably. If reimbursement of our product candidates is unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, our business could be harmed, possibly
materially.
Our employees, independent contractors, consultants, commercial partners, principal investigators, CROs, suppliers and vendors may engage in misconduct or other improper activities,
including noncompliance with regulatory standards and requirements.
We are exposed to the risk of employee fraud or other illegal activity by our employees, independent contractors, consultants, commercial partners, principal investigators, CROs, suppliers
and vendors. Misconduct by these parties could include intentional, reckless and/or negligent conduct that fails to: comply with the laws of the FDA and other similar foreign regulatory bodies,
provide true, complete and accurate information to the FDA and other similar foreign regulatory bodies, comply with manufacturing standards we have established, comply with healthcare fraud and
abuse laws in the U.S. and similar foreign fraudulent misconduct laws, or report financial information or data accurately or to disclose unauthorized activities to us. If we obtain FDA approval of any
of our product candidates and begin commercializing those product candidates in the U.S., our potential exposure under such laws will increase significantly, and our costs associated with
compliance with such laws are also likely to increase. In particular, the promotion, sales and marketing of healthcare items and services, as well as certain business arrangements in the healthcare
industry, are subject to extensive laws and regulations designed to prevent fraud, kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range
of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, structuring and commission(s), certain customer incentive programs and other business arrangements. Activities subject to these laws also involve
the improper use of information obtained in the course of patient recruitment for clinical trials, which could result in regulatory sanctions and serious harm to our reputation.
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It is not always possible to identify and deter misconduct or other improper activities by our employees or third parties that we engage for our business operations and the precautions we
take to detect and prevent inappropriate conduct may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or
lawsuits stemming from a failure to comply with such laws or regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those
actions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects, including the imposition of significant fines or other sanctions, including
exclusion from government healthcare programs, and serious harm to our reputation. In addition, the approval and commercialization of any of our product candidates outside the U.S. will also likely
subject us to foreign equivalents of the healthcare laws mentioned above, among other foreign laws. Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements will comply with applicable healthcare laws may
involve substantial costs.
Our relationships with health care professionals, institutional providers, principal investigators, consultants, potential customers and third-party payors are, and will continue to be, subject,
directly and indirectly, to federal and state health care fraud and abuse, false claims, marketing expenditure tracking and disclosure, government price reporting, and privacy and data security
laws. If we are unable to comply, or have not fully complied, with such laws, we could face significant penalties and liabilities.
Our business operations and activities may be directly or indirectly subject to various federal and state fraud and abuse laws, including, without limitation, the federal Anti-Kickback Statute
and the federal False Claims Act. If we obtain FDA approval for any of our product candidates and begin commercializing those product candidates in the U.S., our potential exposure under such
laws will increase significantly, and our costs associated with compliance with such laws are also likely to increase. Our current and future arrangements with healthcare professionals, clinical
investigators, CROs, third-party payors and customers may expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations that may constrain the business or financial
arrangements and relationships through which we market, sell and distribute our products for which we obtain marketing approval. In addition, we may be subject to laws of the federal government
and state governments in which we conduct our business relating to privacy and data security with respect to patient information. The laws that may affect our ability to operate include, but are not
limited to:
•

the U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons and entities from soliciting, receiving or providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, to induce
either the referral of an individual for a healthcare item or service, or the purchasing or ordering of an item or service, for which payment may be made under a federal healthcare
program such as Medicare or Medicaid;

•

the U.S. federal false claims and civil monetary penalties laws, including the federal civil False Claims Act, which prohibit, among other things, individuals or entities from knowingly
presenting or causing to be presented, claims for payment by government funded programs such as Medicare or Medicaid that are false or fraudulent, and which may apply to us by
virtue of statements and representations made to customers or third parties;

•

the U.S. federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA), which created additional federal criminal statutes that prohibit, among other things, knowingly and
willfully executing or attempting to execute a scheme to defraud healthcare programs;

•

HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (HITECH), which imposes requirements on certain types of people and entities
relating to the privacy, security, and transmission of individually identifiable PHI, and requires notification to affected individuals and regulatory authorities of certain breaches of
security of PHI;

•

the federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act, which requires certain manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies for which payment is available under Medicare,
Medicaid, or the Children’s Health Insurance Program, to report annually to the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) information related to payments and other transfers of
value to covered recipients, including physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors), other healthcare providers (such as physician
assistants and nurse practitioners) and teaching hospitals, and ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family members, which is published in a
searchable form on an annual basis; and
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•

state laws comparable to each of the above federal laws, such as, for example, anti-kickback and false claims laws that may be broader in scope and also apply to commercial insurers
and other non-federal payors, requirements for mandatory corporate regulatory compliance programs, and laws relating to patient data privacy and security. Other state laws require
pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government;
require drug manufacturers to report information related to payments and other transfers of value to physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing expenditures; and state and
foreign laws govern the privacy and security of health information in some circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by
HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts.

We expect to incur increased costs of compliance with such laws and regulations as they continue to evolve. If we or our contractors are unable to comply, or have not fully complied, with such laws,
we could face penalties, including, without limitation, civil, criminal, and administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines, disgorgement, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare,
Medicaid and other federal and state health care programs, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and curtailment or restructuring of our operations. Any of
these could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Risks Related to Intellectual Property
If we are unable to obtain, maintain, protect and enforce patent protection and other proprietary rights for our product candidates and technologies, we may not be able to compete effectively or
operate profitably and our ability to prevent our competitors from commercializing similar or identical technology and product candidates would be adversely affected.
Our success is dependent in large part on our obtaining, maintaining, protecting and enforcing patents and other proprietary rights in the U.S. and other countries with respect to our product
candidates and technology and on our ability to avoid infringing the intellectual property and other proprietary rights of others. Certain of our intellectual property rights are licensed from other
entities, and as such the preparation and prosecution of any such patents and patent applications was not performed by us or under our control. Furthermore, patent law relating to the scope of claims
in the biotechnology field in which we operate is still evolving and, consequently, patent positions in our industry may not be as strong as in other more well-established fields. The patent positions of
biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions for which important legal principles remain unresolved and has been the
subject of much litigation in recent years. No consistent policy regarding the breadth of claims allowed in biotechnology patents has emerged to date. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity,
enforceability, or commercial value of our patent rights remain highly uncertain.
Any future patents we obtain may not be sufficiently broad to prevent others from using our technology or from developing competing therapeutics and technology. There is no guarantee
that any of our pending patent applications will result in issued or granted patents, any of our issued or granted patents will not later be found to be invalid or unenforceable, or any issued or granted
patents will include claims sufficiently broad to cover our product candidates and technology, or to provide meaningful protection from our competitors. Our owned or in-licensed pending and future
patent applications may not result in patents being issued that protect our N-803, saRNA, hAd5 and yeast technologies, cell-based therapies, aldoxorubicin or other product candidates and
technologies or that effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive technologies and product candidates.
Moreover, the coverage claimed in a patent application can be significantly reduced before the patent is issued, and its scope can be reinterpreted after issuance. Even if patent applications
we license or own currently or in the future issue as patents, they may not issue in a form that will provide us with any meaningful protection, prevent competitors or other third parties from
competing with us, or otherwise provide us with any competitive advantage. Any patents that we own or in-license may be challenged, narrowed, circumvented, or invalidated by third parties.
Consequently, we do not know whether our N-803, saRNA, hAd5 and yeast technologies, cell-based therapies or other product candidates and technologies will be protectable or remain protected by
valid and enforceable patents. Our competitors or other third parties may be able to circumvent our patents by developing similar or alternative technologies or products in a non-infringing manner
which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.
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The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity or enforceability and it is uncertain how much protection, if any, will be provided by our patents, including if
they are challenged in the courts or patent offices or in other proceedings, such as re-examinations or oppositions, which may be brought in the U.S. or foreign jurisdictions to challenge the validity
of a patent. A third party may challenge the validity or enforceability of a patent after its issuance. It is possible that a competitor may successfully challenge our patents or that a challenge will result
in limiting their coverage. Moreover, it is possible that competitors may infringe our patents or successfully avoid the patented technology through design innovation. To counter infringement or
other unauthorized use, we may be required to file infringement claims, which can be expensive and time-consuming, even if we were successful in stopping the violation of our patent rights.
We or our licensors may be subject to a third-party preissuance submission of prior art to the USPTO, or become involved in opposition, derivation, revocation, reexamination, post-grant
and inter partes review, or interference proceedings or other similar proceedings challenging our owned or licensed patent rights. Should third parties file patent applications, or be issued patents
claiming technology also used or claimed by our licensor(s) or by us in any future patent application, we, or one of our licensors, may be required to participate in interference proceedings in the
USPTO to determine priority of invention for those patents or patent applications that are subject to the first-to-invent law in the U.S., or may be required to participate in derivation proceedings in
the USPTO for those patents or patent applications that are subject to the first-inventor-to-file law in the U.S. We may be required to participate in such interference or derivation proceedings
involving our issued patents and pending applications. We may also be required to participate in post-grant challenge proceedings, such as oppositions in a foreign patent office, that challenge our or
our licensor’s priority of invention or other features of patentability with respect to our owned or in-licensed patents and patent applications. Such challenges may result in loss of patent rights, loss of
exclusivity, or in patent claims being narrowed, invalidated, or held unenforceable, which could limit our ability to stop others from using or commercializing similar or identical technology and
products, or limit the duration of the patent protection of our N-803, saRNA, hAd5 and yeast technologies, cell-based therapies or other product candidates and technologies. An adverse
determination in any such submission, proceeding or litigation could reduce the scope of, or invalidate or render unenforceable, our owned or in-licensed patent rights, allow third parties to
commercialize our N-803, saRNA, hAd5 and yeast technologies, cell-based therapies or other product candidates or technologies and compete directly with us, without payment to us, or result in our
inability to manufacture or commercialize products without infringing third-party patent rights.
If we or our collaborators are unsuccessful in any such proceeding or other priority or inventorship dispute, we may be required to cease using the technology or to obtain and maintain
license rights from prevailing third parties, including parties involved in any such interference proceedings or other priority or inventorship disputes. A prevailing party in that case may not offer us a
license on commercially acceptable terms or at all. Even if we were able to obtain a license, it could be non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors and other third parties access to the same
technologies licensed to us, and it could require us to make substantial licensing and royalty payments. If we are unable to obtain and maintain such licenses, we may need to cease the development,
manufacture, and commercialization of one or more of the product candidates we may develop. The loss of exclusivity or the narrowing of our owned and licensed patent claims could limit our
ability to stop others from using or commercializing similar or identical technology and products. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects.
In addition, given the amount of time required for the development, testing, and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such product candidates might expire before
or shortly after such product candidates are commercialized. As a result, our intellectual property may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing products similar or
identical to ours.
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Some of our owned and in-licensed patents and patent applications are, and may in the future be, co-owned with third parties. In addition, certain of our licensors co-own the patents and
patent applications we in-license with other third parties with whom we do not have a direct relationship. Our exclusive rights to certain of these patents and patent applications are dependent, in part,
on inter-institutional or other operating agreements between the joint owners of such patents and patent applications, who are not parties to our license agreements. If our licensors do not have
exclusive control of the grant of licenses under any such third-party co-owners’ interest in such patents or patent applications or we are otherwise unable to secure such exclusive rights, such coowners may be able to license their rights to other third parties, including our competitors, and our competitors could market competing products and technology. In addition, we may need the
cooperation of any such co-owners of our patents in order to enforce such patents against third parties, and such cooperation may not be provided to us. Any of the foregoing could have a material
adverse effect on our competitive position, business, financial conditions, results of operations and growth prospects.
If any of our owned or in-licensed patent applications do not issue as patents in any jurisdiction, we may not be able to compete effectively.
Changes in either the patent laws or their interpretation in the U.S. and other countries may diminish our ability to protect our inventions, obtain, maintain, and enforce our intellectual
property rights and, more generally, could affect the value of our intellectual property or narrow the scope of our owned and licensed patents. With respect to both in-licensed and owned intellectual
property, we cannot predict whether the patent applications we and our licensors are currently pursuing will issue as patents in any particular jurisdiction or whether the claims of any issued patents
will provide sufficient protection from competitors or other third parties. The patent prosecution process is expensive, time-consuming, and complex, and we may not be able to file, prosecute,
maintain, enforce, or license all necessary or desirable patent applications at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner. It is also possible that we will fail to identify patentable aspects of our research
and development output in time to obtain patent protection. Although we enter into nondisclosure and confidentiality agreements with parties who have access to confidential or patentable aspects of
our research and development output, such as our employees, corporate collaborators, outside scientific collaborators, CROs, CMOs, consultants, advisors, and other third parties, any of these parties
may breach the agreements and disclose such output before a patent application is filed, thereby jeopardizing our ability to seek patent protection. In addition, our ability to obtain and maintain valid
and enforceable patents depends on whether the differences between our inventions and the prior art allow our inventions to be patentable over the prior art. Furthermore, publications of discoveries
in the scientific literature often lag behind the actual discoveries, and patent applications in the U.S. and other jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after filing, or in some cases not
at all. Therefore, we cannot be certain that we or our licensors were the first to make the inventions claimed in any of our owned or licensed patents or pending patent applications, or that we or our
licensors were the first to file for patent protection of such inventions.
We or our licensors, collaborators, or any future strategic partners may become subject to third-party claims or litigation alleging infringement of patents or other proprietary rights or seeking
to invalidate patents or other proprietary rights, and we may need to resort to litigation to protect or enforce our patents or other intellectual property or the patents or other intellectual property
of our licensors, all of which could be expensive, time-consuming and unsuccessful, may delay or prevent the development and commercialization of our product candidates, or may put our
patents and other proprietary rights at risk.
If we or one of our licensors initiate legal proceedings against a third party to enforce a patent covering one of our product candidates or other technologies, the defendant could counterclaim
that the patent is invalid and/or unenforceable or that we infringe their patents. In patent litigation in the U.S., defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity and/or unenforceability are commonplace,
and there are numerous grounds upon which a third party can assert invalidity or unenforceability of a patent. Grounds for a validity challenge could be an alleged failure to meet any of several
statutory requirements, including lack of novelty, obviousness, or non-enablement. Grounds for an unenforceability assertion could be an allegation that someone connected with prosecution of the
patent withheld relevant information from the USPTO or other applicable body, or made a misleading statement, during prosecution. Third parties may also raise similar claims before administrative
bodies in the U.S. or abroad, even outside the context of litigation. Such mechanisms include re-examination, post grant review, inter partes review, interference proceedings, derivation proceedings,
and equivalent proceedings in foreign jurisdictions (e.g., opposition proceedings).
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With respect to the validity question, for example, we cannot be certain that there is no invalidating prior art, of which we, our licensor, our or our licensor’s patent counsel and the patent
examiner were unaware during prosecution. Moreover, even if our patents were to survive such a litigation challenge to their validity, the patents might still be held to be valid but unenforceable if a
court were to decide that the patents are being enforced in a manner inconsistent with the antitrust laws, or that the patents were obtained through deceit during patent office examination or other such
failure of sufficient candor to the patent office. If a third party were to prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity and/or unenforceability, we would lose at least part, and perhaps all, of the patent
protection on our product candidates. Such a loss of patent protection could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
The cost to us of any litigation or other proceeding relating to intellectual property rights, even if resolved in our favor, could be substantial. Defense of these claims, regardless of their
merit, would involve substantial litigation expense and would be a substantial diversion of employee resources, including our scientists and management, from our business.
An adverse result in any litigation or defense proceeding could put one or more of our owned or licensed patents at risk of being invalidated, held unenforceable, or interpreted narrowly, and
could put our patent applications at risk of not issuing. Such proceedings could result in revocation or cancellation of, or amendment to, our patents in such a way that they no longer cover our
product candidates or technologies. If the outcome of litigation is adverse to us, third parties may be able to use our patented invention without payment to us. In addition, in an infringement
proceeding, there is a risk that a court may decide that one or more of our patents is not valid or is unenforceable and that we do not have the right to stop the other party from using the inventions.
There is also the risk that, even if the validity of our patents were upheld, a court would refuse to stop the other party on the grounds that its activities are not covered by, that is, do not infringe, our
patents. Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be
compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation.
In addition, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions, or other interim proceedings or developments, and if securities analysts or investors perceive these
results to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse effect on the price of our common stock. Such litigation or proceedings could substantially increase our operating losses and reduce the
resources available for development activities or any future sales, marketing, or distribution activities. We may not have sufficient financial or other resources to conduct such litigation or
proceedings adequately. Some of our competitors may be better able to sustain the costs of such litigation or proceedings more effectively than we can because of their greater financial resources and
more mature and developed intellectual property portfolios. The outcome following legal assertions of invalidity and unenforceability is unpredictable. Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and
continuation of patent litigation or other proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our ability to compete in the marketplace.
The use of our technology and product candidates could potentially conflict with the rights of others, and third-party claims of intellectual property infringement, misappropriation or other
violation against us, our licensors or our collaborators may prevent or delay the development and commercialization of our product candidates and technologies.
Our commercial success depends in part on our, our licensors’ and our collaborators’ ability to avoid infringing, misappropriating and otherwise violating the patents and other intellectual
property rights of third parties. There is a substantial amount of complex litigation involving patents and other intellectual property rights in the biopharmaceutical industry. Our potential competitors
or other parties may have, develop or acquire patent or other intellectual property rights that they could assert against us. If they do so, then we may be required to alter our product candidates, pay
licensing fees or cease our development and commercialization activities with respect to the applicable product candidates or technologies. If our product candidates conflict with patent or other
intellectual property rights of others, such parties could bring legal actions against us or our collaborators, licensees, suppliers or customers, claiming damages and seeking to enjoin manufacturing,
use and marketing of the affected products.
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Although we have conducted freedom-to-operate (FTO) analyses of the patent landscape with respect to our lead product candidates and continue to undertake FTO analyses of our
manufacturing processes, our N-803 product candidate, and contemplated future processes and products, because patent applications do not publish for 18 months, and because the claims of patent
applications can change over time, no FTO analysis can be considered exhaustive. We may not be aware of patents that have already been issued and that a competitor or other third party might assert
are infringed by our current or future product candidates or technologies. It is also possible that we could be found to have infringed patents owned by third parties of which we are aware, but which
we do not believe are relevant to our product candidates or technologies. In addition, because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be currently pending patent applications that
may later result in issued patents that our product candidates or technologies may infringe. Furthermore, patent and other intellectual property rights in biotechnology remains an evolving area with
many risks and uncertainties. As such, we may not be able to ensure that we can market our product candidates without conflict with the rights of others.
If intellectual property-related legal actions asserted against us are successful, in addition to any potential liability for damages (including treble damages and attorneys’ fees for willful
infringement), we could be enjoined from, or required to obtain a license to continue, manufacturing, promoting the use of or marketing the affected products. We may not prevail in any legal action
and a required license under the applicable patent or other intellectual property may not be available on acceptable terms or at all. Even if we were able to obtain a license, it could be non-exclusive,
thereby giving our competitors and other third parties access to the same technologies licensed to us, and it could require us to make substantial licensing and royalty payments. We also could be
required to redesign our infringing products, which may be impossible or require substantial time and monetary expenditure.
Defense of infringement claims, regardless of their merit, would involve substantial litigation expense and would be a substantial diversion of management and other employee resources
from our business, and may impact our reputation. Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of litigation or administrative proceedings more effectively than we can because of
greater financial resources. In addition, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions, or other interim proceedings or developments, and if securities analysts or investors
perceive these results to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse effect on the price of our common stock. The occurrence of any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
Changes in U.S. patent law could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our product candidates.
As is the case with other immunotherapy and biopharmaceutical companies, our success is dependent on intellectual property, particularly patents. Obtaining and enforcing patents in the
biopharmaceutical industry involve both technological and legal complexity, and is therefore costly, time-consuming and inherently uncertain. In addition, the U.S. has recently enacted and is
currently implementing wide-ranging patent reform legislation. Assuming that other requirements for patentability are met, prior to March 2013, in the U.S., the first to invent the claimed invention
was entitled to the patent, while outside the U.S., the first to file a patent application was entitled to the patent. After March 2013, under the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act (the America Invents
Act) enacted in September 2011, the U.S. transitioned to a first-to-file system in which, assuming that other requirements for patentability are met, the first inventor to file a patent application will be
entitled to the patent on an invention regardless of whether a third party was the first to invent the claimed invention. A third party that files a patent application in the USPTO after March 2013, but
before us could therefore be awarded a patent covering an invention of ours even if we had made the invention before it was made by such third party. This will require us to be cognizant of the time
from invention to filing of a patent application. Since patent applications in the U.S. and most other countries are confidential for a period of time after filing or until issuance, we cannot be certain
that we or our licensors were the first to either file any patent application related to our product candidates or other technologies or invent any of the inventions claimed in our or our licensor’s patents
or patent applications. The America Invents Act also includes a number of significant changes that affect the way patent applications will be prosecuted and also may affect patent litigation. These
include allowing third-party submission of prior art to the USPTO during patent prosecution and additional procedures to attack the validity of a patent by USPTO-administered post-grant
proceedings, including post-grant review, inter partes review, and derivation proceedings. Therefore, the America Invents Act and its implementation could increase the uncertainties and costs
surrounding the prosecution of our owned or in-licensed patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our owned or in-licensed issued patents, all of which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.
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Additionally, U.S. Supreme Court rulings have narrowed the scope of patent protection available in certain circumstances and weakened the rights of patent owners in certain situations. In
addition to increasing uncertainty with regard to our ability to obtain patents in the future, this combination of events has created uncertainty with respect to the value of patents, once obtained.
Depending on decisions by Congress, the federal courts, and the USPTO, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in unpredictable ways that would weaken our ability to obtain new
patents or to enforce our existing patents and patents that we might obtain in the future. While we do not believe that any of the patents owned or licensed by us will be found invalid based on the
foregoing, we cannot predict how future decisions by Congress, the federal courts or the USPTO may impact the value of our patents.
Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee payment, and other requirements imposed by government patent
agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.
Periodic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annuity fees, and various other government fees on patents and patent applications are due to be paid to the USPTO and foreign patent agencies in
several stages over the lifetime of a patent. The USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with several procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar
provisions during the patent application process. In certain circumstances, we rely on our licensors to pay these fees and take the necessary actions to comply with these requirements. While an
inadvertent lapse can in many cases be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the applicable rules, there are situations in which noncompliance can result in
abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. Noncompliance events that could result in abandonment or
lapse of a patent or patent application include, but are not limited to, failure to respond to official actions within prescribed time limits, non-payment of fees and failure to properly legalize and submit
formal documents. In such an event, our competitors might be able to enter the market with similar or identical products or technology, which would have a material adverse impact on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
Our rights to develop and commercialize our product candidates and technologies are subject, in part, to the terms and conditions of licenses granted to us by others.
We will rely on licenses to certain patent rights and proprietary technology from third parties that are important or necessary to the development of aldoxorubicin as well as products enabled
by our adenoviral and yeast, including Tarmogen, vaccine technologies.
License agreements may not provide exclusive rights to use certain licensed intellectual property and technology in all relevant fields of use and in all territories in which we may wish to
develop or commercialize our technology and product candidates in the future. As a result, we may not be able to prevent competitors or other third parties from developing and commercializing
competitive products that also utilizes technology that we have in-licensed.
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In addition, subject to the terms of any such license agreements, we do not have the right to control the preparation, filing, prosecution and maintenance, and we may not have the right to
control the enforcement, and defense of patents and patent applications covering the technology that we license from third parties. We cannot be certain that our in-licensed or out-licensed patents
and patent applications that are controlled by our licensors or licensees will be prepared, filed, prosecuted, maintained, enforced, and defended in a manner consistent with the best interests of our
business. If our licensors or licensees fail to prosecute, maintain, enforce, and defend such patents, or lose rights to those patents or patent applications, the rights we have licensed may be reduced or
eliminated, our right to develop and commercialize N-803 and any of our product candidates that are subject of such licensed rights could be adversely affected, and we may not be able to prevent
competitors from making, using and selling competing products. In addition, even where we have the right to control patent prosecution of patents and patent applications we have licensed to and
from third parties, we may still be adversely affected or prejudiced by actions or inactions of our licensees, our licensors and their counsel that took place prior to the date upon which we assumed
control over patent prosecution.
Furthermore, our owned and in-licensed patents may be subject to a reservation of rights by one or more third parties. For example, certain of our in-licensed intellectual property was
funded in part by the U.S. government. As a result, the U.S. government may have certain rights to such intellectual property. When new technologies are developed with U.S. government funding,
the U.S. government generally obtains certain rights in any resulting patents, including a non-exclusive license authorizing the U.S. government to use the invention or to have others use the
invention on its behalf. The U.S. government’s rights may also permit it to disclose the funded inventions and technology to third parties and to exercise march-in rights to use or allow third parties to
use the technology we have licensed that was developed using U.S. government funding. The U.S. government may exercise its march-in rights if it determines that action is necessary because we
fail to achieve practical application of the government-funded technology, or because action is necessary to alleviate health or safety needs, to meet requirements of federal regulations, or to give
preference to U.S. industry. In addition, our rights in such inventions may be subject to certain requirements to manufacture products embodying such inventions in the U.S. in certain circumstances
if this requirement is not waived. Any exercise by the U.S. government of such rights or by any third party of its reserved rights could have a material adverse effect on our competitive position,
business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.
If we fail to comply with our obligations in the agreements under which we license intellectual property rights from third parties or otherwise experience disruptions to our business
relationships with our licensors, we may be required to pay damages and we could lose license rights that are important to our business.
We have entered into license agreements with third parties and may need to obtain additional licenses from others to advance our research or allow commercialization of our product
candidates. We may be unable to obtain certain additional licenses at a reasonable cost or on reasonable terms, if at all. In that event, we may be required to expend significant time and resources to
redesign our technology, product candidates, or the methods for manufacturing them or to develop or license replacement technology, all of which may not be feasible on a technical or commercial
basis. If we are unable to do so, we may be unable to develop or commercialize the affected product candidates or continue to utilize our existing technology, which could harm our business,
financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects significantly. We cannot provide any assurances that third-party patents do not exist which might be enforced against our current
technology, manufacturing methods, product candidates, or future methods or products resulting in either an injunction prohibiting our manufacture or future sales, or, with respect to our future sales,
an obligation on our part to pay royalties and/or other forms of compensation to third parties, which could be significant.
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In addition, each of our license agreements, and we expect our future agreements, will impose various development, diligence, commercialization, and other obligations on us. Certain of our
license agreements also require us to meet development timelines, or to exercise commercially reasonable efforts to develop and commercialize licensed products, in order to maintain the licenses. In
spite of our efforts, our licensors might conclude that we have materially breached our obligations under such license agreements and might therefore terminate the license agreements, thereby
removing or limiting our ability to develop and commercialize products and technology covered by these license agreements. If these in-licenses are terminated, or if the underlying patents fail to
provide the intended exclusivity, competitors or other third parties would have the freedom to seek regulatory approval of, and to market, products identical to ours and we may be required to cease
our development and commercialization of certain of our product candidates or of N-803. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our competitive position, business, financial
conditions, results of operations and growth prospects.
Moreover, disputes may arise regarding intellectual property subject to a licensing agreement, including:
•

the scope of rights granted under the license agreement and other interpretation-related issues;

•

the extent to which our technology and processes infringe on intellectual property of the licensor that is not subject to the licensing agreement;

•

the sublicensing of patent and other rights under our collaborative development relationships;

•

our diligence obligations under the license agreement and what activities satisfy those diligence obligations;

•

the inventorship and ownership of inventions and know-how resulting from the joint creation or use of intellectual property by our licensors and us and our partners; and

•

the priority of invention of patented technology.

In addition, the agreements under which we currently license intellectual property or technology from third parties are complex, and certain provisions in such agreements may be
susceptible to multiple interpretations. The resolution of any contract interpretation disagreement that may arise could narrow what we believe to be the scope of our rights to the relevant intellectual
property or technology, or increase what we believe to be our financial or other obligations under the relevant agreement, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects. Moreover, if disputes over intellectual property that we have licensed prevent or impair our ability to maintain our current licensing
arrangements on commercially acceptable terms, we may be unable to successfully develop and commercialize the affected product candidates, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial conditions, results of operations and growth prospects.
We have limited foreign intellectual property rights and may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights in various jurisdictions throughout the world.
We have limited intellectual property rights outside the U.S. Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on product candidates in all countries throughout the world would be prohibitively
expensive, and our intellectual property rights in some countries outside the U.S. can be less extensive than those in the U.S. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual
property rights to the same extent as federal and state laws in the U.S. Consequently, we may not be able to prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in all countries outside the U.S., or
from selling or importing products made using our inventions in and into the U.S. or other jurisdictions. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent
protection to develop their own products and further, may export otherwise infringing products to territories where we have patent protection, but enforcement is not as strong as that in the U.S.
These products may compete with our product candidates and our patents or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing.
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Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions. The legal systems of certain countries, particularly
certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents, trade secrets and other intellectual property protection, particularly those relating to biopharmaceutical products, which could
make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or marketing of competing products in violation of our proprietary rights generally. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign
jurisdictions could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business, could put our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and our
patent applications at risk of not issuing and could provoke third parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate, and the damages or other remedies awarded, if
any, may not be commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from
the intellectual property that we develop or license.
Many countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner may be compelled to grant licenses to third parties. In addition, many countries limit the enforceability of
patents against government agencies or government contractors. In these countries, the patent owner may have limited remedies, which could materially diminish the value of such patent. If we or
any of our licensors is forced to grant a license to third parties with respect to any patents relevant to our business, our competitive position may be impaired, and our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects may be adversely affected.
We may be subject to claims that our employees, consultants or independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed trade secrets or other confidential information of third parties or
claims asserting ownership of what we regard as our own intellectual property.
We have received confidential and proprietary information from third parties and their employees and contractors. In addition, we plan to employ and contract with individuals who were
previously employed at other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies. We may be subject to claims that we or our employees, consultants or independent contractors have inadvertently or
otherwise used or disclosed the trade secrets or other confidential information of these third parties or our employees’ former employers. Litigation may be necessary to defend against or pursue these
claims. Even if we are successful in resolving these claims, litigation could result in substantial cost and be a distraction to our management and employees.
In addition, while it is our policy to require our employees, consultants and independent contractors who may be involved in the conception or development of intellectual property to
execute agreements assigning such intellectual property to us, we may be unsuccessful in executing such an agreement with each party who, in fact, conceives or develops intellectual property that
we regard as our own. The assignment of intellectual property rights may not be self-executing, or the assignment agreements may be breached, and we may be forced to bring claims against
third parties, or defend claims that they may bring against us, to determine the ownership of what we regard as our intellectual property. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.
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We may not be able to license or acquire new or necessary intellectual property rights or technology from third parties.
An element of our intellectual property strategy is to license intellectual property rights and technologies from third parties and/or our affiliates. Other parties, including our competitors or
our affiliates, may have patents relevant to our business, may have already filed patent applications relevant to our business, and are likely filing patent applications potentially relevant to our
business. In order to avoid infringing these patents, we may find it necessary or prudent to obtain licenses to such patents from such parties. In addition, with respect to any patents we co-own with
other parties, including our affiliates, we may require licenses to such co-owners’ interest to such patents. The licensing or acquisition of intellectual property rights is a competitive area, and other
more established companies may pursue strategies to license or acquire third-party intellectual property rights that we may consider attractive or necessary. These established companies may have a
competitive advantage over us due to their size, capital resources, and greater clinical development and commercialization capabilities. In addition, companies that perceive us to be a competitor may
be unwilling to assign or license rights to us. We also may be unable to license or acquire third-party intellectual property rights on terms that would allow us to make an appropriate return on our
investment or at all. No assurance can be given that we will be successful in licensing any additional rights or technologies from third parties and/or our affiliates. Our inability to license the rights
and technologies that we have identified, or that we may in the future identify, could have a material adverse impact on our ability to complete the development of our product candidates or to
develop additional product candidates. Even if we were able to obtain a license, it could be non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors and other third parties access to the same technologies
licensed to us, and it could require us to make substantial licensing and royalty payments. Failure to obtain any necessary rights or licenses may detrimentally affect our planned development of our
current or future additional product candidates and could increase the cost, and extend the timelines associated with our development, of such other products, and we may have to abandon
development of the relevant program or product candidate. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
If we do not obtain patent term extension and data exclusivity for any product candidates we may develop, our business may be materially harmed.
Depending upon the timing, duration and specifics of any FDA marketing approval of any product candidates we may develop, one or more of our owned or in-licensed U.S. patents may be
eligible for limited patent term extension under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984 (the Hatch-Waxman Act). The Hatch-Waxman Act permits a patent term
extension of up to five years as compensation for patent term lost during the FDA regulatory review process. A patent term extension cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of
14 years from the date of product approval. Only one patent may be extended per new drug, and only those claims covering the approved drug, a method for using it, or a method for manufacturing it
may be extended. Similar extensions as compensation for patent term lost during regulatory review processes are also available in certain foreign countries and territories, such as in Europe under a
Supplementary Patent Certificate. However, we may not be granted an extension in the U.S. and/or foreign countries and territories because of, for example, failing to exercise due diligence during
the testing phase or regulatory review process, failing to apply within applicable deadlines, failing to apply prior to expiration of relevant patents, or otherwise failing to satisfy applicable
requirements. Moreover, the applicable time period or the scope of patent protection afforded could be less than we request. If we are unable to obtain patent term extension or the term of any such
extension is shorter than what we request, our competitors may obtain approval of competing products following our patent expiration, and our business, financial condition, results of operations and
growth prospects could be materially harmed.
We may be subject to claims challenging rights in our patents and other intellectual property.
We or our licensors may be subject to claims that former employees, collaborators or other third parties have an interest in our owned or in-licensed patents, trade secrets, or other intellectual
property, including as an inventor or co-inventor. For example, we or our licensors may have disputes arise from conflicting obligations of employees, consultants or others who are involved in
developing our product candidates. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these and other claims challenging inventorship, or our or our licensors’ ownership of our owned or in-licensed
patents, trade secrets or other intellectual property. If we or our licensors fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights,
such as exclusive ownership of or right to use valuable intellectual property. Even if we are successful in defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction
to management and other employees. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.
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If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our business and competitive position would be harmed.
In addition to seeking patents for N-803, saRNA, hAd5 and yeast technologies, cell therapies, and other product candidates and technologies, we also rely on trade secrets and confidentiality
agreements to protect our unpatented know-how, technology, and other proprietary information and to maintain our competitive position. Trade secrets and know-how can be difficult to protect. We
expect our trade secrets and know-how will over time be disseminated within the industry through independent development, the publication of journal articles describing the methodology, and the
movement of personnel from academic to industry scientific positions.
We seek to protect these trade secrets and other proprietary technology, in part, by entering into nondisclosure and confidentiality agreements with parties who have access to them, such as
our employees, corporate collaborators, outside scientific collaborators, CROs, CMOs, consultants, advisors, and other third parties. We also enter into confidentiality and invention or patent
assignment agreements with our employees and consultants as well as train our employees not to bring or use proprietary information or technology from former employers to us or in their work, and
remind former employees when they leave their employment of their confidentiality obligations. We cannot guarantee that we have entered into such agreements with each party that may have or
have had access to our trade secrets or proprietary technology and processes. Despite our efforts, any of these parties may breach the agreements and disclose our proprietary information, including
our trade secrets, and we may not be able to obtain adequate remedies for such breaches. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret is difficult, expensive, and
time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, some courts inside and outside the U.S. are less willing or unwilling to protect trade secrets. If any of our trade secrets were to be
lawfully obtained or independently developed by a competitor or other third party, we would have no right to prevent them from using that technology or information to compete with us. If any of
our trade secrets were to be disclosed to or independently developed by a competitor or other third party, our competitive position would be materially and adversely harmed.
If our trademarks and trade names are not adequately protected, then we may not be able to build name recognition in our markets of interest and our business may be adversely affected.
Our registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names may be challenged, infringed, circumvented or declared generic or determined to be infringing on other marks. We may not be able
to protect our rights to these trademarks and trade names, which we need to build name recognition among potential partners or customers in our markets of interest. At times, competitors or other
third parties may adopt trade names or trademarks similar to ours, thereby impeding our ability to build brand identity and possibly leading to market confusion. In addition, there could be potential
trade name or trademark infringement claims brought by owners of other registered trademarks or trademarks that incorporate variations of our registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names.
Over the long term, if we are unable to establish name recognition based on our trademarks and trade names, then we may not be able to compete effectively and our business may be adversely
affected. Our efforts to enforce or protect our proprietary rights related to trademarks, trade secrets, domain names, copyrights or other intellectual property may be ineffective and could result in
substantial costs and diversion of resources and could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.
Intellectual property rights do not necessarily address all potential threats.
The degree of future protection afforded by our intellectual property rights is uncertain because intellectual property rights have limitations and may not adequately protect our business or
permit us to maintain our competitive advantage. For example:
•

others may be able to make products that are similar to our product candidates or utilize similar technology but that are not covered by the claims of the patents that we license or may
own;

•

we, or our current or future licensors or collaborators, might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by the issued patent or pending patent application that we license or
own now or in the future;

•

we, or our current or future licensors or collaborators, might not have been the first to file patent applications covering certain of our or their inventions;
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•

others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies without infringing our owned or licensed intellectual property rights;

•

it is possible that our current or future pending owned or licensed patent applications will not lead to issued patents;

•

issued patents that we hold rights to may be held invalid or unenforceable, including as a result of legal challenges by our competitors or other third parties;

•

our competitors or other third parties might conduct research and development activities in countries where we do not have patent rights and then use the information learned from such
activities to develop competitive products for sale in our major commercial markets;

•

we may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable;

•

the patents of others may harm our business; and

•

we may choose not to file a patent in order to maintain certain trade secrets or know-how, and a third party may subsequently file a patent covering such intellectual property.

Should any of these events occur, they could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.
Risks Related to Our Common Stock and CVRs
Dr. Soon-Shiong, our Executive Chairman, Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer and our principal stockholder, has significant interests in other companies which may conflict with our
interests.
Our Executive Chairman, Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer and our principal stockholder, Dr. Soon-Shiong, is the founder of NantWorks. The various NantWorks companies are
currently exploring opportunities in the immunotherapy, oncology, infectious disease and inflammatory disease fields. In particular, we have agreements with a number of related parties that provide
services, technology and equipment for use in their efforts to develop their product pipelines. Dr. Soon-Shiong holds a controlling interest, either directly or indirectly, in these entities. Consequently,
Dr. Soon-Shiong’s interests may not be aligned with our other stockholders and he may from time to time be incentivized to take certain actions that benefit his other interests and that our other
stockholders do not view as being in their interest as investors in our company. In addition, other companies affiliated with Dr. Soon-Shiong may compete with us for business opportunities or, in the
future, develop products that are competitive with ours (including products in other therapeutic fields which we may target in the future). Moreover, even if they do not directly relate to us, actions
taken by Dr. Soon-Shiong and the companies with which he is involved could impact us.
We are also pursuing supply arrangements for various investigational agents controlled by affiliates to be used in their clinical trials. If Dr. Soon-Shiong were to cease his affiliation with us
or NantWorks, these entities may be unwilling to continue these relationships with us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, and as a result may impede our ability to control the supply chain
for our combination therapies. These collaboration agreements do not typically specify how sales will be apportioned between the parties upon successful commercialization of the product. As a
result, we cannot guarantee that we will receive a percentage of the revenues that is at least proportional to the costs that we will incur in commercializing the product candidate.
We have entered into shared services agreements with NantWorks, pursuant to which NantWorks and its affiliates provide corporate, general and administrative and other support services to
us. If Dr. Soon-Shiong was to cease his affiliation with us or with NantWorks, we may be unable to establish or maintain this relationship with NantWorks on a commercially reasonable basis, if at
all. As a result, we could experience a lack of business continuity due to loss of historical and institutional knowledge and a lack of familiarity of new employees and/or new service providers with
business processes, operating requirements, policies and procedures, and we may incur additional costs as new employees and/or service providers gain necessary experience. In addition, the loss of
the services of NantWorks might significantly delay or prevent the development of our product candidates or achievement of other business objectives by diverting management’s attention to
transition matters and identification of suitable replacements, if any, and could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
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Dr. Soon-Shiong, through his voting control of the company, has the ability to control actions that require stockholder approval.
Dr. Soon-Shiong, through his direct and indirect ownership of the company’s common stock, has voting control of the company. As of June 30, 2022, Dr. Soon-Shiong and his affiliates
beneficially own approximately 78.7% of the company’s common stock outstanding.
Additionally, an affiliate of Dr. Soon-Shiong holds a warrant to purchase 1,638,000 shares of the company’s common stock that will become exercisable if certain performance conditions are
satisfied. Dr. Soon-Shiong and his related party also hold approximately $279.5 million in the aggregate of CVRs issued to the former stockholders of Altor in connection with NantCell’s acquisition
of Altor. If the underlying conditions for payment are met, the CVRs become payable in cash or shares of the company’s common stock or any combination as the holder elects. Dr. Soon-Shiong and
his related party have irrevocably agreed to receive shares of the company’s common stock in satisfaction of their CVRs.
During the year ended June 30, 2022, we executed a $300.0 million promissory note with an entity affiliated with Dr. Soon-Shiong that is due and payable on December 17, 2022. In the
event of a default on the loan (as defined in the promissory note), including if we do not repay the loan at maturity, the company has the right, at its sole option, to convert the outstanding principal
amount and accrued and unpaid interest due under this note into shares of the company’s common stock at price of $5.67 per share. In addition, entities affiliated with Dr. Soon-Shiong hold
promissory notes representing $312.5 million in indebtedness, including interest thereon, of the company as of June 30, 2022. Also Dr. Soon-Shiong has 926,064 stock options outstanding as of
June 30, 2022, of which 900,000 are exercisable.
Dr. Soon-Shiong is in a position to control the outcome of corporate actions that require, or may be accomplished by, stockholder approval, including amending the bylaws of the company,
the election or removal of directors and transactions involving a change of control. Dr. Soon-Shiong’s controlling ownership could limit the ability of the remaining stockholders of the company to
influence corporate matters, and the interests of Dr. Soon-Shiong may not coincide with the company’s interests or the interests of its remaining stockholders.
In addition, pursuant to the Nominating Agreement between us and Cambridge Equities, LP (Cambridge), an entity that Dr. Soon-Shiong controls, Cambridge has the ability to designate one
director to be nominated for election to the Board of Directors for as long as Cambridge continues to hold at least 20% of the issued and outstanding shares of our common stock. Dr. Soon-Shiong
was selected by Cambridge to hold this board seat. Dr. Soon-Shiong and his affiliates will therefore have significant influence over management and significant control over matters requiring
stockholder approval, including the annual election of directors and significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or other sale of our company or its assets, for the foreseeable future. This
control will limit stockholders’ ability to influence corporate matters and, as a result, we may take actions that our stockholders do not view as beneficial. As a result, the market price of our common
stock could be adversely affected.
The market price of our common stock has been and may continue to be volatile, and investors may have difficulty selling their shares.
Although our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, the market for our shares has demonstrated varying levels of trading activity. You may not be able to sell your
shares quickly or at the market price if trading in shares of our common stock is not active. Further, an inactive market may also impair our ability to raise capital by selling shares of our common
stock and may impair our ability to enter into strategic partnerships or acquire companies or products by using our shares of common stock as consideration.
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The stock market in general and the market for biopharmaceutical companies in particular have experienced extreme volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of
particular companies. The market price of our common stock has been and may continue to be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors, some of which
are beyond our control, including:
•

the commencement, enrollment or results of the planned clinical trials of our product candidates or any future clinical trials we may conduct, or changes in the development status of our
product candidates;

•

any delay in our regulatory filings for our product candidates and any adverse development or perceived adverse development with respect to the applicable regulatory authority’s
review of such filings, including without limitation the FDA’s issuance of a “refusal to file” letter or a request for additional information;

•

adverse results or delays in clinical trials;

•

our decision to initiate a clinical trial, not to initiate a clinical trial or to terminate an existing clinical trial;

•

adverse regulatory decisions, including failure to receive regulatory approval of our product candidates;

•

changes in laws or regulations applicable to our products, including but not limited to clinical trial requirements for approvals;

•

our failure to commercialize our product candidates;

•

additions or departures of key scientific or management personnel;

•

unanticipated serious safety concerns related to the use of our product candidates;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of significant contracts, acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments;

•

our ability to effectively manage our growth;

•

variations in our quarterly operating results;

•

our liquidity position and the amount and nature of any debt we may incur;

•

announcements that our revenue or income are below or that costs or losses are greater than analysts’ expectations;

•

publication of research reports about us or our industry, or immunotherapy in particular, or positive or negative recommendations or withdrawal of research coverage by securities
analysts;

•

changes in the market valuations of similar companies;

•

sales of large blocks of our common stock;

•

fluctuations in stock market prices and volumes;

•

disputes or other developments relating to proprietary rights, including patents, litigation matters and our ability to obtain patent protection for our technologies;

•

significant lawsuits, including patent or stockholder litigation;

•

the perception of our clinical trial results by retail investors, which investors may be subject to the influence of information provided by third party investor websites and independent
authors distributing information on the internet;
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•

general economic slowdowns;

•

government-imposed lockdowns, supply chain disruptions, and adverse economic effects from the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, in the U.S. and abroad;

•

geopolitical tensions and war, including the war in Ukraine;

•

coordinated actions by independent third-party actors to affect the price of certain stocks, coordinated via the Internet and otherwise; and

•

other factors described in this “Risk Factors” section.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities. This type of litigation
could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources, which would harm our business, operating results or financial condition.
Future sales and issuances of our common stock or rights to purchase common stock, including pursuant to our equity incentive plan, could result in additional dilution of the percentage
ownership of our stockholders and could cause our stock price to fall.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur at any time. If our stockholders sell, or the market perceives that our stockholders intend to sell
substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, the market price of our common stock could decline significantly. In addition, our Executive Chairman and Global Chief Scientific and
Medical Officer, Dr. Soon-Shiong, and his affiliates currently beneficially own approximately 78.7% of our outstanding shares of common stock as of June 30, 2022. Sales of stock by Dr. SoonShiong and his affiliates could have an adverse effect on the trading price of our common stock.
Certain holders of our common stock are entitled to certain rights with respect to the registration of their shares under the Securities Act. Registration of these shares under the Securities Act
would result in the shares becoming freely tradable without restriction under the Securities Act, except for shares held by our affiliates as defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act. Any sales of
securities by these stockholders could have an adverse effect on the market price of our common stock.
In addition, we expect that additional capital may be needed in the future to continue our planned operations, including conducting clinical trials, commercialization efforts, expanded
research and development activities and costs associated with operating as a public company. To raise capital, we may sell common stock, including as part of the ATM, convertible securities or other
equity securities in one or more transactions at prices and in a manner we determine from time to time. If we sell common stock, including through the ATM, convertible securities or other equity
securities, investors may be materially diluted and new investors could gain rights, preferences and privileges senior to the holders of our common stock.
We have incurred and will continue to incur costs as a result of operating as a public company and our management has been and will be required to devote substantial time to compliance
initiatives and corporate governance practices, including maintaining an effective system of internal control over financial reporting.
As a public company listed in the U.S., we have incurred and will continue to incur significant additional legal, accounting and other expenses as a result of operating as a public company.
In addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Sarbanes Oxley) and regulations
implemented by the SEC and Nasdaq, may increase legal and financial compliance costs and make some activities more time consuming. These laws, regulations and standards are subject to varying
interpretations and, as a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. We intend to invest resources to create a larger
finance function with additional personnel to comply with evolving laws, regulations and standards, and this investment will result in increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion of
management’s time and attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance activities. If, notwithstanding our efforts to comply with new laws, regulations and standards, we fail to comply,
regulatory authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us, and our business may be harmed.
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As a public company in the U.S., we are required, pursuant to Section 404 of Sarbanes-Oxley (Section 404) to furnish a report by management on, among other things, the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting. The controls and other procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file with the SEC is
disclosed accurately and is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms.
In the normal course of business our controls and procedures may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or the degree of compliance with these policies or procedures may
deteriorate and material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting may be discovered. We may err in the design or operation of our controls, and all internal control systems, no
matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Because there are inherent limitations in all control systems, there can
be no absolute assurance that all control issues have been or will be detected. If we are unable, or are perceived as unable, to produce reliable financial reports due to internal control deficiencies,
investors could lose confidence in our reported financial information and operating results, which could result in a negative market reaction.
To fully comply with Section 404, we will need to retain additional employees to supplement our current finance staff, and we may not be able to do so in a timely manner, or at all. In
addition, in the process of evaluating our internal control over financial reporting, we expect that certain of our internal control practices will need to be updated to comply with the requirements of
Section 404 and the regulations promulgated thereunder, and we may not be able to do so on a timely basis, or at all. In the event that we are not able to demonstrate compliance with Section 404 in a
timely manner, or are unable to produce timely or accurate financial statements, we may be subject to sanctions or investigations by regulatory authorities, such as the SEC or Nasdaq, and investors
may lose confidence in our operating results and the price of our common stock could decline. Furthermore, if we are unable to certify that our internal control over financial reporting is effective and
in compliance with Section 404, we may be subject to sanctions or investigations by regulatory authorities, such as the SEC or stock exchanges, and investors could lose confidence in the accuracy
and completeness of our financial reports, which could hurt our business, the price of our common stock and our ability to access the capital markets.
Operating as a public company makes it more expensive for us to obtain directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur substantially
higher costs to obtain coverage. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on the Board of Directors, on committees of the Board of
Directors, or as members of senior management.
If a restatement of our consolidated financial statements were to occur, our stockholders’ confidence in the company’s financial reporting in the future may be affected, which could in turn
have a material adverse effect on our business and stock price.
If any material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting are discovered or occur in the future, our consolidated financial statements may contain material misstatements,
and we could be required to restate our financial results. In addition, if we are unable to successfully remediate any future material weaknesses in our internal controls or if we are unable to produce
accurate and timely financial statements, our stock price may be adversely affected, and we may be unable to maintain compliance with applicable stock exchange listing requirements.
We have not paid cash dividends in the past and do not expect to pay dividends in the future. Any return on investment may be limited to the value of our common stock.
We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying cash dividends for the foreseeable future. The payment of dividends on our common stock will depend
on earnings, financial condition and other business and economic factors affecting us at such time as the Board of Directors may consider relevant. If we do not pay dividends, our common stock may
be less valuable because a return on your investment will only occur if our stock price appreciates.
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Because we are relying on the exemptions from corporate governance requirements as a result of being a “controlled company” within the meaning of the Nasdaq listing standards, you do not
have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to such requirements.
Our Executive Chairman and Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer, Dr. Soon-Shiong, and entities affiliated with him, control a majority of our common stock. As a result, we are a
“controlled company” within the meaning of the Nasdaq listing standards. Under these rules, a company of which more than 50% of the voting power is held by an individual, a group or another
company is a “controlled company” and may elect not to comply with certain Nasdaq corporate governance requirements, including (1) the requirement that a majority of the Board of Directors
consist of independent directors, and (2) the requirement that we have a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee that is composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter
addressing the committee’s purpose and responsibilities. Accordingly, you do not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to all of the Nasdaq corporate
governance requirements. However, our Board of Directors is currently comprised of a majority of independent directors and we currently have a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
and the majority of the members of such committee are independent directors.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our share price and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock will depend on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our business. We do not have any control over these
analysts. There can be no assurance that analysts will cover us or provide favorable coverage. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our stock or change their opinion of our stock,
our share price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts’ cease coverage of our company or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which
could cause our share price or trading volume to decline.
The holders of our CVRs payable and contingent upon us obtaining FDA approval of our BLA by December 31, 2022 may not receive any further consideration.
In connection with the 2017 acquisition of Altor, we issued, in part, CVRs under which we agreed to pay the prior stockholders of Altor approximately $304.0 million contingent upon
successful approval of the BLA, or foreign equivalent, for N-803 by December 31, 2022. We have submitted the BLA, and in July 2022, we announced the FDA has accepted our BLA for review and
set a PDUFA target action date of May 23, 2023. It is unclear when the FDA will approve our BLA, if at all. If the FDA does not approve our BLA by December 31, 2022, prior to its established
PDUFA target action date, the $304.0 million will not be payable and the holders of these CVRs will not receive any cash or shares of our common stock on account of the CVRs.
We are not subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (DGCL), which could negatively affect your investment.
We elected in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to not be subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL. In general, Section 203 prohibits a publicly held
Delaware corporation from engaging in a “business combination” with an “interested stockholder” for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person became an interested
stockholder, unless the business combination is approved in a prescribed manner. A “business combination” includes a merger, asset sale or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the
interested stockholder. An “interested stockholder” is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns (or, in certain cases, within three years prior, did own) 15% or more of the
corporation’s voting stock. Our decision not to be subject to Section 203 will allow, for example, our Executive Chairman and Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer (who, with members of his
immediate family and entities affiliated with him, currently beneficially own, in the aggregate, approximately 78.7% of our common stock as of June 30, 2022) to transfer shares in excess of 15% of
our voting stock to a third-party free of the restrictions imposed by Section 203. This may make us more vulnerable to takeovers that are completed without the approval of our Board of Directors
and/or without giving us the ability to prohibit or delay such takeovers as effectively.
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Some provisions of our charter documents and Delaware law may have anti-takeover effects that could discourage an acquisition of us by others, even if an acquisition would be beneficial to
our stockholders, and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management.
Provisions in our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could make it more difficult for a third party
to acquire us or increase the cost of acquiring us, even if doing so would benefit our stockholders. These provisions include:
•

a requirement that special meetings of stockholders be called only by the board of directors, president or chief executive officer;

•

advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and nominations for election to the board of directors; and

•

the authority of the board of directors to issue preferred stock on terms determined by the board of directors without stockholder approval and which preferred stock may include rights
superior to the rights of the holders of common stock.

These anti-takeover provisions and other provisions in our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws could make it more difficult for
stockholders or potential acquirers to obtain control of our Board of Directors or initiate actions that are opposed by the then-current Board of Directors and could also delay or impede a merger,
tender offer or proxy contest involving our company. These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and other stockholders to elect directors of your
choosing or cause us to take other corporate actions you desire. Any delay or prevention of a change of control transaction or changes in our Board of Directors could cause the market price of our
common stock to decline.
Claims for indemnification by our directors and officers may reduce our available funds to satisfy successful third-party claims against us and may reduce the amount of money available to us.
Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws provide that we will indemnify our directors and officers, in each case to the fullest extent
permitted by Delaware law. In addition, as permitted by Section 145 of the DGCL, our Amended and Restated Bylaws and our indemnification agreements that we have entered into with our
directors and officers provide that:
•

We will indemnify our directors and officers for serving us in those capacities or for serving other business enterprises at our request, to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law.
Delaware law provides that a corporation may indemnify such person if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the
best interests of the registrant and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such person’s conduct was unlawful.

•

We may, in our discretion, indemnify employees and agents in those circumstances where indemnification is permitted by applicable law.

•

We are required to advance expenses, as incurred, to our directors and officers in connection with defending a proceeding, except that such directors or officers shall undertake to repay
such advances if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to indemnification.

•

We are not obligated pursuant to our Amended and Restated Bylaws to indemnify a person with respect to proceedings initiated by that person against us or our other indemnitees except
with respect to proceedings authorized by our Board of Directors or brought to enforce a right to indemnification.

•

The rights conferred in our Amended and Restated Bylaws are not exclusive, and we are authorized to enter into indemnification agreements with our directors, officers, employees and
agents and to obtain insurance to indemnify such persons.

•

We may not retroactively amend our bylaw provisions to reduce our indemnification obligations to directors, officers, employees and agents.

To the extent that a claim for indemnification is brought by any of our directors or officers, it would reduce the amount of funds available for use in our business.
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ITEM 2.

UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS.

(a) Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
In accordance with the terms of a settlement agreement reached in connection with the Altor BioScience, LLC litigation (see Note 7, Commitments and Contingencies—Litigation), on
July 9, 2022 the company issued 2,229,296 shares of its common stock with an aggregate market value of $10.7 million, based on the closing price of its common stock on the NASDAQ as of
July 8, 2022, to the appraisal petitioners pursuant to the terms of the court-approved settlement agreement. The company received no proceeds from the transaction. These shares of common stock
are exempt from registration under Rule 506(b) of the Securities Act on the basis that (a) ImmunityBio, Inc. is current with its filings with the SEC under the Exchange Act, (b) each purchaser is an
accredited investor, and (c) no general solicitation or advertising was used to market the shares.
(b) Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
None.
ITEM 3.

DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES.

None.
ITEM 4.

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

Not applicable.
ITEM 5.

OTHER INFORMATION.

None.
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ITEM 6.

EXHIBITS.

The documents listed below are incorporated by reference or are filed with this Quarterly Report, in each case as indicated therein (numbered in accordance with Item 601 of
Regulation S‑K).
Exhibit
Number

Description of Exhibit

2.1†

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 21, 2020, by and among ImmunityBio, Inc.
(f/k/a NantKwest, Inc.), NantCell, Inc. (f/k/a ImmunityBio, Inc.) and Nectarine Merger Sub, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on December 22, 2020).

10.1††

Purchase Agreement, by and between Athenex, Inc. and ImmunityBio, Inc. dated as of January 7, 2022
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on January 12, 2022).

10.2

Fort Schuyler Management Corporation Lease, effective as of October 1, 2021, between Fort Schuyler
Management Corporation, as Landlord, and Athenex, Inc., as Tenant (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 10, 2022).

10.3

First Amendment to Lease, effective as of February 14, 2022, by and among Fort Schuyler Management
Corporation and Immunity, Bio, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the company's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 10, 2022).

10.4*

Second Amendment to Facility License Agreement, effective as of May 1, 2022, by and between NantWorks, LLC, the Licensor, and ImmunityBio, Inc., the Licensee.

10.5*

Industrial/Commercial Lease Agreement dated May 1, 2022 by and between 23 Alaska, LLC and ImmunityBio, Inc.

10.6*

First Amendment to Lease dated July 16, 2015 by and between ARE-JOHN HOPKINS COURT, LLC and Conkwest, Inc.

10.7*

Second Amendment to Lease effective as of June 18, 2016 by and between ARE-JOHN HOPKINS COURT, LLC and NantKwest, Inc., fka Conkwest, Inc.

10.8*

Third Amendment to Lease dated April 12, 2022 by and between ARE-JOHN HOPKINS COURT, LLC and ImmunityBio, Inc.

10.9*

Lease Termination Agreement effective May 31, 2022 by and between ImmunityBio, Inc. and 557 Doug St., LLC.

31.1*

Rule 13a-14(a) / 15(d)-14(a) Certification of Principal Executive Officer.

31.2*

Rule 13a-14(a) / 15(d)-14(a) Certification of Principal Financial Officer.

32.1**

Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer.

32.2**

Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer.

101.INS

Inline XBRL Instance Document (the instance document does not appear in the
Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document).

101.SCH

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

104

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).
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_______________
†

Schedules and exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The company agrees to furnish to the SEC a copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit upon request.

††

Schedules and similar attachments have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. The company agrees to furnish to the SEC a copy of any omitted schedule or similar
attachment upon request.

*

Filed herewith.

**

The certifications attached as Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are deemed furnished and not filed with the SEC and are not to be incorporated by
reference into any filing of ImmunityBio, Inc. under the Securities Act, as amended, or the Exchange Act, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Quarterly Report,
irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
IMMUNITYBIO, INC.
Registrant
Date: August 8, 2022

By:

/s/ Richard Adcock
Richard Adcock
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 8, 2022

By:

/s/ David C. Sachs
David C. Sachs
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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EXHIBIT 10.4

SECOND AMENDMENT TO FACILITY LICENSE AGREEMENT
THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO FACILITY LICENSE AGREEMENT (this “Second Amendment”), effective as of May 1, 2022, is made and entered into by and
between NANTWORKS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Licensor”), and IMMUNITYBIO, INC., a Delaware corporation (f/k/a NantKwest, Inc., a Delaware
corporation) (“Licensee”), with respect to the following facts:
A.
Licensor and Licensee entered into that certain Facility License Agreement dated November 6, 2015, made effective as of May 22, 2015, as amended by that certain
First Amendment To Facility License Agreement, dated as of September 14, 2020 (collectively, the “License Agreement”), whereby Licensor licensed to Licensee and Licensee
licensed from Licensor certain office and lab space on the ground floor containing approximately 9,500 square feet (the “Original Licensed Premises”) located in that certain
building commonly known as 9920 Jefferson Boulevard, Culver City, California (the “9920 Building”).
B.

By this Second Amendment, Licensee has requested, and Licensor has agreed, to amend the License Agreement as provided herein.

C.

Unless otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms as used herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the License Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the mutual covenants contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:
1.
Expansion Licensed Premises. Effective, May 1, 2022 (“Expansion Commencement Date”), the Original Licensed Premises shall be expanded by adding
(a) approximately 27,102 rentable square feet in the 9920 Building, and (b) 9,728 rentable square feet in the building commonly known as 9922 Jefferson Boulevard, Culver City,
California (the “9922 Building” and together with the 9920 Building, the “Project”)) all as set forth on Exhibit A attached hereto (collectively, the “Expansion Licensed Premises”).
In addition to the Common Area rights set forth in the License Agreement with respect to the 9920 Building, Licensee shall have the non-exclusive right to use the hallways,
stairways, restrooms, kitchens, break rooms, parking lots, exterior areas and other common areas of the 9922 Building that may be reasonably necessary for Licensee’s use of the
Expansion Licensed Premises. Licensee shall also have the right to use all existing furniture, trade fixtures, photocopying equipment, printers and other equipment located or to be
located in the Expansion Licensed Premises or the Common Areas of the 9922 Building. Accordingly, as of the Expansion Commencement Date, all references in the License
Agreement to the term “Licensed Premises” shall hereinafter mean and include the Original Licensed Premises and Expansion Licensed Premises which will then consist of
approximately 46,330 rentable square feet. Licensor and Licensee each acknowledge and agree that the aforesaid description of the size and square footage of the Licensed Premises
are an approximation, which the parties agree is reasonable and payments made thereupon are not subject to dispute..
2.
Base Rent for the Expansion Premises. Effective from and after the Expansion Commencement Date and continuing through the end of the Term the License Fee
shall be $273,690.61 per month; provided, however, the License Fee shall increase by three percent (3%) commencing on January 1 of each and every year of the Term.
3.
Parking. In connection with Licensee’s use of the Licensed Premises, Licensee shall have the right to use up to 139 unreserved parking spaces at the Project at no
additional charge.
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4.

Miscellaneous.

(a)
Ratification. Except as specifically amended or modified by this Second Amendment, the License Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and is
hereby ratified and confirmed.
(b)
Severability of Provisions. If any provision of this Second Amendment is for any reason held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such
provision shall not affect the validity, legality or enforceability of any other provision of this Second Amendment.
(c)
Entire Agreement; Amendments and Waivers. This Second Amendment constitutes the entire agreement between Licensee and the Licensor pertaining to
the subject matter contained herein and supersedes any and all previous agreements between the parties hereto regarding the subject matter hereto. Any provision of this Second
Amendment may be amended or waived if, but only if, such amendment or waiver is in writing and is signed by the party asserted to be bound thereby, and then such amendment or
waiver shall be effective only in the specific instance and specific purpose for which given.
(d)
Authority. The individuals signing this Second Amendment on behalf of each party represent and warrant that such individual has the authority under the
company’s governing documents to execute and deliver this Second Amendment in the name of and on behalf of the company.
(e)

Successors and Assigns. The License Agreement, as amended hereby, shall apply to and bind Licensor and Licensee and their respective successors and

assigns.
(f)
Conflicts. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the License Agreement, in the event of a conflict or inconsistency between the terms of the License
Agreement and the terms and conditions of this Second Amendment, the terms and conditions set forth in this Second Amendment shall control and shall be deemed to supersede
the printed terms of the License Agreement. Whether or not specifically amended by this Second Amendment, all of the terms and provisions of the License Agreement are hereby
amended to the extent necessary to give effect to the purpose and intent of this Second Amendment.
(g)
Counterparts. This Second Amendment may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together
shall constitute one and the same instrument. In order to facilitate the agreements contemplated by this Second Amendment, signatures transmitted by facsimile or via e-mail in a
“PDF” format may be used in place of original signatures. Each party intends to be bound by such party’s facsimile or “PDF” format signature on this Second Amendment, is aware
that the other parties are relying on such party’s facsimile or “PDF” format signature, and hereby waives any defenses to the enforcement of this Second Amendment based upon the
form of signature.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed this Second Amendment as of the date first written above.
LICENSOR:
NANTWORKS, LLC
a Delaware limited liability company
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Robert Morse
Robert Morse
Chief Financial Officer

LICENSEE:
IMMUNITYBIO, INC.,
a Delaware corporation
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ David Sachs
David Sachs
CFO

May 6, 2022
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Exhibit 10.5 AIRCR: contracts STANDARD INDUSTRIAL/COMMERCIAL SINGLE-TENANT LEASE - NET (DO NOT USE THIS FORM FOR MULTI-TENANT BUILDINGS) 1. Basic Provisions ("Basic Provisions"). 1.1 Parties. This Lease ("Lease"), dated for reference purposes only May l. 2022 , is made by and between 23 Alaska. LLC. a California Ii mired liability companv ("Lessor"), and lmmunitvBio, Inc., a Delaware Corpora lion ("lessee"), (collectively the "Parties," or individually a "Party"). 1.2 Premises: That certain real property, including all improvements therein or to be provided by Lessor under the terms of this lease, commonly known as (street address, city, state, zip): the building located at 2335 Alaska Avenue, El Segundo, California, 90245 consisting or 47 .265 square feet ("Premises"). The Premises are located in the County of Los Angeles , and are generally described as {describe briefly the nature of the property and , if applicable, the "Project," if the property is located within a Project): _. (See also Paragraph 2) 1.3 Term: five (5) years and zero (OJ months {"Original Term") commencing Mav 1. 2022 ("Commencement Date") and ending April 30, 2027 ("Expiration Date"). (See also Paragraph 3) 1.4 Early Possession: If the Premises are available lessee may have non-exclusive possession of the Premises commencing not applicable ("Early Possession Date"). {See also Paragraphs 3.2 and 3.3) 1.5 Base Rent: $139,431.75 per month ("Base Rent"), payable on the first(lst) day of each month commencing on the Commencement Date {See also Paragraph 4 and Addendum) !;2J If this bo<is checked, there are provisions in this Lease for the Base Rent to be adjusted. See Paragraph [Sec Addendum) 1.6 Base Rent and Other Monies Paid Upon hecution: (a) Base Rent: $139,431.75 for the period first full calendar month of the Term . (b) Security Deposit: 5139.431.75 {"Security Deposit"). (See also Paragraph 5) (c) Association
Fees: S0.00 for the period (d) Other: $7,550.00 pcrmonth for parking . (e) Total Due Upon Execution of this Lease: S286.413.50 1.7 Agreed Use: The Premises shall be used for GMP pharmaceutical drug manufacturing. research and development laboratory, related oflicc and other related uses consistent with the character of the Premises and otherwise in compliance with the provisions of Paragraph 6 hereof. (See also Paragraph 6) 1.8 Insuring Party. Lessoris the "Insuring Party" unless otherwise stated herein. (See also Paragraph 8) 1 Q Real E"ite B•oke<5 \See alto P,r.1er:apll J 5 ?Pll l�) (a) Ropre,antation· Each �rty ac�oowhid&it ui-oiulng a Oisc10,11�• fl95;1«lios R11al E!t?t@ •s0nc�• Rglatioothip, confirru, and coo10ott 10 thQ !QIIQwioa age Re>( ,elJQSRsl,ips IA tllis lease witR tlae fellowing real estate bral,e,s ("8,9ker(s)") aAel/8< their agents(" '1;:eAt(s)"); I e"or', Droker:.se Fifi'.!) _ I i,oAill Mo _ Ii tbli brgkQr gf ,, . . ,k 0011)· [l tbii LlliiO�; or f1 bo1b 1be Llliiili ;ind I llHO( ld11;1I iSllPI) I essor's Agent _ I iceose No ls (check one)· n the I essor's Ageot(salespersoo or beaker associate)· nc n hnth the I essee's Agent and the I essoc's aseo• (d11al ageo•) bessee's Qiaik@F<188 fiFR' I i,;ea,0 Ne Is lhe b•al<Er ol (GReGI aoej· n IR@ bm;see; 8F O batR IRe Lesne JAY bem1< (ll�al JB@"I) lessee's o,geAt _ Uce�Na _ is (c�aaej; 0 the Lessee's 'gent (salespersaa a, e,el<e, ass0cia1ej; er O eetll IRe lessee's agent ana tl>e I esser's O.gen1 !et1al aeeRI), (bl l'i•fMen•�keli Upon e•eGijtion an!l aeli«ery el this Lease ll\• 0011> Pa mes, lesser sll,1 !l•Y 10 tl<e 9reke,s tlae l rokerage lee agreeg 18 In a ,epar.110 111ritlllA a9r90m0A• (or if tbere ;, AO ,u,1:1 as,00m001, •l>e ,um of 0<- % of the total Base Rent) for the brokerage services rendered by the Brokers. 1.10 Guarantor. The obligations of the Lessee vnder this lease are t;;-;; guaranteed by _ ("Guarantor"). {See also Paragraph 37) 1.11 Attachments. Attached hereto are the following, all of
which constitute a part of this Lease: !;2J an Addendum consisting of Paragraphs R._ through R; D a plot plan depicting the Premises; D a current set of the Rules and Regulations; '.=i a Work Letter; G2J other (specify): Option(s) to Extend Standard lease Addendum (Paragraph 51) 2. Premises. 2.1 letting. Lessor hereby leases to lessee, and lessee hereby leases from Lessor, the Premises, for the term, at the rental, and upon all of the terms, covenants and conditions set forth in this Lease. While the approximate square footage of the Premises may have been used in the marketing of the Premises for purposes of comparison, the 8ase Rent stated herein is NOT tied to square footage and is not subject to adjustment should the actual size be determined to be different. NOTE: lessee is advised to verify the actual size prior to executing this lease. 2.2 Condition. Lessor shall deliver the Premises to Lessee broom clean and free of debris on the Commencement Date or the Early Possession Date, whichever first occurs {"Start Date"}, end so long as the required service contcac1s described in Paragraph 7 J (b) below an:o obtalned bv t essee and in effect within tbidy days lollowillS tha Stirt Dat9, u•arr;anl§ that with the existing electrical, plumbing, fire sprinkler, lighting, heating, ventilating and air conditioning systems {"HVAC"), loading doors, sump pumps, if any, and all other such elements in the Premises, other than those constructed by Lessee, ,ball be in good 0p9r.it:JPg condition on ,aid date, tba4- Including the structural elements ol the roof, bearing walls and foundation of any buildings on the Premises (•he "Building") ,h;ill be free of matacial dafecu, and tl>at tl>e Pr@mi,e& dQ ngtcgnHin l:lai;i•dg�• 1@11@1& of ;in>f mold or fonsi d@RP@d a, toxi· 11Ader applicable ;t;i;e or lederal l;iw. If ;i 0011 compll;1oce "'ith ,,id warrant>/ wxi,1, a, of tbe Sti<1 D;11;, or if one of , . ,b i'fSlllros or elemanu 1ho•dd mallo,QctJoo oef.11 witl>in tbi appropriate
warr.101,, period, 1 iiSO< sha'I, as I assor's sole obligatior, ,ulth respect to s1 cb matter, except as otheouise pco1dded in this l oaso promptly after receipt of written notice from I es see setting forth with specificity the nature and rxtranl of ,web non,compliancc, rnalfrn>ctior> or failPce rectify samo at I cssac's expense The ,•,acootv periods sbal! be as follows· (iJ 6 Cf- INITIALS © 2019 AIR CRE. All Rights Reserved. STN-27.30, Revised 10-22-2D20 Pagel of 16

o,oAti:1, a, 10 ti:1& H11AC ,,,11,.m,1 ,nd (ii) 30 d,y, ,, to tha rao,ainios ''f"O"'' and c;,th,1< oforo&ot. c;,f th& 811ifdin9 If I 9Wi9 doe, oot 9h1111uor tl>a req11irad ooti,a within tbQ appcopciato w;uraoty poriod, correction or :any s, cb non compliance) mat£, nction or faihrrii rh;;,11 be the oblisat:ioo of I ersofl at I ,er,we'r sole cot' and e•pense lesser a Isa "'aff'<IAIS, that u"less ether •ise s13eeilied in '"Fi ting, lesser is 1<na,.•are er Ii) anv ,eeerded �letiees er Qefawlt alleeting the Pren,ise, (ii) "Af deliAqwont an,ounts due 1111dor a•·t l9ao sa"•<ad �'/ Iha 12ro"'ises; ao.l (iii} aA•f l)aokrup«:y proeeedins alle«ios tl:1e R,a,..ises 2.3 Compliance. Lessor warrants that to the best of its knowledge the improvements on the Premises comply with the building codes, applicabfe faws, covenants or restrictions of record, regulations, and ordinances ("Applicable Requirements") that were in effect at the time that each improvement, or portion thereof, was constructed. Said warranty does not apply to the particular use to which Lessee will put the Premises, modifications which may be required by the Americans with Disabilities Act or any similar laws as a result of lessee's parilcular use (see Paragraph SO), or to any Alterations or Utility Installations (as defined in Paragraph 7.3(a)) made or to be made by Lessee. NOTE: lessee is responsible for determining whether or not the Applicable Requirements, and especially the zoning, are appropriate for lessee's intended use, and acknowledges that past uses of the Premises may no longer be allowed fftbe Preo,ises do no• comply »•ilb saie •a•Fanl'f, bessar sRall, e11eep1 as otRe, .. ise prouidea, pFomplly ahe1 receipt a' ,.,rillen natiee Iran, lesoee selllns fart!; .,,itR speeiReily tRe nal1<Fe ans e•ten1 af s�-1:1 nan eomplianGe, rei;lily the same at be&soF's e�pense II bessee eoe& not giue besser .,,ritlen notice or a noo GO<Afllian.e witi:I this wa<Fanl'f •uitlaio e n,gnths followiAS tho �•ar:t Date, ""<ii,tion of that non
c;on,plian,e shall both& obligat;ioo ofl o"oo n I o"oa', ,o•o ,on aod o•floo,o If the Applicable Requirements are hereafter changed so as to require during the term of this Lease the construction of an addition to or an alteration of the Premises and/or Bui fding, !Re 1emeeiatian of an, lla�aFeews SHllstanee, or the reinforcement or other physical modification of the Unit, Premises and/or Building ("Capital Expenditure"), lessor and lessee shall allocate the cost of such work as follows: (a) Subject to Paragraph 2.3(c) below, if such Capital Expenditures are required as a result of the ,r,,o,iH, wd 11niq1 0 "Se of the Premises by Lessee�eeMl)aree, ·itll uses by tenants in general, Lessee shall be fully responsible for the cost thereof, p1o;•ided, l;o· 1e1e�that if sweA Capital E11,ienditure is required ewFing tAe last 2 years ef this lease anEI tile e0s111lereef eueeees 6 rflOAths' Sase Rent, lessee 1fla\' ins1eaEi !erminate tllis Lease uAless Lessor netifies lessee, ia "'ri�ng, wid,in lQ da, s a�er receipt ef lessee's termiAatien netice 1ha1 lessoF has elei;te�18 pa•,-tlae difference llet..,eeA tlae auwal 6051 tile reef and an a1floun1 eq1 al to G n,e nths' Base Rent. 11 lessee elects teFmina110n, bessee shall ,,.,meaiately cease the "se ef tile Pren,ises . ,hieh requires s1rER Capi!al �llfleAsitu,e and eeli�e, te bessar wril-\en neAee speeiffi,,g a tern,inatian Elate at leas19Q sa','S tlle,ea�er. S"ER terminaaen Elate sllall, hB"•e·ser, in no e"ent be earlieFlllan tile last aa1• that Lessee could •eisal'y wtili�e tile Premises withe wt eoo,n,encins such Capital �xpenEliture. (bl If such Capital Expenditure is not the result of the specific anEI uniq11e use of the Premises by Lessee (such as, governmentally mandated seismic modifications), then lessor shall pay for such Capital Expenditure and Lessee shall only be obligated to pay, each month during the remainder of the term of this Lease or any extension thereof, on the date that on which the Base Rent is due, an amount equal to
l,llA4tl1a fraction [ the n umcra tor of which is one, and the denominator of which is the number of month�in Lhc useful lifo of the item in question) of the portion of such costs reasonably attributable to the Premises. lessee shall pay Interest on the balance but may prepay its obligation at any time I�however:, such Capital Expendio,rc is ccq,,,ccd dt cing the lvst 2 years of this I ease or if I essor cea,o,,ably diatQcroioes th11t it is cal ecooomically (Qi!S:iblw to p.iy ih: s:baco than,10£1 I �sror sh.all bauw tbi optioo to t9rmioate this I ease ,,pen 9Qdavs pcioc wdtteo ooticw to I eu:ww ,,ohu, I wssee notifies I erro�in writina, within 10 days aftoc coceipt or f essor's termination noticGt that I es sos. 1tttl1 p2y foe s,;cb Capit?I Expeodih1re Jf l essoc does not elect to terminate, aod fails to tender its share of any s,,cb Capital Fxpeodit,1ce1 I essee may aduaocc s11cb f,aods aod dcd11ct s1roc, wl1h 1<1tar9st, Imm Rent 11ntil Loss gr', ,i.a,o gfs,-ci:I CQili Riltce Ileen 1"11,,- paid If ba,,ea ir 11n;1ble to finao,e Lo.sor•, &A;;He, or ii tla b,lilAGQ of tla Re•H d11e ;10'1 P•'r'8bl9 fgF tl:10 reo,aiR,hH 9£ IA ii Lea, . ;, R(;lt illltiGient 111 l11lly reir:nb11r111 Li6'Q8 QA ilA oUiet �,Ei&, Lu,ee iAilll Aaue tAQ 1i5lat10 tero,inale tlli, Lea,e 11poo 30 d,>fS "'ri1t110 ooti,e to I a.soc (c) Notwithstanding the above, the provisions concerning Capital Expenditures are intended to apply only to non-voluntary, unexpected, and new Applicable Requirements. If the Capital Expenditures are instead triggered by Lessee as a result of an actual or proposed change in use, change in intensity of use, or modification to the Premises then, and in that event, Lessee shall either: (i) immediately cease such changed use or intensity of use and/or take such other steps as may be necessary to eliminate the requirement for such Capital Expenditure, or (ii) complete such Capital Expenditure at its own expense. Lessee shall not, however, have any right to terminate this Lease. 2.4
Acknowledgements. lessee acknowledges that: (a) it has been given an opportunity to inspect and measure the Premises, (b) it has been advised by Lessor and/or Brokers to satisfy itself with respect to the size and condition of the Premises (including but not limited to the electrical, HVAC and fire sprinkler systems, security, environmental aspects, and compliance with Applicable Requirements and the Americans with Disabilities Act), and their suitability for Lessee's intended use, (c) Lessee has made such investigation as it deems necessary with reference to such matters and assumes all responsibility therefor as the same relate to its occupancy of the Premises, (d) it is not retying on any representation as to the size of the Premises made by Brokers or lessor, (el the square footage of the Premises was not material to Lessee's decision to lease the Premises and pay the Rent stated herein, and (f) neither Lessor, Lessor's agents, nor Brokers have made any oral or written representations or warranties with respect to said matters other than as set forth in this Lease. In addition, lessor acknowledges that: (i) Brokers have made no representations, promises or warranties concerning Lessee's ability to honor the Lease or suitability to occupy the Premises, and (ii) it is Lessor's sole responsibility to investigate the fina ncial capability and/or suitability of all proposed tenants. 2.5 lessee as Prior Owner/Occupant. The warranties made by lessor in Paragraph 2 shall be of no force or effect if immediately prior to the Start Date Lessee was the owner or occupant of the Premises. In such event, Lessee shall be responsible for any necessary corrective work. 3. Term. 3.1 Term. The Commencement Oate, Expiration Date and Original Term of this Lease are as specified in Paragraph 1.3. 3 2 Eady PouessioA Ony provision herein scanting I essee Eady Possession of the Premises ls tPbject to and coqditioaed 11poo the Premises being a,,ailablc foe s11et1 �assessian �•iar ta the
Cemn,eneen,eRt Oate, �n•; grant er Earl•; Passessien anl•; een,.e•;s a nan e11clusi"e right 10 eenr�y 1he Preo,ises. If lessee 101all¥ er �ar4'ally occuiiies 1i:.e Premises 11rier 19 the Cemn,encement Date, tl:1e ebligatien to P•'f Dase ReAt si:lall be allatet;I loF the !lerioe .,f s�eh �.F1•1 Possession 1111 8theF tOHAi of thi, Lea,e (in,ludios b1 t ngt li"'ited to tho oblieation, to p1y Roal Propar:ty Taxe, ;rnd io,uFaoca preo,ium, aod to rnai0tain tl:111 r,er:ni,11,) ,hall be io affe" d11rio9 ,.,,1:, period I A',' ,u,1:1 EilFly l'o55@"ion sl:iall AOt af:f@i;:t lh@ Expir,tion Date ��Delay In Pono55ioo lessor agFees 18 11se cer,:,r"ROFEiall•t reas8nable elf-Orts 18 aeli,,er e�Gl11si.,e ,iessession of the Premises 10 les,ee b1/ the Cen1n,eneemeot Cate I�despite said elfgrts, bessor Is unable tg seli.,e1 flOSsessi,.n t'ly sucll sate, lesse1 st.all not be subjec;t t8 an·, liabilit•t tl:1erefg�091 slaall su61l failuna affe,t ;he v,lidit;y :;if tl:l"t Loar• Q< ,har>ge th• txpirat:iQn Oate Lenee tl:::alt A Gt t>Qwe, er; be Qbli5ah1d to pay Pent o, par:forrn ·u 01P,v oblisat.ion, 110:t.il I oug, efer··e1s 13ossessian a' the P,e,.,ises an£! an•1 perieEI er rent abaten,ent that lessee, '8ijlEf 011:!e, ... ise ha"e enjeyed shall Fu A from the sate el seli ery ef 13essession ane EQAtinue far a �eriaef eqsal to whJI lesseewaula Olhef•uise haue enje•, ea 1;nser tile teFA1S llereer, ijij( n,inus an/ aa•,s al aelav easses B'f the acts OF omissiBAS af bessee I �ossessien is net efeliueres witi:lin GQ dat•s alteF 1he Como1eneeo,ent Cate, as the same "'3'1 be eKIORdod undeF the 10,,.., 9f any ll'llrk �elter e�ecutea ll•1 Rrn.ia1, I OflQO n,a•;, ?t i1101,tion, by ootic11 in 111ritioe withio 10 <fa,,,, alter •bg end of rnch GO '13)' pedod, ,an,ol thi, I ease, ir1 wl:1i,h g,.got tl:ia Partia, ihall ba eischargeel from all ellliga!ions he Few Ader If suel, ,.,,ilten netiee is not receiued ll1• lesser· •ithln sais lQday peiiad, lessee's ,iglH to E<1neel sl>all te,minate. If possession of the Preo,ises is not deli>1ered withio UC da1•s alter
11>e Conrnoen,en1eot Date, tlais bease shall terminal@ 11nless other a9reen1ents are rea,hed bet•ueen bessor aAd lessee, in wri!ine < ✓tL IN ITIALS © 2019 AIR CRE. All Rights Reserved . STN-27.30, Revised 10-22-2020 Page 2 of 16

AIRCR:: contracts Dated: Mav 1. 2022 By and Between OPTION(S) TO EXTEND STANDARD LEASE ADDENDUM Lessor: Lessee: 23 Alaska, LLC, a California limited liability company lmmunityBio, Inc .• a Delaware Corporation Property Address: 2335 Alaska Avenue, El Segundo, California, 90245 consistingof 47,265 square feet (street address, city, state, zip} Paragraph: 2.!__ A. OPTION(S) TO EXTEND: Lessor hereby grants to Lessee the option to extend the term of this Lease for _1_ additional _5_ year�period(s) commencing when the prior term expires upon each and all of the following terms and conditions: (i) In order to exercise an option to extend, Lessee must give written notice of such election to Lessor and Lessor must receive the same at least 9 months but not more than R_ months prior to the date that the option period would commence, time being of the essence. If proper notification of the exercise of an option is not given and/or received, such option shall automatically expire. Options (if there are more than one) may only be exercised consecutively. (ii) The provisions of paragraph 39, including those relating to Lessee's Default set forth in paragraph 39.4 of this Lease, are conditions of this Option. (iii) Except for the provisions of this Lease granting an option or options to extend the term, all of the terms and conditions of this Lease except where specifically modified by this option shall apply. fi,) This Op!ien is peFsenal te the eFiginal Lessee. ane eannet Ile assignee eF elEeFeisee 13, an,ene ethef than saie eFiginal Lessee ane enl, ·nhile the eFiginal Lessee is in full passessiaA af tile PFeAaises am! '"'illlaut tile iAteA!iaA af tlleFeafter assigning er su 131ett!Ag. (iv) The monthly rent for each month of the option period shall be calculated as follows, using the method(s) indicated below: (Check Method(s) to be Used and Fill in Appropriately) 0 I. Cost of Living Adjustment(s) (COLA) a. On (Fill in COLA Dates): the Base
Rent shall be adjusted by the change, if any, from the Base Month specified below, in the Consumer Price Index of the Bureau of Labor Statistics of theITT. Department of Labor for (select one): D CPI W (Urban Wage Earners and Clerical Workers) or D CPI U (All Urban Consumers), for (Fill in Urban Area): _. All Items (1982-1984 = 100), herein referred to as "CPI". b. The monthly Base Rent payable in accordance with paragraph A.I.a. of this Addendum shall be calculated as follows: the Base Rent set forth in paragraph 1.5 of the attached Lease. shall be multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which shall be the CPI of the calendar month 2 months prior to the month(s) specified in paragraph A.I.a. above during which the adjustment is to take effect, and the denominator of which shall be the CPI of the calendar month which is 2 months prior to (select one): 0 the first month of the term of this Lease as set forth in paragraph 1.3 ("Base Month") or D (Fill in Other "Base Month"): _. The sum so calculated shall constitute the new monthly Base Rent hereunder, but in no event, shall any such new monthly Base Rent be less than the Base Rent payable for the month immediately preceding the rent adjustment. c. In the event the compilation and/or publication of the CPI shall be transferred to any other governmental department or bureau or agency or shall be discontinued, then the index most nearly the same as the CPI shall be used to make such calculation. In the event that the Parties cannot agree on such alternative index, then the matter shall be submitted for decision to the American Arbitration Association in accordance with the then rules of said Association and the decision of the arbitrators shall be binding upon the parties. The cost of said Arbitration shall be paid equally by the Parties. �II. Market Rental Value Adjustment(s) (MRV) a. On (Fill in MRV Adjustment Date(s)) first clay of the option period (if any) the Base Rent shall be adjusted to
the "Market Rental Value" of the property as follows: 1) Faur Aaanths prier ta eaeR �qafi,et ReAtal l<alse • ejuslAaenl Qate eeserieee aea"'e Upon Lessee's exercise of an option to extend the Tenn, the Parties shall attempt to agree upon what the new MRV will be on the adjustment date. If agreement cannot be reached, within thirty days, then Lessee may rescind its exercise or the option to extend by giving Lessor wrluen no lice or such election to rescind prior to the expiration or such thirty (30) day period, or: (a) Lessor and Lessee shall immediately appoint a mutually acceptable appraiser or broker to establish the new MRV within the next 30 days. Any associated costs will be split equally between the Parties, or (b) Both Lessor and Lessee shall each immediately make a reasonable determination of the MRV and submit such determination, in writing, to arbitration in accordance with the following provisions: (i) Within 15 days thereafter, Lessor and Lessee shall each select an independent third party ,J appraiser or�broker ("Consultant" - check cg; INITIALS © 2017 AIR CRE. All Rights Reserved. OE-6.02, Revised 10-22-2020 Page 1 of 2

one) of their choice to act as an arbitrator (Note: the parties may not select either of the Brokers that was involved in negotiating the Lease). The two arbitrators so appointed shall immediately select a third mutually acceptable Consultant to act as a third arbitrator. (ii) The 3 arbitrators shall within 30 days of the appointment of the third arbitrator reach a decision as to what the actual MRV for the Premises is, and whether Lessor's or Lessee's submitted MRV is the closest thereto. The decision of a majority of the arbitrators shall be binding on the Parties. The submitted MRV which is determined to be the closest to the actual MRV shall thereafter be used by the Parties. (iii) If either of the Parties fails to appoint an arbitrator within the specified 15 days, the arbitrator timely appointed by one of them shall reach a decision on his or her own, and said decision shall be binding on the Parties. (iv) The entire cost of such arbitration shall be paid by the party whose submitted MRV is not selected, ie. the one that is NOT the closest to the actual MRV. 2) When determining MRV, the Lessor, Lessee and Consultants shall consider the terms of comparable market transactions which shall include, but not be limited to, rent, rental adjustments, abated rent, lease term and financial condition of tenants, shall be based on rental of comparable space of similar age, construction, size, and located within the vicinity of the Premises and shall take into account Lessee's obligations to pay additional rent under this Lease and any applicable tenant improvement al lowance, free ren t or other concessions being granted in comparable market transactions. 3) �lotwith.t;10dios th9 /Qr9soios, th9 09w 8,,9 8901 ,h,11 oot b9 19H tli,o th9 <9ot f1?y,bl9 for th9 month iroro9di,•9ly pr9•9dios th9 raot ,dj11,tro9ot b. Upon the establishment of each New Market Rental Value: 1) the new MRV will become the new "Base Rent" for the purpose of calculating any further Adjustments, and 2) the
first month of each Market Rental Value term shall become the new "Base Month" for the purpose of calculating any further Adjustments. 0111. Fixed Rental Adjustment(s) (FRA) The Base Rent shall be increased to the following amounts on the dates set forth below: On (Fill in FRA Adjustment Date(s)): The New Base Rent shall be: n IV. Initial Term A djustments The formula used to calculate adjustments to the Base Rent during the original Term of the Lease shall continue to be used during the extended term. 8. NOTICE: Unless specified otherwise herein, notice of any rental adjustments, other than Fixed Rental Adjustments, shall be made as specified in paragraph 23 of the Lease. C BROKER'5 fEE· Thg Brok•" ,h,11 bA p,id;, 8rokA<?SA FAA tor g,ch ,dj11,troaot ,pa,iflad ,boug io n,ord,o,a with pn;,gr;,ph 15 of thg I g;,,g or ii ,ppli.abla, p.r,gr:;aph g ol thg �AIR CRE • https://www.aircre.com • 213-687-8777 • contracts@aircre.com NOTICE: No part of these works may be reproduced in any form without permission in writing. c..,fZ.INITIALS © 2017 AIR CRE. All Rights Reserved. OE-6.02, Revised 10-22-2020 Page 2 of 2

ADDENDUM TO STANDARD INDUSTRIAL COMMERCIAL MULTI-TENANT LEASENET 2335 ALASKA A VENUE, EL SEGUNDO, CALIFORNIA, 90245 This Addendum ("Addendum") is attached to and made a part of that certain Standard Industrial/Commercial Single-Multi-Tenant Lease - Net (the "Lease") dated May 1, 2022, by and between 23 ALASKA, LLC, a California limited liability company ("Lessor") and IMMUNITYBIO, INC., a Delaware corporation ("Lessee"). Unless otherwise defined in this Addendum, or the context of this Addendum otherwise requires, each term used in this Addendum with its initial letter capitalized has the meaning given to such term in the Lease. 52. AS-IS CONDITION; TENANT IMPROVEMENT ALLOWANCE. Except for the representations and warranties otherwise expressly set forth in the Lease, Lessor has delivered possession of the Premises to Lessee in its "As-ls" condition. Lessor shall have no obligation to improve, repair, restore or refurbish the Premises for Lessee's use or occupancy, nor shall Lessor be obligated to provide or pay for any improvement work, any tenant improvement allowance or provide any other services related to the improvement of the Premises, except as otherwise expressly set forth in the Lease. Further, Lessee acknowledges and agrees that neither Lessor, nor any of its agents or representatives, have made or herein makes any representation, warranty or promise concerning the Premises, or the suitability of the Premises for the particular use contemplated by Lessee, except as otherwise expressly set forth in the Lease. Lessee shall be entitled to an "Improvement Allowance," for the construction of the "Improvements," as those terms are defined in the Work Letter attached as Exhibit A to this Addendum. 53. BASE RENT ADJUSTMENT. Base Rent shall be payable in advance on or before the 1st day of each month (subject to the abatement period provided
below). The monthly Base Rent shall be increased by three percent (3%) annually commencing on the first (I 5t) anniversary of the Commencement Date and each year thereafter. 54. MONTHLY BASE RENT ABATEMENT. Provided that Lessee is not then in default under the Lease (beyond any applicable notice and cure period) at any time during the Term which results in an early termination of the Lease, Lessee shall be entitled to an abatement of the monthly Base Rent (the "Base Rent Abatement") due under the Lease for the Premises from the second through the sixth full calendar months of the Term (collectively, the "Base Rent Abatement Period"). Lessee acknowledges and agrees that the Base Rent Abatement has been granted to Lessee as additional consideration for entering into the Lease, and for agreeing to pay the rental and performing the terms and conditions otherwise required under the Lease. If Lessee shall be in default under this Lease, and shall fail to cure such default within the notice and cure period which results in an early termination of the Lease, if any, permitted for cure pursuant to this Lease, then Lessee shall immediately become obligated to pay to Lessor all of the unamortized Base Rent Abatement Amount abated hereunder (amortized over a straightline basis) with interest as provided in the Lease from the date such Base Rent Abatement Amount would have otherwise been due under the Lease but for the Base Rent Abatement Period provided herein. Only monthly Base Rent shall be abated during the Base Rent Abatement Period. Lessee shall continue to pay all other Rent payable under the Lease during the Base Rent Abatement Period. The rights contained in this Paragraph 54 shall be personal to the original Lessee named in the Lease ("Original Lessee") or any assignee that qualifies as a Permitted Transferee and may only be exercised by the Original Lessee (and not any assignee, sublessee or transferee of the
Original Lessee's interest in the Lease) other than an assignee that qualifies as a Permitted Transferee. 1

55. ACCESS. Subject to Lessor's reasonable rules and regulations and any Applicable Requirements, during the Term, Lessee shall have access to the Premises twenty-four (24) hours per day, seven (7) days per week. 56. BROKERS. Lessor and Lessee hereby warrant to each other that they have had no dealings with any real estate broker or agent in connection with the negotiation of this Lease, and that they know of no real estate broker or agent who is entitled to a commission in connection with this Lease. Each party agrees to indemnify and defend the other party against and hold the other party harmless from any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, lawsuits, judgments, costs and expenses (including without limitation reasonable attorneys' fees) with respect to any leasing commission or equivalent compensation alleged to be owing on account of any dealings with any real estate broker or agent, occurring by, through, or under the indemnifying party. 57. INCONSISTENCY. The provisions of this Addendum are a part of the Lease. In the event there is any inconsistency between the terms of this Addendum and other terms of the Lease, then the terms of this Addendum shall prevail to the extent of such inconsistency. 58. WAIVER OF LESSOR LIEN. Upon written request by Lessee, Lessor shall execute (at Lessee's sole cost, including attorney's fees) within thirty (30) days of receipt of such request, a waiver of Lessor's right in any of Lessee's personal property in favor of Lessee's lender and confirm the license to enter granted to such lender, all in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Lessor and Lessee's lender. 59. HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES. Notwithstanding anything in this Lease to the contrary, Lessee and its agents, employees and contractors may use Hazardous Substances as needed for the operation of Lessee's business, so long as such Hazardous Substances are used, handled, transported and disposed of in compliance with
Applicable Requirements. 60. PARKING LOT AND EXTERIOR AREAS. Notwithstanding anything in this Lease to the contrary, Lessee shall have the exclusive right to use the parking lot and exterior areas of the land upon which the Premises is located. Lessee shall lease 151 parking spaces on a must-take basis at a monthly charge of $7,550.00 ($50.00 per month per parking space). 61. REAL PROPERTY TAXES DEFINITION. "Real Property Taxes" shall not include and Tenant shall not be required to pay any portion of any tax or assessment expense or any increase therein (a) levied on Lessor's rental income, unless such tax or assessment is imposed in lieu of real property taxes; (b) in excess of the amount which would be payable if such tax or assessment expense were paid in installments over the longest permitted term; (c) imposed on land and improvements other than the Project; or (d) attributable to Lessor's net income, inheritance, gift, transfer, estate or state taxes. 62. COSTS FOR WHICH LESSEE IS NOT RESPONSIBLE. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, Lessee shall have no obligation to reimburse Lessor for all or any portion of costs incurred in connection with the presence of any Hazardous Substances, except to the extent caused by the release or emission of the Hazardous Substances in question by Lessee. (Signature page to follow) 2

LESSEE: IMMUNITYBIO, INC., a Delaware corporation Name: ________ o_a_v,_·d_s_a_ch_s _______ _ Its: __________ cF_o __________ _ LESSOR: C, ed liability company By:--+---+-------------Name: C. , V\\NOY--rh�Its: 3

EXHIBIT A WORK LETTER SECTION 1 CONDITION OF PREMISES; IMPROVEMENT ALLOWANCE 1.1 Lessor has constructed, at its sole cost and expense, the base, shell and core of the Premises (collectively, the "Base, Shell and Core"). Lessor shall deliver the Base, Shell and Core to Lessee in its existing as-is condition. Lessee shall accept the Premises in their currently existing "as-is" condition and shall design and construct improvements in the Premises (the "Improvements") pursuant to this Work Letter. 1.2 Improvement Allowance. Lessee shall be entitled to an improvement allowance equal to $945,300.00 (i.e., $20.00 per rentable square foot of the Premises) ("Improvement Allowance") for the costs relating to the initial design and construction of Improvements which are permanently affixed to the Premises. In no event shall Lessor be obligated to make disbursements pursuant to this Lessee Work Letter in a total amount which exceeds the Improvement Allowance. Any unused portion of the Improvement Allowance remaining as of November 30, 2022 shall remain with Lessor and Lessee shall have no further right thereto. 1.3 Disbursement of the Improvement Allowance. Except as otherwise set forth in this Tenant Work Letter, the Improvement Allowance shall be disbursed by Lessor ( each of which disbursements shall be made pursuant to Lessor's disbursement process) only for costs related to the construction of the Improvements and for the following items and costs (collectively, the "Improvement Allowance Items"): (i) payment of the fees of the "Architect" and the "Engineers," as those terms are defined below; (ii) the cost of permits; (iii) the cost of any changes in the Base, Shell and Core required by the Construction Drawings (defined below); and (iv) the cost of any changes to the Construction Drawings or Improvements required by applicable building codes (the "Code"). 1.4 Over-Allowance Amount. Lessee shall be
responsible for paying any amounts (the "OverAllowance Amount") equal to the difference between (i) the cost of the Improvements and (ii) the amount of the Improvement Allowance. Any Over-Allowance Amount shall be paid prior to Lessor's distribution of the Improvement Allowance. Except for the Improvement Allowance, Lessee is responsible for paying for the entire cost of the Improvements and any other costs necessary for Lessee's occupancy and Lessee bears all risk, including timing and costs, in connection therewith. 1.5 Monthly Disbursements. On or before the twentieth (20th) day of each calendar month during the construction of Improvements (the "Submittal Date") (or such other date as Lessor may designate), Lessee shall deliver to Lessor: (i) a request for payment of the "Contractor," as that term is defined below, approved by Lessee showing the schedule, by trade, of percentage of completion of the Lessee Improvements in the Premises; (ii) invoices from all of"Lessee's Agents," as that term is defined below, for labor rendered and materials delivered to the Premises (if such invoice is for the Contractor, the Contractor will need to provide an application and certificate for payment [AIA form G702 1992 or equivalent] signed by the Architect/Space Planner, and a breakdown sheet [AJA form G703 1992 or equivalent]); (iii) a letter from the Lessee approving such invoices and requesting payment from the Improvement Allowance; and (iv) executed mechanic's lien releases, which lien releases shall be conditional with respect to the then-requested payment amounts and unconditional with respect to payment amounts previously disbursed by Lessor or Lessee, from all of Lessee's Agents which shall 4

comply with the appropriate provisions, as reasonably determined by Lessor, of California Civil Code Sections 8132, 8134, 8136 and 8138. Lessee's request for payment shall be deemed Lessee's acceptance and approval of the work furnished and/or the materials supplied as set forth in Lessee's payment request vis-a-vis Lessor and Lessee. On or before the date occurring thirty (30) days after the Submittal Date, and assuming Lessor receives all of the information described in items (i) through (iv), above, Lessor shall deliver a check to Lessee made payable to Lessee (or at Lessee's election, made payable to Contractor) for invoices previously paid by the Lessee in payment of the lesser of: (A) the amounts so requested by Lessee, above, up to an aggregate total of ninety percent (90%) of the Improvement Allowance (the remaining ten percent (I 0%) of the Improvement Allowance shall be the "Final TI Allowance Reimbursement"), and (8) the balance of any remaining available portion of the Improvement Allowance (not including the Final TI Allowance Reimbursement), provided that Lessor does not dispute any request for payment based on non-compliance of any work with the "Approved Construction Documents", as that term is defined below, or due to any substandard work not shown on the Approved Construction Documents. Lessor's payment of such amounts shall not be deemed Lessor's approval or acceptance of the work furnished or materials supplied as set forth in Lessee's payment request. 1.6 Final TI Allowance Reimbursement. Subject to the provisions of this Tenant Work Letter, a check for the Final TI Allowance Reimbursement payable to Lessee (or at Lessee's election, made payable to Contractor) shall be delivered by Lessor to Lessee thirty (30) days the completion of construction of the Premises, provided Lessor has determined that no substandard work exists which adversely affects the mechanical, electrical, plumbing, heating,
ventilating and air conditioning, lifesafety or other systems of the Building, the curtain wall of the Building, the structure or exterior appearance of the Building, or any other tenant's use of such other tenant's leased premises in the Building. SECTION 2 CONSTRUCTION DRAWINGS 2.1 Selection of Architect/Construction Drawings. Lessee shall retain an architect/space planner reasonably approved by Lessor (the "Architect ") to prepare the "Construction Drawings," as that term is defined in this Section 2.1. Lessee shall also retain the engineering consultants reasonably approved by Lessor (the "Engineers") to prepare all plans and engineering working drawings relating to the structural, mechanical, electrical, plumbing, HV AC and life safety work of the Improvements. The plans and drawings to be prepared by Architect and the Engineers hereunder shall be known collectively as the "Construction Drawings." All Construction Drawings shall conform with the drawing format and specifications specified by Lessor and shall be subject to Lessor's reasonable approval. Lessee and Architect shall verify, in the field, the dimensions and conditions as shown on the relevant portions of the base building plans, and Lessee and Architect shall be solely responsible for the same, and Lessor shall have no responsibility in connection therewith. Lessor's review of the Construction Drawings as set forth in this Section 2, shall be for its sole purpose and shall not imply Lessor's review of the same, or obligate Lessor to review the same, for quality, design, Code compliance or other like matters. Accordingly, notwithstanding that any Construction Drawings are reviewed by Lessor or its space planner, architect, engineers and consultants, and notwithstanding any advice or assistance which may be rendered to Lessee by Lessor or Lessor's space planner, architect, engineers, and consultants, Lessor shall have no liability whatsoever in connection therewith and shall not
be responsible for any omissions or errors contained in the Construction Drawings. 5

2.2 Final Space Plan. Lessee and the Architect shall prepare the final space plan for Improvements in the Premises (collectively, the "Final Space Plan"), which Final Space Plan shall include a layout and designation of all offices, rooms and other partitioning, their intended use, and equipment to be contained therein, and shall deliver the Final Space Plan to Lessor for Lessor's approval, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. 2.3 Final Working Drawings. Architect and the Engineers shall complete the architectural and engineering drawings for the Premises, and the final architectural working drawings in a form which is complete to allow subcontractors to bid on the work and to obtain all applicable permits (collectively, the "Final Working Drawings") and shall submit the same to Lessor for Lessor's approval, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. 2.4 Permits. The Final Working Drawings shall be approved by Lessor (the "Approved Working Drawings") prior to the commencement of the construction of the Improvements. Lessee shall cause the Architect to immediately submit the Approved Working Drawings to the appropriate municipal authorities for all applicable building permits necessary to allow "Contractor," as that term is defined in Section 3.1, below, to commence and fully complete the construction of the Improvements (the "Permits"). No changes, modifications or alterations in the Approved Working Drawings may be made without the prior written consent of Lessor, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. SECTION 3 CONSTRUCTION OF THE IMPROVEMENTS 3.1 Contractor. Lessee shall retain a qualified general contractor that is approved by Lessor in writing to construct the Improvements ("Contractor"). 3.2 Lessee's Agents. All subcontractors, laborers, materialmen, and suppliers used by the Lessee (such subcontractors, laborers, materialmen, and suppliers, and the Contractor to be known collectively as
"Lessee's Agents") must be approved in writing by Lessor, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. If Lessor does not approve any of the Lessee's proposed subcontractors, laborers, materialmen or suppliers, Lessee shall submit other proposed subcontractors, laborers, materialmen or suppliers for Lessor's written approval. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Lessee shall be required to utilize subcontractors designated by Lessor for any mechanical, electrical, plumbing, life-safety, sprinkler, structural and air-balancing work. 3.3 Construction of Improvements by Contractor. The Lessee shall independently retain, in accordance with Section 3.1 above, Contractor to construct the Improvements in accordance with the Approved Working Drawings. Prior to Lessee's execution of the construction contract and general conditions with Contractor (the "Contract"), Lessee shall submit the Contract to Lessor for its approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Prior to the commencement of the construction of the Improvements, and after Lessee has accepted all bids for the Improvements, Lessee shall provide Lessor with a detailed breakdown, by trade, of the final costs to be incurred or which have been incurred in connection with the design and construction of the Improvements to be performed by or at the direction of Lessee or the Contractor, which costs form a basis for the amount of the Contract (the "Final Costs"). 3.4 Indemnification & Insurance. 6

3.4.l Indemnity. Lessee's indemnity of Lessor as set forth in the Lease shall also apply with respect to any and all costs, losses, damages, injuries and liabilities related in any way to any act or omission of Lessee or Lessee's Agents. 3.4.2 Requirements of Lessee's Agents. Each of Lessee's Agents shall guarantee to Lessee and for the benefit of Lessor that the portion of the Improvements for which it is responsible shall be free from any defects in workmanship and materials for a period of not less than one (I) year from the date of completion thereof All such warranties or guarantees as to materials or workmanship of or with respect to the Improvements shall be contained in the contract or subcontract and shall be written such that such guarantees or warranties shall inure to the benefit of both Lessor and Lessee, as their respective interests may appear, and can be directly enforced by either. Lessee covenants to give to Lessor any assignment or other assurances which may be necessary to effect such right of direct enforcement. 3.4.3 Insurance Requirements. 3 .4.3 .1 General Coverages. All of Lessee's Agents shall carry worker's compensation insurance covering all of their respective employees, and shall also carry public liability insurance, including property damage, all with limits, in form and with companies as are required to be carried by Lessee as set forth in the Lease. 3.4.3.2 Special Coverages. Lessee shall carry "Builder's All Risk" insurance in an amount approved by Lessor covering the construction of the Improvements, and such other insurance as Lessor may require. Such insurance shall be in amounts and shall include such extended coverage endorsements as may be reasonably required by Lessor. 3.4.3.3 General Terms. Certificates for all insurance carried pursuant to this Section 3.4.3.3 shall be delivered to Lessor before the commencement of construction of the Improvements and before the Contractor's equipment is moved onto the site. In
the event that the Improvements are damaged by any cause during the course of the construction thereof, Lessee shall immediately repair the same at Lessee's sole cost and expense. Lessor may, in its discretion, require Lessee to obtain a lien and completion bond or some alternate form of security satisfactory to Lessor in an amount sufficient to ensure the lien-free completion of the Improvements and naming Lessor as a coobligee. 3.5 Rules and Regulations. Lessee, Contractor and all of Lessee's Agents shall be required to comply with Lessor's reasonable construction rules and regulations. Lessee shall use it best efforts to coordinate its construction activities with such other tenants in order to ensure an orderly and efficient construction process. SECTION 4 MISCELLANEOUS 4.1 Lessee's Representative. The Lessee shall designate a representative with respect to the matters set forth in this Work Letter, who, until further notice to Lessor, shall have full authority and responsibility to act on behalf of the Lessee as required in this Work Letter. 4.2 Lessor's Representative. The Lessor shall designate a representative with respect to the matters set forth in this Work Letter, who, until further notice to Lessee, shall have full authority and responsibility to act on behalf of the Lessor as required in this Work Letter. 7

EXHIBIT 10.6
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FIRST AMENDMENT TO LEASE
This First Amendment (the “Amendment”) to Lease is made as of July 16, 2015, by and between ARE-JOHN HOPKINS COURT, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company (“Landlord”), and CONKWEST, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Tenant”).
RECITALS
A.
Landlord and Tenant are parties to that certain Lease Agreement dated as of June 19, 2015 (the “Lease”). Pursuant to the Lease, Tenant leases certain premises
consisting of approximately 44,681 rentable square feet (“Premises”) in a building located at 3530 John Hopkins Court, San Diego, California. The Premises are more particularly
described in the Lease. Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the meanings defined for such terms in the Lease.
B.
Landlord and Tenant desire to amend the Lease to, among other things, eliminate (i) the Early Termination Payment in connection with Tenant's Termination Right,
and (ii) the Administrative Rent payable by Tenant in connection with the construction of Tenant Improvements.
AGREEMENT
Now, therefore, the parties hereto agree that the Lease is amended as follows:
1.

Amendment to Section 39 (Early Termination Right). Section 39 of the Lease shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

“Early Termination Right. Tenant shall have the right, subject to the provisions of this Section 39, to terminate this Lease (“Termination Right”) with respect to the entire
Premises only as of July 31, 2021 (“Early Termination Date”), so long as Tenant delivers to Landlord a written notice (“Termination Notice”), of its election to exercise its
Termination Right no less than 12 months in advance of the Early Termination Date. If Tenant timely and properly exercises the Termination Right, Tenant shall vacate the Premises
and deliver possession thereof to Landlord in the condition required by the terms of this Lease on or before the Early Termination Date and Tenant shall have no further obligations
under this Lease except for those accruing prior to the Early Termination Date and those which, pursuant to the terms of this Lease, survive the expiration or early termination of
this Lease. If Tenant does not deliver to Landlord the Termination Notice within the time period provided in this paragraph, Tenant shall be deemed to have waived its Termination
Right and the provisions of this Section 39 shall have no further force or effect.”
2.
Amendment to Work Letter (Exhibit C to Lease). Section 5(a) of the Work Letter, attached as Exhibit C to the Lease, shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the
following:
“Budget For Tenant Improvements. Before the commencement of construction of the Tenant Improvements, Landlord shall obtain and deliver to Tenant for approval (which
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned) a detailed breakdown by trade of the costs incurred or that will be incurred in connection with the design and
construction of the Tenant Improvements (the “Budget”). The Budget may be amended from time to time but shall be submitted to Tenant each time for its approval which approval
shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. The initial Budget shall be based upon the TI Construction Drawings approved by Tenant. If the Budget is greater than
the TI Allowance, Tenant shall deposit with Landlord the difference, in cash, prior to the commencement of construction of the Tenant Improvements or Changes, for disbursement
by Landlord as described in Section 5(d).”
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All references to “Administrative Rent” in the Work Letter shall be deemed deleted.
3.
OFAC. Tenant is currently (a) in compliance with and shall at all times during the Term of the Lease remain in compliance with the regulations of the Office of Foreign
Assets Control (“OFAC”) of the U.S. Department of Treasury and any statute, executive order, or regulation relating thereto (collectively, the “OFAC Rules”), (b) not listed on,
and shall not during the term of the Lease be listed on, the Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List maintained by OFAC and/or on any other similar list
maintained by OFAC or other governmental authority pursuant to any authorizing statute, executive order, or regulation, and (c) not a person or entity with whom a U.S. person is
prohibited from conducting business under the OFAC Rules.
4.

Miscellaneous.

(a)
This Amendment is the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous oral
and written agreements and discussions. This Amendment may be amended only by an agreement in writing, signed by the parties hereto.
(b)
This Amendment is binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto, their respective agents, employees, representatives, officers, directors,
divisions, subsidiaries, affiliates, assigns, heirs, successors in interest and shareholders.
(c)
This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which when taken together shall
constitute one and the same instrument. The signature page of any counterpart may be detached therefrom without impairing the legal effect of the signature(s) thereon provided
such signature page is attached to any other counterpart identical thereto except having additional signature pages executed by other parties to this Amendment attached thereto.
(d)
Landlord and Tenant each represent and warrant that it has not dealt with any broker, agent or other person (collectively, “Broker”) in connection with this
transaction, and that no Broker brought about this transaction. Landlord and Tenant each hereby agree to indemnify and hold the other harmless from and against any claims by any
Broker claiming a commission or other form of compensation by virtue of having dealt with Tenant or Landlord, as applicable, with regard to this leasing transaction.
(e)
Except as amended and/or modified by this Amendment, the Lease is hereby ratified and confirmed and all other terms of the Lease shall remain in full
force and effect, unaltered and unchanged by this Amendment. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Amendment and the provisions of the Lease, the
provisions of this Amendment shall prevail. Whether or not specifically amended by this Amendment, all of the terms and provisions of the Lease are hereby amended to the extent
necessary to give effect to the purpose and intent of this Amendment.
(Signatures on Next Page)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Amendment as of the day and year first above written.
LANDLORD:

ARE-JOHN HOPKINS COURT, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company
By: ARE-QRS CORP.,
a Maryland corporation,
managing member
By: /s/ Gary Dean
Gary Dean
Senior Vice President
RE Legal Affairs

TENANT:

CONKWEST, INC.,
a Delaware corporation
By: /s/ Barry J. Simon
Barry J. Simon
Its: President & Chief Operating Officer

EXHIBIT 10.7
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SECOND AMENDMENT TO LEASE
This Second Amendment (the “Amendment”) to Lease is made as of July 28, 2016 but effective as of June 18, 2016, by and between ARE-JOHN HOPKINS COURT,
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Landlord”), and NANTKWEST, INC., fka CONKWEST, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Tenant”).
RECITALS
A.
Landlord and Tenant are parties to that certain Lease Agreement dated as of June 19, 2015 as amended by that certain First Amendment to Lease dated
July 16, 2015 (as amended, the “Lease”). Pursuant to the Lease, Tenant leases certain premises consisting of approximately 44,681 rentable square feet (“Premises”) in a building
located at 3530 John Hopkins Court, San Diego, California. The Premises are more particularly described in the Lease. Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have
the meanings defined for such terms in the Lease.
B.
Landlord and Tenant desire to amend the Lease to, as further described below, extend the deadline for Tenant's shall delivery of its test fit and any other
programming information detailing Tenant's requirements for the Tenant Improvements from twelve (12) months after the date of the Work Letter to eighteen (18) months after the
date of the Work Letter.
AGREEMENT
Now, therefore, the parties hereto agree that the Lease is amended as follows:
1.

Amendment. The first sentence of Section 2(b) of the Work Letter is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
“Tenant shall deliver to Landlord and the TI Architect its test fit and any other programming information detailing Tenant's requirements for the Tenant Improvements
within eighteen (18) months after the date hereof.”

2.

Miscellaneous.

(a)
This Amendment is the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous oral
and written agreements and discussions. This Amendment may be amended only by an agreement in writing, signed by the parties hereto.
(b)
This Amendment is binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto, their respective agents, employees, representatives, officers, directors,
divisions, subsidiaries, affiliates, assigns, heirs, successors in interest and shareholders.
(c)
This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which when taken together shall
constitute one and the same instrument. The signature page of any counterpart may be detached therefrom without impairing the legal effect of the signature(s) thereon provided
such signature page is attached to any other counterpart identical thereto except having additional signature pages executed by other parties to this Amendment attached thereto.
(d)
Landlord and Tenant each represent and warrant that it has not dealt with any broker, agent or other person (collectively, “Broker”) in connection with this
transaction, and that no Broker brought
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about this transaction. Landlord and Tenant each hereby agree to indemnify and hold the other harmless from and against any claims by any Broker claiming a commission or other
form of compensation by virtue of having dealt with Tenant or Landlord, as applicable, with regard to this leasing transaction.
(e)
Except as amended and/or modified by this Amendment, the Lease is hereby ratified and confirmed and all other terms of the Lease shall remain in full
force and effect, unaltered and unchanged by this Amendment. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Amendment and the provisions of the Lease, the
provisions of this Amendment shall prevail. Whether or not specifically amended by this Amendment, all of the terms and provisions of the Lease are hereby amended to the extent
necessary to give effect to the purpose and intent of this Amendment.
(Signatures on Next Page)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Amendment as of the day and year first above written.
LANDLORD:

ARE-JOHN HOPKINS COURT, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company
By: ARE-QRS CORP.,
a Maryland corporation,
managing member
By: /s/ Gary Dean
Gary Dean
Senior Vice President
RE Legal Affairs

TENANT:

NANTKWEST, INC.,
a Delaware corporation
By: /s/ Barry J. Simon
Barry J. Simon, M.D.
President & COO
NantKwest Inc.

EXHIBIT 10.8

THIRD AMENDMENT TO LEASE
THIS THIRD AMENDMENT TO LEASE (this “Third Amendment”) is made as of April 12, 2022, by and between ARE-JOHN HOPKINS COURT, LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company (“Landlord”), and IMMUNITYBIO, INC., a Delaware corporation, f/k/a Nantkwest, Inc. (“Tenant”).
RECITALS
A. Landlord and Tenant are now parties to that certain Lease Agreement dated as of June 19, 2015 (the “Original Lease”), as amended by that certain First Amendment
to Lease dated as of July 16, 2015, and as further amended by that certain Second Amendment to Lease dated as of June 18, 2016 (as amended, the “Lease”). Pursuant to the
Lease, Tenant leases certain premises containing approximately 44,681 rentable square feet (the “Premises”), consisting of the entire building located at 3530 John Hopkins Court,
San Diego, California. The Premises are more particularly described in the Lease. Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the meanings defined for such terms
in the Lease.
B.

The Term of the Lease is scheduled to expire on July 31, 2023 (the “Existing Expiration Date”).

C. Landlord and Tenant desire, subject to the terms and conditions set forth below, to amend the Lease to, among other things, extend the Term of the Lease through
July 31, 2030 (the “Third Amendment Expiration Date”).
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing Recitals, which are incorporated herein by this reference, the mutual promises and conditions contained herein, and
for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Landlord and Tenant hereby agree as follows:
1.

Term. The Term of the Lease is hereby extended through the Third Amendment Expiration Date. Tenant’s occupancy of the Premises through the Third Amendment
Expiration Date shall be on an “as-is” basis subject to the terms and conditions of the Lease, and, except as expressly provided in Section 5 below, Landlord shall have no
obligation to provide any tenant improvement allowance, and except as expressly set forth in Section 4 below or otherwise expressly set forth in the Lease, Landlord shall
have no obligation to make any alterations to the Premises.

2.

Base Rent. Tenant shall continue to pay Base Rent as provided under the Lease through the Existing Expiration Date. Commencing on August 1, 2023 (the “Third
Amendment Commencement Date”), Tenant shall pay Base Rent in the amount of $87.00 per rentable square foot of the Premises per year. Commencing on
August 1, 2024, and on each subsequent August 1st through the Third Amendment Expiration Date (each, a “Third Amendment Adjustment Date”), Base Rent shall be
increased by multiplying the Base Rent payable immediately before such Third Amendment Adjustment Date by 3.0% and adding the resulting amount to the Base Rent
payable immediately before such Third Amendment Adjustment Date.

3.

Base Rent Abatement. Landlord and Tenant hereby agree that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Lease, so long as Tenant is not in default under
the Lease beyond any applicable notice and cure period, Tenant shall not be required to pay Base Rent under the Lease for the period beginning on the Third Amendment
Commencement Date and ending on February 29, 2024 (the “Third Amendment Abatement Period”). Tenant shall resume paying 100% of the Base Rent required to be
paid under the Lease on the date immediately following the expiration of the Third Amendment Abatement Period. For the avoidance of doubt, Tenant shall continue during
the Third Amendment Abatement Period to pay Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses (in accordance with the terms of the Lease and without any abatement) and all other
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amounts due under the Lease. For further avoidance of doubt, during the Third Amendment Abatement Period Tenant shall be required to pay the costs of Landlord’s third
party manager or the administration rent, as applicable, payable pursuant to Section 5 of the Original Lease on the amount of Base Rent that would have been payable
under the Lease during the Third Amendment Abatement Period in the absence of such Third Amendment Abatement Period.
4.

Condition of Premises. Landlord has retained, at Landlord’s sole cost and expense and not as an Operating Expense, Pacific Rim and DEC Engineers (each, an “MEP
Surveyor”) to conduct a joint inspection (the “MEP Survey”) of the Building Systems and Common Service Yard Equipment listed on Exhibit A attached hereto (each, an
“MEP Replacement Item”) to evaluate the condition of each MEP Replacement Item. The summarized findings and suggested capital repairs and replacements from the
MEP Survey are also set forth on Exhibit A. As soon as commercially reasonable, Landlord will complete, at Landlord’s sole cost and expense and not as an Operating
Expense, the suggested capital repairs and replacements (the “Current MEP Repairs”) listed in the far right column of Exhibit A for the Chillers, Boiler, Air Handling Unit
and Exhaust Fan (each, a “Current MEP Repair Item”). If after Landlord completes the suggested capital repairs and replacements to the Current MEP Repair Items, an
MEP Replacement Item (including any previously repaired Current MEP Repair Item) requires a capital repair or replacement prior to July 31, 2027, as determined by an
MEP Surveyor or other third party professional retained by Landlord and reasonably approved by Tenant, Landlord shall be responsible for the cost of the capital repair or
replacement of such MEP Replacement Item, and such cost shall not be included as part of Operating Expenses. Landlord shall have the right to approve in its good faith
commercially reasonable discretion, the make, model, specifications, cost and contract, as applicable, for any MEP Replacement Item (including with respect to any Current
MEP Repair Item), provided that any replacement item shall be of at least comparable quality as the originally installed item, as reasonably determined by Landlord. Once
an MEP Replacement Item has been given a capital repair or replacement (not including the Current MEP Repairs), the cost of any subsequent capital repair or
replacement required of such MEP Replacement Item during the Term shall be considered an Operating Expense, subject to the terms of Section 5 of the Original Lease.
For avoidance of doubt, (i) the cost of the regular maintenance and regular repairs (as opposed to capital repairs) of the MEP Replacement Items throughout the Term shall
be considered Operating Expenses, subject to the terms of Section 5 of the Original Lease, and (ii) capital repairs, replacements and regular maintenance for any other
equipment serving the Building which is not listed on Exhibit A shall be considered an Operating Expense, subject to the terms of Section 5 of the Original Lease.

5.

Premises Improvements. Landlord shall make available to Tenant a tenant improvement allowance in the amount of $15.00 per rentable square foot of the Premises, or
$670,215.00 in the aggregate (the “Improvement Allowance”), for the design and construction of fixed and permanent improvements desired by and performed by Tenant
and reasonably acceptable to Landlord, including, without limitation, new carpet and paint in the Premises (collectively, the “Premises Improvements”), which Premises
Improvements shall be constructed pursuant to a scope of work submitted by Tenant and reasonably approved by Landlord. The Improvement Allowance shall be available
only for the design, construction and installation of the Premises Improvements. Tenant acknowledges that upon the expiration of the Term of the Lease, the Premises
Improvements shall become the property of Landlord and may not be removed by Tenant. Except for the Improvement Allowance, Tenant shall be solely responsible for all
of the costs of the Premises Improvements. The Premises Improvements shall be treated as Alterations and shall be undertaken pursuant to Section 12 of the Original
Lease. The contractor for the Premises Improvements shall be selected by Tenant, subject to Landlord’s approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed. Prior to the commencement of the Premises Improvements, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord a copy of any contract with Tenant’s contractors, and
certificates of insurance from any contractor performing any part of the Premises Improvements evidencing industry standard commercial general liability, automotive
liability, “builder’s risk”, and workers’ compensation insurance. Tenant shall cause the
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general contractor to provide a certificate of insurance naming Landlord, Alexandria Real Estate Equities, Inc., and Landlord’s lender (if any) as additional insureds for the
general contractor’s liability coverages required above.
Landlord shall approve or disapprove of Tenant’s proposed plans for any Premises Improvements requiring such approval within 10 business days after Landlord’s receipt
of such plans and request for approval from Tenant. If Landlord does not approve the same, but advises Tenant in writing of the changes required to such plans so that they
will meet with Landlord’s approval thereof, then Tenant shall revise the plans to incorporate such Landlord-proposed changes and re-submit the same for Landlord’s review
and approval. Landlord shall provide Tenant with notice approving or reasonably disapproving the modified and resubmitted plans within 5 business days after Landlord’s
receipt of such modified and resubmitted plans and request for approval from Tenant. Such procedure shall be repeated as necessary until Landlord has approved such
plans (or the applicable component thereof). If Landlord fails to notify Tenant of Landlord’s approval or disapproval of the applicable Tenant’s plans within the applicable
time periods set forth hereinabove, and such failure continues for 5 business days after Landlord’s receipt of a second notice from Tenant (together with the applicable
plans), which written notice shall include, on the first page thereof, a reasonably legible, prominently situated statement that Landlord’s failure to respond to such notice
within 5 business days after Landlord receives such notice will be deemed Landlord’s approval of such applicable plans, then Landlord shall be deemed to have approved
of such applicable plans set forth in the submitted package for the Premises Improvements.
During the course of design and construction of the Premises Improvements, Landlord shall reimburse Tenant for the cost of the Premises Improvements once a month
against a draw request in Landlord’s standard form, containing evidence of payment of the applicable costs and such certifications, lien waivers (including a conditional lien
release for each progress payment and unconditional lien releases for the prior month’s progress payments), inspection reports and other matters as Landlord customarily
obtains, to the extent of Landlord’s approval thereof for payment, no later than 30 days following receipt of such draw request. Upon completion of the Premises
Improvements (and prior to any final disbursement of the Improvement Allowance) Tenant shall deliver to Landlord the following items: (i) sworn statements setting forth the
names of all contractors and subcontractors who did work on the Premises Improvements and final lien waivers from all such contractors and subcontractors; and (ii) “as
built” plans for the Premises Improvements. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the cost of the Premises Improvements exceeds the Improvement Allowance, Tenant shall be
required to pay such excess in full prior to Landlord having any obligation to fund any remaining portion of the Improvement Allowance. The Improvement Allowance shall
only be available for use by Tenant in connection with the Premises Improvements commencing on the date of this Third Amendment through the date that is 12 months
after the Third Amendment Commencement Date (i.e., August 1, 2024) (the “Outside Improvement Allowance Date”). Any portion of the Improvement Allowance which
has not been properly requested by Tenant from Landlord on or before the Outside Improvement Allowance Date shall be forfeited and shall not be available for use by
Tenant. Tenant shall pay to Landlord administrative rent equal to 1% of the design, permit and construction costs in connection with the construction of the Premises
Improvements, which shall be payable from the Improvement Allowance. For avoidance of doubt, other than as set forth in the immediately prior sentence, Tenant shall not
be required to pay Landlord any additional administrative, plan review, coordination, scheduling or other supervision fee with respect to the Premises Improvements.
6.

Right to Extend Term. Tenant shall have no right to further extend the Term of the Lease except as set forth below:
a.

Extension Right.

(i)
Tenant shall have 1 right (the “Extension Right”) to extend the term of the Lease for a period of 5 years (the “Extension Term”) on the same terms and
conditions as the Lease
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(other than with respect to Base Rent and the Improvement Allowance) by giving Landlord written notice of its election to exercise the Extension Right at least 12 months
prior, and no earlier than 15 months prior, to the Third Amendment Expiration Date.
(ii)
Upon the commencement of the Extension Term, Base Rent shall be payable at the Market Rate (as defined below). Base Rent shall thereafter be adjusted
on each annual anniversary of the commencement of the Extension Term by a percentage agreed upon by Landlord and Tenant at the time the Market Rate is determined.
As used herein, “Market Rate” shall mean the rate for space that Landlord and affiliates of Landlord have accepted at the Project and at comparable laboratory/office
projects in the Torrey Pines submarket during the 12-month period prior to Tenant’s exercise of the Extension Right from non-equity (i.e., not being offered equity in the
buildings) and nonaffiliated tenants of similar financial strength (the “Portfolio Comps”); provided, however, if Landlord determines, in its reasonable discretion, that there
are no Portfolio Comps at a market rate, then the Market Rate shall be the rate that comparable landlords of comparable buildings have accepted in current transactions
from non-equity (i.e., not being offered equity in the buildings) and nonaffiliated tenants of similar financial strength. In determining the Market Rate, the comparable space
shall be of comparable quality (including the Premises Improvements, Alterations and other improvements) and floor height in comparable laboratory/office buildings in the
Torrey Pines submarket (including those owned by Landlord or affiliates of Landlord) for a comparable term, with the determination of the Market Rate to take into account
all relevant factors, including tenant inducements, views, available amenities (including, without limitation, the Amenities), age of the Buildings, age of mechanical systems
serving the Premises, parking costs, leasing commissions, allowances or concessions, if any. Landlord shall notify Tenant in writing of Landlord’s determination of the
Market Rate within 30 days after Tenant’s written request therefor.
(iii)
If, on or before the date which is 210 days prior to the expiration of the initial Term of the Lease, Tenant has not agreed with Landlord’s determination of the
Market Rate and the rent escalations during the Extension Term after negotiating in good faith, Tenant shall be deemed to have elected arbitration as described in
Section 6(b). Tenant acknowledges and agrees that, if Tenant has elected to exercise the Extension Right by delivering notice to Landlord as required in this Section 6(a),
Tenant shall have no right thereafter to rescind or elect not to extend the term of the Lease for the Extension Term.
b.

Arbitration.

(i)
Within 10 days of Tenant’s notice to Landlord of its election (or deemed election) to arbitrate Market Rate and escalations, each party shall deliver to the
other a proposal containing the Market Rate and escalations that the submitting party believes to be correct (“Extension Proposal”). If either party fails to timely submit an
Extension Proposal, the other party’s submitted proposal shall determine the Base Rent and escalations for the Extension Term. If both parties submit Extension Proposals,
then Landlord and Tenant shall meet within 7 days after delivery of the last Extension Proposal and make a good faith attempt to mutually appoint a single Arbitrator
(defined below) to determine the Market Rate and escalations. If Landlord and Tenant are unable to agree upon a single Arbitrator, then each shall, by written notice
delivered to the other within 10 days after the meeting, select an Arbitrator. If either party fails to timely give notice of its selection for an Arbitrator, the other party’s
submitted proposal shall determine the Base Rent for the Extension Term. The 2 Arbitrators so appointed shall, within 5 business days after their appointment, appoint a
third Arbitrator. If the 2 Arbitrators so selected cannot agree on the selection of the third Arbitrator within the time above specified, then either party, on behalf of both parties,
may request such appointment of such third Arbitrator by application to any state court of general jurisdiction in the jurisdiction in which the Premises are located, upon
10 days prior written notice to the other party of such intent.
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(ii)
The decision of the Arbitrator(s) shall be made within 30 days after the appointment of a single Arbitrator or the third Arbitrator, as applicable. The decision
of the single Arbitrator shall be final and binding upon the parties. The average of the two closest Arbitrators in a three Arbitrator panel shall be final and binding upon the
parties. Each party shall pay the fees and expenses of the Arbitrator appointed by or on behalf of such party and the fees and expenses of the third Arbitrator shall be borne
equally by both parties. If the Market Rate and escalations are not determined by the first day of the Extension Term, then Tenant shall pay Landlord Base Rent in an
amount equal to the Base Rent in effect immediately prior to the Extension Term until such determination is made. After the determination of the Market Rate and
escalations, the parties shall make any necessary adjustments to such payments made by Tenant. Landlord and Tenant shall then execute an amendment recognizing the
Market Rate and escalations for the Extension Term.
(iii)
An “Arbitrator” shall be any person appointed by or on behalf of either party or appointed pursuant to the provisions hereof and: (i) shall be (A) a member
of the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers with not less than 10 years of experience in the appraisal of improved office and high tech industrial real estate in the
greater San Diego, California metropolitan area, or (B) a licensed commercial real estate broker with not less than 15 years’ experience representing landlords and/or
tenants in the leasing of high tech or life sciences space in the greater San Diego, California metropolitan area, (ii) devoting substantially all of their time to professional
appraisal or brokerage work, as applicable, at the time of appointment and (iii) be in all respects impartial and disinterested.
c.
Rights Personal. The Extension Right is personal to Tenant and is not assignable without Landlord’s consent, which may be granted or withheld in Landlord’s sole
discretion separate and apart from any consent by Landlord to an assignment of Tenant’s interest in the Lease, except that they may be assigned in connection with an
assignment of the Lease that constitutes a Permitted Assignment.
d.
Exceptions. Notwithstanding anything set forth above to the contrary, the Extension Right shall, at Landlord’s option, not be in effect and Tenant may not exercise
the Extension Right:
(i)

during any period of time that Tenant is in default under any provision of the Lease (beyond any applicable notice and cure periods); or

(ii)
if Tenant has been in Default under any provision of the Lease 3 or more times, whether or not the Defaults are cured, during the 12 month period
immediately prior to the date that Tenant intends to exercise the Extension Right, whether or not the Defaults are cured.
e.
No Extensions. The period of time within which the Extension Right may be exercised shall not be extended or enlarged by reason of Tenant’s inability to exercise
the Extension Right.
f.
Termination. The Extension Right shall, at Landlord’s option, terminate and be of no further force or effect even after Tenant’s due and timely exercise of the
Extension Right, if, after such exercise, but prior to the commencement date of the Extension Term, (i) Tenant fails to timely cure any default by Tenant under the Lease; or
(ii) Tenant has Defaulted 3 or more times during the period from the date of the exercise of the Extension Right to the date of the commencement of the Extension Term,
whether or not such Defaults are cured.
7.

Security Deposit. Commencing on the date of this Third Amendment, the defined term “Security Deposit” on Page 1 of the Lease is deleted in its entirely and replaced
with the following:
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“Security Deposit: $323,937.25”
Landlord currently holds a Security Deposit of $178,724.00 under the Lease in the form of a Letter of Credit. Concurrently with Tenant’s delivery of an executed copy of this
Third Amendment, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord an amended Letter of Credit which increases the amount of the existing Letter of Credit being held by Landlord to
$323,937.25 or an additional Letter of Credit reasonably acceptable to Landlord in the amount of $145,213.25.
8.

The Alexandria Amenities. Commencing on the Third Amendment Commencement Date, the Amenities Fee set forth in Section 40 of the Original Lease shall be
$3.00 per rentable square foot of the Premises per year. Such Amenities Fee shall increase on each annual anniversary of the Third Amendment Commencement Date by
3%. Additionally, commencing on the Third Amendment Commencement Date, the total number of passes issued to Tenant for the fitness center shall increase from
44 passes to 55 passes. The persons using such passes must be employed at the Premises. All other provisions of Section 40 of the Original Lease shall remain
unchanged.
If substantially all of the then-existing Amenities become materially unavailable for use by Tenant (for any reason other than a default by Tenant under the Lease or a default
by Tenant under any agreement(s) relating to the use of the Amenities by Tenant), as reasonably determined by Landlord, for a period in excess of 60 consecutive days,
then, commencing on the expiration of such 60-day period, the Amenities Fee then-currently payable by Tenant shall be abated during the period that substantially all of the
then-existing Amenities continue to be materially unavailable for use by Tenant as provided above.

9.

Assignment and Subletting. The last 3 sentences of Section 22(b) of the Original Lease are hereby deleted in their entirety and replaced with the following:
“Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord’s consent to an assignment of this Lease or a subletting of any portion of the Premises to any entity controlling, controlled by or
under common control with Tenant (a “Control Permitted Assignment”) shall not be required, provided that the parties shall be required to execute a commercially
reasonable form of acknowledgment in connection with any such Control Permitted Assignment. In addition, Tenant shall have the right to assign this Lease, upon 30 days’
prior written notice to Landlord ((x) unless Tenant is prohibited from providing such notice by applicable Legal Requirements in which case Tenant shall notify Landlord
promptly thereafter, and (y) if the transaction is subject to confidentiality requirements, Tenant’s advance notification shall be subject to Landlord’s execution of a nondisclosure agreement reasonably acceptable to Landlord and Tenant) but without obtaining Landlord’s prior written consent, to a corporation or other entity which is a
successor-in-interest to Tenant, by way of merger, consolidation or corporate reorganization, or by the purchase of all or substantially all of the assets or the ownership
interests of Tenant provided that (i) such merger or consolidation, or such acquisition or assumption, as the case may be, is for a good business purpose and not principally
for the purpose of transferring this Lease, and (ii) the net worth (as determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”)) of the assignee is
not less than the greater of the net worth (as determined in accordance with GAAP) of Tenant as of (A) the Commencement Date, or (B) as of the date of Tenant’s most
current quarterly or annual financial statements, and (iii) such assignee shall agree in writing to assume all of the terms, covenants and conditions of this Lease (a
“Corporate Permitted Assignment”). Control Permitted Assignments and Corporate Permitted Assignments are hereinafter referred to as “Permitted Assignments.””

10.

California Accessibility Disclosure. For purposes of Section 1938(a) of the California Civil Code, Landlord hereby discloses to Tenant, and Tenant hereby acknowledges,
that the Project has not undergone inspection by a Certified Access Specialist (CASp). In addition, the following notice is hereby provided pursuant to Section 1938(e) of the
California Civil Code: “A Certified
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Access Specialist (CASp) can inspect the subject premises and determine whether the subject premises comply with all of the applicable construction-related accessibility
standards under state law. Although state law does not require a CASp inspection of the subject premises, the commercial property owner or lessor may not prohibit the
lessee or tenant from obtaining a CASp inspection of the subject premises for the occupancy or potential occupancy of the lessee or tenant, if requested by the lessee or
tenant. The parties shall mutually agree on the arrangements for the time and manner of the CASp inspection, the payment of the fee for the CASp inspection, and the cost
of making any repairs necessary to correct violations of construction-related accessibility standards within the premises.” In furtherance of and in connection with such
notice: (i) Tenant, having read such notice and understanding Tenant’s right to request and obtain a CASp inspection, hereby elects not to obtain such CASp inspection and
forever waives its rights to obtain a CASp inspection with respect to the Premises, Building and/or Project to the extent permitted by Legal Requirements; and (ii) if the
waiver set forth in clause (i) hereinabove is not enforceable pursuant to Legal Requirements, then Landlord and Tenant hereby agree as follows (which constitutes the
mutual agreement of the parties as to the matters described in the last sentence of the foregoing notice): (A) Tenant shall have the one-time right to request for and obtain a
CASp inspection, which request must be made, if at all, in a written notice delivered by Tenant to Landlord; (B) any CASp inspection timely requested by Tenant shall be
conducted (1) at a time mutually agreed to by Landlord and Tenant, (2) in a professional manner by a CASp designated by Landlord and without any testing that would
damage the Premises, Building or Project in any way, and (3) at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, including, without limitation, Tenant’s payment of the fee for such CASp
inspection, the fee for any reports prepared by the CASp in connection with such CASp inspection (collectively, the “CASp Reports”) and all other costs and expenses in
connection therewith; (C) the CASp Reports shall be delivered by the CASp simultaneously to Landlord and Tenant; (D) Tenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall be
responsible for making any improvements, alterations, modifications and/or repairs to or within the Premises to correct violations of construction-related accessibility
standards including, without limitation, any violations disclosed by such CASp inspection; and (E) if such CASp inspection identifies any improvements, alterations,
modifications and/or repairs necessary to correct violations of construction-related accessibility standards relating to those items of the Building and Project located outside
the Premises that are Landlord’s obligation to repair as set forth in this Lease, then Landlord shall perform such improvements, alterations, modifications and/or repairs as
and to the extent required by Legal Requirements to correct such violations, and Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for the cost of such improvements, alterations,
modifications and/or repairs within 10 business days after Tenant’s receipt of an invoice therefor from Landlord.
11.

OFAC. Tenant is currently (a) in compliance with and shall at all times during the Term of the Lease remain in compliance with the regulations of the Office of Foreign
Assets Control (“OFAC”) of the U.S. Department of Treasury and any statute, executive order, or regulation relating thereto (collectively, the “OFAC Rules”), (b) not listed
on, and shall not during the Term of the Lease be listed on, the Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List maintained by OFAC and/or on any other similar
list maintained by OFAC or other governmental authority pursuant to any authorizing statute, executive order, or regulation, and (c) not a person or entity with whom a U.S.
person is prohibited from conducting business under the OFAC Rules.

12.

Brokers. Landlord and Tenant each represents and warrants that it has not dealt with any broker, agent or other person (collectively, “Broker”) in connection with the
transaction reflected in this Third Amendment and that no Broker brought about this Third Amendment, other than Colliers International, Cushman & Wakefield and CBRE.
Landlord and Tenant each hereby agree to indemnify and hold the other harmless from and against any claims by any Broker, other than Colliers International, Cushman &
Wakefield and CBRE, claiming a commission or other form of compensation by virtue of having dealt with Tenant or Landlord, as applicable, with regard to this Third
Amendment. Landlord shall be responsible for all commissions due to Colliers International, Cushman & Wakefield and CBRE arising out of the execution of this Third
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Amendment in accordance with the terms of a separate written agreement between Landlord, on the one hand, and Colliers International, Cushman & Wakefield and
CBRE, on the other hand.
13.

Miscellaneous.
a.
This Third Amendment is the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous oral
and written agreements and discussions. This Third Amendment may be amended only by an agreement in writing, signed by the parties hereto.
b.
This Third Amendment is binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto, their respective agents, employees, representatives, officers, directors,
divisions, subsidiaries, affiliates, assigns, heirs, successors in interest and shareholders.
c.
This Third Amendment may be executed in 2 or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the
same instrument. Counterparts may be delivered via facsimile, electronic mail (including pdf or any electronic signature process complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act
of 2000) or other transmission method and any counterpart so delivered shall be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes.
Electronic signatures shall be deemed original signatures for purposes of this Third Amendment and all matters related thereto, with such electronic signatures having the
same legal effect as original signatures.
d.
Except as amended and/or modified by this Third Amendment, the Lease is hereby ratified and confirmed and all other terms of the Lease shall remain in full force
and effect, unaltered and unchanged by this Third Amendment. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Third Amendment and the provisions of the Lease,
the provisions of this Third Amendment shall prevail. Whether or not specifically amended by this Third Amendment, all of the terms and provisions of the Lease are hereby
amended to the extent necessary to give effect to the purpose and intent of this Third Amendment.
[Signatures are on the next page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have executed this Third Amendment as of the day and year first above written.
TENANT:
IMMUNITYBIO, INC.,
a Delaware corporation
By:

/s/ Richard Adcock

Name:

Richard Adcock

Its:

CEO

☒ I hereby certify that the signature, name, and title above are my signature, name and title.
LANDLORD:
ARE-JOHN HOPKINS COURT, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company
By:

ARE-QRS CORP.,
a Maryland corporation,
managing member
By:

/s/ Gary Dean

Name:

Gary Dean

Its:

Executive Vice President Real Estate Legal Affairs
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EXHIBIT 10.9

LEASE TERMINATION AGREEMENT
This Lease Termination Agreement (this “Agreement”) is made as of May 31, 2022 (the “Effective Date”), by and between IMMUNITYBIO, INC., a Delaware
corporation (the “Tenant”), and 557 DOUG ST., LLC, a California limited liability company (the “Landlord”), with reference to the following facts:
A.
Tenant and Landlord are parties to that certain Standard Industrial/Commercial Single-Tenant Lease – Net dated September 27, 2021, (the “Lease”), with respect to
certain premises consisting of approximately 36,434 square feet located at 557 South Douglas Street, El Segundo, California 90245 (the “Leased Premises”), as more fully
described in the Lease; and
B.

The term of the Lease is scheduled to expire on September 30, 2028 (excluding any option periods) (the “Expiration Date”); and

C.
Landlord is holding a security deposit in the amount of Eighty-One Thousand Nine Hundred Seventy-Six Dollars and Fifty Cents ($81,976.50) (the “Security
Deposit”) and a prepayment of base rent for the month of October 2023 in the amount of Eighty-Six Thousand Nine Hundred Sixty-Eight Dollars and Eighty-Seven Cents
($86,968.87) (the “Prepaid Rent”); and
D.

Tenant and Landlord desire to terminate the Lease prior to the Expiration Date, subject to and in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the
parties hereto agree as follows:
1.
Termination of Lease. Subject to all the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Landlord and Tenant each agree that the Lease, and all obligations and/or liabilities
created by any exhibit attached thereto, shall terminate effective as of the Effective Date (the “Termination Date”). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Lease or
otherwise, on or prior to the Termination Date, Tenant shall surrender possession of the Leased Premises, including ensuring that all of Tenant’s personal property and leased
equipment are removed from the Leased Premises. Promptly following the Termination Date, Landlord shall return to Tenant the Prepaid Rent and the Security Deposit. Except for
the provisions of the Lease that expressly survive any early termination or expiration of the Lease, from and after the Termination Date, Tenant and Landlord shall have no further
rights or obligations under the Lease.
2.
Reconciliation of Lessee Charges. The parties agree that any charges periodically paid by Tenant under the Lease prior to the Termination Date on an estimated
basis or for any periods following the Termination Date, including, without limitation, charges for real property taxes or insurance (collectively, the “Lessee Charges”) shall be
subject to proration and reconciliation. Tenant shall be entitled to receive any refund for any overpayments of Lessee Charges from the Landlord, and the Landlord shall be entitled
to recover any underpayments of Lessee Charges from Tenant.
3.
Release and Waiver. So long as Landlord and Tenant have complied with the terms of this Agreement, effective on the Termination Date, each of Landlord and
Tenant, and each of their shareholders, officers, directors, agents, employees or affiliates shall release and forever discharge the other party, its members, officers, directors, agents,
employees, legal representatives and affiliates from any and all claims, demands, covenants, promises, cause or causes of action, obligations, controversies, debts, attorneys’ fees,
costs and expenses, and liabilities of whatever kind or nature in law, equity or otherwise, whether known or unknown, suspected or otherwise, fixed or contingent, whether or not
concealed or hidden, which existed or
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may have existed, or which do exist or hereafter can, shall, or may exist, from the beginning of time and to the date hereof, including, but without in any respect limiting the
generality of the foregoing, any and all claims arising from the Lease and/or the Leased Premises. Tenant and Landlord are fully aware of and waive the benefits of the provisions of
section 1542 California Civil Code which provides:
“A general release does not extend to claims that the creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing
the release and that, if known by him or her, would have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or released party.”
4.

Miscellaneous.
a.

Definitions. All capitalized terms in this Agreement not specifically defined herein shall have the same meanings ascribed to them in the Lease.

b.

Ratification. Except as specifically amended or modified by this Agreement, the Lease shall remain in full force and effect and is hereby ratified and

confirmed.
c.
Severability of Provisions. If any provision of this Agreement is for any reason held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such provision
shall not affect the validity, legality or enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement.
d.
Entire Agreement; Amendments and Waivers. This Agreement and the agreements and documents contemplated herein to be executed by any of the parties
hereto, constitutes the entire agreement between Tenant and the Landlord pertaining to the subject matter contained herein and supersedes any and all previous agreements between
the parties hereto regarding the subject matter hereto. Any provision of this Agreement may be amended or waived if, but only if, such amendment or waiver is in writing and is
signed by the party asserted to be bound thereby, and then such amendment or waiver shall be effective only in the specific instance and specific purpose for which given.
e.
Authority. The individuals signing this Agreement on behalf of each party represent and warrant that such individual has the authority to execute and
deliver this Agreement in the name of and on behalf of such party.
f.
No Presumption Against Either Party. Neither this Agreement nor any uncertainty or ambiguity herein shall be construed or resolved against either party,
whether under any rule of construction or otherwise. On the contrary, this Agreement shall be construed and interpreted according to the ordinary meaning of the words used so as
to accomplish fairly the purposes and intentions of all parties hereto. Neither party shall be regarded as the drafting party.
g.
Conflicts. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Lease, in the event of a conflict or inconsistency between the terms of the Lease and the terms
and conditions of this Agreement, the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement shall control and shall be deemed to supersede the printed terms of the Lease. Whether or not
specifically amended by this Agreement, all of the terms and provisions of the Lease are hereby amended to the extent necessary to give effect to the purpose and intent of this
Agreement.
h.
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall
constitute one and the same instrument. In order to facilitate the agreements contemplated by this Agreement, signatures transmitted by facsimile or via
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e-mail in a “PDF” format may be used in place of original signatures. Each party intends to be bound by such party’s facsimile or “PDF” format signature on this Agreement, is
aware that the other parties are relying on such party’s facsimile or “PDF” format signature, and hereby waives any defenses to the enforcement of this Agreement based upon the
form of signature.
i. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be deemed to have been made in the State of California and the validity, construction, interpretation, and enforcement
hereof, and the rights of the parties hereto, shall be determined under, governed by, and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of California, without regard to
principles of conflicts of law. In any action or proceeding arising herefrom, the parties consent to the jurisdiction of any competent court within the State of California and to service
of process by any means authorized by California law.
[signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Tenant and Landlord have caused this Lease Termination Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized representatives as of the date first
above written.
“TENANT”

“LANDLORD”

IMMUNITYBIO, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

557 DOUG ST, LLC
a California limited liability company

By: /s/ David Sachs
Name: David Sachs
Its: CFO

By: /s/ Charles Kenworthy
Name: Charles Kenworthy
Its: Manager
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT UNDER SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Richard Adcock, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of ImmunityBio, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 8, 2022

By:

/s/ Richard Adcock
Richard Adcock
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT UNDER SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, David C. Sachs, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of ImmunityBio, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 8, 2022

By:

/s/ David C. Sachs
David C. Sachs
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. § 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Richard Adcock, the chief executive officer of ImmunityBio, Inc. (the “Company”), certify for the purposes of 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:
i.

the Quarterly Report of the Company on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2022 (the “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

ii. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: August 8, 2022

By:

/s/ Richard Adcock
Richard Adcock
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. § 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, David C. Sachs, the chief financial officer of ImmunityBio, Inc. (the “Company”), certify for the purposes of 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:
i.

the Quarterly Report of the Company on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2022 (the “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

ii. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: August 8, 2022

By:

/s/ David C. Sachs
David C. Sachs
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

